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PREFACE

This report has been prepared to satisfy the Task Directive approved

by Deputy Regional Director Bob Stanton, dated March 18, 1982, requesting
the Assistant Manager, National Capital Team, Denver Service Center, to

proceed with an administrative history of Antietam National Battlefield and

Antietam National Cemetery.

The preparation of this administrative history of Antietam National

Battlefield and National Cemetery, 1865-1980, has involved difficulties that
no one could have foreseen when this project was formulated. These

include the following obstacles that had to be overcome:

1.

Although the National Park Service has now administered Antietam
National Battlefield and Nationali Cemetery for forty-nine years, no
documented studies of the operations of these areas under the War
Department and Antietam National Cemetery Board of Trustees from
1865 to August 10, 1933, have been prepared. To close this gap in
our knowledge involved extensive original research to bring the story
down to August 10, 1933, when the National Park Service took charge
of Antietam. As a result of this work, however, Chapters | to 1V
open doors to an unknown era of history at the battlefield.

When an effort was made to use and borrow the official Park Service
records at Antietam National Battlefield to facilitate the writing of the
National Park Service phase of the history (1933-1980), it was
discovered that W. Dean McClanahan, superintendent of the C & 0
Canal, had destroyed most of the official park records for Antietam
from 1933 to about 1965, with only few exceptions. This act of
vandalism occurred in December 1967, when Mr. McClanahan and his
C & O Canal staff occupied the first floor of the new Antietam Visitor
Center as their administrative offices, and placed the Antietam staff in
the basement rooms of the Visitor Center. The destruction of the
Ant_ietam National Battlefield records, 1933-1972, forced the writer to
use the National Park Service Records of the Washingion Office that
had been placed in the National Archives at Washington, D.C.

Since January 1982, the present administration, through a reduction in
force program, has reduced the staff of the National Archives by 140
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positions. This has greatly slowed the furnishing and reproduction of

historical materials by the archives' staff. Orders for copies of

historicai documents and maps relating to Antietam that were placed on

April 13 were delivered on June 17, 1982. After initial contact, ten

'working (:ia?s passed before the sfaff of the Washington National

Records Center, Suitland, Maryland, was able to preduce a limited

amount of data on the history of Antietam after July 1, 1949,

4. Due to the centralized filing system, without index, used by the
National Park Service from July 1, 1349, to date, it was almost
impossible for the staff of the Suitland Center, which has also been
reduced, to produce any significant amount of data on Antietam or,
indeed, any other park. Documents relating to Antietam and other
parks, instead of being concentrated in geographical files under the
name of the area, are widely scattered through hundreds of general
files. This means that for all practical purpeses, data after July 1,
1949, are largely unavailable, This, together with the 1967
destruction of the records at Antietam, means that it is impossible at
the present time to write a comprehensive administrative history of
Antietam from January 1, 1954, to June 30, 1972.

As the matter now stands, the administrative history of Antietam,
based on documentary evidence available, may be considered complete from
1865 to June 30, 1949. From July 1, 1949, to December 31, 1953, the
record is fairly complete because monthly reports of the battlefield
superintendents were located in the Federal Records Center at Suitland.
From January 1, 1954, to June 308, 1974, the annual and monthly reports of
the superin-tendents could not be found and the narrative for this period
is based only on what documents could be found in the files of the park
and the Washington Office. The documentary record from July 1, 1974, to
date is complete and available In the park files at Antietam. At some future
date, when the National Park Service files at the Washington Federal
Records Center at Suitland, Maryland, have been put in a usable
condition, the administrative history of Antietam National Battlefield site
from January 1, 1954, to June 3¢, 1974, should be restudied and rewritten
on the basis of a great deal of documentary evidence that is not presently
available,

A number of people have greatly facilitated the research necessary to
prepare this report. 1 wish to thank Virgil G. Leimer, Superintendent of

Xiv
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Antietam National Battlefietd, and his staff for their cooperation. | "am
particularly endebted to park technicians Paul Chiles and Betty J. Otto of
Antietam for their assistance in providing much information and copies of
many historical documents.

Charles W. Snell
Washington, D.C.

September 1982
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INTRODUCTION

At Antietam Creek, near the quiet town of Sharpsburg, Maryland,
two great armies collided and on September 17, 1862, fought the Battle
of Antietam--the bloodiest one-day battle of the Civil War. Gen. Robert
E. Lee's Army of Northern Virginia was intent on invading the North
and the objective of Maj. Gen. George B. McClellan's Army of the
Potomac was to stop this invasion. When the hot September sun finally
set upon the devastated battlefield, 23,800 Americans had fallen in this
violent conflict.  Tactically a draw, strategically Antietam was a
decisive Northern victory because it halted Lee's invasion and forced
the Confederate Army to retreat into Virginia. Five days later, seizing
upon this Federal victory, President Abraham Lincoln used the
opportunity on September 22, 1862, to issue the preliminary
Emancipation Proclamation--a dramatic step toward eliminating slavery in
the United States.'

In March 1865, the state of Maryland passed a law appropriating
funds to provide for the establishment of Antietam National Cemetery
near Sharpsburg for the purpose of interring in permanent graves the
bodies of the Union soldiers who fell at Antietam. Eighteen other loyal
states whose sons fell during that engagement were also invited to
participate in this effort. On June 7, 1877, the board of trustees of
the Antietam National Cemetery Association turned their charge over to
the United States Government. The War Department from 1877 to
August 10, 1933, provided perpetual care to Antietam National Cemetery
as a part of a system of some 82 national cemeteries established to inter
the bodies of 321,623 Union soldiers, sailors, and marines.

In the late 1880s Civil War veterans from both the North and South

began 1o think about commemorating the events in which they had taken

T About 12,810 Union and 10,700 Confederate soldiers were Killed,
wounded, and missing at Antiatam. Frederick Tilberg, Antietam
National Battlefield Site, Maryland (National Park Service Historical
Handbook Series No. 31,) Washington, D.C., 1960 {revised 1961}, pp.
47, 57, 1.

xvii
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part and of preserving forever some of the major battlefields on which
they bhad fought from 1861 to 1865. The first such Civil War battlefield
to be preserved by the War Department for the United States govern-
ment was Chickamauga and Chattanooga National Military Park,
authorized .by an act of Congress approved on August 19, 1890. The
second was Antietam National Battlefield Site, by an act approved
August 30, 1890. The War Department established and developed the
Antietam Nationat Battlefield Site in 1891-1898 and maintained the park
from 1898 to August 10, 1933.

As part of a governmental reorganization, Antietam National
Battlefield Site and Antietam National Cemetery were among the 48
historical areas that were transferred from the care of the War
Department to that of the National Park Service of the U.S. Department
of the Interior on August 10, 1933. The National Park Service has
administered the Antietam Battlefield and Cemetery from 1933 to date.

The history that follows endeavors to explain how the Antietam
National Battlefield Site and Antietam National Cemetery were
established, developed, administered, and interpretéd, first by the War
Department, 1877-1933, and then by the National Park Service, 1933 to
1980. The role of the Antietam National Cemetery Association in
establishing and first develobing the Antietam National Cemetery, 1865
to 1877, is also considered.

xvifi.
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CHAPTER |

THE ANTIETAM NATIONAL CEMETERY ASSOC!ATION AND
ANTIETAM NATIONAL CEMETERY, MARCH 10, 1864 -JUNE 7, 1877

1. ESTABLISHMENT OF THE NATIONAL CEMETERY, 1864~1865

in early 1864, State Senator Lewis P. Firey introduced a resolution
into the Senate of Maryland which appointed a joint committee "to
inquire into the propriety of purchasing on the part of the State, a
portion of the battlefield of Antietam, not exceeding twenty acres, for
the purposes of a State and Nationat Cemetery, in which 'the bodies of
our herces who fell in that great struggle and are now bleaching in the
upturned furrows, may be gathered for a decent burial, and their
memories embalmed in some suitable memn:;rial.“2 _

Shortly after the passage of the resolution, the committee surveyed
the battlefield and selected as the most eligible and beautiful location
the site where the present Antietam National Cemetery stands. The
proprietor of this land also presented them with an offer to sell about
10 acres of his farm on favorable terms.3 _

Accordingly, in an act approved March 10, 1864, the state of
Maryland appropriated the sum of five thousand dollars to be applied to
the purchase and enclosure of a portion of the Antietam battlefield not
exceeding 10 acres. The act further authorized the governor 1o
appoint an agent to superintend the work of enclosing the cemetery, to
exhume the bodies of the deceased of Maryland, New York, and other
loyal states, if required, and to provide that Confederate soldiers who
fell in the army of Gen. Robert E. Lee should be buried in a separate
portion of the cemetery from that designed for the Union soldiers who

fell under Mag. Gen. George B. McCleiIan.q

5 Cited from board of trustees, History of Antietam National
Cemetery, Including a Descriptive List of the Loyal Soldiers buried
therein, together with the Ceremonies and Addresses on the Occasion of
the Dedication of the Grounds, September 17, 1867 {John W. Wood,
printer, Baltimore, 1869), 7.

3. 1ibid., p. 8. The Act of March 10, 1864, is Chapter 237 for the
laws of 1864,

4, ibid., p. 8.

b
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About April 25, 1864, Augustus W. Bradford, Governor of
Maryland, visited Sharpsburg, Maryland, and contracted to purchase 10
acres of the present Robert F. Kennedy farm as the site for the
proposed cemetery at the price of $100 per acre. On May &
however, George French, a Hagerstown, Maryland, lawyer handling the
transaction, wrote to Governor Bradford and informed him that a good
title to the tract could not be obtained at this time because one of the
heirs to the property was incompetent and an inmate of a Virginia

lunatic asylum. The matter remained in this incomplete state until

August 1865.5

Meanwhile, the Maryland legislature passed an act on March 23,
1865 thét repealed the act of March 10, 1864, The new law "“to
incorporate the Antietam National Cemetery in Washington County"
directed:

that said lot of ground purchased by the Governor .... rest
and remain in the State of Maryland, in fee simple, in trust
for all the States that shall participate as hereinafter
provided, and said lot of ground shall be devoted in
perpetuity for the purpose of the burial and final resting
place of the remains of the soldiers who fell at the battle of
Antietam or at other points north of the Potomac River during
the invasion of Lee, in the summer and fall of 1862, or died
thereafter in consequence of wounds received in said battle or
during the invasion,

The law appointed four Marylanders: Thomas A. Boullt, Augustus
A. Biggs, Edward Shriver, and Charles C. Fulton as "Trustees for the
State of Maryland, and one Trustee from each of the other States to be
appointed by the Governor of their respective States." These trustees
were to form "a body poiitic in law, under the name, style and title of
the Antietam National Cemetery."7

>. Trustees, History of Antietam N.C., p. 8: Letter of George
French to Governor A.W. Bradford, May &4, 1864,
6. The Law of Maryland incorporating the Antietam National Cemetery
Assoclation, Passed March 23, 1865, Chapter 203, Sections 1 and 2,
Maryland Law of 1865,
7. ibid., Section 3.

There is a copy of Chapter 203, March 23, 1865, jaw in National
Archives R.G, 92, Entry 576, Box No. 131, Washington, D.C.




The act of March 23, 1865, directed that "the care and management
of the grounds ... are hereby entrusted solely to the Trustees ... and
it shall be their duty, out of funds that may come into their hands by
State appropriations or otherwise, to remove the remains of all the
soldiers..., and to have them properly interred in the aforementioned
grounds.® The law further stated that the "remains of the sotdiers of
the Confederate army [are]l to be buried in a part of the grounds
separate from those of the Union Army.? The board of trustees was

instructed

to lay out and enclose said grounds with a good and
substantial stone wall not less than four feet high or with an
iron fence, as said Trustees may think best, and to
ornament, divide and arrange into suitable plots and burial
lots, establish carriage ways, avenues and foot ways, erect
buildings and a monument or monuments and suitable marks to
designate the graves, and generally to do all things in their
judgement necessary and proper to be done to adapt the
groun%s to the use for which it has been purchased and set
apart.

The law ordered the Maryland trustees and trustees of other
states who might have been appointed to hold their first meeting at
Hagerstown, Maryland in May 1865 to elect a president and secretary-
treasurer, and to proceed with the business of establishing and

developing the cenrueter'y.9
The law directed the trustees to

appoint a keeper of the cemetery, whose duty it shall be to
protect the property thereof, to make all needful and
necessary repairs, to plant, cultivate and preserve the trees
and shrubbery from injury, to prevent the defacement or
mutilation of the tombstones and monuments, and to hold the
keys and have the general superintendence of the grounds,
admission of visitors and all the interior arrangements of said
cemetery.

The salary of the keeper was 10 be established by the board of
trustees. To protect the cemetery, the law provided that

any person who shall injure or destroy any of the trees or
shrubbery, or mutilate or destroy, or remove any ornament,
thereof, shall on conviction thereof before any Justice of the

8. Ipid., Section d.
g, lbid., Section 5.

W



Peace, be fined not less than five dollars nor more than fifty dollars,_

10
to be recovered as small debts are recoverable,

The Act of March 23 directed

that the expenses incident to the removal of the dead,
enclosing and ornamenting the cemetery, and all the work
connected therewith, and its future maintenance shall be
apportioned among the States connecting themselves with the
corporation according to their population as indicated by their
represeﬂtation in the House of Representatives of the United
States.

Here it may be noted that of the 80 national cemeteries established
by June 30, 1880, to inter 318,492 Union dead, only two, Antietam and
Gettysburg national cemeteries, were initially established and developed

by the states.12

The other 78 were established by the Quartermaster
Corps of the War Department.

The Maryland Act of 1865 appropriated the sum of $7,000 for the
purpose of purchasing the lot for the cemetery and toward enclosing
and ornamenting the burial ground. Before the end of 1865, the state
of Rhode Island contributed an additional $1,000 to the Antietam
National Cemetery pr'oject.13

The board of Maryland trustees held its first meeting in

Hagerstown, Maryland on May 25~26, 1865. On the 25th, Dr.

F

10. Ibid., Section 12,

11. lbid., Section 7. _

12, U,S, Statutes at Large, Vol, 16, p. 390, Act of Congress,
approved July 14, 1870, directing the Secretary of War to "take charge
of the soldiers' national cemetery at Gettysburg, Pennsylvania, and the
Antietam National Cemetery at Sharpsburg, Maryland, whenever the
commissioners and trustees having charge of said cemeterles are ready
to transfer their care to the general government." Number of
cemeteries and number of Union soldiers buried in national cemetery
from annual report of Quartermaster General Montgomery C. Meigs to
Secretary of War Alexander Ramsey for the fiscal year ending June 30,
1880, in Congressional Serial No. 1952, pp. 333-334,

13. Chapter 203, Section 13, Maryland Law of 1865,




Augustin{e) A. Biggs was elected president, Gen. Edward Shriver
vice~-president, and Thomas A. Boulit secretary-treasurer.m

On May 26 the board visited and inspected the proposed 10-acre
cemetery site on the Robert F. Kennedy farm. As a result of this
action, on the same day the board adopted a resolution authorizing the
president to purchase additional land on the east side of the proposed
cemetery tract., The east addition, consisting of about one and a
quarter acres, was to be acquired "with a view of throwing out a
ravine on the west side, which would add greatly to the expense of the
preparation of the grounds if retained within the enclosure, and
appropriating it as a kitchen garden for the use of the keeper of the
Cemetery, when such a one should be thereafter selected by the
Boar‘cl.‘115

Also on the 26th, the first steps were taken to secure a list of the
names of the dead and to make a registry of the location of the graves.
immediately after the 1862 battle, Aaron Good and Joseph A. Gill,
residents of Sharpsburg living in the vicinity of the battiefield, devoted
their time and efforts to identifying the dead and locating their graves.
By 1865 they had collected "a large number of names and carefully
prepared register of the location of various graves which were scattered
over a large section of country miles in extent." On the 26th the
board of trustees authorized their president to employ Aaron Good to
complete the existing list by going over the battlefield and making
careful notes of all the information he could obtain.16

No further progress could be made until title of the land was
obtained, so the next efforts were accordingly devoted to purchasing
the cemetery tracts.

14, Trustees, History of Antietam National Cemetery, 8-10. Also
Index to the Resolutions and Orders and Summary of the Proceedings
of the Board of the Antietam National Cemetery from May 25, 1865
to June 2, 1869 Indexed, R.P. 5, ({Printed by Negley and Co.,
Hagerstown, Md., n.d., ca. 1869). Copy of pamphlet found in National
Archives Record Group No. 92-Office of the Quartermaster General,
Entry 576-General Correspondence of the Office of the Quartermaster
General, 1865 - 1890, Box 131-Antietam National Cemetery.

15. Trustees, History of Antietam N.C., 10; Index to Resolutions,
1865-69, R.P. 6.

16. Trustees, History of A.N,C., 10, 11; Index, 1865-6%9, R.P. 6.




Between May 4, 1864, and June 17, 1865, Jacob Firey had acquired
the remaining one-fifth undivided interest in the 31}-acre Robert F,
Kennedy farm. As a court-appointed trustee (since November 17,
1859), Fiery already controlled the remaining undivided four-fifths
interest in the property. On June 17, 1865, then, Jacob Fiery was
finally in a position to deliver a clear title to the 10-acre tract that
Governor Augustus W. Bradford had contracted to buy at $100 per acre
in the spring of 1864, _

On August 1, 1865, Fiery sold "Ten Acres and eight perches of
land more or less" of the Kennedy farm to the board of trustees of the
Antietam National Cemetery, acting on behalf of Governor Bradford, for
the sum of $1,l)05.”T

On September 25, 1865, the board of trustees next purchased "one
acre, one rod, and nine perches of land, more or less," located on the
east side of the 10-acre tract from Samuel H. Rohrbeck and Diana
Rohrbeck, his wife, for $156.75 for the use of Antietam MNational
Cemetery.18

By September 25, 1865, the board of trustees had purchased the
site of Antietam National Cemetery, comprising 114 acres, for $1,161.75.
2. DEVELOPMENT OF ANTIETAM NATIONAL CEMETERY, 1865-1867

On July 4, 1865, Secretary-Treasurer Thomas A. Boullt was

directed by the board to advertise for proposals and receive bids for
the erection of a substantial stone wall around the grounds, and
President Biggs was requested to furnish all information as to the
dimensions and materials to be used in constructing the proposed
19 At the meeting of the board, held on September 12, the three
bids received to erect the stone wall were found to far exceed the

wall.

money available for making improvements and hence none was accepted.

17. Deed of B. & S., Jacob Firey, trustee, to Antietam Nationa}
Cemetery Trustees, dated August 1, 1865, and recorded September 15,
1865. In Deed Book Liber 65, Folio 137, 138, and 139, Land Records
Washington County, Hagerstown, Md. Jacob Fiery's deed of June 17,
1865, was recorded on June 25, 1865.

18. Deed of B.§.S., dated September 25, 1865, and recorded
September 26, 1865, in Deed Book, Liber 65, Folic 188, 189. Land
Records, Washington County, Hagerstown, Md. A receipt for this
amount, dated September 25, 1865, to Augustin A. Biggs, President,
and signed by Samuel H. Rohrbeck, is in National Archives R.G. 92,
Entry 576, Box 131. '

19. Trustees, History of A.N.C., p. 12; Index 1865-69, R.P. 8.




For the accomplishment of as much work as possible with the
limited funds at the disposal of the trustees, it was resolved
on September 12 to place the business and the general
supervision of affairs in the hands of President Biggs, who,
at the same time was appointed general superintendent, with
instructions to proceed at once with the grading and the
quarrying of the necessary stone for the walls, for the lime,
and to arrange for the coping stone, and to perform all other
acts towards the accomplishment of the duties imposed upon
the Trustees as in his judgement he might deem necessary.

In mid September 1865

The superintendent at once entered upon the discharge of his
duties by employing a large force, principally honorably .
discharged Union soldiers, to open the quarries and prepare
the stone for the wall, at the same time that a similar force
was engaged in removing the surface stone from the Cemetery
grounds, which being unfit for the wall or to be burnt into
lime, was, however, valuable for the foundfotion and for
fitling the inside of the raised part of the wall.

On December 13, 1865, a meeting of the board of trustees was held
at Sharpsburg for the purpose of inspecting the work performed by
Superintendent Biggs and to devise means for the completion of

the cemetery., |t was stated in a prior notice that

by the close of the present year, the funds-seven thousand

dollars--appropriated by the State of Maryland, and one

thousand by the State of Rhode Island, will be exhausted. It

will therefore be necessary for other States interested in this

Humane and Patriﬁic work to make additional appropriations

for its completion,

At the December 13 meeting the _supefintendent was authorized to
prepare an estimate of the amount required to complete the cemetery,
showing the proportion of each state interested. Secretary-Treasurer
Boullt was also ordered to have the charter (Chapter 203) of the
cemetery printed and to send copies, together with the estimate of the

superintendent, to the governors of the different states.22

30. Trustees, History of A.N.C., 12-13, Index, 1865-69, p. 10.

21. Printed notice, dated Hagerstown, Maryland, November 20, 1865,
by order of President of the Board, Thos. Boullt, Secretary, copy
from Antietam Battlefield Park files. Copy provided by park technician
Betty Otto.

22. Trustees, History of A.N.C., 13-14; Index, 1865-69, R.P. 11,




Superintendent Biggs' estimate, dated December 13, 1885, for the
total amount of $85,852.32 for completing the cemetery, is on the

followihg ‘page. The additional funds needed, he estimated, would
amount to about $78,852.32. Expenditures to December 29, 1865,
amounted to $6, 428,84, 23
BOARD OF TRUSTEES OF THE ANTIETAM NATIONAL CEMETERY
ASSOCIATION

ESTIMATED AMOUNT REQUIRED TO COMPLETE THE ANTIETAM
NATIONAL CEMETERY,
Prepared for the Board by General Superintendent
Augustin A. Biggs, M.D., December 13, 1865,

1. Cost of Grounds $1,164,75
2. 2,636 perches stone, delivered, at $1.20 per perch 3,163.20
3. 173 perches stone, delivered for keeper's lodge at
$1.20 per perch 207.60
4. Expense of laying 2,636 perch at $1.50 per perch 3,954,690
5. Expense of excavating 820 yards of foundation at 40 cents
per yard 328.00
6. Expense of 18,161 yards grading, at 30 cents per yard 5,484,30
7. Expense of 6,560 bushels sand, at 4 cents per bus 262.40
8. Expense of 2,500 bushels lime, at 25 cents per bus 625.00
9. For labor 7,000,000
10, For survey 25.00
11. For keeper's lodge 1,500,00
12. For entrance gate 500,00
13. For powder and fuse 60.00
14, For 1,915 linear feet coping, at $3.25 per foot 6,223.75
15. For removal, boxing, and burial of 6,000 dead, at $5 each 30,000.00
16. For tools and implements 230.00
17.. For 6,000 headstones for inscriptions, at $3 each 18,0006.00
18. For carriage ways and drainage 1,000.00
19, For 797 feet iron fence, on front line, at $3 per ft 3,391.00
20, For blacksmithing 500.00
21. For iron clamps and lead for copmg (on enclosing wall) 420.00
22, For pointing wall, outside and inside, at 12 cents per perch 316.32
23. For contingent expenses 2,500.00
Total estimated cost: $85,852.32
Amount already expended for work and materials
(Dec. 13, 1865) $5,200.00 - 7,000.00
Cash paid for ground 1,161.75
Balance on hand {of Maryland Approprlation) 638.25
$7,000.00
Amount yet required to complete the work $78,852.32

23. Trustees, History of A.N.C., 14-15. $6,361.75 to December 13,
1865: higher figure from Second Annual Report of the President, .

Antietam National Cemetery, Sharpsburg, Md., June 5, 1867, R.G. 92,
Entry 576, Box 130.




{Note: Rhode Island appropriation of $1,000, for some
unknown reason, is not included in this estimate}.

Board of Trustees, History of Antietam National

Cemeter!...-(Issg}, 1q-15-

Printed copies of the cemetery charter and the December 13
estimates, broken down by the quota due from each loyal state, were
then mailed to the governor of each state.zu On December 19, the
board further appointed a committee to solicit an additional
appropriation of $8,000 from the Maryland Iegislature.25 On March 7,
1866, another committee was appointed to wait upon the governors of
New York, Pennsylvania, and Ohio to solicit funds on behalf of the
cemetery.26

In an extra session held in January 1866, the Maryland legislature
voted an additional appropriation of $8,000, as requested, thus making
a total contribution of $15,000 to Antietam National Cemetery.” Other
states also responded during the first haif of 1866 "so that the amount
of funds appropriated to the 1st day of August, A.D. 1866, amounted
in round numbers to $30,000". (See chart on following page). Sixteen
of the loyal states made appropriations for the Antietam National

Cemetery project. As the Trustees explained the matter in their

History:

Whilst in one or two instances a State has failed to make the
full amount of its appropriation to correspond to Iits
apportionment, and in three instances no appropriation
whatever has been made, in another instance the generous
liberality of one has more than compensated for the
deficiencies in the former. .... in the instances referred to
where three States have failed entirely to make any
appropriation, we believe the reason, in some degree, arises
from the sma&la number of dead from these States, who fell in
this battle...

74, A three-page printed document, a copy from the Antietam Battlefield
Park files was provided courtesy of park technician Betty Otto.

25.  Index, 1865-69, R.P. 13,

26. Ibid., R.P. 14.

27.  Trustees, History of A.N.C., 16-17,

28.  lbid., 17,
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As of December 9, 1869, the states had appropriated a grand total
of $63,729.17 of the estimated total of $85,852.32 believed needed on
December 13, 1865.%°

"Ever since 1866," the treasury of the board of trustees has "been
in a condition to promptly discharge all its financial obligations, and to
leave a surplus 'chertaln."30 This affiuent condition of the treasury was
apparently to continue from 1866 to 1869.

On March 7 and again on August 1, 1866, the board of trustees
voted to pay Superintendent Biggs $200 and Secretary-Treasurer Boulit
$100 for thelr services,

At the meeting held on March 7, the board ordered the superin-
tendent to "lay off the Grounds, with a view of giving each State the
necessary portion' for interring its dead. On August 1, 1866, Biggs
was next directed to advertise "for laying off the Grounds and pay $100

for the plan zi.chcap'ce-:i."31 Finally, at a meeting held on September 20,

the officlal ground plan of the cemetery, prepared by Superintendent

Biggs, was formally adopted.32

This plan (see Map No. 1) forms within the walls of the
cemetery a semi=ellipsis, divided into segments of circles,
sections and parallelograms of wvarying size, to correspond
with the number of the loyal dead from the different states
represented in the battle and each division is designated by a
letter, and each section of graves is numbered in order,
That portion of the grounds devoted to this purpose begins
at a point within about one hundred and thirty feet from the
main entrance: to the cemetery, thus leaving a large space
between It and: wall, which extends along the line of the
Sharpsburg and Boonsboro road in front [on the north side].
A main carriage drive, about 16} feet In width, leads from
the entrance [south] through the grounds. It branches in
different directions into subordinate roads and walks leading
to every part of the cemetery, which are macadamized and
graveled.

29. Report of Treasurer Thomas A. Boullt to Antietam National
Cemetery Association, December 9, 1869, in R.G. 92, Entry 576, Box
131.

30. Trustee, History of A.N.C., p. 17.

31- lndex‘ 1865-69' RCP. 15: FDPI 22.

32, Index, 1865~69, R.P. 24,
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Nineteen states had sections in the.cemetery.

"The grounds are thoroughly drainéd by a system of
tubing, very complete, and which will provide very valuable

in maintaining the@3 in good condition against injury arising

from heavy rains."

The plan indicates that the proposed lodge or residence for the
keeper of the cemetery was to be located within the cemetery walls,
adjacent to and on the west side of the main entrance to the cemetery.

"In the centre of the ground plan of the Cemetery is an open
space devoted to the [future] erection of a monument commemorative of
the great event of the battie, and the heroism of those who sleep at its
foot and around it."3u This was to be the site of the Soldier's

Monument.

A massive stone wall, constructed by a labor force working under
the supervision of Biggs, enclosed the cemetery on three sides, while a
lower stone wall about 3 feet high that was intended to be surmounted

by a substantial iron fence, compieted the enclosure on the north or

front side.
The wall surrounding the east, south, and west sides of the

cemetery was described in 1869 as follows:

This wall is of a uniform height, on the inside of five feet,
including the coping and varying on the outside from the
height last named to ten and fifteen feet, owing to the
unevenness of the surrounding ground, which is rolling and
broken in its character, as well the grounds proper before
filling up and grading the same. The coping on the wall is
two feet five inches in breadth, and eight inches in
thickness, and the whole length of the coping, if extended in
a straight line, would measure twegly-seven hundred feet--
making it over a half mile in length.

33. Trustees, History of Antietam N.C., 20. During 1867 $1,000 were
spent for 1,500 feet of drainage tiles. Report to the governor of
Pennsylvania from A.A. Biggs, Supt. of Antietam National Cemetery,
November 20, 1867, in R.G. 92, Entry 576, Box 131,

34. Trustees, History of A.N.C., 20-21,

35. Trustee, History of A.N.C., 19: During summer of 1867 2,115
feet of coping were cut and laid on top of the enclosing wall at a cost
of $7,402.50; from report to the governor of Pennsylvania from A.A.
Biggs, supt. of Antietam N.C., Nov. 20, 1867, R.G. 92, Entry 576,

Box 131.

13



At the September 20, 1866, meeting, the design for an iron fence
and gateway for the north or front line of the grounds was agreed
upon by the board, and according to their instructions, a contract was
made with the Robert Wood & Co. of Philadelphia for a wrought iron
fence 607 feet long at six dollars per foot, as well as for the iron
Jateway, at a cost of $880. The gateway was 26 feet in width. These
items were delivered to the cemetery on September 7, 1867, and cost,
including packing and shipping charges, was $4,583.40.36

On March 7, 1866, the board appointed a "Committee to wait on the
Secretary, and make application for coffins' to bury the Union dead.37
On March 14 Maj. Gen. D. H. Rucker, the chief quartermaster of the
Washington (D.C.} Depot, informed Col. O. W. Bradley, chief
quartermaster of the Baltimore Depot, that Quartermaster Cenerai M.C.
Meigs '"has ordered 6,000 coffins (wood) manufactured for use at
Antietam National Cemetery to be delivered to you.“38 On July 186,
Superintendent Biggs wrote to the secretary of war asking assistance in
removing the remains of the Union dead who fell at the battlefield of
Antietam and other points in the upper Potomac Valley. Responding on
behalf of the secretary on August 23, Quartermaster General Meigs
informed Dr. Biggs that orders had been issued to Gen. M. I,
Ludington, chief quartermaster of the depot of Washington, "to remove
the bodies from the battlefield and about and to deliver them to you on
the cemetery grounds." He also advised Biggs that 6,000 coffins were
- now being shipped to Antietam.39

The quartermaster's burial party began burying the dead at
Antietam National Cemetery on October 4, 1866.% in their Historx,
published in 1869, the board of trustees described this process:

36. Trustees, History of Antietam N.C., 19, The receipted bill,
signed by A.A.” Biggs, dated August 20, 1867 in the amount of
$4,583.40 is in National Archives R,G. 92, Entry 576, Box 131. The
gates were Model #365 and the fencing was model #611. Index, 1865-69,
R.P. 24,

37. Index, 1865-63, R.P. 14,

38. R.G. 92, Entry 576, Box 131.

38. R.G. 92, Entry 576, Box 131. Also in same box, letter of Lt. Col.
James M. Moore, in charge of national cemeteries, to Dr. A.A. Biggs,
September 3, 1866, asking "as to the most proper time to commence
operations for the Government, "

40. R.G. 92, Entry 576, Box 131. Lt. Col. James M. Moore to QMG
M. C. Meigs, October 8, 1866.
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The removal of the dead was commenced in October, 1866, by
the United States Burial Corps, detailed by the Generaj
Government for the purpose under the superintendence of
Lieutenant John W. Sheree, and they continued their work
until January, 1867, when, by reason of the severity of the
weather, operations in that department were stopped. There
had been removed up to that time about three thousand
bodies. They resumed worku.in April, and finished their work
in August of the same year,

In a report to the quartermaster general, prepared by Maj. J. J,
Dana and dated September 24, 1867, it was recorded that as of
June 30, 1867, the Quartermaster Corps had interred 4,240 bodies at
the Antietam National Cemetery at a cost of $2ﬂ,495.0ﬂ.q2

in a completion report to General Rucker, dated
September 12, 1867, Lt, Col. James M. Moore reported that
the Quartermaster Corps cemeterial operations at Antietam, resulting
from the instructions of the quartermaster general dated August 15,
1866 had been completed on September 4. He noted that "The
Government ... furnished all necessary labor and transportation
delivering the bodies at the cemetery." Continuing, he reported:

The remains of all U.S. soldiers scattered through the
Counties of Frederick, Washington, and Alleghany, including
the whole northwestern part of Maryland and the cities
Frederick and Cumberland have been exhurmed and removed
to the Antietam National Cemetery. The search has been a
most thorough one and it is believed that no remains of U.S,
soldiers are now scattered through the above mentioned
localities, Nineteen states are represented in the cemetery,

The total number of interments made is;

U.S. Soldiers known 2,903
U.S. Soldiers unknown 1,792
Total: 4,695

Accurate records of all interments made were turned over to
Colonel A. P. Blunt, A.G.N., U.S.A., Washingtgg, D.C.,
with the completion of the cemetery on the 4th inst.

41. Trustees, History of A.N.C., p. 17-18.

42, Part of the quartermaster general's annual report for the fiscal
year ending June 30, 1867, Serial No. 1324, p. 560. Statement
showing the number of national cemeteries not completed.

43, R.G. 92, Entry 576, Box 131.

15



In conclusion, Colonel Moore notified General Rucker on
September 30, 1867, that the "total cost of the expenditures incurring to

the Government in the establishment of the Antietam National Cemetery
is $30,395.00, %"

The original plan of interring only the dead who fell at Antietam
was thus modified in 1866-67, The board of trustees remarked of this

change:

The local Trustees did not confine their action to the removal
of the dead who feil at the battle of Antietam, but deemed it
proper, at the suggestion of the authorities at Washington, to
remove all the Federal dead who had been buried in Washing-
ton, Alleghany, and Frederick counties, Maryland, believing
that course to be in accordance with the patriotic spirit with
which the appropriations were made for the establishment of
the Cemetery. They were exhumed, placed in coffins, and
delivered to the association Superintendent, who buried them
at the expense of the association. In the burial of the dead
every coffin was numbered, and a corresponding number
entered in a book kept for this purpose, with the name,
company, regiment and State, when they could be ascer-
tained, so that, at any time, by reference to the records, the
location of any grave can at once be found. The dead were
buried under the immediate supervision and eye of the
President, who held the tape line over every coffin deposited,
and entered the name, number and company in his fieldbook,
before any earth was replaced....

The trenches for the reception of the bodies are six feet in
width and three feet in depth, one-third of which are
quarried out of solid rock, which, to a great extent,
underlies the ground of the Cemetery, and the surrounding
country. Two feet are allowed for each body. The coffins
containing the bodies were furnished fr'equf charge, through
the generosity of the General Government.

In their History, published in 1869, the trustees listed the total

number of dead interred in Antietam National Cemetery as 4,667, as

Yy, Ibid.

45, Trustees, History of A.N.C., 18, Expenditures of the Antietam
National Cemetery Association made for 1,115 interments during the
summer of 1867 were $138.37; "for mounding of 4,695 graves®,
"$234.75; and $557.50 for excavating 2,730 cubic yards of trenches,
From Report to the Governor of Pennsylvania from A.A. Biggs, Supt.
of Antietam National Cemetery, November 20, 1867, in R.G. 92, Entry
576, Box 131,
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.

compared to 4,695 as reported by James M. Moore on September 12,
1867,

Probably as a result of the increased workload as the cemetery
neared completion, the general superintendent was given a monthly
salary of $100 and the secretary-treasury a salary of $50 per month on
June 5, 1857.4? A year later, on May 6, 1868, the superintendent's
salary was reduced to $50 per month and that of the secretary-
treasurer to $25 per month.q8

On June 5, 1867, the board established an executive committee
composed of three trustees, plus the president and secretary-treasurer
included as ex-officio members. Col. W. Yates Selleck of Wisconsin was
elected as chairman of the new committee. The purposes of the
executive committee were "to procure designs for a Lodge House, to cost
$6,000% and "to procure designs on a Monument to cost $30,000," to
ornament the cemetery.

On July 25, 1867, Colonel Selleck, as chairman of the executive
committee, and Grant, Jackson & Co., architects and builders of
Washington, D.C., entered into a contract "To furnish all material and
work necessary for a 'Keeper's Lodge' and its appurtenances, upon the
grounds of the Antietam National Cemetery at Sharpsburg, Mary]and,'
and to finish and complete the same according to plans and
specifications made by Paul J. Pelz, architect [of Washington, D.C.],
which plans and specifications form a part of this contract, said
Keeper's Lodge to be entirely completed, ready for occupancy, and
delivered on or before the 1st November 1867." The contractors were
to receive $5,500 for this work.50
Paul J. Pelz, born in Germany 26 years before, became Architect

of the U.S. Lighthouse Board in Washington and [ater achieved prom-

6. 1rustees, History of A.N.C,, 17,

47. Index, 1865-63, R.P. 31,

48, Ibid., R.P. 5.

49, Ibid., R.P. 31, 32,

50. R.G. 92, Entry 576. Box 130--Contract and Specifications of
Keeper's Lodge for the National Cemetery at Antietam, Md., specifi-
cations--% pp. Original plans (not found in box) consisted of four
elevations and two ground plans., This contract was approved by the
general board of trustees in the meeting held at Baltimore on September
16, 1867, Index, 1865-69, R.P. 45,
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inence as co-designer of the Library of Congress and Healy Hall at
Georgetown University. His commission at Antietam, a 1i~story resi-
dence with a tall square tower, was in the castellated "Gothic style"
and was the only lodge of its kind to be erected in a national
cemetery.s'I Constructed of native limestone, the six-room house had
three rooms, including the cemetery office, on the first floor and three
more rooms on the second. There was a partial cellar under the
kitchen, entry, and tower. The gable roof and its four dormers were
covered with slate. Cost of construction was $5,955.78. Of this sum,
$220.00 was paid to architect Petz for providing the plans and
preparing the speciﬁcation5.52 _

There is considerable documentary evidence that suggests that the
contractors, Grant, Jackson, and Company, made a low bid for the
construction of the lodge for the purpose of gaining an advantageous
position, so that through their contacts with Chairman Selleck, they
would win the large $30,000 contract for building the Soldier's
Monument. They hoped "to clean up on the latter project." (f this
were indeed their plan, then as we shall see, they were bitterly
disappointed.”>

51. In some 81 national cemeteries established and developed by the
quartermaster corps, the keepers' or superintendents' lodges were buiit
on certain standardized plans. Thus in commenting on an inspection
report, the depot quartermaster officer remarked of the Antietam
National Cemetery Lodge, "this lodge is distinct and different from any
other in the Nationa! Cemeteries" (letter dated September 29, 1913,
R.G. 92--Entry 84, File 466442},

52. A considerable amount of data on the construction of the lodge,
provided to the quartermaster general in 1882-83 by A. A. Biags and
Thomas A. Boullt is to be found in R.G. 92, Entry 576, Box 130,

53. R.G. 92, Entry, Box 130 is filled with documents on this subject
provided by President A.A. Biggs and Treasurer Thomas A. Boullt. In
a letter dated May 22, 1862, Biggs sent the quartermaster general a
written statement by Boullt, then deceased, in which Boullt wrote, "Mr,
Grant remarked to me that he expected to get the contract for the
monument upon which he would clear $10,000, or the lodge house might
have gone to the devil from him." The contractors suddenly became
very hostile after the board of trustees meeting of September 16, 1867,
when they learned that they would not receive the contract for the
monument. The minutes of the board of trustees for May 6, 1868,
indicate that a committee was appointed "to take charge of any law suit
which may be instituted by Grant, Jackson & Co." - Index, 1865-69,
R.P. 65. On the same day the board also ordered the Treasurer "to
pay mechanics lien upon Lodge House, for materials furnished Grant
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From June 5, 1867, to September 1867, the executive committee,
under the leadership of Colonel Selleck of Wisconsin, also worked on the
problem of securing plans and designs for the large monument for
Antietam National Cemetery. The final meeting on this problem was
held at Baltimore on September 16. The Index, 1865~67, indicates that
"Designs for a Monument [were] submitted. Col. W. Y. Selleck's
design adopted by an informal vote. Col. W. Y. Seileck allowed to
withdraw his design. J. G. Batterson's pedestal, and Col. W. Y.

Selleck's style of Statuary adopted as the design for the Monument.
Committee authorized to contract for the monument.“sa

in a letter to the Quartermaster General in May, 1882, regarding
the Grant, Jackson, & Co. claims of losses of $14,305.28 on their 1867
construction of the cemetery lodge at Antietam, President Biggs wrote

with regard to this and the monument:

A few days after the end of September 1867, A. C. Jackson
[of the contracting firm] met with me in Hagerstown, and
asked leading and searching questions in reference to. the
proceedings of the Board of Trustees at the meeting of the
16th September 1867, and then informed me that the design of
a monument, submitted to the Board by Col. Selleck and by
him withdrawn after receiving a majority vote for the
adoption, was unfair to his firm, and he thought there would
be a law suit about it. That that design was made by the
architect of Grant, Jackson & Co. and was the property of
that firm. That if they had not expected to get the monu-
ment to build th would never have touched that d M D
fittte lodge house. -

Thus, aithough the executive committee was granted authority on
September 16, 1867, to enter into a contract for the construction of the

monument, for reasons presently unknown, four more years were to
pass before such an agreement was signed and entered into in 1871,

53. Continued, Jackson & Co., the Contractors.” Index, R.P. 66, 67.
Finally, in May 1882, =a biil was introduced into the House of
Representatives on behalf of Grant, Jackson and Sons seeking
$14,305.28 in cost overruns from the United States for losses that they
alleged they suffered in the construction of the Antietam National
Cemetery Lodge in 1867. They were defeated in 1882 and again in
1886, when they made a second effort,

54, Index, 1865-67, R.P. 45,
56. R.G. 92, Entry 576, Box 130.
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In their history published in 1869, the board of trustees remarked
of the large monument, which had not yet been erected:

The design of the monument, which was adopted at a meeting

of the Board, held in the city of Baitimore, on the 16th day

of September, 1867, seems to meet all requirements in a

military, national and patriotic point of view. It is the

Colossal Statue of an American Soldier standing guard over

the remains of the loyal dead, and when completed, will be

the largest work of its kind in the country. The estimated

cost is thirty tggusand dollars. The Statue alone will weigh

eighty~six tons,

By the summer of 1867 Antietam National Cemetery was nearly
completed, the enclosing walls, fence, and gates were in place or going
up; the grounds had been laid out with roads and walks, most of the
Union dead had been interred, and the attractive stone lodge was under
construction and scheduled to be completed by November 1, 1867. The
decision was thus made to dedicate the cemetery on September 17, 1867,
the fifth anniversary of the Battle of Antietam. A committee of
arrangements for the dedication was appointed on July 2 to plan and to
carry out the preparations for this event. Invited guests included
President Andrew Johnson, his cabinet, members of Congress, generals
U.S. Grant, William T. Sherman, George B. McClellan, Governor Thomas
Swann, ex-Governor A. W, Bradford, and ail the governors and
ex-governors and legislators of the states having Union dead on the
battlefield. Also invited were officers of the army and navy,
governors, ex-governors, and legislators of all the states.57

The dedication of the grounds to the sacred purposes for

which they were designed, occurred on the 17th day of

September, 1867--at which time also was laid tlgg corner

stone of the Monument, with appropriate ceremonies.

Full details of the program, the speakers and their speeches,
including that of President Johnson, can be found in the trustees'

History of Antietam National Cemetery, published in 1869,

56. Trustees, History of A.N.C,, P. 21.
57. Ibid., 1865-1869, R.P. 37.
58. Trustees. History of AN.C., p. 21.
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al

3., ANTIETAM NATIONAL CEMETERY, 1868-1877

On December 4, 1867, civil engineer John Fraser, after inspecting
Antietam Nationa! Cemetery, informed Treasurer Boullt that the
5% with the
cemetery largely completed, on May 6, 1868, the salary of the
superintendent was reduced from $100 to $50 per month and that of the

"measured value of work done... comes 10 $52,526.80."

secretary-treasurer from $50 to $25 per month. 0

On June 17, 1868, the board instructed the superintendent to
remove all projecting rocks from the <_:}r'ot.1r1<:is;61 later on the same day
he was then directed "to use all loose rocks for paving the carriage
ways“;62 and on December 9 Biggs was "ordered to enciose the outside
grounds of the Cemetery."63 On June 17 a committee was also
appointed "to make out and supervise the printing of the history of the
liltenrie.-ter",f“ﬁl1 and on June 2, 1869, the board appropriated $500 to pay
for the printing and distribution of the cemetery histonr'y'.65

From December 5, 1867, to December 1869, the board of trustees
received, considered, and tabled without taking any further action
various proposals and plans to purchase additional ground for the
burial of the Confererate c'.ead.“:'6 Other states, with the exception of
Maryland and West Virginia, were apparently not interested in using
their taxpayers' money to inter the Confederate dead.

At a meeting held on June 2, 1863, the board ordered
Superintendent Biggs "to proceed at once with the purchase of trees
and shrubbery, and execute such other work as in his judgement may
appear necessary.” Coincidentally they also directed him "to repair the
Lodge, paint the fences, & c.' and appropriated $500 for these
;:»urr.)oses.6

9. R.G. 92, Entry 576, Box 131. May 6, 2868 meeting held at Sharpsburg, Md.

§0. Index, 1865-69, R.P.65. Board to meet in Philadelphia.

61. Ibid,, R.P, 69.

62. Ibid., R.P. 70,71,

63. |Ibid., R.P. 77,

64, Ibid., R.P. 70,

65. 1ibid., R.P. 81,

66. Ibid., see R.P. 56, 67, 68, 69, 72, 79, 83, and 84.

67. Index, 1865-69, R.P. 81. December 1869 meeting was held in
washington, D.C.
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Treasurer Boullt indicated that $4,213.59 had been expended during
1869, leaving a balance of $2,134.84 in the treasury. For 1870

operations there would thus be available $600 for the salary of
Superintendent Biggs and $1,534.84 for repairs and improvements.68
In a second report dated December 9 Treasurer Boullt informed the
board, "Since the organization of the Board ! have received $6'3,729.17
and disbursed $61,594.33, all of which has been paid out upon orders
of the Board.” The "Balance in the Treasury", he reported, "was
$2,134.84." In the cemetery, 4,696 Union soldiers had been buried and

“"there remains little of importance to be accomplished except the
erection of the Monument."ﬁg
The money to pay for the erection of the monument, however, was
lacking. The loyal states would have to make additional appropriations
if this project were to be executed.
In a joint resclution, approved July 14, 1870, Congress voted

That the Secretary of War be, and is hereby, directed to
accept and take charge of the soldiers' national cemetery at
Gettysburg, Pennsylvania, and the Antietam National
Cemetery at Sharpsburg, Maryland, whenever the
commissioners and trustees having charge of said cemeteries
are ready to transfer their care to the general government.
That when the aforementioned cemeteries are placed under the
control of the Secretary of War, that they be taken care of
and maintained in accordance with the provisions of the Act
of Congress entitled "An act to establish?and protect national
cemeteries," approved February 22, 1867,

In his annual report to the secretary of war for the fiscal year
ending June 30, 1872, Quartermaster General Meigs reported: "The
Gettysburg national cemetery, constructed with the aid of the War
Department, by State action, has been transferred to the custody of
the War Department...." The transfer was made on April 18, 1872.

"The Antietam Cemetery has not been transferred to the War

ull

Department, Indeed, five more years were to pass before the board

68. R.G., 92, Entry 576, Box 131 - Report dated December 8, 1869.
69. R.G. 92, Entry 576, Box 131 -~ Report dated December 9, 1869,
70, U.S. Statutes at Large, Vol. 16, p. 390. Act of February 22,
1867, in Vol, 14, pp. 399-401. '

71. Congressional Seria! No. 1558, p. 152, The Gettysburg transfer
was made under the act of the legislature of Pennsylvania of
April 14, 1868, and the resolution of Congress of July 14, 1870. There

were 74 national cemeteries in 1872, of which ali "but one, that at
Antietam battlefield, were under the management of the War Department.
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of trustees turned Antietam National Cemetery over to the War
Department.

The board of trustees apparently failed to take advantage of the
Act of July 14., 1870, because it received additional appropriations from
the states that amounted to at least $20,000, which could be used
toward the construction of the Soldier's Monument.

On September 1, 1871, the executive committee for the board of
trustees, comprised of S. Rutledge McNary of Connecticut, George B.
Wright of Ohio, Brig. Gen. Erza A. Carman of New Jersey, and
Secretary-Treasurer Thomas A. Boulit, entered into a contract with
James C. Batterson of Hartford, Connecticut, to rwithin the space of
two years from the first of October next," erect a monument in the
Antietam National Cemetery and "finish the same complete entire
according to the design hereto annexed and the accompanying
specifications for foundations,” for the total sum of $30,000. This
amount was to be paid as follows:

1. ¢ 5,000 on approval of contract (1871].

2. $ 5,000 on March 1, 1872,

3. $ 5,000 on September 1, 1872,

¥y, $ 5,000 on March 1, 1873,

5. $ 10,000 due on completion of contract (Oct. 1, 1873}.
$ 30,000 Total. | --

The foundation for the monument was to be erected and paid for by the
Antietam National Cemetery Asso::iation.-'?2 This contract was entered
into under the board of trustees resolution of September 16, 1867.

The monument was to be of white granite from the granite works
at Westerly, Rhode Island. It was to be 22 feet square at the base and

J1. Articles of Agreement for the Soldier's Monument, dated September
1, 1871, between James G. Batterson and Board of Trustees of Antietam
National Cemetery Association, 99 pp., and "plan-Elevation of
foundation of Antietam Monument, to be built of rough stone laid in
cement, Scale 3 inch to one foot, dated 1867." All in R.G. 92, Entry
576, Box 131.
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44 feet 7 inches in height from the foundation to the top of the statue.
The statue itself, 21 feet 6 inches high, was to be of a soldier on .
guard. The $30,000 included the making, delivery, and erection of the
monument, except for the underground foundation. Contractor

Batterson was '"the same who executed the monument at CGettysburg
73

National Cemetery."

The board of trustees completed the first four scheduled payments
in 1871-73, which totaled $20,000, but they were unable to make the
final payment--the balance of $10,000 that was due on October 1, 1873.
There the matter was to rest for six more years, when the United
States government finally paid the outstanding balance (plus interest)
in 1879, _

Although the sentry, sculptured by James W. Pollette at the
Batterson Quarry at Westerly, R.l. in 1871-73, was not placed at
Antietam National Cemetery until 1880, the stone giant was not idle
during this period. The statue, but probably not the base, was
finished on schedule and the soldier sent to the centennial exposition in
Philadeiphia in 1876, During the exposition it stood at the main

entrance to the grounds and when the Centennial was over, the soldier
74

returned to Stonington, Connecticut,
Hiram S, Siess, the first "keeper" of Antietam National Cemetery,
had served for three years as a sergeant in Company H, Ist Maryland
Regiment, Potomac Home Brigade Volunteers during the Civil War.
From 1865 to 1867 he served as timekeeper for Superintendent
Biggs. From the fall of 1867 to June 1871, Siess was given the new
lodge to live in free of charge, thus affording the cemetery some
protection, but he received no salary until June 22, 1871, when the board
of trustees appointed Siess "keeper" of the cemetery at an annual

73. Executive Committee to Hon. D. Weise, Hagerstown, Md.,
September 30, 1871, R.G. 92, Entry 576, Box 131,

74, Data on the adventures of the soldier's statue, 1874-1876,
furnished by park technican Betty J. Otto, see Centennial
International Exhibition, !llustrated Volume | (Fine Art) (Philaaeipﬁia,
Jebbie and Barries, 1876-78), pp. 62-63.
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salary of $500. Siess received his salary and acted as keeper, taking
care of the grounds, from June 22, 1871, to December 31, 1875, when
his salary ceased because the board ran out of money. Siess continued
to reside in the lodge from January 1876 to June 1877, twenty months,
without receiving any pay. His presence helped protect the cemétery,
but to earn a living he had to work at an outside job and
could not take care of the cemetery grounds.75

Out of funds and with no appropriations being received from the
states, the board of trustees began to show an interest in transferring
the care of Antietam National Cemetery to the U.S. Government, as well
as in settling the large debt it had incurred in procuring the Soldier's

Monument for Antietam.
An Act of Congress, approved March 2, 1877, accordingly

directed:

That for the purpose of discharging the balance of the
indebtedness incurred by the board of trustees of the
Antietam National Cemetery in establishing the same and
improving the grounds thereof and the proper burial therein
of the soldiers who fell on the battlefield of Antietam, there
is appropriated the sum of fifteen thousand dollars...or so
much thereof as may be necessary, to be expended under the
direction of the Secretary of War, in the liquidation of such
indebtedness; and it shall be the duty of the Secretary of
War to hereafter provide for the preservation and super-
intendence of the said cemetery as one of the national
cemeteries of the United States under the laws now in force
in regard to such national cemeteries: Provided, That the
said sum of fifteen thousand dollars.... shall not be paid
until the legal tit}% to the said property shall be vested in
the United States.

Following passage of the law on March 2, 1877, Quartermaster
General Meigs sent an agent to report on the physical condition of

Antietam National Cemetery. 0. Cox reported on April 24, 1877:

The place is in tolerably fair condition but from the fact as 1
understand it, that the Superintendent gets no pay {simply
getting the use of the lodge for taking care of the cemetery)
it would be desirable for us to take charge of it as soon as

%5, Data from a letter of H. S. Siess to the secretary of war, August
26, 1878, applying for a letter of H.S. Siess to the secretary of war,
August 26, 2878, applying for a permanent position.as superintendent of
Antietam National Cemetery under the War Department, in R.G, 92,
Entry 576, Box 131,

76. U.S. Statutes at Large, Vol. 18, p. 269.
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possible, otherwise when we do get it we may find a great

deal of work necessary . . . all things considered ! think it

wouid be well to have us take steps now to have the cemetery
turned over to us so we can keep it in proper condition as

the [1877] law directs. Some arrangement will have to be

made about a superintendent. The [present U.S.] law allows

70 and that numbeﬁ is already in service {[at the other

national cemeteries].

On June 6 and 7, 1877, the trustees voted to transfer Antietam
National Cemetery to the United States under the terms of the Act of
March 2, 1877,

On June 27 an inventory of property being transferred, including
11 acres of land, the enclosing walls and gates, lodge, tools,
furniture, and the liabilities of the association, was sent to the
secretary of war, '

The debts of the Board were as follows:

James G. Batterson-—-for soldier's monument$10,000.00
To Executive Committee for Monument-~travel expenses:

Dr. S. R. McNary $ 185.00

Gen. Geo. B, Wright 171.23

GCen, Erza A. Carman 22.50
Estimated total debt: | $ 10,378.73 7°

Secretary of War G. W. McCrary assumed charge of the Antietam
National Cemetery on June 22, 1877, writing to the Quartermaster
General:

I recommend that the Antietam Cemetery be announced in
General Orders as a first class cemetery and that until a
regular superintendent is assigned to duty there the man who
has been employed for some years past [Hiram Smith Siess] as
Keeper be hired by the Quartermaster... at a sal%y of
$40.00 per month and the authorized allowance for fuel,

The aadition of Antietam by June 36, 1877 brought the

number of national cemeteries under the care of the War Department to

79.80

78. R.G, 92, Entry 576, Box 131, This list did not include interest
due on the $10,000 from 1873 and storage charges for the monument.
The association was also responsible for contruction of a foundation of
the monument.

79. R.G., 92, Entry 576, Box 131.

80. Annual Report of Captain A.F. Rockweli, in charge of national

cemeteries to Quartermaster General M.C, Meigs, for the fiscal Year
ending June 30, 1877, in Serial No, 1794, p. 323, also see p. 194.

26




James Gall, civil engineer representing the Quartermaster Corps,
formally visited and took possession of Antietam National Cemetery on
behaif of the War Department on September 23, 187?.81

The Adjutant General, in General Qrder No. 68 issued on
October 5, 1877, made Antietam National Cemetery a national cemetery
of the first class.82

The cemetery board of trustees, from 1865 to 1874, had coilected
and spent approximately $96,261.3% on the establishment, development,
and maintenance of Antietam National Cemetery. [n addition, they owed
$10,378.00 for the construction of the Soldier's Monument and other

jtems.

87, Report of James Gall, civil engineer, for the quartermaster of the
Washington Depot, D.C., dated September 26, 1877, R.G. 92, Entry
576, Box 130.

82. Order in R.G. 92, Entry 576, Box 130.
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Record of Expenditures by the Board of Trustees of the

Antietam National Cemetery Association, Sharpsburg, Maryland

May 25, 1865 - June 27, 1877

Period Amount Balance on Taken in
Expended Hand
May 25, 1865 - Dec. 29, 1865 3 6,428.84 $ 1,571.16 $8,000.00
Dec, 30, 1865 - Aug. 1, 1866 9,492.71 12,459.80
Aug. 2, 1866 -June 5, 1867 14,822.34 11,845.21 22.099.00
SUBTOTAL: 1865-June 5, 1867 $ 30,743,59 $11,845.21 $ 42,588,808
June 6, 1867 - May 6, 1868 23,642,617 1,432,680 13,230.00
May 7, 1868 ~Dec. 9, 1868 3,210,99 3,348,43 5,126,82
Dec., 10, 1868 - Dec. 9, 1869: 4,213.59 2,134,84 3,000.00
SUBTOTAL: 1865 - 1869: $61,810.76 $ 2,134.84 $  63,845.62
Dec. 10, 1869 - June 21, 1871 2,246.35 2,588.49 $ 63,945.62
June 22, 1871 - Dec. 11, 1872 16,526.14 6,502.81 2,700.00
Dec, 12, 1872 - Dec. 16, 1874 8,158.61 1,528.48 3,180.28
Subtotal: 1865-1874 $ 88,741.86 $ 1,524,438 $ 90,261.34
Dec. 17, 1874 - Feb, 14, 1877 1,254,34 270,14 0.00
Feb. 14, 1877 - June 27, 1877 270.14 0.00 {w
GRAND TOTAL, 1865 -
June 1877; $90,261.34 0.00 $90,261.34
Cost of Construction: Keeper's Salary,
July 1871-Dec, 31, 1875: $2,250.00
Iron Gates $ 880.00
Salary of General Supt. A.A.

Iron Fence 3,703.40 (607 feet) Bigg, Sept. 16, 1865 - July 1870;

Coping on Wall, Stone
Lodge 5,955.78
Land, 11} acres 1,161.75

Soldierts Monument

For 1,500 feet drainage tile 1,000,00

Construction stone enclosing
wall, about 36,090.80,

32,804,04 ($20,000.00
by Association}.
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7,402.50 (2,115 feet)

$ 9,375.00,

Salary of Secretary-Treasurer

Thomas A
July 1870:

. Boullt,

$ 2,287.50.

Sept., 16, 1865 -

Source: Secretary-Treasurer Thomas

A. Boutll

t's  Reports,

1865-1877,



CHAPTER il

THE WAR DEPARTMENT AND ANTIETAM NATIONAL CEMETERY,
JUNE 7, 1877-AUGUST 10, 1933

Beginning in 1865, under the able leadership of General Meigs,
Quartermaster Ceneral of the U.S. Army, the Quartermaster Corps of
the War Department had begun the tremendous and difficult task of
interring the bodies of Union soldiers who had died during the Civil
War in a number of national cemeteries where their remains would
receive perpetual care. By June 30, 1877, the Quartermaster Corps
had established 77 such cemeteries and with the Gettysburg and
Antietam cemeteries included, they were now maintaining 79
national cemeteries. As of June 30, 1878, 310,%3 U.S. soldiers,
including 165,102 known and 145,841 unknown soldiers, had been buried
in these national cemeteries. From 1865 to June 30, 1877, the War
Department had spent $5,253,719.95 to establish, improve,
and maintain this system of national cerneteries.1
1. PERFECTING THE TITLE TO THE CEMETERY AND SETTLING THE
DEBTS OF THE ANTIETAM NATIONAL CEMETERY ASSOCIATION,
1877-1879

On June 24, 1877 the secretary of war directed the quaftermaster

general to take the necessary action to perfect United States title to
Antietam National Cemetery and to protect and preserve the same.2
This action was required by the Act of March 2, 1877. Once the title
had been perfected, then the debts of the Antietam National Cemetery
Association, which were estimated to be about $10,378.73, could also then
pbe paid off from the appropriation of $15,000 that Congress had made

. Data compiled from the annual reports of the quartermaster
general, M.C. Meigs, to the secretary of war for the fiscal years
ending June 30, 1871, 1872, 1874, 1875, and 1876, published in
Congressional Series No. 1503, p. 136; 1558, p. 151; 1587, p. 198;
1635, p. 213; 1674, p. 283; 1742, p. 290; and 1794, p. 194-195,

Total number of dead from No. 1843, p. 390. ‘About 20,000 Confederate
soldiers were also buried in these national cemeteries,

2. Letter of June 24, 1877, R.G. 92, Entry 576, Box 131,
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for that purpose in the Act of March 2. On December 11, 1877, the
secretary of war wrote letters to each of the governors of the sixteen
states {those which had appropriated money for the development of
Antietam National Cemetery and had a trustee on the cemetery board)
requesting that each legislature pass an act consenting to the transfer
of title to the United States.3 Two years were to péss before the title
could be perfected because it turned out that in three of the states,
namely Indiana, Michigan, and West Virginia, the legislatures met only
once every two years and the next such meetings would not be until
1879.u A large file of correspondence developed on this subject
because some states failed to reply to the 1877 letter and it was
necessary to remind the governors in other states to ensure that the
legislatures passed the necessary Iam.!s.5

Each act also had to be reviewed by the attorney general of the
United States to make sure that the law did effectively transfer title to
the United States. On July 26, 18798, Quartermaster General Meigs was
finally able to inform Secretary of War Alexander Ramsay:

The State of Maryland Act approved March 13, 1878 has
transferred title [and also concurrent jurisdiction] to the
United States and all other States have authorized the
transfer by August 1, 1879. The Department of Justice has
accordingly under the date of 26th July 1879 decided that the
Unjted States are now clothed with a good and valid title to
the premises. '

This meant, Meigs reminded the secretary, that the debts of the board
of trustees of the Antietam National Cemetery could now be legally
settled.ﬁ

3.  Most of the letters are in R.G. 92, Entry 575, Box 131,

§, Letter of James D. Williams, Governor of Indiana, to the secretary
of war, December 14, 1877, explaining the next meeting of the state
legislature would be in January 1879, in R.G. 92, Entry 576, Box 131,
5. Quartermaster General M.C. Meigs, July 20, 1878, to secretary of
war asking him to write to the governors of Minnesota, New Hampshire,
and Vermont as these states had never answered the letter of
December 11, 1877, R.G. 92, Entry 576, Box 131, :

6. QMG, to sec. of war, July 26, 1879, R.G, 92, Entry 576, Box
131.
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The sixteen "loyal" states transferred title to Antietam National

Cemetery to the United States as follows:

1. Connecticut, March 26, 1878, 9. Maine, February 13, 1878,

2. Rbhode Island, April 12, 1878. 10. Massachusetts, March 29,
1878.

3. New Jersey, February 7, 1878. 11. Ohio, May 6, 1869,

4, New York, January 19, 1878. 12. Vermont, October 18,
1878,

5. New Hampshire, August 9, 1878. 13. Minnesota, March 3, 1879,

6. Wisconsin, March 1, 1878. 18.  Michigan, March 3, 1879.

7. Pennsylvania, April 24, 1878. 15. Indiana, March 29, 1879,

8. Maryland, March 13, 1878. 16.  West \grginia, March 11,
1879,

7. Letters and laws mostly in R.G. 92, Entry 576, Box 131. R.G.
79, Box 2699, File 031-Park 1, List of papers relating to the title to
Antietam National Cemetery, Maryland, transmitted by the War
Department to the Interior Department, December 29, 1933, pursuant to
Executive Order No. 6166, dated June 10, 1933 (2 sheets) .
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The outstanding debts of the Antietam National Cemetery
Assoclation In 1879, $12,806.04, related to the construction of the
Soldier's Monument for the Antietam Cemetery. These debts were paid
in 1879 from the $15,000 appropriated by the Act of March 2, 1877, as
follows:

1., To James G. Batterson, contractor, for unpaid portion of

$30,000 contract price of monuments $10,000.00
interest of $7,500 thereof from January 1, 1874 to

March 2, 1877, 3 years 2 2/3 mos. @ 63 per ann. 1,427.50
For Storage of monument same period @ $100.00 per ann. 317.18
For extra work on letters 100.00C
Total paid to James G. Batterson $11,844.68

To Executive Committee of Board of Trustees for the Monument:

2. Dr, S. Rutledge McNary, Chairman $185.00
Gen, George B. Wright ' 171.23
Gen. Erza A. Carman 22.50
Total to Executive Committee for monument: $378.73

3. For construction of the foundation of the monument in 1879:

To Krietzer & Bank for building the foundation
for the ‘monument $532.53
To Urias Knode for hauling earth for the foundation
of the monument 50.10 .
Total for construction, 187%, of foundation: $582.63
Grand total of debts of Board of Trustees paid in 1879 $12,8{)f5.0l1.8

8. Letter, quartermaster general to Hon., Thomas J. Hunderson,
Chairman of Committee on Military Affairs, U.S. House of
Representatives, May 13, 1882 -- R.G. 92, Entry 576, Box 130.
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With this expenditure by the War Department, the total cost of
shaping and erecting the Antietam Soldier's Monument came to
$32,806.04.

The estimated cost of establishing, developing, and maintaining
Antietam National Cemetery from May 25, 1865, to June 7, 1877, was
approximately $133,462.38. Of this sum, the Antietam National
Cemetery Association, by means of appropriations from 16 states,
provided about $90,261.3% and the United States expended a tota! of
$43,201.04; $30,395.00 in 1867 and $12,806.04 in 1879. All further
improvements and repairs made after June 7, 1877 were to be the
responsibility of the War Department.

2. WAR DEPARTMENT IMPROVEMENTS OF THE CEMETERY,

1877~1889

While the quartermaster general's office was busy from 1877 to 1879
perfecting title to the land and settling debts of the .cemetery
association, Capt, A, F. Rockwell, in charge of national cemeteries,
Qffice of National Cemeteries, Washington, D.C., was engaged during
the same period making physical improvements to the Antietam cemetery.

Following the recommendations of civil engineer Gall of the
Washington Quartermaster Depot, $405.34 was spent during the spring
of 1878 to replace the roof timbers of the tower of the lodge and to
relay the slate roof of the main structure; also a new flagstaff was

erected at a cost of $170.9

5. For detailed recommendations, see engineer James Gall's report of
October 30, 1877, to the depot quartermaster, Washington Depot.
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On May 15, 1878, Gall next suggested that the proposed wooden
tool house for the Antietam cemetery, which was to cost $208, be
replaced by a fireproof stone shed with a slate roof that would cost
$310. Gall also provided the plan and specifications for the stone shed.
The structure, with 18-inch hammered dressed stone walis laid in good
mortar, was to measure 20 by 16 feet and to consist of one story 10
feet in height. The roof was to be of slate and there were to be two
windows and one door. Gall had also obtained two bids ranging from
$305 to $310 for constructing the stone shed. Gall's plan for the
stone tool house was adopted and the contract for the structure was
awarded to the low bidder, Wallace Stetson, at $305.m

Construction of the stone tool shed got underway In September
1878, and was completed by the end of the year. Stetson was aliowed
an additional $25 "for extra work done on the Tool House at Antietam
National Cemetery," so that the cost of construction came to $33l(}.11

The next structure to be erected by the Quartermaster Corps

during the spring of 1879 was a rostrum, built on what was known as the

General Meigs standard plan then being used in all national cemeteries.
The contract betv#een Captain Rockwell and Jonathan Lake, the low
bidder, for the rostrum at Antietam National Cemetery was signed on
February 8, 1879, The structure was to be erected between February
4 and May 25, 1879, and Lake was to be paid $915.12 On March 27,
however, the original specifications were revised to substitute stone for
brick in the foundations, other changes were made, and an extra
charge of $485 was approved by the Quartermaster General for the

change or'de'r‘s.13

10. Engineer James Gall to Capt. A. F. Rockwell, May 15, 1878,
together with the plans for the tool house in color, in R.G. 92, Entry
576, Box 131. '

11. Engineer James Gall's report of September 30, 1878 to Capt. A. F.
Rockwell, indicates construction on tool shed is underway and about
half, $150, done. Captain J. M. Marshall to Capt. A.F. Rockweli
January 13, 1879, re additional payment of $25, in R.G. 92, Entry
576, Box 131. Also Serial No. 1903 -- "Statement of disbursement of
appropriations for national cemeteries during fiscal year ending
June 30, 1878 -- p. 368 -- Antietam -- Outbuildings.

12. Contract, dated February 8, 1879, including the plan of the
rostrum, in R.G. 92, Entry 576, Box 131,

13. Correspondence and change in specifications, March 19 and 17,
1879, in R.G. 92, Entry 576, Box 131.
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The new rostrum was ready for use on Decoration Day, 1879, and
Captain Rockwell so informed Quartermaster General Meigs in his annual
report for the fiscal year ending June 30, also noting that "Vines have
been planted around them [the new rostrum] to afford shade and to
add to their a;:)p'earan«ce.““l The cost of the new rostrum was $1,400
‘and with the new stone tool shed, $1,730 had been expended
on the construction of new structures at Antietam during fiscal year
1879.1°

On August 1, 1879, the United States secured a title to Antietam
Nationa! Cemetery, so that the War Department could now settle the
outstanding debts owed by the Antietam National Cemetery Association.
This meant that the giant Soldier's Monument, contracted for on
September 1, 1873, for $30,000 could finally be paid for in full,
completed, delivered, and erected at Antietam.

On August 1, 1879, Captain Rockwell notified Contractor Batterson
that "The title to Antietam National Cemetery is now vested in the
United States and the debts of the Antietam Cemetery Association can
now be '1i<:[uic:{atecl.“16 With money available to pay him Batterson
resumed work on the Soldier's Monument, probably compieting the huge
base at this time.

Batterson replied on August §, writing that the Soldier's Monument
would be shipped as soon as the foundation in Antietam National
Cemetery could be built. He enclosed a plan for the design of the
foundation and gave detailed instruction régarding its construction,
Under the contract, the Cemetery Association was responsible for the
building of the foundat_ion.” On August 14 the Quartermaster General
decided that the cost of erecting the foundation could be properly
charged to the $15,000 appropriated by the Act of March 2, 1877, to
settle the debts of the Cemetery Association.18

14. Serial No. 1903, p. 367.

15. Serial No. 1803, p. 363--Antietam Outbuildings--Statement of
disbursements of appropriations for national cemeteries during fiscal
year ending June 30, 1879. :
16. Rockwell to Batterson, August 1, 1879, R.G. 92, Entry 576, Box
17. J. G. Batterson, President, The New England Granite Corporation,
to Captain A. F. Rockwell, August 9, 1879, R.G.. 92, Entry 576, Box
131. _ :

18. R.G. 92, Entry 576, Box 131,

35



On September 23 Dr. McNary, chairman of the executive committee
of the Antietam National Cemetery Association, informed Captain
Rockwell that he had inspected the monument "at the quarry, in
Westerly, R.l., and finds it meets the terms of the contract with J. G.
- Batterson.? He further reported that the monument was ready for
shipment by water to Georgetown. It would then be sent up the
Chesapeake and Ohio Canal by barge to Grover LlLanding, Maryland.
From there it would have to be hauled 1{ miles by highway to the
cemetery. The "weight of the granite soldier," he warned, was "27
tons and the weight of the monument [on which the soldier stood] 212
tons.“19

On October 15 civil engineer Clarke informed Captain Rockwell that
the masonry foundation for the Antietam monument had been completed,
"The work was done by Messrs Kretzer and Bark of Keedysvilie [Md.]
for $532.00." Continuing, Clarke wrote "The foundation was built so as
to raise the cut stone work of the base profile three feet above the
adjoining surface--so that the mound {constructed by Urias Knode at a
cost of $50.10] was necessary.” The cost of this work, $582.63, was
charged against the March 2, 1877, appropriation of $15,000.20

On October 24, 1879, Batterson wrote to Rockwell to inform him
that a vessel had been secured, that the monument was then loading at
Stoningtoen and would sail for Georgetown. The statue, he reported,
was being b()xed.z‘I

On December 19 Ceorge A, Haverfield, superintendent of Antietam
National Cemetery, informed Captain J. M. Marshall, assistant
quartermaster of the Baltimore Depot:

The work of setting up the monument is progressing slowly -
eight stones have been put into position, eight others are on
the grounds. The balance are on the landing on the Canal
[CE0] except one piece of zt‘{']e Statue which is at the bottom
of the River at Washington,

19. McNary to Rockwel!, September 23, 1879, R.G. 92, Entry 576, Box
131. On June 26, 1878, McNary notified Captain Rockwell that he had
accepted the statue for the Soldier's Monument but that the balance of
the monument was yet to be inspected.

20, Clarke to Rockwell, October 15, 1879, R.G. 92, Entry 378,
Box 131. '

21, Batterson to Rockwell, October 24, 1879, R.G. 92, Entry 576,
Box 131,

22, Letters Sent Letter Book, Antietam National Cemetery, pp. 21-22,

Antiet?m National Battlefield Museum Catalog No. 1846, Data courtesy of
Park Technician Betty J, OCtto.
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On January 22, Haverfield notified Captain Marshall that the
Soldier's Monument "will be ready for inspection and acceptance by
Wednesday, [January] 28, 1880," by the War Department.23

Thus, seven years after the planned date the giant stone soldier
took up his post on sentry duty at Antietam National Cemetery. The
monument was dedicated with appropriate ceremonies on September 17,
1880, the 18th anniversary of the battle.

Prior to this, on November 29, 1879, the three members of the
executive committee of the cemetery association for the monument,
McNarry, Wright, and Carman, were paid by the United States the
$378.73 due them for their travel expenses.zq The cost of the
Soldier's Monument, from 1871 to 1886, as has been noted, was

$32,806.0’4.25

In addition to the new structures, improvements were also made to
the grounds. Work began in the spring of 1878. The burial sections
were graded, dressed, and seeded with grass. The avenues were also
graded and many deciduous and evergreen trees were planted--the
deciduous along the avenues and the evergreens in the burial sections,
The superintendent was authorized to hire a horse to operate the
cemetery-owned horse mower and two men for maintenance work.26
Additional trees were set out in the following years. In 1880 Civil
engineer Gall reported that the trees "are doing remarkably well and
already produce a gratifying change in appearance." He also noted
that the land around the newly erected Soldier's Monument “has
been restored and improved." The enclbsing stone wall of the cemetery
was also repointed in June 1880 at a cost of $599.50.27 "The number
of visitors to Antietam is large," he reported and "The improvement in
the appearance and condition of the Antietam Cemetery since the
Government assumed charge of it is great and generally remarked by

visitors."28

73. Ibid, p. 26.
24, Treasurer of U.S., Nov. 29, 1879, R.G. 92, Entry 576, Box 131.

25. See pages 32-33 for detaiis.

26. James Gall, Jr., civil engineer, report, May 11, 1878, R.G. 92,
Entry 576, Box 131,

27. Report of Gall, Jr., June 28, 1880, R.C. 92, Entry 576, Box 130;
for cost of repointing see Serial No. 1952, p. 478,

28. Report of June 28, 1880.
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On May 16, 1881, civil engineer Gall next reported after an
inspection of Antietam, "I find the place steadily improving in condition
and appearance, The sections are now mostly well sodded. Most of the
avenues well grassed over, and the lawns between the circular drive
and enclosing wall... now in excellent shape and condition.“29
Capt. Foster, assistant quartermaster, Baltimore Depot, inspected
Antietam in July and also found the cemetery in excellent condition, He
informed the Quartermaster General, in part:

The wire barbed fence to inclose the strip of ground lying
between turnpike and front wall, as recommended by Mr,

Gall, will be erected this fall. The unsightly boxes
protecting the young trees on this ground will be
removed.... :

Of the Soldier's Monument, he noted: "The sodded circle at the
base of this monument presents a rather naked appearance." The
suggestion made by Gall "of planting shrubby here is good." He
further noted that "an arbor is now being erected over this cistern
[located near the lodge] at a cost of $7u.75."30

The Sharpsburg (Md.) Enterprise also commented on the fine

appearance of the cemetery on March 17, 1882, writing:

Work has again resumed here, and the presently contemplated
improvements will greatly enhance its beauty. The grounds
outside of the walls have been graded with rich soil, which
will be planted with grass seed. On the border of this little
plot is a row of symmetrical deciduous trees, just within the
handsome barbed wire fence. At regular intervals through
the center of the park-the spaces to alternate with the outer
row of trees-~will be planted a row of evergreens.

The superintendent [Walter A. Donaldson] has been notified
" that 700 new trees and shrubs will be forwarded early in the
season to be placed in the cemetery. Among the rare trees
grown there are a half dozen Swiss stone ﬁines and four
cedar of Lebanon, the only ones in the States.

Quartermaster Foster again inspected Antietam on May 186,
1884 and informed Lt. Cof. William D. Whipple, assistant adjutant
general, Division of North Atlantic, in part; _

29, Inspection report of May 16, 1881, in R.G 92, Entry 576, Box 130,
30. Inspection Report to QM General, September 22, 1881, in R,G. 92
Entry 576, Box 130. He inspected Antietam on July 24, 1881.

31. Clipping from paper in R.G. 92, Entry 576, Box 130,
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The office records are better and more systematically kept at
this than at any cemetery | have ever inspected. The
accounts pertaining to expenditures and the history in detail
of every day's operation at the cemetery are so kept that
most minute transactions at any past time can be readily
referred to....

The Rostrum is in good condition and the vines cultivated for
its adornment are tastefully arranged. Also the hedges,
especially the box hedges lining one of the avenues and the
trees and shrubs throughout the cemetery.

There is no cultivation here of flowering bushes or beds of
flowering plants and the cemetery looks all the better for
it...' I

The only ungrassed avenue here is the one leading from the
main entrance to the [soldier's] monument near the center of
the cemetery. This is in excellent condition, having been
recently covered with lime cinder, which makes a smooth and
hard road.

The appearance of this Cemetery throughout is highly

creditable to the Superintendent [W. A. _Donaldsgg}. The

inspector could not find a neglected spot ariywhere.

During the fiscal year ending June 30, 1888, $u60 was spent
making repairs and improvements to the cemetery iodge.33

The only other structure erected on the cemetery grounds prior to
January 1889 was a brick privy with slate roof, 6 by 10 feet in size.
This building was about 75 yards northwest of the lodge, at the
northwest corner of the cemetery., For a detailed description of
Antietam National Cemetery, including its walls, buildings, monuments,
roads and avenues, written by Superintendent George Hess about

January 8, 188%, see Appendix No. II.

37. Report of May 16, 1884, R.G. 92, Entry 576, Box 130.

33, $375.00 were spent in the fiscal year ending June 30, 1888. See
serial No. 2628 590-591, and $85.00 during the fiscal year ending June
30, 1889. See Serial No, 2715, p. 727. The "Proposals for Repairs to
Lodge and Outbuilding at Antietam National Cemetery, Maryland, August
16, 1887" are in R.G. 92, Entry 667--"Specifications, Estimates and
proposals for Road Construction, Earth Work and Buildings at National
Cemeteries, 1885-1889," two volumes,
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From July 1, 1877 to June 30, 1894, the War Department spent a
total (exclusive of the superintendents' salaries) of $16,565.84 .
for the improvement, repair, and maintenance of Antietam National

Cemetery, averaging about $900.00 per year over this 17-year period.

The money was spent on the following items:

Repair of enclosing walls and gates $ 706.50
Repair and improvement of the lodge 1,241.29
For construction and repair of outbuildings 1,806.37
For tools 942.80
Trees and plants 299.89
For seasonal maintenance employees 7,865.74
For repair of drainage system 30.00
For flag staffs and monuments 368.61
For water system, including a new well dug in

1892 for $200.00 285.30
For office furniture 64.50
For interments 72.75
Fo-.r fuel (1887-94 only) 555.86
For forage (cemetery had no horse) 0.00
For transportation 124,75
For purchase of land recording deed 7, 1878) 5.00
Grand total, July 1, 1877 to June 30, 1894 :(;16,565..')!4_34
With salary of cemetery superintendent, $900.00 a year
included, except for $480.00 for first year 14,880.00
Total expenditures, July 1, 1877-June 30, 1894 $31.,445.848
Expended by cemetery association and U.S.,
1865-77 133,462.38
Approximate total of expenditures, 1865 to 1894: $164,908,.22
34, A detailed and documented annual breakdown of expenditures from
July 1 to June 30, 1894, will be found in Appendix No. 111 of this .

study.
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3, MACADAMIZED ROAD TO ANTIETAM NATIONAL CEMETERY,

1888-1928 _
On January 30, 1888, civil engineer W. H. Owen submitted an

estimate of the cost of constructing a macadamized road to be built from
Antietam Station on the Shenandoah Valley Railroad to the Antietam
National Cemetery by the United States--a distance of 13 miles. About
three-fourths of this way lay through the village of Sharpsburg and in
front of the cemetery. The legal width of the road was 60 feet, but he
reported that encroachment by farm fence lines had reduced the width
to less than 40 feet and generaily not over 56 feet. The portion of the
road through Sharpsburg and in front of the cemetery was already
macadamized to a width of 16 feet in the center. Engineer Owen
recommended that the entire road be built to a width of 60 feet.

In the justification for spending federal funds on what might
appear to be a local highway, engineer Owen wrote:

The Antietam National Cemetery, on part of the site of a
great battle, is one of the most noted in the country. On
Memorial Day it is visited by 15 or 20,000 people and during
six months of the year, the number of visitors is very large.
A majority come by rail to Antietam Station, thence over this
road. Hacks ply reguiarly between the station and
Sharpsburg and take passengers to the cemetery if desired.
Often when there is an excursion and especially on Memorial
Day, these conveyences are inadequate and many people are
compelled to walk, i1t seems disirable... for the
accommodation of visitors that the United States should build
a good road from the station to the cemetery, if a proper
grant [of the right of way] can be obtained from the
Boonesboro Turnpike Road Company.

In his estimate of cost, which came to $15,000, Owen planned:

From Station to Sharpsburg the road to be properly graded
and macadamized, 25 feet wide to a depth of 12 inches. On
one side to be a stone gutter and curb and a macadam
sidewalk 8 feet wide and 6 inches deep.

From the west end of Sharpsburg to the Cemetery, the
present width of 16 feet of macadam to be widened to the
existing curbs and stone guiters put in, making a total width
between curbs of 40 feet....”

35, Owen to Lt. Col. G. B, Dandy, Deputy Quartermaster General,
January 30, 1888, in Papers Relating to Macadam Road from
Antietam Station to Antietam National Cemetery, items No. 1 to 16, in

R.G. 92, Entry 576, Box 130.
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Owen also prepared and submitted a "Map showing proposed
Government Road between Antietam Station on the Shenandoah R.R. and
the Antietam (Md.) National Cemetery, January 30, 1888. Scale: 3}
inches equals | mile."?’ﬁ

On March 3, 1888, the board of managers, Boonsboro Turnpike
Company, granted the secretary of war permission to occupy and
improve "that portion of the road built by said company between the
eastern boundary of Antietam National Cemetery on the road leading
from Sharpsburg to Shepardstown, including the present main street, to
repair, impro:)ve..."37 '

The turnpike company formally granted this right-of-way in a legal
document dated July 11, 188'8.38

Before this, on March 12, 1888, the quartermaster general had
presented Owen's estimate and plans to the secretary of war.39 '

An act of Congress (sundry civil), approved October 2, 1888,
appropriated $15,000 for constructing the road from Antietam Station to

Antietam National Cemetery. 10

On OQOctober 11, the quartermaster
general ordered Lt. Col. G. B, Dandy, the depot quartermaster of the
Washington Depot, to advertise for bids to construct this road.  Groff
and Zimmerman won the_t:ontran:t."'H

As work progressed, the original project was expanded to include
curb, gutters, and sidewalks on both sides of the road. Congress, in
an act approved on March 2, 188% appropriated an additional $10,000 to

complete the enlarged pro::oject.u2

36. Ibid., in same material.

37. Depot quartermaster to quartermaster general, in same material as
fn. 35,

38. Papers Relatings.

39, Ibid.

40. U.S. Statues at Large, Vol. 25, p. 538.

451, QMG to Dandy, October 11, 1888, R.G. 92, Entry 576, Box 131,
nSpecification for a macadam road to be built for the United States from
Antietam Station, on the Shenandoah Valley Railroad in Washington
County, Maryland, to Antietam National Cemetery," no date, but ca.
1888, are in R.G. 92, Entry 677-"Specifications, Estimates and
Proposals for Road Construction, Earth Work and Buildings at National
Cemeteries, 1885-1889.," two volumes,

42, February 2, 1889, estimate from QM General to S$.J. Randall,
Chairman, Committee on Appropriations, U.S. House of Representatives,
R.G. 92, Entry 576, Box 130. U.S. Statutes at Large, Vol 25, p. 915.
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The second contract, in the amount of $10,000, was awarded to
Adam and Snyder on March 29, 1889. On November 21, 1889, Colonel
Dandy reported to the gquartermaster general that construction of the
road under the two contracts had been completed October 15, 1889,

The road was 9,300 feet in length and was macadamized varying in
width from 32 to 40 feet, with stone gutters and sidewalks of brick and
curbs on either side. The expenditures were as follows:

For work and material under contract with Groff and

Zimmerman $ 13,545.92

For work and material under contract with Adams and
Snyder 9,5696.45
For expenses of Engineer and advertising ' 1,481.71
" Total spent $24,734.08
Unexpended balance 85.92

Appropriations (2)  $25,000.00 >

On May 17, 1890, the quartermaster general's office prepared an
estimate of $5,000 for an additional appropriation *to compiete the road
in front of the east half of the cemetery, for additional drainage, and
for construction of stone curbing and grading walks along the roads,
omitted in the former construction for the want of f’unds.““
Congress, in an Act approved August 30, 1890, appropriated the
requested $5,000 to compiete the road to Antietam National Cemei:ery.Lts

In his annual report pertaining to national cemeteries for this
fiscal year June 30, 1891, Deputy Quartermaster Ludington informed the
Quartermaster Ceneral that the entire length of the Antietam Road,
9,300 feet, "has been completed at a cost of $5,199.60, which inciuded
a portion of the unexpended balance of previous appropriations."

3. R.C. 97, Entry 576, Box 130. Report of Dandy, November 21,
1889.

g4, Estimate for $5,000, dated May 17, 1890, in R.G. 92, Entry 576,
Box 130. $3,865 was for stone curbing and sidewalks, $50 for drainage
and $585 for work on the road. Statement of purpose from Report of
ieut. Col. M. 1. Ludington..to gquartermaster general for fiscal year
ending June 30, 1890, Serial No. 2831, p. 725.

85. U.S. Statutes at Large, Vol. 26, Part [, p. 401.
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Total cost of the road, 1889-91 was $ 29,833.68

leaving unexpended balance of 166,32

Total of appropriations (3) $ 30,(’.)()0.00"“i

If the cost of constructing this road is included with the
approximate total spent from 1865 to June 30, 1894, of $164,908,22,
then the amount expended on Antietam National Cemetery during this
period stood at approximately $194,741.90 in 1894,

Three hundred Norway Maple trees, furnished by Hoopes Bro. §
Thomas of Westchester, Pennsylvania, were planted along the road in
November 1894, The trees were not less than 8 feet in height and they
met the requirements of specifications dated October 24, 1894, By 1906
the road was named McComas Avenue to honor Louis E. McComas,
successively local judge, U.S. representative, and U.S. senator.

Construction of the road, however, did not end U.S. government
expenditures on the highway. The annual reports of the quartermaster
general reveal that the War Department made repairs to the Antietam
road during the fiscal years ending on June 30, as follows: 1892,
1893, 1894, 1895, 1898, 1899, 1901, and 19{35.w

in a 1922 report the road to Antietam National Cemetery was
described as follows:

Length: 9,306 feet,
Maintained by United States - 9,300 feet

Length within town limits - 4,400 feet
Length without town limits - 4,900 feet
Width of right-of-way 60 feet

Width of roadbed. East of town limits paved the entire width: _

west of town [imit bituminous macadam 16 feet wide, limestone chips
pavement to curb,

46. Serial No. 2921, pp. 485-86,
47. Serial Nos, 3077, p. 363: Serial No. 3077, p. 363; No. 3198, p.
326; No. 3295, p. 294; No, 3370, p. 362; No. 3744, p. 426; No. 3899,

p. 215; No. 4270, p. 357; and No. 4943, p. 55. The superintendent of

Antietam National Cemetery supervised this annua! repairs, 1892 to
1928.
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Curb Stones both sides full length of road. Trees: Maple trees
planted approximately 50 feet apart on both sides of road. "These

trees are about 34 years old and have been well maintained.”n8

The War Department continued to make repairs to the road to
Antietam National Cemetery from 1891 to 1928. On July 9, 1922, the
Quartermaster Suppiy Officer in charge of the Washington Depot, D.C.,
informed the superintendent of Antietam National Cemetery that the War
Department had decided that Maryland, under its act of March 13, 1878,
had retained jurisdiction of the approach road from Antietam Station and
that he was not to interfere with the official activities of the State
Highway Commission on this road. The War Department ended its
maintenance of the road in 1928. In his quarterly report for the
quarter ending December 31, 1928, Superintendent Thomas E. Tobin
reported "Approach roadway turned over to State of P\ﬁaryland."149
4. SOME EARLY SUPERINTENDENTS AND THEIR PROBLEMS 1877~1897

As has been mentioned, Hiram S. Siess, who had resided in the
lodge since the fall of 1867 and served as "keeper" of Antietam National
Cemetery for the Cemetery Association for June 22, 1871 to June 7,
1877, was retained by the War Department in that position in 1877,

Siess was paid $40 per month and given allotment for fuel and the free
use of the lodge as his residence. Because the number of superin-
tendent positions of national cemeteries was fixed by law, and all of
these offices were filled in 1877, Siess was given the titie of "Acting

48, Report, June 14, 1922 by quartermaster supply officer, Washington
Depot, D.C. in R.G. 92, Entry 1891, Box 37, File No. 680.44.

49, Letters Received from the quartermaster by the superintendent of
the Cemetery from 6 January 1877 to 9 March 1923, pp. 446407,
Antietam National Battlefield Museum Cat. No. 1440,

R.G. 92, Entry 1891, Box 57, March 7, 1923, judge advocate general
to secretary of war, re roadway jurisdiction. R.G. 92, Entry 1891,
Box 56, File 600.912--Quarterly reports of superintendent. Permit
dated July 5, 1922, from Secretary of War to the State Roads
Commission of Maryland, to construct and maintain approach road,
Deed, executed by the secretary of war, dated August 24, 1928,
conveying the government's interest in and to approach road to the
State of Maryland. U.S. Statutes At Large, Vol. 43, p. 1104. Also
File 602, Letter, July 28, 1928,
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Superintendent” to solve this problem until the law could be changed to
increase the authorized number of "superintendents." Siess, as had
been noted, had served a three-year enlistment during the Civil War as
a sergeant in Company H, First Maryland Regiment, Potomac Home
Brigade Volunteers.

The greatest crises tha occurred during Siess' term of office took
place in the fali of 1878, Stetson, the contractor who was erecting the
stone teol house at the cemetery, was given a certificate for partial
payment in the amount of $150 for the work accomplished and the
building material that he had delivered to the site. On September 30,
however, a former partner of Stetson obtained a judgement against the
contractor and threatened to come and take the lumber that Stetson had
delivered to the goverment.so | '

An excited Acting Superintendent-'Siess wrote to Captain Rockwell
on October 2, explaining developments and the $32 judgment. A
Maryland state law officer, he feared, would come and take the lumber
and slate intended for use in the new tool house. "The lawyer for the
plaintiff in the case came here and told me that the State in ceding of
this. land to the United States, reserved the right of concurrent
jurisdiction."51

On October 5, Rockwell informed Siess, "The question of juris-
diction has nothing to do with the matter. The property mentioned
having been inspected and accepted by the Engineer and a certificate of
payment issued, belongs to the United States and is not liable for Mr.
Stetson's debt and you will not allow it to be taken from the
(:emetery."52 On October 8 Siess sent Captain Rockwell another
message from the front, writing

| told the state officer yesterday evening in the presence of
Mr. Charles G. Biggs, attorney to client in suit against Mr,
Stetson, that ! would hold the property in case. Biggs
replied that the property was not under my custody, but
under the control of the officer, he having laid an execution
thereon under process of state law., The property to be sold
off October 16,

30. Report of civil engineer James Gall, Jr., to Captain A.F,
Rockwell, in charge of national cemeteries, September 30, 1878: also
telegram of Capt. J.M. Marshall, Baltimore to QM General, October 10,
1878, stating that Stetson had received his check for $150.

g% Fb'i%' 92, Entry 576, Box 131.
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Siess reported that he had locked the gate to the cemétery to protect
the lumber--but what should he do? He concluded by stating that he
would defend the property with his life if necessar‘y!53

Responding on the following day, the Quartermaster General
ordered Siess to make formal protest to the seizure of the material, but

to use no violence to step the State officer.su

Meanwhile help was on the way to the embattled Siess. The
secretary of war had referred the problem to the attorney general of
the United States. The Justice Department sent the case to the U.S.
district attorney for Maryland, who engaged Albert Small, an attorney
of Hagerstown, "to resist the proceeding to attain and sell certain
property belonging to the U.S. at Antietam National Cemetery." On
October 23 Attorney Smalt advised the U.S. district attorney for
Maryland, at Baltimore: *] stopped sale under Maryland Act 1870,
Chapter 84." The U.S. lumber and sfate was saved and Mr. Siess did
not have to risk his life.

The act of February 22, 1867, required that superintendents of
national cemeteries be appointed from the honorably discharged
disabled soldiers of the United States. They are required to pass an
examination by a board of officers and serve six months on probation at
some cemetery, If during this time they prove to be capable,
industrious, and sober, they are appointed to fill vacancies as such
occur.55

On August 26, 1878, Siess made application for the permanent
position of superintendent at the Antietam National Cemetery. After
describing his Civil War service and honorable discharge from the Union
Army, he wrote: "l received no material wound although struck several
times with spent balls." He was aware that wounded soldiers were
preferred for this job, but as a resuit of his military services, he
pelieved that he had developed " a severe case of hemmorrhoids, caused

by constantly wearing a belt to which was attached his heavy military

53. Ibid.

54, 1bid. Telegram, October 9, 1878.

55. U.S. Attorney General Charles Devin to Secretary of War George
W. McCrary, October 25, 1878, R.G. 82, Entry 576, Box 131.
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~equipment.” He hoped that "this problem could be counted in lieu of a
Wt::und.“56

Unfortunately for Mr. Siess, his ailment did not qualify as a
"wound," and he was replaced on April 7, 1879, by George A,
Haverfield as superintendent of Antietam National Cemetery. Born in
Chio, Haverfield served as a private in the 126th Ohio Volunteers. His
first appointment to the national cemetery service was dated May 4,
1876, and he served as Superintendent of Antietam National Cemetery
frem April 7,' 1878, to March 13, 1880, when he left to take up the
position of superintendent of the national cemetery at Natchez,
Mississippi. His pay at Antietan was $75 per month, or $9300, plus free
quarters and an allowance for fuel, per year.s?

The next superintendent, Walter A. Donaldson, was born in
England and served as a captain in the 71st New York Volunteers
during the Civil War. His first appointrﬁent in the national cemetery
service was dated August 2, 1878. He served as superintendent of
Antietam National Cemetery from March 13, 1880, to July 1887, His
first position had been superintendent of the national cemetery at City
Point, Virginia.58 Captain Donaldson found the Antietam National
Cemetery being used -as a nighttime love nest. He described his law
enforcement problems to Major Foster on July 23, 1883:

When | took charge of the National Cemetery in March 1879
[sic-1880] certain improper practices were carried on in the
cemetery-—-but which were subsequently broken up. | believe
that these practices may brake [sic] out again and [ desire
now to make a capture of some offending partyies [sic] and
punish them to the full extent of the law. To do this | shall
have to be on watch te principal portion of the night and
require a retainer or {?] man to relieve me part of the watch,
This officer to be paid from maintenance....

in a P.S., Captain Donaldson provided some of the lurid
details:

56. From Annual Report of Quartermaster General M.C. Meigs for the
fiscal year ending June 30, 1878, Serial No. 1843, p. 263, U.S.
Statutes at Large, Vol. 14, p. 400, for act of February 22, 1867. —
57. Data from "Record of superintendents of national cemeteries in
service, June 30, 1881." Serial No. 2091, p. 442,

58, Data from "Record of superintendents of national cemeteries in
service, June 30, 1882." Serial No. 2091, p. 442.
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His suspicion--a prostitute from Washington has been living in

Sharpsburg by the name of Martha Young--Her example has

prompted others and that the area of the National Cemetery is

chosen for their vile proceedings.

Foster referred the question of hiring an assistant to enforce the
law to the quartermaster general, who informed the major on August 1,
1883:

1t is not deemed expedient to authorize the employment of a
special police officer for duty at this cemetery. Under the
act of February 22, 1867 Superintendents of national
cemeteries are fully empowered to make arrests for certain
specific misdemeanors committed within the limits of these

cemeteries. ..

To solve this problem, the quartermaster directed Captain
Donaldson to ask the local law authorities for assistance in ending this
problem.59

The next superintendent of Antietam National Cemetery was George
Hess, who held that office from August 15, 1887, to January 1, 1897,
Hess had been born in Pennsylvania and served as a private in the
28th Pennsylvania Volunteers during the Civil War. He had received
his first appointment in the national cemeteries on June 30, 1879, and
served as superintendent of the national cemetery at Memphis,

Tennessee, from February 23, 1882, to probably 1887.60
Drawing heavily for his information from the Antietam National

Cemetery Association's excellent History of Antietam National Cemetery,

published in 1869, George Hess wrote his History of the Antietam
National Cemetery Including a Descriptive List of all the Loyal Soldiers
Buried Therein Together with the Ceremonies in laying the Corner
Stone of the Soldiers' Monument, September 17, 1867, 128 pages. This
was published by the Daily Independent, Harrisburg, Pennsylvania, in

1890 and sold in Sharpsburg to visitors.

§9. R.G. 92, Entry 576, Box 130.

60. Record of superintendents of national cemeteries, June 30, 1882,
Serial No 2091, p. 442; Also Serial No. 2831, p. 727. June 30, 1890
Tist. This latter list indicates he received his appointment to Antietam
as of July 2, 1887, but he did not report for duty at the cemetery until

August 15, 1887,

49




Superintendent George Hess had trouble controlling visitors on
Memorial Day. The depot quartermaster informed the quartermaster
general on May 28, 1889:

Superintendent of Antietam Natlonal Cemetery states in former
years it was customary at that cemetery for the G. A, R, to
perform their Decoration ceremonies at the large monument,
Instead of at the Rostrum constructed for that purpose,
About 100 feet from the monument is a circle avenue lined
with a2 hedge of assorted choice roses, and the interior of the
circie around the monument is laid off in flower beds filled
with beautiful flowers., While the G. A. R. ceremonies are
being performed it would require a company of soldiers with
muskets to keep back the crowd of people and from trampling
the roses, etc. to the ground.

He has kindiy asked the G, A. R. Post of Sharpsburg to
perform their ceremonies at the Rostrum while they still
persist in holding them at the monument. Will this practice

be allowed to continue....

After carefully considering the matter for four wmonths, the
quartermaster general's office informed Superintendent Hess on
October 2, 1883, that "The ceremonies should be held at the rostrum."”
No troops, however, or suggestions were offered to help Hess effect
this desirable change in custom, L |

The nex}t superintendent, Frank Barrows, who served at Antietam
from March 23, 1897, to May 16, 1904, was born in New York. He
served in the 30th United States Colored Infantry as a second
lieutenant during the Civil War. His first appocintment in the national
cemeteries was dated November 9, 1877, On November 25, 1881, he was
made superintendent of the national cemetery at Alexandria,
Louisiana.62 On  October 11, 1886, he had been  appointed
superintendent of the national cemetery at Fort Scott, Kansas, and was
serving in that post in June 1890.53

61. R.G. 92, Entry 576, Box 130,

62. Serial No. 2091, p. 442. Record of superintendents of national
cemeteries in service June 30, 1882,

63. Serial No. 2831, p. 727. List of superintendents, June 30, 1890,
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CHART NO,

1

ANTIETAM NATIONAL CEMETERY

SHARPSBURG, MARYLAND

RECORD OF BURIALS OF UNION SOLDIERS

Total No., of
Year Interments Known Unknown Source
Sept. 12, 1867 4,695 2,903 1,792 (1)
Aug. 15, 1882 4,676 2,854 1,822 (2)
June 30, 1889 4,688 2,858 1,830 (3)
June 30, 1895 4,736 2,872 1,864 (4)
March 6, 1909 4,754 2,924 1,830 (5)
1913 4,758 2,910 1,8u8 (6)
(7)
1931 4,826 2,975 1,851 (8)
1934 4,833 2,987 1,852 {9)
1940 4,860 3,008 1,852 (10)
Nov. 1952 5,135 3,283 1,852 {11)
(12)

(1}

(2)
(3)
(%)

(5)

Report of James M. Moore to Genl, D. H. Rucker, quartermaster,
Washington Depot, September 12, 1867. National Archives R.G.
92, Entry 576, Box 131, Board of Trustees of Antietam National
Cemetery, History of Antietam National Cemetery, published in
1869, page 17, gives the total number of dead in Sept. 1867 as
4,667.

Inspector General to Assistant Adjutant General, August 15, 1882,
Nat. Arch. R.G. 92, Entry 576, Box 130, Inspection Report,

Congressional Serial No, 2715, p. 718. Annual Report of the

Quartermaster Ceneral to Secretary of War, June 30, 1889,

Congressional Serial No. 3370, p. 365, Annual Report of the
Quartermaster General for fiscal year ending June 30, 1895,

Letter of March 6, 1909, Assistant Superintendent, Antietam, to

Quartermaster, 3rd Corps Area, Baltimore, Md., R.G. 92, Entry
576, Box 130,
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(6) Record Book of Letters sent by the superintendent of Antietam
National Cemetery from 4, January 1887 to 6 July 1928, Antietam

NB Museum Catalog No. 1442-1913 letter.
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Superintendent from June 2, 1904, to March 30, 1905, was J. M,

Bryant, who had been a private in the 37th Wisconsin Volunteers

during the Civil War,5

The last Civil War soldier to serve as superintendent of Antietam
National Cemetery was probably Joshua V. Davis, who held the position

from April 10, 1905, to February 2, 1909. He had served as a private
in the 66th Pennsylvania Volunteers, joined the national cemetery
service in January 10, 1872, and served two terms as superintendent of
the national cemetery at Alexandria, Virginia, the first beginning in

August 18, 1874, and the second on November 28, 1887. . Where he
worked in between is unknown.65

In his annual report for the fiscal year ending June 30, 1905, the
quartermaster general remarked regarding the Civil War

superintendents:

These cemeteries are kept in excellent condition, but it must
be noted that the superintendents are generally becoming too
old to efficiently perform their duties. They are appointed
from applicants having service in the civil war, who were
wounded or disabled in the line of duty, but not to such
extent as to incapacitate them from this work, and many of
them were nat exactly young men at the beginning of their
war service,

The policy regarding the filling of superintendent positions was
changed during the fiscal year ending June 30, 1911, The quarter-
master general reported to the secretary of war:

It has been the custom of this office, with a few exceptions,
to give preference to Civil War veterans, in making these
appointments. This is not, however, required by law, and
due to the advancing age of these veterans it has become
advisable to make a departure from 6$his custom, and to
appoint younger men to these positions,

The pay for superintendents of first class national cemeteries, such
as Antietam, was still $75 per month plus fuel and lodging, the same

has it had been in 1877.68

64, Serial No, 2091, p. 442, Bryant had been born in Maine. Joined
the cemetery on February 10, 1879. Appointed superintendent of the
national cemeteries at Fayetteville, Ark., on February 14, 1879, and at
Andersonvilie, Ga., on May 29, 1880. Serial No. 2831, p. 727.

§5. Serial No. 2091, p. 441, Serial No. 2831, p. 727,

66. Serial No. 4943, p, 54,

67. Serial No, 6197, p. 302.

68. Tbid,., p. 301. '
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A list of names and terms of service of the 17 men who served as
superintendént of Antietam National Cemetery from June 7, 1877, to
April 5, 1942, is found in Appendix No. IV. The position of cemetery
superintendent was abolished in April 1942 by assigning the duties of this
position to the superintendent of Antietam National Battlefield Site.

5. REPAIR AND IMPROVEMENT OF THE CEMETERY, 1898-1933
The development of Antietam National Cemetery by the War Department

during the last decade of the 19th century and the second decade of the
20th century is illustrated in detail on the two following Quartermaster
Corps maps of the cemetery:

{a} "Map of National Cemetery, Antietam, Maryland, Office of the
Quartermaster General General, U.S. Army, April 20, 1892."69
(b} "Map of Antietam Battlefield and the U.S. National Cemetery,
Antietam, Maryland. Office of the Depot Quartermaster, U.5. Army,
Washington, D.C., October 1914." Scale of cemetery map: one inch equals
50 feet,’?

During the fiscal year ending June 30, 1898, the lodge was repaired
and two rooms were added to the east end of the stone outbuilding or tool
house. A new wooden flagstaff 100 feet in height was also er'ec'tecl.‘;1

The two rooms added to the tool house were a kitchen 12 feet wide by
12 feet 9 inches long, a.nd a dining room of the same size. These were 9
feet 3 inches high and erected for the use of the superintendent., The
enlarged tool house fhus formed a building 16 feet wide, 46 feet long, and
10 feet 6 inches high. A frame passageway 6 feet wide, 30 feet long, and

74 feet high was soon erected to connect the enlarged tool house to the

69. National Archives R.G. 92, Entry 576, Box 130. A blueprint,
This copy has been marked in red to show the additions that had been
made from 1892 to 1909. The revised map was then submitted to the
quartermaster general on March 6, 1909.

70, R.G. 79 - National Park Service Records -~ Central Classified, Files
1933-49, Box 2606, Antietam, File No. 630.

71. Annual Report, Serial No. 3744, p. 427.

72. R.G, 79, National Park Service Central Classified Files, 1933-49,
Antietam Box 269%, File 031, War Department Building Records
1923-1931, Sheet for Bldg. No. 2, Annex to Lodge,

73. Total expenditures for repairs and improvements were $1,145;
normal cost of operations was about $700 a year. Serial No, 3744, p,
429 gives the total amount spent.
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1892 MAP (p. 56)

1892 Map of National Cemetery, Antietam, Maryland: Office of the
Quartermaster General, U.S. Army (Cemetery additions from 1892 to 1909
were marked by stars). Submitted to Quartermaster General, March 6,
1909, National Archives Records Group 92, Entry 576, Box 130.

1914 MAP (p. 57)

Map of U.S. National Cemetery, Antietam, Maryland: Office of the Depot
Quartermaster, U.S. Army, Washington, D.C., October 1914, National
Archives Record Group No. 79 -- National Park Service Central Classified
File, 1933-1949, Antietam, Box 2606, File No. 630. Scale: 1 inch = 50 feet.
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He further reported that the cemetery had one old horse, one
public wagon, and one water cart; also that there were 15 iron

historical tablets erected by the Antietam National Battlefield Commission

on cemetery iand.75

In the annual report for the fiscal year ending June 303, 1910, the
quartermaster general noted that cast-iron tablets, 56 inches tall by 33
inches wide, containing the words of President Lincoin's Gettysburg
Address had been placed in position on lodges of 75 national cemeteries.
This action was taken through congressional authorization. These
tablets were mounted on iron standards. By 1910 one of them was
placed on the Antietam National Cemetery Iodge.76

Seven cast-iron plaques in Antietam National Cemetery contain
stanzas from Theodore O'Hara's poem "Bivouac of the Dead," written in
1847. No evidence found to date can verify the instaliation date of
these plaques. Current Veterans Administration staff believe the
"Bivouac of the Dead" nlagues were placed in national cemeteries across
the nation at approximately the same time as the tablets bearing
Lincoln's Gettyshburg Address in 1910.

In an inspection report dated June 13, 1913, Maj. Gordon G.
Heines, Coast Artillery, reported that Superintendent Cook had a
addition became Bldg. No. 2 and was known as the "Annex to the
Lodgxe."?2 The cost of these improvements was about $1L0{],?3

During the fiscal year ending June 30, 1901 a brick stable with
state roof was erected within the cemnetery, but near the west enclosing
ICabinet filled with old muskets, shot and war relics" in the lodge
office. He noted that: "This is in violation of Par 60 Regulations for

government of national cemeteries.” The quartermaster depot officer,

57 March 1, 1909, request of the quartermaster general to the
superintendent of Antjetam National Cemetery for a report on his
cemetery. Answered March 6, 1909, in R.G. 92, Entry 576, Box 130,
File 252830. Burials numbered 4,756, No land had been added fto
cemelery since its establishment., Letter A on the 1892 map he sent
with his report represented the Soldier's Monument, erected in 1880,
Letter B was the monument of the 20th New York Vol. Infantry, erected
in 1887. ‘Letter C Uis the 4th New York Vols. It is about 10 feet high
and is credited to the d4th N,Y."

76. Serial No. 5717, p. 39; Serial No. 5955, . 296.
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supst vising  Antietam, backed up Cook, writing to the quartermaster

general;

The cabinet in the office at Antietam is filled with relics
picked up from the battlefield and in view of the fact that the
Antietam cemetery is really in the center of what was the
battle of Antietam, it is recommended that the cabinet with its
contents be permitted to remain in the office. ...

On October 6, 1913, however, the quartermaster general ordered
that the cabinet and relics be removed from the office of the iodge.”

Annual expenditures on Antietam National Cemetery from 1895 to
1918, .including the superintendent's annual salary of $900, ranged from
$1,650 to $2,100 per year. Detailed figures for the period July 1, 1904
to June 30, 1913 (in Appendix No. V) reveal that $24,633.25 were spent
for the following purposes:

For labor $7,828.50
For fuel 1,082.68
For forage for horse 2,056.7¢
Others ' 384.30
For_shoeing horse ____85.50
Total of allotment 11,437.30
Superintendent's salary 12,735.00
Fiscal years 1905-18: $24,633.257°

Expenditures on the cemetery from May 25, 1865 to June 30, 1918
were as follows:

May 1865 - June 1377 $131,930.21
QMC - 1877 - June 30, 1904 25,082.83
QMC - 1905 - 1918 24,633.25
Total, 1865-1918: $181.646.29

77. Telephone interview with Dottie 3draskie, Veterans Administration,
Washington, D.C., July 12, 1983.

78. Data from record book of purchasing, receipt of funds, and
dispersement of funds for Antietam National Cemetery, 1904 to 1921,
Antietam NB Museum Catalog No. 1448, Book includes record of
allotments made for fiscal years 1910 to 1924. See Appendix No. V.,
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By 1922 the cemetery lodge was 55 vears old and in 1922-24 a
series of extensive repairs were made to the structure. The tower and
porches were worked on in 15‘:22.-‘r9 A cesspool was constructed and
completed in March 1924.%9

The exterior and Interior of the lodge were painted in 1924, 26
new window shades were purchased in 1923, and a bathroom was
completed In November 1924.81 Roof leaks had to be repalred in
1926,52

In 1927 the Quartermaster Corps decided that Antietam Cemetery
needed a new lodge., In May the site for the new lodge was to be
selected and the first plan included the ldea of tearing down the 1867
Iodge.83 On June 2, 1927 the quartermaster general approved the site
for the new resldence (that occupied by the present lodge) and decided
to tear down the 1873 stone tool house with its 1901 additions that
adjoined it to the old stone lodge. He opted, however, to preserve the
1867 Iodge.Bu

On August 17, 1927, the quartermaster general next approved the
plans and specifications. Bids were opened on September 9, but the
quartermaster depot supply officer reported that the lowest bid of
$12,109.39 exceeded by $3,609.39 the $8,500.00 that had been allotted
to construct the new lodge. On September 10 the quartermaster
general instructed the supply officer to reject all bids and to modify
the plans to lower the cost to $8,500.00, On September 30, the
quartermaster supply officer reported that the second round of bids, on
the modified plan, had resulted in a low bid of $10,288,00. It was.
decided to accept the bid at $9,244.00. Certain items in the amount of
$1,288.00, such as hot water heat and a water softener system
necessary to complete the lodge, were deferred and included in the

79, Record book of letters sent by the superintendents of Antietam
National Cemetery from 4 January 1887 to & July 1928: Antietam NB
Museum Catalog No. 1442, June 21, 1922, p. 405,

0. Cat. No. 1442, p. 299, 303, 306. Work began in 1923 and was
finished by March 10, 1924,

81, 1923-24 work on Lodge, Cat. No. 1442, pp, 289, 290, 291, 293,
296, 311, 312-13, 317, 321, 322, 323, R.G. 92, Entry 1891, Box 56~File
333.1 Inspection report of October 1, 1924,

g2. Cat. No. 1442, p. 333, 334, '

83. R.G. 92 - Entry 1891, Box 57, File 624, Letter of May 18, 1927,
gy, Ibid. Letters of June 1 and 2, 1927,
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estimates for the 1928 fiscal year. The contract was awarded to
Beston-Long Company on October 12, 1927.85

Construction on the stucco and concrete bungalow-style lodge got
underway in October 1927 and under the terms of the contract was to
be completed by January 1, 1928. The contractor, however, chose to
halt work and did not deliver the completed structure until April 1,
1928, The War Department deducted $350 from the amount paid to the
contractor for this delay; Beston-Long Company thus received $8,874
out of the price of $9,224 that had been agreed upon. Construction
at Antietam National Cemetery during this period was supervised for the
War Department by civil engineer !‘uﬁtci'!ell.'ﬁ‘;6

Other work was also underway at the cemetery in 1927; on
October 12, a contract was let with H. L., Moser to drill a well for a
87 On February 18, 1928, Acting

Superintendent George B. Alexander reported that the plans for a new
88

new lodge at a cost of $453.70.
steel flag pole had been received. The 1867 lodge was being
converted into a public comfort station in 1926-28 and was completed on
May 31, 1928,8°
June 30, 1928, Thomas E. Tobin, the newly-arrived superintendent

In his quarterly report for the quarter ending

reported: "New lodge completed. Public comfort station open to
public. New flag-staff erected. New drinking fountain installed. New
screen doors and windows furnished for new lodge. Approach roadway

85. Ibid., the quartermaster general - approved the change on
October 4, 1927, Contract No. W950-QM-44, dated October 12, 1927,
U.S. and Beston-long Co,

86. R.G. 92, Entry 1891, Box 57, File 624. Detailed report of E.G.
Mitchell, C.E., to QM Depot Supply Officer, dated May 19, 1928. The
$376.67 deduction included a $350 fine for being iate and $26.67 for
the cost of the extra inspection trip made necessary in April 1928,
Also report of July 19, 1928, inspection charge dropped.

87. R.G. 92-Entry 1891, Box 57, File 671. Contract No. W950-QM-45~
Qctober 12, 1927, :

88. Cat. No. 1442, p. 352. Superintendent George L. Fisher, who
had died on December 24, 1927, was reported by the inspector general
on October 18, 1927 to be over 80 years old. R.G. 92, Entry 1891,
Box 56, File 333.1-inspection report, October 18, 1927.

89. Cat. No. 1442, p, 353, 358: R.G. 92, Entry 1891, Box 56, File
600.912, Quarterly Report of Superintendent on Condition of Antietam
National Cemetery for quarter ending March 31, 1928, R.,G. 79, Box 3
War Department Records, May 3, 1928 inspection report,

62




130 As has been mentioned, the annex of 19'01 con-

repair complete.
necting the 1867 lodge to the 1878 tool house was demolished in 1927,

The brick public privy in the northwest corner of the cemetery
was probably demolished in 1928.

M. L. Moser, who had drilled the well, also received the sewer
contract for the new lodge. This amounted to $1,064, which with the
$9,224 contracted for construction of the building, brought the cost to
$10,288,

A total of $14,987.48 was spent from March, 1927, to September,
1928, making repairs and improvements at the cemetery as follows:

Painting 1867 lodge and 1878 tool house $ 175.00
Repairing downspouts on old lodge 6,48
Drilling well for new lodge - 453,70
Construction of new lodge 16,288.00
Deep well pump for new lodge 223.15
120 ft. 23" pipe 37.61
Installing hot water heating system, etc. 2,425.00
Electrical fixtures, new lodge & comfort st. 40,30
Shades for new lodge 33.45
Work in comfort station {old lodge) o 296.00
For new 75 ft. steel flag pole & installing 798.00
For new drinking fountain 33.79
For door alnd window screens for new lodge 170.00
For painting fostrum 7.00
Total: 1927-28: | $ 14,987.48°)

98, R.G. 92, Entry 1891, Box 56-File 600.912-Quarter ending June 30,
1928. Four additional data on drinking fountain, see Cat. No. 1442, p.
356-May 22, 1928, and p. 362-June 23, 1928.

91. R.G. 79, Box 2699, File 031, Building Records, 1923-1929. An
additional $840 was also spent in repairing the roadway in front of the
cemetery to make a total of $15,827.48 spent for physical improvements
during 1927-28, '
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As in 1877-78, the physical plant of the cemetery'had been almost
completely renewed in 1927-28.

In 1928 the War Department fought and won a battle with the
Chesapeake and Potornac Telephone Company to protect the beauty of
the trees planted between the north or front wall of the cemetery and
Boonesboro Pike. On August 24 the telephone company requested
permission to erect ten poles. "The poles will be erected along the
rcad about the cemetery, also permission to trim the trees along the
proposed route.“92

Lt. Col, Charles (. Mortimer, quartermaster supply officer in
charge of the Washington depot, inspected the situation at Antietam and
repqrted on September 8 "that the electric company has overbuilt the
telephone companY’s present pole line and the three wire power lines
paralleled the telephone wire and created trouble on the line by
induction,” He recommended the rejection of the proposed new line
because it would damage the beautiful cemetery trees.g3

The cemetery superintendent was notified on September 26, 1928:

The Quartermaster General desires you to be advised that

permission cannot be given for the erection of the poles for

the reason that if the trees along the edge of the National

Cemetery were trimmed, their beauty would be permanently

marred, and it would be detrimental to the Government to

place the poles on the side in front of the cemetery.

He also suggested "that the telephone company could put a piece
of cable along that road, thereby overcoming the dangerous and unsafe
[condition] caused by the overbuilding of the telephone company's
present line by the eleciric company."gu

In his quarterly report for the period ending December 31, 1928,
Superintendent Tobin provided the only estimate of travel, reporting
that an "estimated 36,000 visitors had visited the cemetery during the
1928-29 fiscal year.“g‘r’

September 1929 saw the end of an era. The cemetery's old mule,

no longer able to work, was surveyed and shot by a major who made

92,7 R.G.79Z, Entry 1891, Box 57, File 68-.44, Letter of August 24,
1928.

93. Ibid., September 26, 1928 report.

94. Ibid., September 26, 1928,

95. R.G. 92, Entry 1891, Box 56, File 600.912.
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the trip from Washington for this purpo'se on September 26, Animal
power was replaced by a gasoline powered mower on that datie.96
Oon November &4, 1929, the quartermaster general granted

permission to install the telephone at the cemetery. The instrument was
placed in the office of the new Iodge.97

A six-page report on the trees in Antietam Nationai Cemetery,
prepared ‘in 1929, indicates that there was a total of 281 trees. These

included 137 deciduous and 144 evergre«ens.98
In 1930 the concrete steps and pillars of the new lodge, which had

developed cracks, were repaired at a cost of $20.9g in November 1932

the new lodge was weatherproofed at a cost of $132.06.100

The ceilings of the comfort station (the old lodge) were plastered

at a cost of $80 in 1932.10-1 Also, in 1932, $85.50 was spent to install

an ldeal Arco round hot water heating boiler in the comfort sta'cion.102

For $130.25 in May 1932, 175 feet of soil pipe from the comfort station

clogged up by tree roots, were replaced.m3

In 1931 $2,159.36 was expended drilling a well 347} feet deep

to provide 300 gallons per hour. This price included the

04

pumping outﬁt.1 In May 1933 a water softening system was installed

for $327.50. 105

The superintendent in 1932 was also granted permission to store

his Ford touring car "in the brick tool house.nmfs

96. R.G. 79-Box No. 3-War Dept, Records, Antietam-~Letters of
Sept. 3 and September 26, 1929,

97. R.G. 92, Entry 1891, Box 57. File No. 676.1,

98. R.G. 92, Entry 1891, Box 57,

95. R.G. 79, Box 3--War Dept. Records--Antietam--Letter of
September 22, 1930, and File 600.912—-Quarterly Report of Supt...for
Quarter Ending December 31, 1930,

100. R.G. 79, Box No. 3--War Dept. Records, November 29, 1932,
101. R.G. 79, Box 3, July 8, 1932,

102. R.G. 79, Box 3, File 687, May 7, 1932.

103. R.G. 79, Box 3, May 6, 1932,

104. R.G. 79, Box 7--War Department Records-Antietam. Contract
10-12-801-31, Specifications for Well and Pumping Station, 2 pp., May
11, 1931, in File 688--contract let to Jos. M. Hoffman of Williamsport.
105. R.G. 79, Box 7, File 687--Contract No. W53-QM-277.

106. R.G. 79, Box 3, War Department--Roads and walks, 1932.
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In earty 1933, when rumors reached the field that the Interior
Department was going to take over a number of national battlefields and
national cemeteries, Superintendent Clarence L. Nett of Antietam
National Cemetery wrote to the quartermaster general requesting a
transfer to a cemetery that remained under the War Department, in the
event the Interior Department took charge of Antietam.w:! As a result
of a government reorganization, Antietam National Cemetery was
transferred by executive order from the War Department to the National
Park Service of the U.S. Department of the Interior on August 10,
I?;33.103 Antietam was one of eleven such national cemeteries
transferred to the National Park Service on that date.

Superintendent Nett was destined not to be transferred to a War
Department national cemetery in 1933, Instead, he was to have a
distinguished career as a superintendent in the National Park Service
until his death on June 1, 1845,

107. R.G. 79, Box 3, War Department Records, File 687.
168. By Executive Order No. 6166, June 10, 1933 and Order No. 6226,
June 23, 1933,
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CHAPTER 1l1I

THE WAR DEPARTMENT'S ANTIETAM BOARD AND THE DEVELOPMENT
OF ANTIETAM NATIONAL BATTLEFIELD SITE, 1890-1898

1. BEGINNING OF THE MOVEMENT TO PRESERVE CiViL WAR
BATTLEFIELDS BY THE U.S. GOVERNMENT, 1866-183%5

Beginning in 1865, the nation had begun the task of interring the
bodies of 321,623 Union soldiers in a system of 82 national military
cemeteries where their remains would receive perpetual care.‘l By
June 36, 1895, the War Department had spent a total since 1865 of
$8,165,636.47 on national cemeteries.2 In the late 1880s, Civil War
veterans, both North and South, began to think about commemorating
the events in which they had participated and preserving forever the
fields of battle on which they had fought from 1861 to 1865.

In his annual report to Congress for the fiscal year ending
June 30, 1895, Secretary of War Daniel %, Lamont summarized the

history of the movement to preserve Civil War battiefields:

Soon after the close of the war the principal fields were
carefully surveyed and mapped. These maps have been
printed with the appropriate records and widely circulated,
and for historical purposes they furnish the information
required for the intelligent study of these battle grounds.
About the same time associations of patriotic citizens were
formed which purchased flarge tracts of land on the field of
Gettysburg and smaller tracts at Antietam, comprising the
military cemeteries and sites for monuments on positions held
by the troops. In some instances the States made liberat
contributions to these worthy undertakings. At Gettysburg
these expenditures amounted to about $1,500,000, while at
Antietam they were much less [about $30,000].

The first specific appropriation by Congress for work upon a
pattlefield was made in 1880, when $50,000 was granted for a
detailed survey of the field of Gettysburg and a special
compilation of data concerning the movement of troops in that
battle, In 1887 an appropriation was made to mark the
positions there held by the Regular Army. [n 1890 a like
appropriation was made for Antietam, and the battlefields of
Chickamauga and Chattanooga were created national military

7. Figures from the Annual Report of the Quartermaster General for
the fiscal year ending June 30, 1884, Serial No, 2277, p. 325.
2. Annual Report of the Quartermaster General for fiscal year ending

June 30, 1895, Serial No. 3370, p. 278.
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parks, to which Gettysburg and Shilsh were added by vote of

Congress during the present year, The expenditures on

these flelds up to October 31 have amounted to $952,359.65,

with an unexpended balance of $189,209.06. The Government

has purchased approximately 6,000 acres of land at Chicka~

mauga, and owns 1,000 acres at Gettysburg, At Shiloh no

purchases of land have yet been effected, jand the sum
available for that purpose Is limited to $20,000,

Historically speaking, Antletam was the second of the first two
Civll War battlefields to be preserved by the War Department. The
first, authorized by an Act of Congress approved August 19, 1890, was
a "National Park" known as "Chickamauga and Chattanooga National
Park or Military Park." Antietam, authorized by an Act of Congress
approved August 30, 1890, was to become known as "Antietam National
Battlefield Site."u By 1895 Chickamauga and Antietam were each to
represent and illustrate two widely diverging methods of preserving
battiefields that were soon to be extended to battiefields of the
Revolution, the War of 1812, as well as those of the Civil War. These
“two philosophies will be considered later in this chapter,

2, ESTABLISHMENT AND DEVELOPMENT OF ANTIETAM NATIONAL

BATTLEFIELD SITE 1890-1894

The legislative history of Antietam National Battlefield Site began

on May 18, 1890, when Acting Secretary of War Louis A. Grant sent an
appropriation estimate of $5,000 to the secretary of the treasury for the
completion of the road from the Antietam {Sharpsburg) railroad rdepot to
the Antietam National Cemetery. William Windom, Secretary of the
Treasury, transmitted the Secretary of War's estimate to Congress on
May 20, 1890.°

On June 7, 1890, Representative Louis McComas, Republican from
Maryland, introduced H.R. 10830 into the House. The bill was read

3. From Secretary of War Daniel S. Lamont's Annual Report for the
fiscal year ending June 30, 1895. (Congressional Serlal No. 3370, pp.
31-32.)
4, U.S, Statutes at Large, Vol. 26, p. 401--Antietam.

Chickamauga “& Chattanooga National Military Park, Tennessee and
Ceorgla, Act of August 19, 1890, in U.S. Statutes at Large, Vol, 26,
Part 7, pp. 333-336.
"5. U.S. Cong., H. Ex. Doc. 388, 51st Cong., 1st session. Serial
set Vol, 35, 2750.
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twice, referred to the Committee on Approprlations, and ordered to be
printed. H.R. 10830 called for surveying, locating, and preserving the
lines of battle at Antietam. The purchase of sites for tablets to mark
cositions of the Army of the Potomac and of the Army of Northern
Virginia and the expense for driveways thereto, was estimated at
$15,000. All the lands acquired by the United States for this purpose
were to be under the care and supervision of the secretary of wars.
This bill has no further legislative history.

Requests with the same wording as Grant's request and McComas'
bill for appropriations for both finishing the roadway and marking the
lines of battle appeared in a sundry civil appropriations bill in the
House on June 11, 1890.

The wording of the billi H.R. 10884, pertaining to Antietam, is as

follows:

NATIONAL CEMETERY, ANTIETAM, MARYLAND: For
completing the road in front of east half of cemetery,
additional drainage works constructing stone curbing and
grading walks along road, and for engineering and
contingencies five thousand dollars.

For the purpose of surveying, locating and preserving the
lines of battle of the Army of the Potomac and of the Army of
Northern Virginia at Antietam, and for marking the same, and
for locating and marking the position of each of the forty-
three different commands of the Regular Army engaged in the
battle of Antietam, and for the purchase of sites for tablets
for the marking of such positions, fifteen thousand dollars.
And all lands acquired by the United States for this purpose,
whether by purchase, gift, or otherwise, shall be under the
care and supervision of the Secretary of War.

The request for funds for Antietam was included among fund
requests for maintaining and improving national cemeteries and for
paying the superintendents of the cemeteries. Headstones were to be
furnished for unmarked Union graves; burial provided for indigent
soldiers, and various right-of-ways, tablet sites, and repa'iring of
roadways required for cemeteries at Hampton, Virginia; Fredericks-
burg, Virginia; Marietta, GCeorgia; Culpeper, Virginia; and

%. H.R. 10830, 51st Cong., 1st session, June 7, 1890,
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Brownsville, Texas. A House report accompanied the appropriation bill,
Report No. 2407 did not mention Antietam specifically but gave total
amounts of funding needed for all the cemeteries and headstones.7

The House of Representatives debated the bill on June 13, 16, 17,
1890; amended and passed the bill on June 17, and referred it to the
Senate Committee on Appropriations on June 17. The bill was reported
back with amendments on July 9, 1890, accompanied by Senate Report
Nos. 1396, 11166.8

The Senate debated the bill on July 14, 15, 16, 18 and 19. On
July 19, 1890, the bill was amended and passed. Back in the House, the
bill was referred to the House Committee on Appropriations with the
Senate amendments on July 23.9

Debates spanned several days, from July 25-August 2. Since
H.R. 10884 was an appropriation bill, debate did occur concerning
several different provisions. However, none of the debate focused on
the appropriations for Antietam's roadway, or on marking the lines of
battle. After the House concurred or non-concurred with the Senate
amendments, conferences were appointed on August 2 in both chambers
to discuss the disagreeing votes.‘IO

Both the House and Senate conference reports were debated and
disagreed to between August 7-11, 1890. Second conference committees
were appointed by both chambers on August 8 and 11, and their
conference reports made, debated, and agreed to on August 25-26. The
Senate and House both examined and signed the bill on August 28.
President Benjamin Harrison  approved it on August 30,
1890,

Through the myriad of congressional law-making, the wording for
Antietam's funding did not change from the original June 11, 189¢, bill

7. H.R. 10884, 51st Cong., 1st session, June 11, 1890, p. 70;
Report No. 2407, House of Representatives, 51st Cong., 1st Session,
June 11, 1890, serial set 2813.

8. Congressional Record, 51st Cong., 1st session, Vol. 21, pts. Vi
& VI, pp. 6043, 6139, 6183, 6184, 6192, 7050,

9. Congressional Record, 51st Cong., 1st session, Vol. 21, pt. VIIi,
pp. 7229, 7268, 7317, 7319, 7393, 7442, 7496, 7487, 7643.

10. ibid., pp. 7715, 7765, 7817, 7861, 7927, 7978, 8027, 8070, 8071,
8074. '

11. Congressional Record, 51st Cong., 1st session, Vol. 21, pt. 1X,
pp. 8270, 8309, 8386, 8426, 8332, 8432, 9137, 9138, 9145, 9249, 9283,
9615.
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to the final act of August 30, 1890. There is no historical evidence
found to date which can verify any veteran support for the establish-
ment of Antietam. The National Tribune of Washington, D.C., a weekly

newspaper which recounted war experiences and followed items of

interest to veterans, made no mention of Antietam during the summer of
1856. The paper fellowed the progress of H.R. 10884 through the
law-making process because it was an appropriation bill, but the fact
that money for establishing Antietam Battlefield Site was being
appropriated was not dis(:u'.;s.e(:l.12

Additionally, indexes to letters sent by the secretary of war
relating to military affairs in 1889, and indexes to letters received by
the adjutant general in 1887-89, reveal no entries concerning Antietam.
Proceedings of the Society of the Army of the Potomac's annual reunions
for the years 1890-94 also do not mention the battlefield's recognitition

and ':»tatus.13
The State of Maryland, in an act approved April 7, 1892, gave its

consent

to the acquisition by the United States, of such tracts of land
in the neighborhood of the battlefields of Antietam and
Monocacy in the State of Maryland as may be selected by the
Secretary of War... for the purpose of erecting monuments or
tablets for the proper marking of the positions of each of the
several commands of the Army of the United States engaged
in the Battles of Antietam and Monocacy, for opening and
constructing roads and avenues in connection with the
positions occupied by the Federal or Confederate forces
engaged in said battles, for the preservation of the grounds
covered by said battlefields for historical or other purposes
and for making such other improvements in connection with
said battiefields as the Government of the United States may
from time to time deem proper....

The State of Maryland also retained concurrent jurisdiction of the

lands acquired by the United States.m

73, The Nationa! Tribune, Washington, D.C., June 19, July 17, 24,
31, August 28, 1890.

13. U.S. Statutes at Large, Vol. 26, Part |, p. #01. Record Group
107, WM-1420, Indexes to leftérs sent by the secretary of war Relating to
Military Affairs; Record Group 94, M698, Indexes to letters received by
adjutant general; Society of the Army of the Potomac, Annual Reunions,
21s5t-1890, 22nd-1891, 23rd-1892, 24th-1893, 25th-189% {New York:
Macgowan & Slipper Printers, 1890, 1891, 1892, 1893, 1894).

14, Maryland Laws for 1892, Chapter 638. Copy of law in R.G. 92,
Entry 576, Cemeterial Files for Antietam.
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These two laws provided the legal basis for Antietam Nationa!
Battlefield Site.

The Committee on Military Affairs, in a report published on
February 27, 1891, further explained the purpose of the Antietam Act
as follows:

A nation should preserve the landmarks of its history. The
bill under consideration proposes to preserve and properly
mark with plain, enduring tablets the field of Antietam, on
which was fought, September 17, 1862, the bloodiest battle of
the war of the rebellion,

To a clear understanding of the field and illustrate for
historical purposes, the unparalleled deadly fighting which
distinguishes it above all others, it is absolutely necessary
that the lines of both sides to the persistent struggle should
be marked.

The field on which the battle took place is practically
unchanged from what it was on the day of the action, save
the cutting down of some trees, and presents to-day, as it
did in 1862, the most open field on which was fought any of
the great battles of the rebellion—-a field of which the eye
at one sweep can take in all points., It is proposed to
maintain the field in the same condition as to roads, fields,
forests, and houses, and the sum appropriated by the bil]
will be ample for all purposes specified in it.

The purpose is to have each State which had troops engaged

on the field provide the monuments for marking the positions

of the troops, after the general plan heretofore pursued at

Gettysburg by the Gettysburg Battlefield Memorial

Association, and proposed by the Chickamanga Memorial

Association for like purposes on the fields of Chickamauga

and Chattanooga. The sole expense to the United States for

monuments will be those for marking the positions for the

regular regiments and batteries, being 42.

The committee stated that "The Regular Army had 16 regiments
and 26 batteries on this field,” while the District of Columbia and 19
loyal states had troops in the Union Army at Antietam. General Lee's
Army of Northern Virginia, they reported, was composed of troops from
11 Confederate states.

YMore men were killed on that one day [September 17, 1862, at
Antietam] than on any other one day of the war.® The comnittee
reported that Union losses at Antietam totaled 12,410, inc_;!uding 2,108

killed, 9,543 wounded, and 753 missing. Confederate losses, including
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those at Harpers Ferry, South Mountain, and Antietam, aggregated
12,601 and included 1,886 killed, 9,348 wounded, and 1,377 missing. |

The February 27, 1891, Committee on Military Affairs report
accompanied H.R. 11966, a bill Representative Louis McComas introduced
into the House on September 5, 1890. The bill provided for marking
the lines of battie and the positions of troops of the Army of the
Potomac and the Army of Northern Virginia at Antietam, Maryiand.
Further provisions were for the Secretary of War to appoint three
commissioners to have general charge of the work, to approve
negotiations for land, to approve construction of avenues and
driveways, to make contracts, and to disburse money. McComas' bill
asked $150,000 for this work, but the House Committee on Military
Affairs cut this figure to $50,000.

The amended bill was reported out of the military affairs committee
on February 27, 1891, and referred to the Committee on the Whole House
on the state of the Union. No further legislative history of this bill is
known. On February 28, 1891, a joint resolution, H. Res. 295, directed
the secretary of war to furnish certain information touching the
battlefield of Antietam to the Committee on Military Affairs. Further
action occurred in the form of estimates of appropriations being passed
between departments, and Antietam received money in appropriations
bills over the next several years.

On August 1, 1891, the secretary of war appointed Colonel John
C. Stearns of Vermont (who had cerved in the Union Army), and
Maj. Gen. Henry Heth of Virginia (who had served in the
Confederate Army) as agents for the Antietam Board for the period of
one year after this date. The two retired soldiers were to proceed to
the battlefield as soon as possible to coliect data. They were to survey
and mark the lines. They were informed that sites could be purchased
on which to erect the tablets. To this end, they were to prepare a
map of the land that would be needed for erecting the tablets. FEach

6. Serial No. 2890, Report No. 4019, U.S. House of Representatives,
3 pp.

In a memo to the Hon. L. E. McComas, dated June 16, 1890, the War
Department reported that 43 units of the reqgular army had been
engaged at Antietam. These included 11 infantry and 5 cavalry
regiments and 27 batteries of artillery. R.G. 92, Entry 576, Box 130.
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agent was to receive a salary of $250 per month, but they had to pay
office rent, carriage hire, and other travel expenses from their
salaries. The government, however, wouid provide them with free
stationery.

On October 20 Quartermaster General R. N. Batchelder granted

the two men constituting the "Antietam Board" the authority to

purchase temporary wooden markers to mark troop positions and also to

employ a tearn and driver "to plant them in posi'cia:m."16

In a report to the quartermaster general dated January 18, 1892,
the Antietam Board summed up the first 5% months of its operation:

The Board . . . has the honor to report that it has marked
with temporary stakes the positions of the forty-three
different commands of the Regular Army engaged in the battle
of Antietam.

This work had been accomplished by a careful study of the
reports and documents published in Series 1, Voi. XiX,
Official Records of the Rebellion, through extensive
correspondence with survivors of the several organizations,
which participated in the engagement, and from minute
examination of the field of battle, aided by maps prepared by
the War Department, and also from wvaluable assistance
rendered by Mr, Clarence F. Cobb, a clerk in the Paymaster
General's Office, who has devoted years of study to this
battle field, The Board has encountered serious difficulties.
from the absence of reports in many cases from officers
commanding separate organizations, and from the natural
influence of a period of twenty-nine years. We believe,
however, that the work has been accomplished with all the
accuracy of which it is now susceptible,

The line of battle of the Army of the Potomac on the 17th of
September, 1862, as the attack was made by that Army, was
of course not continuous, and its several parts occupied
different positions as the engagement progressed. The Army
of Northern Virginia, being on the defensive, its lines may be
more easily located, and it may be said to have maintained a
line continuous, though differently located, as well on the
morning of the 17th as the evening of the 17th, when the
conflict ended . . . .

" To enable the secretary of war to continue to carry out the
provisions of the Act of August 30, 1980, the Board recommended that

an additional appropriation of $16,810 be requested from Congress,
They calculated that the money would be used as follows:

16. R.G. 92 —- Entry 706, Box 227. Letter of October 20, 1891,
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Cost of 114 tablets--transporting and setting $13,110.00
up of same

For the purpose of 114 sites for the tablets 5,700.00
$18,810.00

Sataries of Board, including office rent, hire
of vehiclies, mileage, etc. 6,000.00
Condemnation of land and acquiring title for 1,000.00
$ 25,810.00

On hand, unexpended 9,000.9_9-”
Additional appropriation required $ 16,810.00

Quartermaster General Batchelder sent this report to the

secretary of war on February 17, 1892, also supporting the request for
additional funds.18
On August 5, 1892, Congress appropriated $16,310 of the $16,810
that had been v'equested.19
On June 10, 1892, the Antietam Board submitted a progress report
covering about ten months of work. They reported:

The work has not progressed as rapidly as we could have
desired, owing to unavoidable causes, sickness on the part of
each member of the Board has retarded the work. We have
succeeded however, in accumulating a large amount of
information, from a careful study of the Official Records of
the War of the Rebeilion, and from other sources, which will
enable us to complete a series of maps illustrating the great
battle of Antietam, and when completed will give to the
military student a complete history of this battle, from the
time the first attack was made until the battle ended.

The positions of the forty-three commands of the Regular
Army...were temporarily mnarked with shingles some months
since. Finding that such markers were being destroyed or
obliterated during the cultivation of the fields, we deemed it
best to replace them by more permanent wooden markers--
these to be replaced by stone tablets as soon as a title to the
land can be obtained.

The line of battie and positions occupied by the Army of
Northern Virginia, on the morning of the September 17th,

17. R. G. 92--Entry 706, Box 227.

18. lbid.
19. U.S. Statutes at Large, Vol. 27, pp. 377-378, called "Battlefield

of Antietam."
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1862, has been very definitely settled, but it wlll be
impossible to locate many of the brigades of this Army by
name. This is due to the absence of reports of officers
commanding these organizations and the very indefinite
descriptions as to the localities of officers making reports;
the best we can hope to do will be to locate divisions and the
~general line of battle.

Officers visiting the battlefield today find it difficuit to
recognize localities, thirty years having elapsed since the
battle of Antietam, and the general features of the country
much changed by the disappearance of bodies of wood, now
cultivated fields or orchards.

We hope to secure much additional valuable information, as

officers high in rank of both armies who participated in this

battie have promised to accompany us to the battlefield....

Quartermaster General Batchelder, using the above data,
made a detailed report on the progress of the Antietam Board to the
secretary of war in the annual report for the fiscal year ending
June 30, 1892. Tota! expenditures of the Board to that date amounted
to $5,502.53, leaving a balance of $25,807.47 from the total of
$31,310.00 appropriated in 1890 and on August 5, 1892,2°

On July 20, 1892, the secretary of war directed that Colonel .

Stearns and General Heth be retained as members of the Antietam

Board, and on the same terms ($250 per month) effective July 8, 1892

until otherwise direc:ted.n Col. John C. Stearns' health failed him in

July 1892,%2
On September 26, 1892, the Antietam Board wrote:

We have the honor to report that, since our last report, we
have located the Confederate line of battle as it existed on
the morning of September 17, 1862, before the battle of the
i7th commenced. During the coming months we will locate the
Union line as it existed at the same time of the day. The two
lines thus located will be indicated on Map No. |, being the
first of a series of maps. The second map will show the
extreme advance of the Federal troops during the battle: the

20, Serial No. 3077, p. 261; also see pp. 363-364, report of deputy
quartermaster M. [. Ludington to the quartermaster general for the
fiscal year ending June 30, 1892,

21, R.G. 92, Entry 706, Box 227.

22. R.G. 92, Entry 706, Box 277; Letter of August 27, 1897. He also
apparently received leave from June 14 to July 7, 1982.
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third map will show the positions occ%ﬁed by the two armles
at the close of the Battle of Antietam.

On December 9, 1892, Quartermaster General Batchelder
presented the secretary of war with an estimate requesting an additional
appropriation of $23,750 for work on the Antletam Battiefield, to be
used as follows:

For the purchase of fifty additional tablets and transporting

and setting up the same $ 5,700
Purchase of fifty additional sites for tablets 2,500
Salaries of board, including office rent, hire of vehicles, etc. 6,000
Condemnation of iand and acquiring title to same 500
Pay of engineer for surveying land and pay of draftsman for

making maps of battlefieid 1,000

For the purchase of land for roadway, from a point on the
Sharpsburg and Hagerstown turnpike to a point on the
Sharpshurg and Boonsboro turnpike, said land being
known as the "Bloody Lane," or "Sunken Road," and
fencing and repairing same 8,000,

Total: $23,750

Reducing this request by $8,7590, Congress in an Act approved on
March 5, 1893, appropriated the sum of $15,000 to accomplish the six
objectives listed above. The act also provided "That the Secretary of
War is authorized to supply at Antietam such number of cannon and
cannon balls as his judgement may approve, and which can be spared,
for the purpose of marking the positions of the different commands
engaged in the battle of Antietam."25

On April 18, 1893, the Antietam Board paid A, W. Hodgkins $20
for his services In preparing maps. On Aprit 24 the Board stated that
ttheir work is now sufficiently progressed to require the services of a
clerk? and requested permission to hire one for one month at U.S.
expense., The Quartermaster General authorized the expenditure at the

rate of $100 per month, Carey S. Heth was employed as the clerk until

73, R.G. 92, Entry 706, Box 227. September 26, 1882 report, 1 p.
On September 22, Heth requested and received permission to purchase
100 wooden markers for use in marking positions of the Union Army.
On September 28, he asked and received permission to spend up to
$18 employing two men to help mark positions. This authority
granted on September 30, 1892.

24, Serial No. 3103, Document No. 123, p. 2. This estimate was sent
to Congress, via the secretary of the treasury on December 12, 1892.
Secretary of War was S$.B. Elkins.

75. U.S. Statutes at Large, Vol. 27, p. 599.
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May 31, 1893, and was paid a total of $123.33,

in their fourth progress report, dated June 27, 1893, Colonel
Stearns and General Heth of the Antietamm Board wrote that the work of
locating the lines of battle of the two armies at Antietam "has
progressed favorably."

The lines of battle of both armies have been marked on the
first map, and a second map, of a series of three maps, is
under way. The positions of the batteries of both armies
have been generally determined upon, and a map of same is
now being made. .

We have interviewed a number of the farmers owning land
upon which tablets are to be placed. We find that these
parties are unwilling to sell directly to us, preferring that
their land be condemned and appraised by a commission
appointed by the United States court, which we think will be
the most satisfactory manner for the Government to acquire
fand in this locality.

We beg leave to call your attention to the fact, that
thousands of persons annually visit the Antietam battlefield,
As the work we are engaged in progresses the number of
visitors to this battlefield will increase. On some of the
fields, notably, those in the vicinity of the Dunkard Church,
East Woods, and the Bloody Lane, a large number of tablets
will be located. In justice to the farmers owning these fields,
we think roadways should be constructed to enable visitors to
this battlefield to view and inspect these tablets without
trampling upon and injuring growing crops, gardens,
orchards, etc. Having this in view, we shall estimate for
funds to construcj, such roadways, as from time to time may
become necessary.

Quartermaster General Batchelder conveyed this information
to Secretary of War Lamont in his annual report for the fiscal year
ending June 30, 1893.28

In July 1893 the Antietam Board paid A. F. Dunnington $120
for making maps and the Norris Peters Company $159 for printing

26. R.G. 92, Entry 706, Box 2277-Letter re Hodgkins, April 17, 1893;
Letter of April 24, 1893 regarding clerk. Details on services in
"Financtal Statement of the Appropriations-Disbursements, August
18%1-0ctober 1, 1894," dated October 8, 1894,

27. R.G. 92, Entry 706, Box 227-~Letter re Hodgkins, April 17, 1893;
Letter of April 24, 1893 regarding clerk. Details on services in
"Financial Statement of the Appropriations-Disbursements, August
1891-0ctober 1, 18%4," dated October 8, 1894,

28. Serial No, 3198, pp. 222-223; also Deputy Quartermaster General

M. 1. Tudington o quartermaster general, June 30, 1893, p. 327.
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rnaq:rs..29 In August Norris Peters lithographed and printed 1,000

copies of Map No. 1 in black on two colors on Mt. Holly linen 1::>aper.30

On August 22, 1893, the Antietam Board requested permission 1o
employ one engineer, R. 5. Mitchell, to prepare maps giving metes and
bounds of lands to be acquired for erection of tablets or monuments at
$150 per month. This team would also include one flagman at $40 per
month and one axman at $37.50. The quartermaster granted this
authority on August 24.31

The engineers worked at Antietam from September to about
December 8, 1893 and received $609.85 for their services.32
On September 21, 1893, General Heth reported that the Ordnance
Department was about ready to deliver a number of cannons to Antietam '
and he requested permission to hire two men to help handle the
guns.3

On September 30, having read a copy of War Department Circular
No. 14, dated September 15, 1893, in which the secretary of war
outlined the mileage and other allowances paid to the Gettysburg
National Battlefield Commission and the Chickamauga and Chattanooga
National Military Park Commission, General Meth raised the question of
equal pay for equal work, neoting that the duties of the Antietam Board
were the same as those of the two commissions. He was informed
tunder law of March 1893 making appropriation for Antietam, your

request [for pay of mileage, etc.] cannot be complied with.“?'q

76, R.G. 92, Entry 706, Financial Statement of Appropriations,
October 8, 1893, Dunnington was paid $120 on July 24, working 20
days at $6 per day. The Morris Peters Company was paid $70 on
September 7 and $89 on December 29, 1893 for printing maps. Also
Letter of Gen. Heth of July 17, 1893 re-employment of map maker.
30. R.G. 92, Entry 706, Letter of Antietam Board of August 23, 1893
to QMG. The 1,000 copies of Map No. 1, delivered September 7, 1893
cost $70.

31. R.G. 92, Entry 706, Letter of Board, August 22, 1893. Also Letter
of Board September 12, 1893 - from Gen. Heth, requesting permission
to purchase 800 stakes 2} by 2 inches and twe feet long to mark
squares on ground to be condemned on the battiefieid.

32. R.G. 92, Entry, Financial Statement, October 8, 1894, Entry
706.

33, R.G. 92, Entry 706,

34, lbid.
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the Antietam Board's Map No. 2.
the services of a clerk from mid-December to January 31, 1894 at a cost

In December 1893 the Norris Peter Company printed 1,000 copies of

of $166.67.35

On January 8, 1894, Colonel Stearns and General Heth submitted

their fifth progress report to Quartermaster General Batchelder.

regard to the surveying, locating, and preserving of the battle lines,

they reported:

On entering upon the duty indicated...the Antietam Board
referred to such maps of Antietam battlefield as already had
been published. The map known as the "Michler Map® made
by the direction of the Secretary of War, in 1867 we found to
be splendid map topographically.... We found two {ines drawn
on this map purporting to give the position of the
Confederate Army on the morning of Sept. 17th and the
evening of the Sept. 17th, the day on which the battle of
Antietam was fought. There was nothing on this map giving
the positions of the Union Army. We found those lines
incorrect in every particular. in order to carry out the
instructions in the several Acts..., and also to correct thig
error, the Antietam Board determined to illustrate the
Antietam battlefield by a series of maps, the first of the
series showing the position of the two Armies on the morning
of September 17th before the battle began; the second
showing the extreme advance of the Union forces during the
contest; the third showing the positions occupied by the
contending armies after the battle terminated....

In order to carry out that part of the Act, "preserving the
battle lines" we prepared to mark the positions of the several
Brigades of each Army with suitable monuments or tablets of
stone. The positions of batteries we proposed to mark by
cannon, which by Act of March 3rd, 1893, the Secretary of
War was authorized to furnish. Some fifty cannon have
already been delivered at Antietam Station, Maryland. In
order to "preserve the battle lines" by permanent markers of
stone and cannon, it will be necessary to acquire possession
of the land on which they are to be placed. The Board have
seen the owners of the land upon which the battle was fought
and all refused to sell isolated pieces or plats of ground;
they are willing to sell their entire farms.

To acquire possession of this land, if squares, say 20 by 20
are purchased it will be necessary to resort to condemnation
under the Act "to establish and protect National Cemeteries,
approved Feby. 22nd, 1867."

35.

Ibid." TCefter of Board, December 13, 1893: Also Financial State-

ment, October 8, 1894. The cost of the maps was $80.
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The Board then formally submitted two maps; one showing the
. positions of the armies on the morning of Sept. 17th before the battle;
"the second shows the positions of the different commands of the
Regular Army engaged in the battle, and especially called for by the
Act approved Aug. 30th, 189%0."
iThe second map," they reported, "showing the exireme advance
of the Union forces during the battle is now wetl under way. This will
be the most important of the series to the Military Student and the

historian of the future.”
With regard to the acquisition of land, the Board reported:

No land has been acquired so far, nor do we think it
advisable to acquire land by purchase, or condemnation, until
we are ready to have condemned, or to purchase the land
which those maps contemplate.

As to markers, the commissioners noted:

The Board have placed temporary wooden markers, generally
nailed to trees, indicating the positions of the Brigades and
Batteries marked on these maps; in all, some two hundred
sites have been located. To locate these sites much diligent
study of the Rebellion Records was necessary.

. On the difficulty of the historical research being conducted, the
Board commented:

It must be remarked that the battle of Antietam was fought
thirty-one years ago, that most of the prominent leaders in
that battle have passed away, that many of the reportis of
Officers holding important commands, at this time are missing,
or never were made, and that a large number of reports are
so meager as to give us no information which would enable us
to locate their commands.

The meagerness of reports and the missing reports has
necessitated a wvast amount of correspondence. Letters and
circulars have been sent over the Country (to the Governors
and Adjutant Generals of the various States that had units in
the battle} seeking information essential to our work, and it
is a fact worth mentioning that diaries kept by enlisted men
and sent us, materially assisted us in fixing the positions of
their organizations, which could not be obtained from the
official reports. The Antietam Board has been badly
handicapped by not being able under the Acts of Congress
appropriating money for this work, to have the benefit of the
presence on the field, of Officers holding important positions
during this fight. The Chickamauga Commission has had the
benefit of the presence of Chickamauga of many Officers from
. both Armies and their expenses have been paid out of the
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appropriation for carrying on this work. The Antietam Board
has had to defray the expenses of all persons who visited the
field for the purpose of giving it information, as well as their
own.

With regard to land, the Board estimated "that five hundred acres
of land in different fields, more or less, must be acquired to carry out
the provisions of the Acts of Congress. The cost of this land we
cannot give as it must be acquired by condemnation....

The Antietam Board estimated that two more years of "diligent
work" would be required to complete the work on the Antietam
Battlefield, 3%

During the spring of 1894 the Antietam Board employed a
37 on July 2, 1894,
General Heth took a month's leave of absence; on July 19, the secretary

draftsman for several weeks at a cost of $70.

of war wrote to Col., Jjohn C. Stearns at Bradford, Vermont and
ordered him to return to Washington immediately to resume his duties
and "to explain on what authority he was abvsent."38 Colonel Stearns
resigned on July 26, effective July 31, 1894, apparently because of
reasons of bad health. In his report to the quartermaster general,
dated August 1, General Heth explained the matter:

In closing this report | beg leave, in justice to my late
Associate Col. John C. Stearns, to say when his health
permitted he was a valuable adjunct to the Antietam Board, a
man of fine business capacity, hard working and energetic,
he took great pride in his work. Unfortunately, for the past
18 months his health was very bad, until finally it gave way
altogether. It was hardly necessary to add that in
consequence of Col. Stearn's bad health, the work not
progressed as rapidly as it would otherwise have done.

In a sixth progress report dated August 1 General Heth reviewed
the past work of the Antietam Board, which was now reduced to one
member. He repeated much of the data included in the January 8
report of the same year, but did include the following new information.

36. R.G. 92-Entry 706, Report of January 13, 1894,

37. R.G. 92-Entry 706, letters of Board, March 12, 1894, and
April 20, 1894; Financial Statement, October 8, 1894. Draftsman was
paid $15 on March 31 and $55 on May 31, 18%4,

38. R.G. 92, Entry 706, Letters of July 2 and July 19, 1894,

39. R.G. 92, Entry 706. Heth's progress report of August 1, 1894,
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In addition to studying Vol. XIX, War of the Rebellion, Official
Records, which contained "the official reports treze;ting of this battle,"
they had used “the several histories of the battle of Antietam, notably
those of General [Francis W.] Paifrey and Colonel [Wiitiam] Allen, and

such articles published in the various magazines as seemed to throw

light on the battle of Antictem.”

With regards to making the series of maps marking troop positions,
he commented:

The Board found this work--making a map indicating the
position of the brigades of the two Armies in the morning of
September 17th, must be first done tentatively, distributing
the maps to officers and others who were present in the
pattle, and obtaining their criticisms on the same. This map,
the Board knew, was only approximately correct, but it hoped
by obtaining the views of different survivors, to finally
publish a correct map of this phase of the battle of Antietam.
The Board then commenced to work on a second map to show
the extreme advance of the Union Army on the 17th of
September; or in other words, to show how far the
Confederates were driven from the positions they held on the
morning of the 17th. In order to compiete this part of the
work satisfactorily, the Board wrote to the Governors of the
several States having troops in this battle, and requested
themm to send delegations from their states, composed of
intelligent Officers who participated in the battle, with
instructions that they accompany the Antietam Board to the
pattlefield and locate the extreme advance of their commands
and where they did their hardest fighting.

Favorable replies have been received from most of the
Northern States: Massachusetts has aiready sent on a large
delegation who visited the battlefield and gave the Board the
desired information. North Carolina has done the same.
Vermont, Rhode Island, Delaware, Maine, Michigan,
Pennsylvania, and New York will send delegations to mark
their positions and will come to Sharpsburg as soon as
advised. Maryland, Virginia and Texas will send on
delegations for the purpose above mentioned., It is very
essential that the information to be obtained from these
delegations should be had before the map, or maps, showing
the extreme advance of the Union forces, is completed....

A vast amount of correspondence has been done by the
Board. We obtained from the Pension Office a list of all the
Regiments of the Union Army present at the Battle of
Antietam. From the same we selected a number of survivors
and wrote to these for such information in reference to the
positions of their commands as we required. Some of the
reports of Officers holding high rank and commanding
Divisions are missing from Vol. XiX, Rebellion Records;
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these reports were never made, or lost if made, Many of the
reports contained in Vol., XIX are so meagre as to throw little
or no light on the positions they occupied during the battie,
The information obtalned by correspondence and from
circulars sent out has been of great value to the Board, It
would have been impossible to have done the work
contempiated by Congress, without the aid afforded by letters
obtained from outside sources, The Board has availed itself
of every opportunity that offered to visit the battlefield,
accompanied by officers who held important commands in both
Armies, notably Generals William Franklin, W. F, Smith, John
Gibbon, John G. Walker, James Longstreet, Robert Ransom,
and many others of lesser rank....

The Board proposes to visit the battiefield, accompanying the
State delegations, After this, Map No. 3 will be speedily
compieted.

General Heth noted that the monuments or tablets could not be put
into place until the land had been acquired. He now estimated that 800
acres [rather than 500 acres as in January] would be required and that
$56,000 would be needed to purchase this property. He further
estimated that $15,000 would be necessary to construct "Avenues or
roads leading from the main turnpike to monuments.* After the proper
amount of money had been appropriated, he calculated "“it would require
one year, or 18 months to complete the work.”

A total of 232 positions had been marked with temporary wooden
markers and "The Government has furnished the Board with condemned
cannon sufficient to mark the positions of the batteries of each
Ar‘my.“a0 |

Quartermaster General Batchelder conveyed most of the information
in Heth's report in his own annual report to Secretary of War Lamont
for the fiscal year ending June 30, 1891;.‘u

On July 30, 1894, Brig. Gen. Erza A. Carman of New
Jersey, who had served as a trustee of the Antietam National Cemetery
Assoclation from 1866 to 1877 and had unsuccessfully applied for a
position on the Antietam Board in May 1891, made a second application
for a job, understanding "that one of the gentlemen then elected has

tendered his r'estgmaltlon.“n2 On October 8 Secretary of War Lamont

40. R.G. 92, Entry 706. Report of August 1, 1894, 5 pp.
41. Serial No. 3295, p. 255,
42. R.G. 92, Entry 706. Letter of July 30, 1894,
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appointed Carman to the position of "historical expertt for the Antletam
Board at a salary of $200 per month. General Carman took the oath of
offlce on October 12.“3 Thus the Antletam Board was reconstituted to
its full strength of two members In October 18%4, The Board, however,
was about to be expanded and to strike out In new directlons and for
new objectives. These changes will be considered In the following
section.

Operations of the Antletam Board, as comprised of Colonel Stearns
and General Heth, from July 1, 1891, to October 1, 1894, can be
summarized as follows: Of the total of $46,310 appropriated by
Congress from August 30, 1890, to October 1, 1894, the Antietam Board

had expended $20,253.73 for these purposes:

Salary to J.C. Stearns, Aug. 8, 1891-June 31, 1894 $8,756.00
Satary to Henry Heth, July 8, 1891-5ept. 30, 1894 9,691.67
Subtotal, salaries: $18,441,67

For engineers 649.85

For clerks 4580.00

For drawing and printing maps 389.00

For wooden markers 266.85

For travel expenses 14,20

For mailing tubes 1.26

For moving cannon 0.90

Subtotal, other expenses: $ 1.812.06

Grand Total: : $20,253.73

This left a balance of $26,056.27 available for further work on the

Antietam battlefield as of October 1, 1894.%"

3. SECRETARY OF WAR'S OFFICE TAKES OVER AND THE GEOQRGE

B. DAVIS PHILOSOPHY OF BATTLEFIELD PRESERVATION, 1894-1895
On October 15, 1894, in response to the secretary of war's

instructions of October 8, Quartermaster General Batchelder

turned al! of the correspondence, records, and accounts of the Antietam
Board over to the chief clerk of the War Department.qs

T3, R.G. 706, index to letter and reports of the Antietam Board to the
Secretary of War, 1894-1898. Letter No. 4, October 8, 1894,

44, R.G. 92, Entry 706, Financial Statement of Appropriations,
Antietam, 1891-%54, October 8, 1894, 3 pp.

45. R.G. 92, Entry 706. Letter of October 15, 1894 to Chief Clerk.
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On October 13, as has been mentioned, the secretary of war
appointed General Carman to serve as "historical expert," together with
General Heth on the Antietam Board. The secretary enlarged
the Board by adding two members: Jed. Hotchkiss as "expert
topographer" on October 13, and Maj. George B. Davis, Judge
Advocate, as president of the Antietam Board on QOctober 20.45

Davis's selection as president of the Antietam Board was probably
based on the new ideas that he had suggested to the secretary of war
in a letter dated October 4, 1894,

After reviewing the legislative acts regarding the marking of the
Antietam Battlefield, Davis wrote: '

It is apparent to my mind that the sums hitherto appropriated
are quite inadequate to carry into effect so extensive a
scheme as that outlined above. Judging from the experience
gained at Chickamauga and Gettysburg,-~and | cannot think
that land can be purchased more reasonably at Sharpsburg
than at either of those places, an expenditure of considerably

486, R.G. 92, Entry 706, letters of October 13 and 20, 1894,
Hotchkiss took his oath of office on October 20, 1894, Davis apparently
selected Carman and Hotchkiss for their positions. On October 19, 1894,
the Norris Peter Company was paid $20 for printing 300 copies of "Map
No. 2." George Breckinridge Davis was born at Ware, Massachusetts,
on February 14, 1847, During the Civil War he served as sergeant and
quartermaster sergeant, 1st Massachusetts Cavalry from June 17, 1865
until he was honorably mustered out on June 26, 1865. Davis was a
cadet at the U.S, Military Academy from July 1, 1867, until June 12,
1871, when he graduated, at which time he was commissioned a second
lieutenant in the 5th Cavalry. Throughout the 18705 he served on
various western frontier posts and taught at the military academy. He
was promoted to first lieutenant, 5th Cavalry on May 9, 1878; to
captain, 5th Artillery on August 21, 1888; and to major, staff -~ judge
advocate, U.S. Army on December 10, 1888. Davis served on special
duty in the secretary of war's office, Washington, D.C., from January
19 to May 4, 1889, and was In charge of the Publications of the Records
of the War of the Rebellion starting May 4, 1889. He became
lteutenant-colonel, staff--deputy judge advocate-general on August
3, 1895; colonel and judge advocate on May 22, 1901; and brigadier-
general and judge advocate general on May 24, 1901. Davis served as
professor of law at the U.S. Military Academy from August 20, 1895
and as head of the department of history from January 1896, He
retired as major-general, U.S5. Army, on February, 1911, and his death
followed three years later, on December 16, 1914 at Washington, D.C.,
Cutlum, Biographical Reyister, vol. Il (Boston 18%1), pp. 170-71; vol,
IV (Boston 1%01), p. 208; R.G. 97, ACP File, NA, Military Order
of the Loyal of the United States, in Memoriam, Companion George
Breckinridge Davis, December 17, 1914, Circular No. #2, Series of
1914, Whole No. 808.
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more than a bhundred thousand dollars will be necessary tfo
carry out the scheme of land purchase and line marking
which is suggested in the statutes above referred to.

[ am as clearty of opinion that the work of marking the iines
at Antietam will be very much more difficult than at
Gettysburg or Chickamauga. At both these places there
were some strong natural positions, which were defended by
the Union forces against Confederate assaults. These
defensive positions formed the key points of the battles, and
now furnish a basis for accurate and intelligent marking of
the lines of the opposing forces. At Antietam there were no
such positions. The battle was a long, obstinate, and, for
the most part hand to hand contest between the forces
engaged. The woods, cleared land, fences, wheat and corn
fields, which constituted points of reference, at the time of
the battle, have been modified and changed in the
intervening years so as to make it a matter of extreme
difficulty to identify them in any case; while in some, if not
many cases, such Iidentification is impossible,

Major Davis then suggested:

1. That the Board recognized in the statute be continued
in force. :

2. That so much of the acts of August 30, 1890,
August 5, 1892, and March 31, 1893, as can be carried into
effect, with the means at hand, be executed without delay.

3. That a correct map of the battle be prepared, printed,
and distributed among surviving participants in the
operations, with a view to collect and make of permanent
record, all obtainable knowledge of the positions occupied by
the Union and Confederate Armies during the two days of
battle.

4, That points of general historic Interest, which can be
marked without acquiring land, be marked immediately,

5. That a report be prepared for submission to Congress,
covering the entire case, including the difficulties involved
in identifying and marking positions, and the probable
expense of the undertaking.

It is believed that the course above suggested will result in
a prompt execution of the existing statutes, and will place
Congress in possession of a full knowledge of the case, from
which future poticy irlI reference to this matter can be
. . - 7 _

intelligently determined.

47.

R.G. No. 92, Entry 706. Letter No. 2, 4 pp.
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Secretary of War Lamont was undoubtedly further impressed by
Major Davis's thinking, when, on November 7, the judge advocate
presented for his consideration a detailed plan of development for the
Antietam Battlefield in which the previous estimates for necessary land
to be acquired were reduced from 800 acres to 10 and the additional
appropriations from $50,00¢ to $9,260.48

The thoughts presented in Major Davis's memorandum of October 4
and November 7, 1894, appear to have influenced the secretary of war's
annual report for the fiscal year ending June 30, 1894, which was
being drafted in the fall of 1894, Instead of paraphrasing the
quartermaster general's annual report on the progress of work at
Antietam, as was the normal custom, Secretary of War Lamont
submitted an essay to Congress on the question of whether the United
States should acquire lands to preserve Civil War battlefields and of
the high future costs of maintaining such jands. He wrote:

ANTIETAM BATTLEFIELD

The work of determining and marking the positions of the
Union and Confederate armies on the battlefield of Antietam
has been carried on throughout the year, and is now believed
to be drawing to a close. Congress has charged the
Department with the duty of "preserving and marking® certain
lines of battle of Antietam, in order to preserve the field, in
all its physical aspects, as nearly as possible in the condition
in which it was in September, 1892, This duty can best be
performed by leaving the land in the hands of its original
owners or their successors, who by continuing to use it for
farming, will preserve its topographical features as they
existed in 18562,

The portion of Maryland in which the battlefield is situated
has always been an agricuitural region and bids fair to
continue so indefinitely. So long, therefore, as the land
reinains in the hands of private owners, soO long will it be to
their direct interest to continue to wuse it for farming
purposes and thus preserve the field as it appeared to the
combatants. Were the Government to acquire large holdings
of land on the battlefield or In its vicinity, it would be
compelled, by its own exigencies, to simulate the operations
of agricuiture-~a task clearly outside the ordinary and usual
scope of government endeavor, and involving large
expenditures.

38, R.G. 92, Entry 706, Letter No. 45. This plan will be considered
in detail in the following section.
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It is the purpose of the Department, if the necessary land
can be bought reasonably, but not otherwise, to acquire
several lanes or avenues along which the most severe
fighting occurred, and upon the sites thus acquired to erect
such tablets and markers as will clearly describe and explain
the positions and operations of the several origanizations of
the armies of the Potomac and Northern Virginia which were
engaged. It is not believed that the first cost of this
method of marking will be gregt or that the expense of
maintenance will be considerable,

One year later, in his annua!l report to Congress for the fiscal
year ending June 30, 1895, Secretary of War Lamont returned to this
subjeét. He noted that since 1890 Congress had appropriated
$1,141,568.71 for marking and preserving four Civil War battiefields,
These included the Antietam National Battlefield Site and three national
military parks at Chickamauga and Chattanooga, Gettysburg, and
Shiloh. The United States had acquired 6,000 acres at Chickamauga,
1,000 acres at Gettysburg, and the land acquisition program at Shiloh,
which had just been established, was not yet underway.

Secretary of War Lamont warned Congress that developing and
maintaining some 50 Civil War battlefields made up of many acres of
land would be expensive. He wrote:

It is important that Congress should early adopt and
consistently pursue a fixed policy in regard to the marking of
the battlefields of the civil war. |If the plan of creating
battlefield parks is to be impartially pursued on the scale
adopted at Chickamauga and Gettysburg, it must embrace
fifty places where important actions were fought, and will
involve an expenditure of at least $20,000,000, with additional
expenditures for maintenance that may reach $1,000,000
yearly.

Having observed the operations of the various battlefield
commissions for a period of some two years, the Secretary of War was
now convinced that policy of preservation followed at Antietam was the
best and cheapest method of preserving the 46 unmarked Civil War
battlefields.

Secretary Lamont explained his opinion:

The policy pursued at Antietam, where absolute discretion
was lodged in the Department, has been radically different,
and if adopted in other cases it is belleved that an

§9. Serial No, 3295, p. 29.
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Expenditures for Military Parks, 1890-June 30, 1896

1890 1895 | 1890 1894
' Projects Antietam Cettysburg Chickamauga Shiloh
Salaries, .

~ Commissioner, o .

- Experts  $24,523.33 €7,001.13  $7,010.00 #9,733.33
Office expenses  927.95  5,560.36  14,390.88 3,890.75
Traveling expenses 141.70 3,060.98 12,879.02 1,512.87
Land and legal

‘expenses 3,311.78 9,779.00  233,004.73 6,851.80

“Labor, material  25,831.79 98,657.60  351,642.53 14,070.73
-Markers, Mons.  6,268.28 24,382.17 62,613.70 40.91
‘Miscellaneous 1,709.03 1,151.31  10,035.43 --
Total under -

Commissions - 62,713,86 169,592.55  751,576.29 46,100.39
Expended under
GRAND TOTAL- 62,713.86 251,219,46  758,876.29 46,100.39

Grand total of all = $1,119,910 (1)

‘Acres of Land _ :
Acquired 22.00 8u5.32 5,568.25 266.70

Total Acreage 22,00 3,874.00 8,000.00 5,800.00

(1) 313.65 acres purchased and 521.77 acres donated.

_Sodrce:. Congressional Serial No. 3_-"473, pp. 4% and 43-Annual Report of

‘Secretary of War Daniel S. Lamont for Fiscal Year Ending June 30, 1896.
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expenditure of $100,000 would suitably and permanentiy mark
all the remaining fields of importance and provide for the
early completion of a work of national interest. The work
there was practically begun and finished this year. About
17 acres of land was purchased in strips, conforming closely
to the actual battle lines and embracing the principal
features. Along these, 5 miles of substantial metaled roads
were constructed, and 200 iron tabiets have been erected,
recording the movements of the wvarious commands. The
tablets enable even the layman to read accurately the story
of the shifting changes of the battie, and the field, instead
of being converted into a park, is substantially in the same
condition as when the battle was fought, and is likely to
remain so for years. The total cost of this compieted work
has been about $40,000, including purchase of lands and
construction of roads., Omitting the latter, the total cost
would have been approximately $10,000. The cost of
maintenance will be small.

1t is earnestly recommended that Congress authorize the
marking of remaining Important battlefields in the manner
adopted at Antietam, which can be completed in a few years
at a moderate cost, while the project of more national
military parks, of thousands of ~acres bought by the
Government, involves the expenditure of millionﬁ)_of dollars
and an indefinite lapse of time before completion.

The secretary's point is further illustrated by data drawn from
his annual report for the fiscal year ending June 30, 1896 {see chart
preceding page}, which presents comparative figures regarding the
costs of developing the four Civil War battlefields.

U.S. Expenditures, 1890-June 30, 1896 were:

Antietam $62,713.86
Chickamauga _ 751,576.29
Shiloh 46,100.39
Gettysburg 169,592.55

The two methods of preserving battlefields, here called the
Chickamauga and Antietam methods, adopted by the War Department
in the 1890s reflect the thinking of Major Davis and Secretary of War
Lamont.

50. Serial No, 3370, pp. 31-32. Final actual cost of work at
Antietam, finished in March 1898, was $78,031, rather than $40,000,
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Natlonal military parks preserved by the War Department utillzing
the "Chickamauga" plan, acquiring much of the land of the battlefield,
include the following areas:

1, Chickamauga and Chattanooga, Georgla and Tennessee
(August 19, 1890). :

2. Gettysburg Natlonal Mllitary Park, Pennsylvania
(February 11, 1895).

(At Gettysburg the War Department accepted some 532 acres
that had been purchased by other organlzations, bought
about 314 additional acres, and then marked the battlefleld
on the "Antietan Plan.")

3. Gullford Courthouse Natlonal Milltary Park, North Carolina
(June 2, 1926).

4, Kings Mountain National Military Park, South Carolina
(March 3, 1931).

5.  Moores Creek National Military Park, North Carolina {June 2,
1926).

6. Shiloh National Military Park, Tennessee (December 27,

1894) . .

7. Vicksburg National Military Park, Mississippi (February 21,
1899}.

(Development at Vicksburg represented a compromise between the
Antietam and Chickamauga plans. The War Department was forced
by veterans' lobbying efforts to acquire considerable amounts of
land, thus changing the original Antietam method of
preservation.)

National battlefield sites preserved by the War Department using
the "Antletam" plan, acquiring relatively little land, included the
following areas: '
1. Antietam Battlefield, Maryland (August 30, 1890).
2. Appomattox, Virginia (June 18, 1930},
3. Brices Cross Roads, Mississippi (February 21, 1929).
4. Chalmette Monument and Grounds, Louisiana (March 7,
1904}).

5. Cowpens, South Carolina (March 4, 1929).

6. Fort Donelson National Military Park, Tennessee
(March 26, 1928).
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7. Fredericksburg and Spotsylvania County Battle Flelds
Memorial, National Military Park, Virginia (February 12,
1927},

8. Petersburg National Military Park, Virginia
{July 3, 1928},

9. Stones River National Military Park, Tennessee
{(March 3, 1927).

10. Fort Necessity National Battlefield Site, Wharton County,
Pennsylvania (March &, 1931},

11. Kennesaw Mountain National Battlefield Site, Georgla
(February 8, 1917).

12. Tupelo National Battiefield Site, Misslssippi
{(February 8, 1929),

13. White Plains National Battlefield Site, New York
{established before August 10, 1833},

The above listed battlefields were transferred by the War Department
to battlefields were transferred by the War Department to the National
Park Service, U.S. Department of the Interior on August 10, 1933,

4, DEVELOPMENT AND COMPLETION OF THE BATTLEFIELD,
18941898 |

On November 7, 1894, after consulting with General Heth, Major
Davis presented a detailed plan for the future development of Antietam
Battlefield, together with an estimate of the additional funds that
would be required, to the secretary of war. The next day, Davis also
sent a copy of this paper to Carman and Hotchkiss, who were working
at Sharpsburg, for their information, review, comment, and

‘.--,Lxgc_:je.-s‘tions.51

81, Carman to Davis, November 10, 1894, states he and Hotchkiss
have reviewed the estimates and paper. Carman suggested that the
roads should be 20 to 25 feet wide, of which only 12 feet would be
macadamized, He also noted that the cost of constructing the
cbservation towers had not been included in the estimate. Also Davis
to Carman, Nov. 12, 1894--all in R.G. 92--Entry 706--Flle 45,

93



tn his letter to the Secretary, Major Davis explained that

there remains on hand unexpended, about $25,000; and the
question is of determining upon a scheme of marking which
will not greatly exceed that sum. The state of the
appropriation does not seem to warrant considerable
expenditures for such a purpose, at this time, and the board
has, therefore, given the greatest weight to considerations of
economy.

The several acts of appropriation require the Department to
preserve and mark the general lines of battle of the Union
and Confederate Armies at Antietam, and to further mark the
positions of such organizations of the regular army as
participated in the battle. This marking may be done in two
ways:

1. By acquiring the entire area upon which the battle
was fought and erecting markers or monuments thereon.

2. By acquiring a minimum of land, in the shape of
lanes and avenues crossing the principal positions, and
erecting thereon such tablets as are necessary to mark the
principal movements of both armies during the battle.

The battle was fought on three roads leading out of the town
of Sharpsburg, in three different directions, at right angles
to each other. Two of these are turnpikes, owned by
corporations, the third is a poor and badiy kept county road,
leading from Sharpsburg by the Burnside Bridge, to the
Antietam lron Works and Harpers Ferry. These roads, which
radiate from Sharpsburg, are not connected by any system of
cross roads, or lanes, and a visitor desiring to go over the
field must now make three separate starts from Sharpsburg
and, in each case, must return to the town before starting
again in a new direction. To make the field accessible, some
communications should be opened between the turnpikes by
which its different parts are now reached. It sc happens
that this can be accomplished in such a way as to open such
communication, and make the entire field accessible and, at
the same time, enable the principal lines of battie to be so
marked as to convey a clear idea of the several phases of the
engagement, 1t will involve the purchase of less than ten
acres of land, and will not commit the United States to the
perpetual care and maintenance of a large area of ground.

The centers of heavy fighting, during the battle of
September 17, 1862, were three in number: 1. The vicinity

of the Dunkard Church on the Hagerstown Pike. 2. The
Bloody Lane, lying between the Hagerstown and Boonsborg
Pikes, but not now accessible from either of them. 3. The
vicinity of the Burnside Bridge. The 5th Army Corps, the
Cavalry Division, and the Reserve Artillery, which composed .
the reserve of the Army of the Potomac and contained most of
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the organizations of regular troops which participated in the
battle, were stationed on the Boonsboro Pike near the point
where it crosses Antietam Creek. It has been seen that the
centers of fighting above referred to are situated on different
roads, no two of which communicate with each other. To
make them accessible and, at the same time, to secure sites
for the location of tablets, which will explain the tactical
maneuvers of the battle, the following suggestions are
submitted:

1. To acquire the fee of the land constituting the
Bloody Lane and to convert it into a practical road joining the
Hagerstown and Boonsboro Pike. A part of this land has
very great historical importance and should not be disturbed,
as to its general outline, which are now in substantially the
same condition that they were during the battle. It is only
proposed to metal the road-bed, or bottom, of the lane.

2. To acquire the fee of a small strip of land {about
12 feet wide) leaving the Hagerstown Pike near the Dunkard
Church, passing in rear of the Confederate Lines, and
returning to the Pike at D. R. Miller's house, It is proposed
to make a road of the strip above described, upon which to
erect tablets to explain the operations of Jackson's corps of
the Confederate Army.

3. To acquire a small strip connecting the Hagerstown
Pike with the Smoketown Road, near J. Poffenberger's house,
and construct thereon a road, connecting the above roads,
and furnishing sites for tablets explanatory of the operations
of the 1st, 2nd and 12th Corps of the Army of the Potomac.

4, To acquire a narrow strip of land extending from a
point on the Boonsboro' Pike east of the National Cemetery,
to a point near the Sherrick House on the road leading from
Sharpsburg to the Burnside Bridge,

5. Upon the lands thus acquired it is proposed to
construct roads, not exceeding 12 feet in width, to facilitate
movements about the field and to furnish sites for the tables
which will explain the different phases, or epochs, of the
battle. 1t is proposed to use, for this purpose, tablets of
cast iron, similar to those now furnished the Chickamauga
Commission, by the Chattanooga Car and Foundry Company
under its existing arrangement with the War Department,
This source is recommended because it has been found, after
considerable inquiry, that no iron foundry in the vicinity of
Washington, or Philadelphia, is prepared to furnish tablets,
of similar size and weight, at as low a price as the above
establishment, The same concern furnishes a cast iron guide
board, which can be extensively used in marking the routes
of corps.
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6. To convey to a visitor's mind an idea of the
position of the opposing lines of battle, it is proposed to
mark them by painted balls, placed on the tops of iron poles,
about 300 yards apart. It is believed that the general lines
of battle can be marked in this way at a minimum expense and
still in such a way as to impress an observer with the tength
and position of the lines of battle and magnitude of the
military operations.

7. To issue a map showing the positions and operations
of the several commands of the Union and Confederate Armies
during the entire battle. This map is now in rapid course of
preparation, and will be ready for delivery to the litho-
grapher by the end of December of the current year.

Major Davis then proposed a schedule of development for the
battiefield, writing:

it is suggested that the work outlined above be undertaken in
the following order:

1. That the owners of the iand, in the lanes which it
is propesed to acquire {covering less than ten acres}, be
invited to submit the prices at which they will dispose of
their holdings to the United States. Land in the vicinity of
Sharpsburg, as elsewhere in the State of Maryland, is now
lower than it has been for many years. The present price,
in that vicinity, seems to be about fifty dollars per acre. If
the bids are, at the rate of, fifty dollars per acre, or less,
it is proposed to accept them at once. If higher than that
figure, in view of the delay and expense of condemnation
proceedings, it is proposed to offer $100 per acre as a
maximum orice. f that price is notl accepted, it is suggested
that so much of this project as involves the purchase of land
be abandoned without delay. The land which it is proposed
to acquire has little or no commercial value, Such historical
or patriotic importance as attaches to it, is due solely to the
fact that American citizens fought and died there. The owner
of the land, as such, has in no way contributed to this
result, and it is difficult to see how the shedding of blood
can be converted into an interest or estate in his favor.

2. If the necessary land is acquired, it is proposed to
begin work, at once, upon the roads heretofore referred to,
viz. {a) The Bloody Lane, (b) The Lane near the Dunkard
Church, {c¢) The Lane at J. Poffenberger's, and (d} The
Lane connecting the Boonsboro Pike with the road to Burn-
side's Bridge. These ﬁnnecting roads, or lanes, are shown
on the enclosed map. Mr. Schneider, the contractor for

52. The map enclosed was Map No. 2 of the Battlefield of Antietam,
drawn under the direction of Antietam Board, Col. John C. Stearns,
Gen. H. Hess, 1894, Scale 43 inches = 1 mile, with existing and
proposed roads marked on map. National Archives Record Group No.
92, Entry 507,
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repairing the road from Antietam Station to the National
Cemetery, offers, informally, to do this work at $7,800 per
mile {about 37 cents per square yard), and is willing to
begin operations at once., With ordinarily open winter
weather, it is believed that the greater part of the work of
road construction can be completed during the coming
winter.

3. To proceed, as rapidly as possible, with the
casting and erection of the iron tablets. The legends for a
great many of them have already been prepared. The rest
can be completed and the tablets cast and erected at an
early day.

4. To proceed with the construction of the line of
iron marking poles so soon as permission has been obtained,
from land owners, to erect the poles on their premises. It
is not anticipated that there will be any special objection
encountered to the scheme of erecting poles upon private
property. If objections are advanced, or if compensation is
demanded, the scheme should be abandoned.

5. To erect at convenient points two low wooden
observation towers from which the lines of battle, of both
armies, can be seen. Suitable tablets should be placed in
these towers describing the positions of the lines,

Major Davis estimated that the cost of the above program would be:

Land for roads and grading $ 2,000.00
Macadamizing road, 28,000 sq. yrds. at 37¢ 10,360.00
Fencing 42,000 linear feet 10,000.00
200 cast iron tablets 4,000,00
100 cast iron guide posts 300.00
Iron markers 600.00
Salaries {of Antietam Board) 6,000,00

_ Total $ 33,260.00
On hand 24,000.00
To be estimated for $3,260.00

Say $10,000.

Major Davis concluded by suggesting "that the above amount,
$10,000 be submitted to Congress, instead of $50,000, as originally
n>3 ' .
estimated.

53. R. G..92, Entry 706, Letter of November 7, 18%4, to Secretary
of War., Gen. Henry Heth, in his progress report of August 1, 1894,
assuming that 600 acres of land would have to be acquired, had
estimated that an additional appropriation of $50,000 would be
required. This same figure of $50,000 was also included in
Quartermaster General R.N. Batchelder's annual report for the fiscal
year ending June 30, 1894; see Serial No. 3295, p. 255.
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Secretary of War Lamont immediately approved Major Davis'

Sy

November 7 plan. The estimate was presented to Congress and in

an act approved March 2, 1835, the legislature appropriated $9,421 to
be used at Antietam for the following purposes:

for properly marking with tablets, each bearing a brief
historical legend compiled without praise and without censure
the positions occupied by the several commands of the
Armies of the Potomac and of Northern Virginia on that
field, and for opening and improving avenues along the
positions occupied by troops upon those lines, and for
fencing the same....

Congress alsc provided:

That the Secretary of War be, and he is hereby, authorized
to supply fifty unserviceable wooden field gun carriages, of
the type used during the civil war, for the purpose of
marking the ggsitions occupied by batteries of artillery on
the said field.

With an approved plan and monies available, the Antietam Board
prepared to execute the plan. On December 14, 1894, the secretary of

war appointed Elmore E. Piper as engineer in charge of fencing

56

projects. By January 12 the specifications for macadamizing the

roads and erecting gates had been c:hrafted.sﬁ')Y

58

Specifications for post
and fences were ready by January 10,

Bids for material and labor were accepted as follows:

January #, 1895 for hydraulic cement.59

January 24, 1895 for_iron .tal%lgts from R. W. Crove,
Josiah Hill,

Janaury 24, 1895 for 2,000 stones 2" x 3" x 3'.61

January 29, 1885 bid of James Snyder to build 7,000 lin.

feet of 6 inch road at 38} cents per lin,

54. Lamont signed but did not date the November 7 memo. In a
letter to Carman, dated November 12, 1894, Davis states the secretary
has approved the plan.

55. R.G. 92, Entry 706. Letter No. 77.

56. Ibid., Letter No. 123,

57. Ibid,, Letters 110 and 111,

58. 1bid., Letter No. 151.

59. Ibid., Letter No. 150,

60. lbid., Letter No. 152.

61, Letters No. 163 and 218, lbid. Also see letter no. 286, April 3,
1895,
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foot and 4,000 lin. feet of 4 inch road at
32} center per lin, ft. This contract for
macadamizing the %o!':ld was approved on
February 20, 1895,

- ~ . . 6
February 18, 1895 Contract for erection of wire fencing. 3

March 27, 1895 accepted bids for fence and post caps:
1,200 rods of fencing and 2,000 post
caps. The @ntract was approved on
April 3, 1895.

The task of acquiring land, in narrow strips, so that the roads
or avenues could be constructed and fenced and tablets erected was
alsc underway. Between April 10 and June 28, 1895, the United
States acquired title to 15 small parcels of land. Four more deeds
were recorded in 189 and on January 18, 1838, when work on the
battiefield was almost done, the Antietam Board held title to 23 pieces

65

of land.

As of June 30, 1896, the United States owned 22 acres of land on
the battlefield (exclusive of 11 acres in the National Cemetery)}, which
had been acquired at a cost of $3,311.}'8.66

On August 2, 1895, Major Davis drafted a report for the
secretary of war on the history of Antietam Battlefield, writing:

The work on this field, save for a little in the way of
embellishment, is practically finished, Gen. Carman will
throw off the entire pay roll, except the masons and helpers
who are at work on the [stone observation] tower in Bloody

62. Letter No. 205, lbid,

63. 1bid., Letters No. 271 and 285,

64, R.G. Box 12606, File 630. “"Military Reservations, National
Cemeteries, and Military Parks., Title, jurisdiction, etc., Revised
edition 1916--Antietam Battlefield,” 4 pp. R.G. 92, Entry 706, Letter
No. 455, June 30, 1895, recording 10 deeds, and letter No. 543,
March 31, 1896, reporting recording of 15 deeds.

§5. Serial No. 3478, p. 43. Annual report for June 38, 18%6. The
cost averaged out to $115.20 per acre.

66. Serial No. 3498, p. 43, Annual report for June 30, 1896. The
cost averaged out to $115.20 per acre.
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Lane, and who will be utilized to set up the tablets and guide
boards which are now being cast in Chattanooga. The one
thing awaiting to be done is to prepare a base map, and to
locate upon it the positions of the troops at the different
phases of the battle.

My attempt to utilize Major Hotchkiss has well nigh proved a
failure. He seemed to have just the qualities that were
needed, not to make a survey of the field, but simply to
correct the fence lines of the Michler map, (which was made
in 1867, five years after the battle)] and to bring out the
precise topography .of the field a little more clear than was
done on that map. He has given us a correct drawing of that
part of the field in the vicinity of the Dunkard Church and
the Bloody Lane, and that is about all; and Mr., Bien is
embodying the Hotchkiss corrections, and a number of Gen,
Carman's also, on the map he is now making.

The Bien map will be drawn on tracing cloth to a scale of
about 400 inches to the mile, {twice the scale of the Michler
map), at a cost of $85. The use of this scale will greatly
facilitate the location of the troops, and will give a map that
can be reduced by photography, to the scale of the War
Records Atlas for reproduction by photolithography, should
enough of the appropriation remain to authorize such 3
publication. The cost of it should not exceed $400.00 for an
edition of one thousand.

Whether the maps are reproduced or not, it will give Gen.
Carman a large sized base map, of which blue prints or white
prints can be made, upon which to locate the movements of
troops. In deoing this Gen. Carman wili make the length of
the rectangle, which represents a command on the map, form
a fixed proportion of the strength of the command in the
battle, when that strength can be accurately or even
approximately ascertained. This is an innovation in map
drawing and is calculated to give a very satisfactory result.
It is alse necessary as the brigades varied in strength
between 86 and over 3,000 men.

No positions of troops will be shown on the base map, blue or
white prints, or photographic enlargements, being used for
that purpose, but Gen. Carman will locate each tablet on it,
using reference numbers for that purpose, which will refer to
the book of tablets, and will enable the location of any tablet
to be wverified at any time. Gen., Carman and | will prepare
the legends for these maps, so as to have them ready for
publication, should the way to that result appear clear at any
time in the future,

Gen. Carman's work at Sharpsburg has been the highest
character, both in point of accuracy and economy. He has no
opinions in  opposition to the desire or policy of the
department and never for an instant loses sight of the
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GCovernment interest. He has been of the greatest assistance
to me and has carried out the details with tact and
discretion, and with an accuracy to truth which is rare as it
is desirable. Composed as the Gettysburg Commission is, |
pelieve it will be to the public interest if his service can, at
the proper time, be transferred to that field., He will work
in perfect harmony with Col. Nicholson and will powerfully
assist him in securing immediate and accurate results.

i will also write the report of the Antietam Commission [for
the Secretary of War]. It will save you some trouble and 1
can easily do it, as | am familiar with the details. | enclose
my resignation as President, to take effect on August 10th,
as | am at too great a distance to direct the work to
advantage. | will date back the report and other papers
which should be propeé'}y signed by me, and which are not
completed by that time.

On August 3, 1895, Secretary of War Lamont appointed Maj.
George W. Davis to be the second president of the Antietam Boar'd.68
On August 10 the new president was informed that it would cost
approximately $3,629.73 to build the stone observation tower on the
Bloody Lane Road. (The plan for two wooden towers had been

T7R.C92, Entry 706, Letter No. 483--August 2, 1895. Copy of
this memo was apparently sent to the secretary of war, even though
the memo is not addressed to him,

68. R.G. 92, Entry 706, Letter No. 484, R.G. 92, Entry 706, Letter
No. 484, George Whitefield Davis was born in Thompson, Connecticut,
on July 26, 1839, He received education at Nichols Academy, Dudley
Massachusetts, and at State Normal School, New Britian, Connecticut.
He served as quartermaster sergeant of the 11th Connecticut Infantry
from November 27, 1861, to April 5, 1862, and Ist lieutenant with the
11th Connecticut Infantry. At the time of his appointment to the
Antietam Board Davis was being promoted through grade, to reach
brigadier general of U.S.A., by May 4, 1898, He later became
brigadier general of U.S.A., on February 2, 1901, and major general
on July 21, 1902. He retired on July 26, 1903, Davis was involved as
engineer in the completion of the Washington National Monument from
1878-85. He saw service in Puerto Rico and the Philipines, and was
general manager and vice president of Nicaraguz Canal Construction
Company from 1900-1903, General Davis also served as a member of
the lsthmian Canal Commission in 1904-05; was governor of the Panama
Canal Zone 1904-05; chairman of the board of construction engineers
on the Panama Canal 1905-06; and special agent for the Department of
State to the government of Guatemala 1913. He died July 12, 1918,
Who Was Who in American History-The Military {Marquis 1975}, p. 126.
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changed to one stone tower.)69 On August 17, 1895, the acting
secretary of war notified Generals Carman and Heth that they were
discharged as wmembers of the Antietam Board because the
appropriations for the battlefield had been exhausted.m This meant
that $55,731 had been expended by mid-August 1895; $300 were also
spent to repair roads, as Congress appropriated this amount on
June 8, 1896, to pay for work that had already been completed.-”

Total expenditures on the battlefield, 1890 to June 30, 1896, thus
amounted to $56,031.

The Antietam project thus lay dormant for 103 months, from mid
August 1895 to the end of June 1896, when Congress appropriated
additional funds,

Meanwhile, President Davis had thoughts on improving and
widening the work at Antietam. Davis bad probably drafted much of
Secretary of War Lamont's general statement, previously referred to,
on the costs of developing and maintaining Civil War national military
parks that appeared in the secretary's report to Congress for the
fiscal year ended June 30, 1895.72

In a letter to former president George B, Davis, who had been
promoted to lieutenant colonel and transferred to West Point, New
York, Major Davis set forth his thinking on Antietam, writing:

There seems to be no doubt that the roads we have built
there should be improved by increasing the thickness of the
macadam. This autumn's hauling has been considerable over
portions of these roads, and it seems to me certain that the
spring hauling over the same roads and the wear and wash of
traffic and rains when the ground is wet and soft will prove
their inadequacy. Such is my opinion from the examination |
have been able to make, and this is concurred in by General
Carman.

It also appears that Pennsylvania will during the next season
erect some forty monuments on that field-—of this 1 am

69. Ibid., Letter No. #91. R.G. 92, Drawer 7, Cartographic Division
of National Archives, Alexandria, Va., has two drawings, "Plan of a
Stone Observation Tower at Antietam National Battlefield Site,
Maryland,” both dated July 1896,

70. Ibid., Letters No, 497 and 498.

71. U.S, Statutes at Large, Vol. 29, p. 284,

72, R.G. 92, Entry 706, Letter no. 523: | would remark that the
Secretary has asked me to prepare a memorandum on the general
subject of such [battlefield] parks. This involves going over the
figures and legislation concerning these four places upon which the
Government has been recently making expenditures."

102




assured by Col. Nicholson [of Gettysburg] and others. Ohio
will erect monuments there, it is said, for regiments that
have monuments on no other field.

Davis then explained his plan to broaden the marker program to
include the other battles that were fought in September 1862 directly
related to the battle of Antietam, writing:

Crampton's Gap and Harper's Ferry were so closely related to
Antietam that they, in effect, became a part of it, and it has
peen suggested that tablets be erected along the roads passed
at these several battiefields, as well as at Shepherdstown
[W.Va.]. 1t is also desirable to complete the tower in the
Bioody Lane, that had to be discontinued before compietion on
account of lack of means, and it would be well to erect
another tower on the southern portion of the field.

One Confederate division, Anderson's,~--has now no tablet; it
was thought impossible to determine its position, but General
Carman has finally worked this out, he tells me, There
ought to be therefore, a few more tablets at Antietam, a few
towers completed, roads improved, and for these five or six
thousand dollars will be needed. About $1,500 would be
required to make and erect the tablets in the closely allied
fields of South Mountain, efic.

With respect to the [troop movement] map, - a computation
has been made that for one general map representing Antietam
Field on the scale of the original Michler map, four inches to
the mile, supposing that there be eight plates in all,
representing the successive stages of the battle, for a map of

South Mountain operations and Harper's Ferry
surrender,--about $1,500 would be required, supposing that
1,000 copies of each map be printed. | have therefore

decided to put in an estimate for these several things at

Antietam. Whether the Secretary will concur with me or not,

| am not yet sure....

Major Davis also reminded Colonel Davis "it was our
understanding that you should prepare the final map at Antietam."T3

The secretary of war supported Major Davis's proposal and on
March 24, 1896 the president of the Antietam Board transmitted an
estimate to the Chairman of the House Committee on Appropriations,
James G. "Uncle Joe" Cannon, requesting $17,053.20 to be spent at

Antietam as follows:

3. R.G. 92, Entry 706, Letter No. 523. The letter also indicates
that there was a dispute being carried on in the secretary's office on
whether Shiloh should be limited to 200 acres at Pittsburg Landing,

glus strips of land at other points; also whether Gettysburg could not
e developed on the same plan used at Antietam,
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At Antietam

Federa! Battery Tablets 21
Federa! Infantry Tablets 28
Confederate Tablets 17
- 66 at $20.60 $1,372.80
Putting up tablets, cement, sand, labor and freight 257.00

Shell monuments for Genls, Mansfield, Richardson,
Rodman, Starke, Anderson, and Branch, & at $30.00 180,00
Completing towers in Bloody Lane and on extreme

right of Confederate line 1,350.00
Additional guide posts 150.00
Improving, deepening, and guttering roads, 15-2/3

miles at $1,500 _T_Qg__gp_

Total for Antietam: $10,309.80

For Turner's and Fox's Gaps

Federal and Confederate Tablets, 32 $665.60
Cost of erecting same : 100.00
Cannon Ball monument to Gen. Reno 50.00

Total ' $815.60

At Crampton's Gap:

Federal and Confederate Tablets, 10 $208.00
Cost of erecting same 30.00
$238.00

At Harper's Ferry:
Tablets, 6 ' $124,89
Cost of erecting same 15.00
Cannon Ball Monument to Col. Dixon H. Miles 50,00
Total: $189.80
Aggregate for related battlefields $1,243.40

For Maps of Antietam Battlefield

Engraving and publishing $ 2,000.00
Topographer, Draughtsmen, etc. 1,000.00
Total, Map $ 3,000.00

For Expert Services and contingencies $ 2,500.00
Grand Total $17,053.20" "

74, R.G. 92, Entry 706, Letter No. 540,
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In an act approved on June 1, 18%, Congress accepted Major
Davis's proposals and appropriated $17,000 for the Antietam battlefield
and related projects.75

On June 27, 1896, Major Davis wrote to the secretary of war
recommending that Generals Heth and Carman be reappointed as
members of the Antietam Board to serve from July 1 to December 31,
1896 at salaries of $200 per month.76 Secretary of War Lamont
appointed Carman and Heth to the Board on June 30, 1896.7? Also
on June 30, James Snyder was named superintendent of road repairs at
a salary of $3.50 per day for a period not to exceed three rr'tonths.-l8

In his approved proposed plan of operations dated June 27, Davis
planned to spend $4,000 to. repair existing battlefield roads. One new
road, 2,800 feet long and joining Confederate Avenue and Smoketown
Road, was to be built, The tand for this road, 80 feet wide and 2,900
feet long, containing about 4 1/8 acres, he thought, could be
purchased for about $450; the road, 2,800 feet long, buiit for $1,400;
and fenced 5,600 feet, for about $500. The repairs to the roads and
setting of tablets and monuments ($2,600 for 90 cast iron tablets and
$200 for six cannon ball monuments} was to be done by day labor.

The completion of the observation tower {estimated at $2,000)
and the construction of the new road were to be accomplished by
contract after public adver‘tisement.m

About $2,100 was also to be spent on a new map, as follows:
$300 for drawing new map and $1,800 for engraving and printing new

maps, 7 sheets, 1060 copies of each map.ao

75. U.S. Statutes at Large, Vol. 29, p. 443,

76. R.G. 92, Entry 706, Letter No. 561, 5 pp., to Secretary of War
presenting detailed plan of operations to December 31, 1896.

77. 1bid., Letters of June 30, 1896, Nos. 362 and 563,

78. Ibid., Letter No. 564. Synder had built the roads under
contract in 1895,

79. R.G. 92, Entry 706, Letter No. 558. The road to be built
nextends from the new road that traverses the ground occupied by the
[eft of the Confederate Army, across the Hagerstown Pike and the
‘Bloody Cornfield', to the Smoketown Road which was traversed by the
Union advance," about one-half mile long.

g8o. ibid.
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fenced on both sides, had been completed; that the field guns marking
artillery positions were in place; and that the masonry observation
tower "that overlooks the whole field," was nearly completed.
Expenditures since the last report amounted to $6,683.07, making a
total of $62,617.86 expended.®!

On July 10, 1896, the specifications for the iron tablets were
readyaz and the specifications for the new tour road and its fencing
83 On December 21, 1896, the contract for the
construction of the Observation tower was awarded to Jacob Snyder for
$2,700, plus $109 for other work he was to do.8q

On May 2, 1897, President Davis requested permission from

were issued on July 28,

Secretary of War Russell A. Alger "for the temporary employment of
the Gettysburg Battlefield Commission on the Antietam Battiefield in
connection with the preparation of a Map of the Antietam Battlefield."
These men were to be paid from Antietam funds while serving at
Antietam for about %0 days. Col. E. B. Cope, the engineer of the
Gettysburg Commission, was to receive $45 per montl'i; his assistant
engineer H. W. Mattern was to be paid $75 monthly. Their aides, E.
M. Hewitt and Jno. E. Cope, were to receive $45 and $i40 per month
respectively. The four men were to be removed from the Gettysburg
payroll during this work. The secretary approved this plan.as On
May 28 Davis reported that the topographical work at Antietam
Battlefield was almost done. "Will keep Mr. H. W. Mattern on for a
few weeks longer but the rest of the Gettysburg Commission map

makers will not be needed after May 31."86 |

81, Serial No, 3478, p. 45. This is also the report that contained the
detailed comparative figures, probably worked up by Major George W.
Davis, on the cost of developing four Civil War battiefields, see pp.
43-44,

82. R.G. 92, Entry 706, Letter No. 568. )

83. |Ibid., Letter No. 584. A report on the construction of the
battlefield roads, dated May 2, 1896, will be found in letter no., 549,
84, Ibid., Letter No. 595. For two plans of tower, 1896, see footnote
69. '

85. R.G. 92, Entry 706, Letter No. 635, Box 229.

86. Ibid., Box 229, lLetter of May 28, 1897,
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On July 26 Major Davis had General Heth reappointed "as a
member of the Antietam Board for five months, beginning
August 1, 1897 at salary of $200 per month.“87

Prior to this, by act approved July 19, 1897, Congress made what
turned out to be the final appropriation for the development of the
Antietam Battiefield in the amount of $5,.000,88 This additional money
brought the total appropriations for the battiefield from August 30,
1890 to July 19, 1897, to $78,131.

At the secretary of war's request, President Davis summitted a
progress report on the operations of the Antietam Board on
October 15, 1897, writing is part:

The work on the Antietam battlefield, that was commenced
under authority of the act of Congress approved
August 30, 1890, is practically finished, and available
appropriations will suffice for its completion.

The marking of the battle tines of the two armies consisted
in--

1. Careful studies of the field and of the movement of
the troops thereon during the several stages of the action
fought on September 17, 1862.

2. The erection of iron tablets bearing brief historical
descriptions of the movements of troops.

3. The acquirement of strips of land upon which these
tablets could be erected and that would afford roadways for
‘all the important points of interest,

4. The erection of simple monuments marking the
places where general officers were Killed.

5. The erection of a masonry tower giving an elevated.
platform that affords a commanding view of the whole field.

6. The establishment at prominent points on the field
of a few pieces of field artillery of the type used in the
battle.

7. The careful survey of the field and of the
preparation of accurate maps showing the position of the
troops in the different stages of the action.

87. Ibid., Letter No. 672.
g8. U.S. Statues at Large, Vol. 30, p. 120-21. This was to complete
the work.
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The survivors of a few military organijzations that fought at
Antietam have purchased and have erected on suitable sites
permanent monuments marking positions and bearing
inscriptions recording the services of the organizations,
Twelve such monuments have been erected, and others are
contemplated. In a few Instances deeds of the land whereon
these structures stand have been tendered as gifts to the
United States, and have been accepted by the Secretary of
War under authority of the act of August 30, 1890,

Under authority of the act of June 1, 1896, historical
tablets have been erected at South Mountain, Cramptons Gap,
Sheperdstown, and Harpers Ferry.

The compietion of the map, expected by December 31,

1897, will close the work committed to the board.

Davis reported that Congress had appropriated $78,031
from August 30, 1890, to October 15, 1897; and that $74,081 had
been spent, leaving a balance of $3,949.31 to complete the task.

The $74,081.69 had been spent by the Antietam Board as follows:

Salaries of civilian members of the board $ 26,223.33
Surveys and maps 5,916.24
Land 3,323.88
Roads and fencing 24,330.76
Observation tower 3,327.11
Tablets, markers, etc. 7.865.98
Miscellaneous 3,094,139

Total Expenditures 75 087 660"
On January 31, 1898, Major Davis informed the acting secretary
of war that

At the present time the [Antietam] Board consists of myself
only. | have the services of two employees of the War
Records Office, who were formerly the two civilian members of
the Antietam Battlefield Board, for the purpose of locating
the positions of troops upon a map of the battlefield., These
are Generals Carman and Heth.

He also reported that the balance of the $78,031.00 appropriation left
on hand as of December 31, 1897, was $2,709.69 and that its intended

use was to finish the troops movement matps.go

89. R.G. 92, Entry 706, Letter 686. Report is also published in
Serial No. 3630, pp. 57-58, as part of Secretary of War R.A. Alger's
annual report for the fiscal year ending June 30, 1897.

90. R.G. 92, Entry 706, Letter No. 693, Box 227,
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On March 18, 1898, Major George W, Davis submitted the final
report of the Antietam Board, in which he listed the specific
accomplishments of the Board as follows:

(1) Cast !lron Tablets, erected on iron stands

Historical Locality Guide

Tablets Tablets Tablets Total
Antietam 213 20 150 (about) 383
Harpers Ferry 5 '

South Mountain 6
Cramptons Gap g
Shepardstown 5

Total: 238 20 150 111
Cost about $6,400.

These are set at points convenient to the localities or
movements described, and bear legends or descriptions cast
in raised letters on the face of the iron plates, which are
painted black, while the surface of raised lettering is painted
white. With occasional repainting at small expense they will
endure for centuries. All stand upon land owned by the
United States or upon pubic highways.

2. Monuments to mark the place of death or mortal wounding
of general officers in the two armies. These consist of a
masonry foundation or base of rubble in cement mortar., Set
in these bases, inverted, are bronze 12-pr. guns, the chase
of each gun for about 18 inches of its length being built into
the masonry. Bolted upon each gun near the breech is a
bronze plate bearing an inscription, giving the name of the
general officer whose death is thus recorded.  These
monuments should stand for centuries without repairs.

3. Means of communication: The four public highways
radiating from Sharpsburg supply this in part. These have
been supplemented by highways made by the United States
upon land purchased for that purpose. The area of land
acquired is slightly more than 224 arces, and the total
length of right of way, 9,150 yards or slightly more than 5
miles. The plan of road construction adopted, provided for
a width of lime stone macadam of 12 feet and thickness of 7
inches, and a part have paved side gutters. The water
passes were usually vitrified earthenware pipes. At a few
points wherever the road intersected a considerable water
course, stone culverts were pointed.




The general surface of the Antietam field is so uneven, that
as the roads follow straight lines generally, their grades are
in many places quite abrupt. The erosion from rain-water is
therefore considerable, which will require annual repairs to
these highways. Their usage by the public is considerable,
which increases the wear and tear. About $3,400 had been
spent to purchase the land, '

4, Fences: Along each side of all roads is a fence. Jones
Locked Wire Fence was adopted. The posts are of sawed
locust and chestnut, all painted with asphaltum paint and
surmounted with ball ornaments of cast iron. Suitable gates
have been provided for industrial use of the abutting land
owners. These fences will of course require annual repair,
Cost of constructing the roads and fences was about $24,600,

5. Observation Tower: At a commanding point on the field
there has been erected a tower of limestone masonry, 15 feet
square and about 60 feet high. It is ascended by means of
an iron stair of easy rise. The observatory is surrounded by
a parapet wall covered with a heavy stone coping, and thisg
covered by a bronze plate upon which are inscribed in raised
letters, guide arrows and directions to notable localities on
the field and in the neighborhood. The tower will never
require any repairs save painting of iron work. Cost of the
tower. was about $3,800,

6. Cannon Monument: In front of the railrcad station at
Antietam ~ Station, and within the right-of-way of the
[approach] road [to the National Cemetery], is a monument
composed of eight field guns, set breech down on a block of
granite nearly 3 feet cube. These guns lean against each
other at the muzzle, and are held by a cast-iron plate upon
which is a pyramid of cannonballs. The base of this
monument was donated and set by the Norfolk and Western
Railroad. The guns were of a lot furnished by the Ordnance
Department for marking the field. The structure will never
need any repairs, save painting of iron work. The National
Park Service negotiated in 1942 with the Norfolk and Western
Railroad to acquire the eight ten-pounder Parrotts, but no
evidence uncovered to date documents exactly when
Antietam's staff obtained them. A December 7, 1960, letter to
Antietam's  superintendent from the superintendent at
Gettysburg states "If those guns {the Parrotts] are
considered desirable for use on the field, it would likely be
neécessary to reopen negotiations with the [railroad]
Company.” This implies the Parrotts were not yet at
Antietam. However, two additional facts further confuse the
issue. 1. A Sharpsburg resident who photographed the
cannon  monument in  front of the Sharpsburg station
remembers the monument being dismantled in the late 1940s,
2, On Antietam's museum catalogue records, the date of
acquisition is {isted as August 10, 1933, having been
transferred from the U.S. War Department. This is cbviously
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incorrect. The catalogue record's filing date is May 5, 1961,
so Antietam's staff had acquired the Parrotts by that time.

7. Monuments to organizations: Fourteen or fifteen battle
monuments have been erected by associations or states for
marking positions, etc. Two regimental monuments were
erected several years ago within the National Cemetery;
others stand on ground acquired by purchase, and three of
these plats. have been conveyed to the United States and
titles have been accepted by the Secretary of War. It is
probable that the deeds of the other monument sites will also
he transferred. The area of land donated to the Government
is a littte more than 10.25 gacres. The total area owned is
therefore about 32.50 acres.

8. Field Guns: Besides the pieces used as monuments to
mark the place of death of general officers, there are eight
other field pieces, mounted upon carriages of cast-iron of
same pattern as those used in 1862. These are placed on
commanding artillery positions. The carriages will require
painting from time to time but no other repairs., Cost of the
Gun Monuments and field guns was about $1,500,

When the proposed maps of the field are completed, the

functions of the Antietam Board will have ceased, but the

need of official supervision and care-taking will continue....

Davis then offered suggestions for the care of the battlefield that
will be considered in the following chapter.

Total cost of the physical improvements made on the Antietam
Battlefield he estimated to be about $39,700. Also enclosed was a
sketch upon which the important roads are shown, also monuments,

etc., owned by the Unitéd States and by regimental or other

‘gt g
associations., 2

§7. Donated lands: (1) Hawkins Zouaves Association of New York,
Dec. 21, 1895; deed to U.S., May 17, 1897 for 3,600 sq. ft; (2} 16th
Connecticut Regiment Veteran Association, July 18, 1891, to U.S.,
Sept. 17, 1897, 10 acres; {3} Association of Survivors of 1ith Regt,
Connecticut Veteran Vols., Dec. 26, 1895, to U.S. January 1898, 49.50
square perches. :

92. R.G. 92, Entry 707, File 637, Box 230. Map entitled:

Sketch showing Principal Highways on Antietan Battlefield, areas

colored red owned by the United States, 32 acres, 2 roods 35.47, 2

roods 35.47 perches. To accompany Letter of Major Geo. W. Davis to
the Secretary of War, dated March 18, 1898, 0-110. National Archives
Record Group No. 92, Entry 707, Box 230. File 697.
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lLater, in 1898, a detailed map prepared for the Antietam Board by
the mapmakers of the Gettysburg Battlefield Commission was also .
submitted. This was entitled: . '

Map of the Battlefield of Antietam, Published under the
direction of Daniel S. Llamont and Russell A. Alger,
Secretaries of War, by the Antietam Board, Major Geo. W.
Davis, U.5.A., President; General E. A. Carman, Late Union
Army; Generali H. Heth, Late Confederate Army. Surveyed
and drawn by Col. E., B, Cope, Engineer, and H. W,
Mattern, Ass't, Engineer, bothggf Gettyshurg National Park.
1898. Contour interval = 10 ft,

In 1904 the Chief of Engineers, U.S. Army, published the troop
movement maps for Antietam National Battlefield Site in 14 sheets, A
revised edition was issued in 1908, The title of this map was as
follows:

Atlas of the Battlefield of Antietam (1862), Prepared under
the Direction of the Antietam Battlefield Board... Surveyed
by Lt. Col. E. B, Cope, Engineer. Drawn by Charles H.
Ourand, 1899, Published under direction of the Chief of
Engineers, U.S. Army, 1904.

{Also revised 1908 edition of similar title, Cover, Organization lists,

and plates No. 1 to 14. Size of plates 3u® by 384,39 .
The historical data collected by the Antietam Board from 1881 to

1897 to prepare the troop movement maps can be found as follows:

1. National Archives Record Group No. 92, Office of the
Quartermaster General, Entry 705-Correspondence and
Maps of the Antietam Battiefield Site Board, 1893-1894.

One box containing 25 envelopes, one per State, with
maps, and letters relating to troop positions of regiments
from that State.

2.  National Archives Record Group 94~--Records of the
Adjutant General's Office, The General Erza A. Carman
Papers, three or four boxes of correspondence 1895-97,
consisting of letters sent and received by General
Carman regarding troop positions at Antietam.

93. R.G. 79, Box 2699, File 031.

9. Copies of the 1904 and 1908 editions are in R.G. 77, Officer of

the Chief of Engineers, U.S. Army, Cartographic Division of National

Archives, Alexandria, Va. .
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3. Manuscript Division, Library of Congress, Ezra A.
Carman Papers, in 8 boxes. Seven boxes contain a
manuscript "History of the Maryland Campaign," and
one has notes and maps for this unpublished history.

This work in 1898 ended research on and changes to the text of

with one exception. In

e b F
a3, W2 M2 PR EALE L

battiefietd markers for the next 40 yea
February 1904 General Carman was permitted to make changes to 18
cast-~iron tablets in the interest of improved accuracy, based on
additional historical resear*c:h.95 On March 10, 1906, Carman was also

permitted to make changes in Tablets No. 3 and 6; the cost of these

two alterations was $110.96

5. R.G. 92, Entry 84, Box 14, File 109863. February 15,
1904-Carman proposes making changes to Tablets No. 11, 324, 330, 59,

122, 168, 308, 38, and 42,
96, R.G. 92, Entry 84, File No. 220405. Letter of November 10,

1906.
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CHAPTER IV

THE WAR DEPARTMENT AND ANTIETAM NATIONAL BATTLEFIELD
SITE, 1898-1933

in his report of March 18, 1833, to the secretary of war, Maior

3,
Davis, president of the Antietam Board, noted that the work of the
board would soon be done when the final troop movement maps of the
battle had been compieted, but, he wrote, "the need of official
supervision and care-taking will continue" for the developed
battlefield. He explained:

Road repairs will be continually necessary if these highways
are to be maintained in a serviceable condition. While they
are a great advantage to the community as supplying shorter
and more convenient farm roads, the assumption of a charge
for repairs would probably be declined by the local
authorities, since they feel that a road on public land and
constructed by the United States would alse be kept in repair
at the charge of the public.

As the Antietam Board will soon have no legal existence, and
as no means have been provided for maintaining these roads
under any of the Government Departments, it would seem to
be necessary that steps be now taken to provide for the care
of the public property on the Battlefield.

.... the original appropriation was made under the heading of
nNational Cemeteries," and this appropriation is disbursed
under the supervision of the Quartermaster General. It is
respectfully suggested that this officer be instructed to
exercise a supervision over the public property on the
Antietam Field, and to make provisions for necessary repairs.
Near the center of this historic spot is now located a National
Cemetery, where are buried some 4,700 Union soldiers, This
is connected with the nearest railroad station by a fine wagon
road, 9,300 feet long, that was made in pursuance of taw by
the Quartermaster General at a cost of $30,000. A cemetery
superintendent resides at this place, who is presumed to be
able and competent to take charge of the five miles of
additional highways, the tablets, tower and monuments,

Nearly ail the roads were constructed in 1894-5, and they
have had very little attention since. They now require
somewhat extensive repairs. { have taken pains to make some
enquiries respecting the extent and cost of the work needed,
and would state that for the coming year an expenditure of
about $3,000 in road repairs and general care will be
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needed,, Thereafter an expenditure of $1,000 per annum will
suffice,

Davis's recommendations were approved by the secretary of war;
on March 30 Antietam National Battlefield site was returned to the
control of the quartermaster general and placed under the care of the
quartermaster officer in charge of the Washington Depot. On the same
day Quartermaster General Ludington submitted an estimate to the
secretary of war asking for $3,000 for repairs at the battlefield.2

In an Act approved July 1, 1898, Congress appropriated $3,000:

For repair and preservation of monuments, tablets,
observation tower, roads, and fences and so forth, made and
constructed by the United States upon public land v\gthin the
limits of the Antietam battlefield, near Sharpsburg...

In his annual report to the quartermaster general, Col. James
Moore, assistant quartermaster general, noted that $2,999.65 of the
appropriation had been spent during the fiscal year ending
June 30, 1899.4

In 1898 the quartermaster general asked for an appropriation of
$1,000 for repairs at the battlefield, which Congress voted in an act
approved on March 3, 1899.5 Of this sum, $999.78 was expended
during the fiscal year ending June 30, 1900.6

On April 21, 1900, Major Davis inspected Antietam National
Battlefield Site and reported to the secretary of war:

All {Antietam Battlefield, Harper's Ferry, Crampton's Gap,
and Shepherdstown} are now under the immediate care of the
superintendent of Antietam National Cemetery. That this
work, in addition to his duties at the cemetery, is much more
than the superintendent can properly attend to....

It was "recommended that the superintendent be relieved from all
duties except those relating to the National Cemetery and that the
battlefield be placed wunder the care of a suitable person as
superintendent, to be paid a salary commensurate with the importance
of the post." Congress must make a special appropriation for the

1. R.G. 92, Entry 707, File 697, Box 230.

2. R.G, 92, Entry 84, File 109863, The guartermaster corps had
charge of the battlefield from 1891 to October 15, 1894,

3. U.S, Statutes At Large, Vol, 30, p. 634.

4. Serial No. 3900, p, 214,

5. U.S. Statutes At Large, Vol. 30, p. 1105.

6. Serial No. 4071, p. 301.
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position of battiefield superintendent and Davis suggested that the
person be a soldier who had served in the U.S. Army during the Civil
War, and that the salary be $125 per month or $1,500 per annum.7

in the appropfiation for the 1901 filscal year, approved
June 6, 1900, Congress voted $1,500 for the maintenance of the
battiefield and $1,200 as the salary for the new position of
su;::erin‘cem:lent.8 The following year the salary was increased to
$1,500 per year and continued at this figure until 1929,°

After clearing the cholce with U.S. Senator Louls E. McComas of
Maryland, the secretary of war appointed Charles W, Adams as the
first superintendent of the Antietam National Battlefleld Site on
June 14, 1900, effective from July 130. In the annual report for the
fiscal year ending June 30, 1801, the quartermaster general reported
that $1,499.70 of the total of $1,500 appropriated had been expended

to resurface several of the avenues, to paint tablets, and to repair
11

r

bridges.

In a letter dated November 19, 1903, Superintendent Adams
reported that the four wooden bridges "constructed eight or nine
years ago on Branch, Rodman, and Richardsen Avenues' were in poor
condition and "will have to be replaced at an early date.” He also
noted that the farmers' "tractor engines" were destroying Rodman

Avenuee.12 A total of $2,999.97 was spent on repairs during the fiscal

year ending June 30, 1904.13

7. R.G. 92, Entry 84, File No. 109863-April 21, 1900.

8. U.S. Statutes at Large, Vol. 31, p. 630.

g, ibid., Vol. 31, p. 1172, Alsoc see Appendix No. VIII for annual
appropriations for salary of superintendent of battlefield, 1900 - 1933,
19. R.G. 92, Entry 84, File 1522827. Letter of June 14, 1900. On
May 6, 1901, Adams was notified that his salary was being increased to
$1,500 per annum.

11. Serial No. 4279, pp. 356-357.

12. R.G. 92, Entry 84, File 10986. In a letter dated December 9,
1903, Adams estimated that a stone arch bridge could be built for
about $400.

13. Serial No. 4782, p. 24. Another $1,500 was also spent for
AdamsT salary. R.G., 92, Entry 84, File 109863.
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After advertising, the contracts for constructing stone bridges to
replace two of the four original wood bridges were let during the
summer of 19(]1&.14

In the annual report for the fiscal year ending June 30, 1905, the
quartermaster general reported "Two stone bridges were built to
replace wooden bridges no longer considered safe." Of the total of
$3,000 appropriated for repairs, $1,480.40 was spent on the
construction of the two stone bridges during the 1905 fiscal year.15

Contracts for replacing the two remaining wooden bridges with
stone ones were let during September 1905 and the structures were
completed at a cost of $1,250 by April 6, 1906.15 An additional $15
was spent to repoint the old wing walls of these bridges.” On
August 10, 1906, a heavy storm struck the Antietam National
Battlefield and high water damaged the new bridges. On August 16
civil engineer S. G. Brosius reported to the depot quartermaster that
he had spent an additional $362 on work to the wing walls of the
bridges on Rodman, Branch, and Richardson avenues to prevent them
from being washed out.18

~In 1907 the roads known as Branch, Richardson, and Mansfield
avenues were resurfaced at a cost of :151,188.19
The position of superintendent of the Antietam National Battlefield

Site appears to have had more political attributes than that of the

14, R.G, 92, Entry 84, File 109863, Stone Bridge No. 1, located on
Rodman Avenue, contract awarded to George F. Kiefman & Son for
$727.90. Contract approved September 10, 1904, having been awarded
on August 31, 1904, For stone bridge No. 2, located on Branch
Avenue, contract for $752.50 awarded to William H. Lewis. Contract
dated August 20, 1904,

15. Serial No. 4983, pp. 54-55.

16. R.G. 92, Entry 84, File 220405. Contract for stone bridge on
Rodman Avenue awarded to John T. Clark for $585; stone bridge on
Richardson Avenue awarded for $665. Contracts let on September 9,
1905, and approved on September 27, 1905,

17. R.G. 92, Entry 84, File 220405, Letter of February 6,
1906~-repointing wing walls; Letter of April 6, 1906, completion report
of two bridges.

18. R.G. 92, Entry 84, File 220405--Report of August 16, 1906,

19. R.G. 92, Entry 84, File 220405--Contract in the amount of $1,188
awarded to Samuel S. Stoeffer, dated January 17 and approved on
January 25, 1907,
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superintendent of the Antietam National Cemetery. On May 24, 1905,
it was recommended to the acting secretary of war that "Charles W,
Adams, the present superintendent, unable to take charge of erecting
some 40 Pennsyivania monuments, be discharged at the end of this
month and that Gen. E. A, Carman be made superintendent in his
place," The acting secretary issued the orders for Adams’ discharge,
to be effective May 31, on May 27. Fortunately for Superintendent
Adams, the secretary of war returned to Washington on May 31 and
revoked the discharge of Adams %0 _

On October 15, 1902, John Bemer, a landowner and farmer,
conveyed to the United States a right-of-way leading from the
Burnside Bridge to the McKinley Monument. This deed also inciuded
the land (30 feet square with 900 square feet) on which the monument
itself stood.21 Ohio had erected this monument to the memory of
Commissary Sergeant William B. McKinley of the 23rd Ohio Infantry
Regiment, who later became 25th President of the United States. In
1905, Civil Engineer Owens recommended that the McKinley Monument
be surrounded by a fence and that the approach road to the monument
from the Burnside Bridge be graded. He estimated that the cost of
these improVements -would be about $2_,500.22 The Bemer deed
provided for a 16-foot-wide right-of-way from the bridge to the
monument, which widened to 22 feet about the monument. In October
1906 civil engineer Brosius was sent to Antietam to study and prepare
plans to improve the approach road to and the area about the McKinley
Monument.2> ' ' o

Brosius prepared a plan entitied "Plan of Improvement to the site
of the McKinley Monument and a new road from Burnside Bridge to

Monument Site," A1-23-2, Depot Quartermaster Office, Washington,

20, R.G. 92, Entry 84, File 109863, Letters of May 24, May 27, and
May 31, 1905. Gen. Erza A. Carman, of course, had served as a
trustee on the Antietam National Cemetery Association Board from 1866
to 1877 and as an "historical expert! and member of the War
Department's Antietam Board for Antietam National Battlefield Site from
1895 to 1897. : '

21. Land Record of Washington County. Liber No, 118, folio 14.

22. R.G. 92, Entry 84, File 109863 - Report of July 11, 1905,

23. R.G. 92, Entry 84, File 220405. Engineer Owens had died.
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D.C., dated January 1%7.21; He estimated the cost at $3,000. There
would be a stone wall and iron fence on three sides and a wall 30
inches high on the front or road side. The approach road was to be
graded and surfaced with 6 inches of macadam; there was to be a

stone gutter on one side and both sides of the avenue were 1o be
enclosed by wire ﬁances.25

The contract was awarded to the low bidder for $2,798 on
March 19, 1907.26 This project was completed during the summer of

1507.

Major Davis, former president of the War Department's Antietam
Board, 189%4-98, visited the Antietam Battlefield in June and reported
on the 15th of that month, 1908: '

the original plan contemplated the construction of durable
stone or metal fences on both sides of the roadways, also the
completion of the observatory tower with a suitable tiled roof
or canopy, but the funds alloted were not sufficient. The
fences erected consisted of wire supported by light wooden
posts.... also the roof was omitted from the tower, it being
expected it would be added later. The necessary cementing
of the interior of the tower and the construction of drainage
of rain water from the upper platform was also omitted.

On his recent visit Davis

noticed that these omitted items have never been carried out
and the fence along the roadway is failing. The posts are
rotting off and the wires are being broke by persons climbing
over the fence. The aggregate length of the fence is about
10 miles, and it ought to be renewed with stone or with iron
posts set in concrete and connected with galv iron pipe.
There are many farm gates which are now in bad condition
which should be replaced. The United $iates assumed charge
of fencing the land when it was bought.

Davis believed that about $20,000 would complete the project.
He suggested that a blue glazed tile roof be placed on the tower
to harmonize with the blue limestone walls of the structure. In

24. Blueprint in R.G. 92, Entry 84, File 220405. Copy of plan also
in R.G. 79, War Department Records--Antietam, Box 4, File 688--
1925-~McKinley Monument File.

fg{)? R.G. 92, Entry 84, File 220405. His report dated February 1,
26, Ibid., Contract given to S. Walter Stovffer, dated March 19, 1907,
and approved March 25, 1907. '

27. R.G. 92, Entry 84, File 2204805, June 15, 1908, letter. He also
enclosed the original drawing of the tower.
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commenting on the major's letter, the quartermaster general wrote that
the roof could be placed on the tower during the 1909 fiscal year and
he directed civil engineer Brosius to submit an estimate of the cost of
fencing the Antietam i:nattleﬁeld.28

The engineer submitted his study in October 1908, presenting
data on three types of fencing. One, a stone wall constructed of local
limestone, with coping and wrought iron gates could be built for about
$185,000; a galvanized iron pipe fence with 2 feet of woven wire at
bottom and gates would cost about $32,000; and, a woven wire fence,
La Page American, of equal, on reinforced concrete posts, and with
gates could be erected for about $22,000. Brosius recommended that
the third type of fencing be built,2? |

Congress, however, failed to appropriate the large sum of money
that was necessary to replace the original battlefield fencing. In his
annual report for this fiscal year ending June 30, 19108, the
quartermaster general wrote regarding this subject:

The fences, which are composed of wire strung on wooden
posts, inciosing the 5 miles of roads on the battiefield are in
bad condition, The posts are rotting, and the wire is
rusting and breaking. Substantial fences composed of
galvanized piping supported by iron or concrete posts are
needed. An estimate for $22,000 for this purpose has been
included in the cemeterial branch estimates for the fiscal year
1912, With the, exception of the fences, the battiefield is in

good condition .%0

The money was not provided and in his annual report for the
fiscal year ending June 30, 1911, the quartermaster general again
noted that the battlefield was "in good condition, with the exception of
substantial new fencing which are greatly needed. 3!

One problem resulting from the poor state of the U.S. fencing
was that livestock broke through and wandered about the battlefield,
On April 12, 1912, Superintendent Adams reported that cattle "are

running on the reservation and the avenues are being used by

78, R.G. 92, Entry 84, File 220405, Letter of July 8, 1908,

29. R.G. 92, Entry 84, File 220405, Report dated October 1508. I[n
File 107863, there is a blueprint of a proposed iron bridge, dated
1908. This structure was apparently not built at Antietam.

30. Serial No. 5955, p. 294,

31. Serial No. 6197, p. 303,
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[farmers'] tractor engines regardless of weather conditions,” thus

‘damaging the battlefield roads, 32

On May 15, the superintendent was
instructed to impound the cattie.33 Nineteen more years were to pass
before the War Department received sufficient funds to completely
replace the original fencing with substantial fencing.

The battiefield had n6 office, no comfort station for visitors {with
the resulit that the stone observation tower was utilized as a substitute
for this necessity): no guide or information services were provided for
visitors 1o the battlefield; and the superintendent was completely
a_bsbrbed in repair and maintenance problems. No record of visitors
.wés - kept. The superintendent of the battlefield, unlike the
superintendent of the national cemetery, was not provided with
government housing or fuel allowances. This difference probably
accounts for the battlefield superintendent receiving an annual salary
of $1_,500- cc;mpared with the salary of $900 per year received by the
cemetery superintendent.

o In the annual report for the fiscal year ending June 30, 1910, the
quartermaster general noted that WA road roller and sprinkling wagon
were purchased foer use on the great length of road traversing the
battlefield, and a shed was constructed for their shelter.“w

This structure was erected on the fenced area of national
cemetery land immediately outside of and to the west of the main
cemetery encloéure wall. The location of the new "Road Roller Shed
the battiefieid roads, property lines, monuments, and the observation
tower during this period (1914) are shown in detail on the map
entitled: '

Map of Antietafn Battiefield and the U.S. National Cemetery,
 Antietam, Maryland.: Office of the Deponguartermaster,
U.S. Army, Washington, D.C., Qctober 1914,

“In an inspection report dated December 11, 1911, it was reported:

32. R.G. 92, Entry 84, File 362360. Letter of April 6, 1912, The

cattle were grazing along the battlefield roads. Also letter of April 1,

1912, '

33. lbid. Letters, May 15 and 24, 1912.

. 34, Serial No., 5955, p. 294,

35,  The ‘map is located in National Archives Record Group No. 79,

. -National Park Service Central Classified File 1933-1949, Antietam, Box
2606, File No. 630, C
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Since 1898 numerous tablets, monuments, and about 20 acres
of additional area have been added. Roads constructed in
1894-96 are needing repair, and the necessary work has kept
expenditures on other items to a minimum.

1t was recomrnended that $5,000 be expended in the next seven fiscal

allvy  for road work and in  addition $2,000 for the

rears  annually

maintenance of fenc:ing.36 This plan also failed to pass Congress and
the annual amount appropriated for maintenance of the battlefield
remained at $3,000 from 1903 to 1917.

On June 6, 1912, the depot quartermaster in charge of the
Antietam National Battlefield Site received the stunning news that
Charles W. Adams, the first superintendent of the battlefield, had
been assassinated. John L. Cook, superintendent of Antietam National
Cemetery, wrote on that date: "l have the honor to inform you of the
death of C, W, Adams being shot on roadway about 9:30 o'clock
[a.m.] in a murderous brutal manner by a man [of] the name of
"Benner (Bemer), who later shot himself to death."37

The data in the files of the quartermaster general on the death of
Adams are siight, but he was killed by a young -man by the name of
John Bemer, who shot himself later the same day as the posse closed
in on the murderer. The reasons for the tragedy are thus unknown,
From evidence that emerged over the next 25 years it seems possible
that his death was related, at least in part, to a feud that arose from
the construction of the McKinley Monument. John Bemer, the father of
the young man who was to kili Adams, sold the land for the McKinley
Monument to the state of Ohic. In 1931 a representative of the
quartermaster general's office, after several unsuccessful attempts,
finally obtained an audience with Miss Fannpie Spong, the grand-
daughter of JOhl"ll Bemer, who then owned the property surrounding
the McKinley Monument, He reported:

puring the conversation with her, it developed that the owner
{her grandfather] had never received any money or other
consideration for the land including the right-of~-way to the
[McKinley] Monument; that it was understood they were to
receive the sum of $750 from the State of Ohio, or the
Association sponsoring the McKintey Monument; that these

36. R.G. 92, Entry 84, File 346, 538.
37. Antietam NB, Museum Cat. No, 1842, letters sent, p. 240,
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representatives visited her grandfather with legal transfer
papers, who being illiterate, signed by his mark, which was
witnessed by two of the visitors. The contents of the
papers were unknown to the owner, but were represented as
a transfer of the property in consideration of $750.00. The
money never came...

The hostility generated by this experience was apparently
transferred to the United States Government and its representatives
when the United Statec obtained title to the right-of-way and
monument site on October 15, 1902; this iti feeling exhibited by the
Bemer-Spong families was still in evidence in 1831.

In an earlier report on the McKinley Monument, dated July 30,
1926, C. E. Swift had remarked:

John Benner [or Bemer] sold the right-of-way to the
monument to the United States. His son caused the
Superintendent of the battlefleld [Charles W. Adams] much
trouble from the time work of constructing the road [from the
Burnside Bridge to the Monument] was started [1907]. This
trouble terminated when young Benner Killed the Sg?erln—
tendent, and when about to be captured killed himself,

Local newspaper accounts of the assassination have not been
investigated.“g Cemetery Superintendent Cook served as acting
superintendent of the battlefield until a new custodian could be
appointed.

George H. Graham of Harpers Ferry, West Virginia, applied for
and was appointed by the secretary of war as superintendent of the
Antietam National Battlefield Site in July 1912, Graham reported for
duty on August 5. He had been mustered into the service as a
cérporal in Company E, 144th New York Infantry, on September 27,
iész, for a three-year enlistment. He had served as a second
lieutenant of Company A, 144th New York infantry from May 12, 1864,

until he was honorably discharged on September 12, 185!&.m

38. R.G. 92, Entry 1891, Box 56. Report, May 15, 1931, Col. A. K.
Bashettec, Quartermaster Supply Officer, 3rd Corps. Baitimore, Md,
to QM General.

- 39, R.G. 79, War Department Records, Antietam, Box 4, File
688-McKinley Monument, report of July 30, 1926 to the QM General
40, Due to time factors available for this project.

1. R.G, 92, Entry 84, File No. 371986. (in some of the many
records his name is also given as George W. Graham.)
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Graham served as superintendent from August 1912 untll the end
of March 1913 without Incident, as far as the office of the guarier-
master general was concerned. Then all hell broke loose, as Graham
was charged, with extensive documentation and signed affidavits, of
committing the following acts:

1. Of belng almost continually drunk while on duty for *the iast
seven months,!

2, Of making "very abusive patrols of the Avenues with gun In
hand,” both day and night, and with threatening the lives of
both nelghbors and visitors allke. '

3. Of borrowing money from people in the vicinity and refusing to
repay it. Graham had purchased a horse and wagon in Harpers
Ferry, and when he falled to pay for it, the seller was forced to
take court action, and accompanied by a law offlcer, came to
Antietam from West Virginia and forceably reclaimed the property.

4, Of forcing his seasonal maintenance men to loan him money on
threat of being fired and not repaying them,

5, Of deducting money from his seasonal maintenance men and
putting this cash in his own pocket, also under threat of firing
the men if they complained.

6. Of belng arrested for drunkeness in nearby Keedysville on
April 5, 1813,

7. Of being absent from duty without leave, April 5 to April 9,
1913, )

8. Of allowing his house to catch fire, which resulted in the
destruction of all U.S.-owned battlefield tools. This event took.

42

place on April 11, 1913, A board of survey reported on

§2, In Tetter to Depot Quartermaster, April 11, 1913, Cemetery
Superintendent John L. Cook reported: "This morning at 7:30 fire
was discovered in the house and also the stable of the premises
occupled by Superintendent G. W. Graham in Bloody Lane of the
Antietam National Battlefield. Barn and storehouse together with the
entire contents were destroyed. Material for repairs, cement, lime,
tools, and equipment. The superintendent was away and did not
return from Washington until 2 p.m. He was supposed to have a man

in charge ... but he was not about." The house was saved but
suffered considerable damage, The place was insured and Cook.
estimate the loss at $120, '"Practically ail the government property,

including two new lawn mowers just received, were destroyed." R.G.
92, Entry 84, File 371906,
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September 22 that the value of the tools destroyed in the fire
amounted to $186.77,

9. As if the above charges were not enough, Graham's wife, whom
he bhad left residing in Harpers Ferry, visited his house on
Bloody Lane in 1913 and found him "living in adultery on the
battlefield with a woman from Hagerstown.”"” Moreover, she
charged that when she attempted to enter his residence, her
husband threw her cnut.L|3
The first complaints about Graham were made by R. D. Fisher to

the secretary of war on March 20, 1913, and the charges expanded as

an investigation proceeded. On April 16, as a result of study, the
quartermaster general recommended to the secretary of war:

1. That Mr., Graham be immediately dismissed from the Service.

2, That the Depot Quartermaster be authorized to withhold s0 much
of the pay due Mr. Graham for April 15 as shall be necessary to
reimburse ..., for Government property destroyed in a fire which
occurred through his negligence during this absence without leave
on April 11,

3. That the legal officer should prosecute Graham for falsifying his
pay account. Graham was suspended from duty on May 2, 1913,
effective April 30 and $133.33 of his salary withheld to pay for
property destroyed in the fire. On August 1 the Secretary of
War discharged Graham, to take effect on May 2, 1913.1“'
Meanwhile, like an old soldier, Superintendent Graham counter-

attacked. He wrote letters to his congfessman and senators alleging

that all these charges were made by political enemies--"the old

Adams battlefield gang"--who were out not only to get him, but the

congressman as well. Graham also charged that U.S. Government owed

him some $900; when these latter were analyzed in detail they were
found to include claims for salary for a period prior to when he
assumed office. Graham won a temporary victory when it was decided
that he was covered by Civil Service regulations and was therefore
entitied to a hearing. This study delayed the firing of Graham from

43, R.G. 92, Entry 84, Files 371906--a thick file of documents.
44. R.G. 92, Entry 84, File 371906 and 457776. This latter file is
entirely devoted to the George W. Graham case.
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August 1913 until mid-January 1914, but on the latter date the acting
secretary of war was finally able to officially discharge Superintendent
Graham, effective May 2, 1913.45

Graham was a difficult act to follow and fortunately for the War
Department none of the succeeding superintendents of Antietam
ional Battlefield Site had to be discharged. (See appendix V for
ist of names of the six men who served as superintendent of the
battlefield from 1900 to 1933,)

There were other complaints of a different nature during the
summer of 1913. A Maryland congressman submitted a report to the
secretary of war which stated that weed killer, which had been placed
on the road leading from Burnside Bridge to the McKinley Monument,
had killed two cows and threatened other livestock. On July 3 the
guartermaster general ordered acting superintendent Cook to stop
using weed killer along the battlefield r'oads.mi .

On April 5, 1913, Maryland Senator John W. Smith alerted the
War Department to the possibility that the historic Dunkard Church on
the Antietam Battlefield might be sold. On April 14 the Department
decided that if possible, the church should be acquired as a "historic
shrine" and suggested that the structure be used as an "office for the
superintendent and as a storehouse for tools." On September 17 the
sum of $1,500 was included in the estimates for the 1915 fiscal year to
purchase the church and its Iot.’”

Congress appropriated the requested $1,500 in 1914 but the

48 The money

owners then changed their minds and refused to sell.
then reverted to the U.S. general treasury.

In an act approved on March 4, 1915, Congress authorized the
secretary of war "to accept, on behalf of the United States, the land

which has been donated for the purpose of connecting the monument of

35, R.G. 92, Entry 84, File 457776 - All the Civil Service evidence is
in this file and it is a very thick file.

46, R.G. 92, Entry 84, File 463850, Letters of June 14, 15, and
July 3, 1913. This complaint was apparently also filed by the Bemer
or Benner family.

47, R.G. 92, Entry 84, File 451873,

48, R.G. 92, Entry 84, File 451873--Letter August 12, 1914--refusal
to sell; U.S. Statutes at Large, Vol, 38, Part 1, pp. 630-631.
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the Ninth Regiment of New York Volunteers with the road system of
the battiefield of Antietam."u9

In 1917 there was more action at the McKinley Monument site. In
the 1907 construction of the road leading from the Burnside Bridge to
the McKinley Monument, the United States had constructed a gutter to
carry off the surface water. "A portion of this gutter, about 300 feet
long, extended from the Monument site to a natural ravine into which
it discharges surface drainage of the vicinity of said Monument." On
July 16 a heavy rain storm destroyed McKinley Avenue by washing out
part of the approach road and completely "washing out the cobble
stone gutter on the north side" of the avenue.

In 1918 the owner {the Bemer or Benner Family] of the ravine
and the adjoining land filled in the ravine along the side of
the road so as to throw back the water upon and across the
road. This . . . resulted in washing out the road and
forming a gully along one side of it so as to render the road
practicagld/ useless between said ravine and the Burnside
Bridge.

The approach road to the McKinley Monument was thus knocked
out of action and the avenue remained in an unusable condition until
1931. The government could not repair the road because the owners
refused to open up the ravine.51

The central files of the office of the quartermaster general for
the period 1915 to 1921, the era of World War |, are at the Washington
Nationa! Records Center at Suitland, Maryland. Because these files
have no index and the material has not been filed by geographical
sites, archivists are presently unable to locate any amount of
significant data relating to the history of Antietam National Battlefield

Site or Antietam National Cemetery for the years 1915 to 1921.

849, U.S. Statutes at Large, Vol. 38, pp. 1062, 1077. R.G. 92,
Entry 1891, Box 56, File 293.6, November 10, 1916 also has corres-
pondence granting permission for the erection of a monument for the
104th New York Regiment. Also for a Confederate Monument, letter
dated February 2, 1916.

50. R.G. 79, War Department Records--Antietam, Box No. 4, War
Department to Judge Advocate General, June 18, 1925.

51. R.G. 92, Entry 1891, Box 56, Letter to Quartermaster Supply
Officer, 3rd Corps, Baltimore, to QM General, May 15, 1931,
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During the fiscal years 1922 to 1929 the annual allotment for
repair and maintenance of the battlefield was $5,000, increased from
the previous allotment of $3,000 per year that had been provided from
the 1904 to the 1318 fiscal years.ﬁ2

On May 23, 1921, the Dunkard Church was blown down during a
terrific hail and wind storm. The quartermaster general’s office again
considered purchasing the church site and then reconstructing the
structure. A request for an appropriation of $6,200 for these
purposes was sent to the secretary's office, but "the item was
eliminated by the Budget Officer for the War Department from the
estimates for the fiscal year 1925, in view of the present condition of
the national economy.“53 . ,

Nine years later, in May 1930, the idea of acquiring the Dunkard
Church lot and reconstructing the edifice was again briefly revived,
but nothing ever came of the proposalsq until the Civil War
Centennial.

Battlefield Superintendent Jacob Manath died in June 1925 and his
passing revealed a new problem with regard to filling the position. On
June 30, 1925, Maj. Gen. W. H. Hart, quartermaster general,
wrote to the budget officer of the War Department:

The recent death of the Superintendent of Antietam battlefield
has brought out the fact that there are no fonger any
qualified Union soldiers available for appointment to the
position. In order to provide for this situation, it is
recommended that the language of the estimate, under
“Antietam Battlefield Preservation,” providing for the pay of
the superintendent, read: "the person selected for this
position to be an honorably discharged Union soldier;" be
amended to read "the person selected for this position to have
been either a commissioned officer or enlisted man who has
been honorably mustered out and who may staave been disabled
for active field service in the line of duty,

52. See Appendix No. ViII.

53. R.G. 92, Entry 1891, Office of the Quartermaster General
Correspondence, George Graphic File, 1922-33, Antietam, Box 586,
File 601.1-Dunkard Church.

54. R.G. 92, Entry 1891, Box 57, File 631. Letter of May 15, 1930.
These records, 1922-33, are located at the Washington National Records
Center, Suitland, Md. :

55. R.G. 92, Entry 1891, Box 56, File 11.3 - Letter of June 30, 1825.
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This change in qualifications appeared in the appropriations for
the 1927 fiscal year, which were approved in 1926,5°

On May 3, 1928, Antietam National Battlefield Site underwent its
first offical inspection by the War Department. The inspecting officer,

Maj. Robert C. F. Goetz, reported that George B. Alexander, the
superintendent of the battlefield, was living in Sharpsburg, that his
appointment dated from February 3, 1928, and that he was also acting
as superintendent of the national cemetery until that position, which
had been vacated by death, could be filled. There were 91 monuments
and one observation tower on the field. He also noted that there was
no flagstaff on the battlefield. “"Two temporary frame sheds used for
storage of vehicles and tools are in bad condition., These can be
replaced by structures of concrete block at a reasonable cost.™ As to
the condition of the roads, he reported:

The road from Rodman Avenue to Burnside Bridge is one-half
mile over a poor type gravel and clay dirt county road, in
wet weather almost unuseable, From Burnside Bridge to the
McKinley Monument it is 250 yards over an old badly washed
out road. The superintendent reports the surface water was
deliberately turned over this road for spiteful reasons. The
present owner of the farm on which the McKinley Monument
stands is Mrs. Fanny Sponqg.

There was one mule and one spring wagon. The maintenance
force was composed of one permanent and five temporary laborers for
nine months of the year. The park in general, he concluded, "is in
excellent condition.” He also commented that most of the "highways or
avenues are narrow, some are unimproved, and the road to the
McKinley Monument needs repair."57 |

The quartermaster general, in a letter to the inspector general
dated October 1, 1928, commented on the May inspection report:

An item for the improvement of the approach to the McKinley
Monument has been included in the 1930 estimate and the plan
contemplates a friendly agreement with the adjoining property
owner,

As the road from Rodman Avenue to Burnside Bridge is a
County Road over which the Government has no jurisdiction,
the question of its improvement will be taken up with the
County authorities.

56. U.S, Standards at Large, Vol. 44, Part 11, p. 288. .
57. R.G. 92, Entry 1891, File-inspection report, May 3, 1928. Geotz

wrote that he could find no record of prior inspection of the
battiefield, File 333.1.
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The National Cemetery flies the flag on a 75-foot staff --
additional flag pole on the battlefield is not needed.

A study is being made of the question of widening the
battlefield roads and estimates are already in the process of
preparation,

The Government now has a right-of-way to each monument
situated directly on a highway, and as all of them can be
plainly seen from the roads and tablets giving a history of
each monument are visible, the acquisition of land for
approaches is not considered actively. The States which
erected most of the monuments purchased the plots of
land on wlg&:h they stand and conveyed them to the
Government,

On April 16, 1929, the Washington County Commissioners voted to
turn "the public road leading from the corporate limits of Sharpsburg
west and across the Burnside Bridge and to the Connecticut State
Monmument over to the United States, provided the United States will
maintain the same."

The quartermaster general, however, rejected this offer on
June 10, 1929, writing "There is no existing authority of law for the
taking over of the road by the Government.“59

The civil engineers were studying the road problems at Antietam
during this same period. In a report dated June 1, 1928, they wrote
"The length of the various avenues on Antietam Battlefield is

approximately as follows:

Confederate Avenue 6,468 feet
Cornfield Avenue 2,935 feet
Mansfield Avenue 3,960 feet
Richardson Avenue 6,201 feet
Rodman Avenue 3,168 feet
Branch Avenue 4,668 feet
Total: 27,450 feet or 5.19 miles."so

8. R.G. 92, Entry 1891, Box 56, File 333.1, October 1, 1928. .

59, R.G. 92, Entry 1891, Bex 57, File 611. April 16, 1929. QMG to
Hon. F. N. Zihlmer, U.S House of Representatives, June 10, 1929.
60. !bid., File 611~Roads. June 1, 1928, Also in file "Section of the
Roadway. Antjetam Battlefield, Office of the Quartermaster Supply
Officer, Washington, D.C., September 11, 1928." Scale 1" equals 50',
Blueprint.
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Detalled estimates were also submitted on October 27, 1929, as
follows:

Grading--18,300 cu, yds @ $1,00 $ 18,300
Drains heads & bridges 9,000
12,200 sq. yds, shoulders @ 2,50 ' 30,500
Shaping up sub grade, 48,000 sq. yd. @ 10¢ 4,880
6,000 tons 13" limestone in place @ 3,00 18,000
500 tons 5/8" llmestone @ 3,00 1,500
14 gal. tarvia per sq. yd. for building new base
stone, 54,900 gals @ 18¢ 5,882
36,000 sq., yards Amlesite 13" at 1.50 54,900
' $146,962
For supervision, etc. | 3,000
" Total: $149,962°%"

In the appropriations for the 1932 fiscal year, passed in 1931,
Congress provided $150,000 "for reconstruction of roads" on the
Antietam Battlefield.62

Specifications for the reconstruction of the avenues, 11 pages,
were drafted by the quartermaster, Headquarters, 3rd Corps Area,
Baltimore, and completed on March 2, 1931, The revised and final
edition was dated March 31. Blue print plans for the work were dated
April 17. After advertising, the contract in the amount of $89,000.00
was awarded to the low bidder, the Ameria Paving and Contract
Company of Baltimore, on March 30.63

61. R.G. 92, Entry 1891, Box 57, File 611 - 1929,

62. U.S, Statutes at Large, Vol. 46, Park |, p. 1075,

63. Specifications for the Reconstruction of the Avenues on the
Antietam Battlefield, Sharpsburg, Md., March 2, 1931, Hdgqrs. 3rd
Corps Area, U.S5, Army, Office of the Quartermaster, Baltimore, Md.
11 pp. — R.G. 92, Entry 1891, Box 57, File 611. Also copy in R.G,
79 -~ War Dept. Records, Antietam, Box 6 -- File 4. Speclfications
for  reconstruction of Avenues on the Antietam Battlefield,
March 31, 1931. Revisions of specifications, R.G. 92, Entry 1891,
Box 56, File 611. Reconstruction of Avenues, Antletam Battlefield,
Sharpsburg, Md., Office of the Quartermaster, Hdqrs. 3rd Corps
Area, Baltimore, Md., April 17, 1931. R.G. 79, War Department

Records, Antietam, Box 6, Flle 4, May 11 - Contract W-53-QM-130, .

March 30, 1931, with the Ameria. Paving and Contract Company, Inc.
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Two change orders and other extra work added $5,823.61 to the
original contract, so that the company received $94,823,61 for its work
on the battlefield roads, which were completed In the fall of 1931. On
September 21, Engineer Warren Adams provided Capt. F. E. Davis,
quartermaster of the depot of Baltimore, with the following progress
report on the recenstruction of the roads:

Percent Completed

Curbs and retaining walls 100
Macadam 100
Bridges 98
Culverts and catch basins 98
Amiesite 100
Shoulder and back filling 80
Top soil and seeding 70
Guttering 8064
Cleaning up 50

A determined effort was also made to rebuild the approach road
leading from the Burnside Bridge to the McKinley Monument, which
had been out of use since 1918. Col. A. K. Bashettec, as has been
mentioned, was able to gain the first audience by a War Department
official with Miss Fannie Spong, the owner of the farm property about
the McKinley Monument. From her he learned how the builders of the
McKinley Monument had failed to pay her grandfather the $750 that
had been agreed upon for the right-of-way to and from the lot on
which the monument stood.

On May 15, 1931, Bashettec wrote the quartermaster general: "In
view of the foregoing, it can be readily seen that Miss Spong is
reluctant to enter into new negotiations.” He suggested that perhaps
the matter could be solved by leasing in perpetuity the necéssary land
in consideration of from $200 to $500. This idea was rejected
when the legal officer informed the quartermaster general "that this is

{footnote 63 continued} Baltimore, Md., accepted and approved by the
QMG, May 11, 1931, $89,000. Change Order A, May 15, 1931,
Change Order C, August 19, 1931. R.G. 92, Entry 1891, Box 56, File
611. Contract W-53-QM-130-dated March 30, 193t - Aug. 28, 1931 to
Sept. 12, 1931, The Ameria Paving and Contract Co. Inc. Balt., Md.,
$94,823.61 in R.G. 79, War Dept. Records, Box 6, Antietam. This
amount paid for extra work done plus original $89,000 contract.

64. R.G. 79, War Dept. Records-Antietam, Box 7, File 3.
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not -possible to do by iease."65

On May 27, Lieutenant Colonel Mortimer, the quartermaster supply
officer in command of the Washington Depot, visited Antietam
Battlefield and reported to the quartermaster general, "it is impossible
to build an adequate road to the McKinley Monument -- it is too
narrow and there is no room to turn ar‘ound.“66

This led to a rethinking of the probiem and on October 13, 1931,
Colonel Bashettec advised the quartermaster general:

The plans for the reconstruction of the road to the McKinley
Monument were changed to provide for the construction of a
concrete walk instead of a road as at first contemplated. The
estimated cost of the walk is $2,800 {against $7,500 as the
estimated cost of the road] and the progress is about 30%
complete and it will be done by November 15, The change
from the road to a walk was made after investigat&gn and it
was found that a2 walk would be much more suitable.

Completed in 1931, the approximate cost of the walkway to the
McKinley Monument was $2,800.

Specifications for the construction of rubble walls on the avenues
and a road on the Antietam Battlefield were completed on March 18,
1932, These called for construction of 883 linear feet of 18-inch and
300 linear feet of 2H-inch rubblestone wali in 15 sections. This
contract was awarded to the low bidder, Poffinberger and Mause, on
April 13 for $1,746.18.%8

65. R.G. 92, Entry 1891, Box 56, May 15, 1931. Also proposed road,
see blueprint-Road to McKinley Monument, Antietam Battiefield, Office
of the Quartermaster, Hdgrs., 3rd Corps Area, Baltimore, May 12,
1931, Scale 1 inch = 20 feet. Blueprint. R.G. 92, Entry 1891, Box
56, File 611. Also copy in R.G. 79, War Dept. Records - Antie-tam,
Box 6, Fite &, May 15, 1931-QMSO to QMG: Proposes to improve
roadway in the 16 feet right-of-way between the Burnside Bridge and
McKinley Monument,

66. R.G. 92, Entry 1891, Box 56, File 611,

67. lbid,

68. Specifications for construction of rubble walls on the avenues and
roads in Antietam Battlefield, Sharpsburg, Md., March 18, 1932,
hqrs., 3rd Corps Area, Office of Quartermaster, Baltimore, Md., 7
pp., R.G. 92, Entry 1891, Box 57, File 824.1,

Also copy of specifications in R.G. 79, War Dept. Records-Antietam,
Box 6, File 6. 883 linear feet of 18 inch and 300 linear feet of 24 inch
rubblestone in 15 sections. Contract No. W 53-QM-211, Poffinberger
& Mause -~ dated April 13, 1932, for construction of rubble stone
retaining and guard walls around avenues and roads at Antietam
Battlefield. R.G. 92, Entry 1891, Box 57, File 654. Data also in File
6, R.G., 79, War Department Records -- Antietam, Box 6.
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. The contract for furnishing and erecting 41 woven wire steel
gates and their steel frames on the Antietam Battlefield was awarded to

the low bidder, the Pittsburgh Steel Company, on May 27, 1932, for the
sum of $1,323.26.%°

These improvements on the roads, 1931-32, totalled $100,693.05;

1
ds: & 94 R23.61

Reconstruciing five miies of roa

Constructing sidewalk to McKinley

Monument 2,800.00
Building Rubblestone retaining walls 1,746.18
Erecting 41 steel entrance gates 1,323.26

Total: 1931-32: $ 100,693.05

The balance of the $150,000 appropriation, namely $49,306.95, was
apparently used to erect 10 miles of new fencing along the 5 miles of

new battlefield roads.
Battiefield Superintendent Alexander described this work:

The avenues were rebuilt in 1931. Since then we have made
6,000 concrete posts, put in above 15 miles of wire fences,

. built walks, painted tablets, dug a 350 foot well [in the
National Cemetery], buiit a large pump house, copied all the
inscriptions on tablet markers and [91] monuments 1y the
field, and have put up new gates over the entire field,

As of February 15, 1933, only $628.67 of the $150,000 allotted for

reconstruction of the battiefield roads had not been spent.?1

€9 " Contract W 53-QM-216~with Pittsburgh Steel Company for
furnishing and installing woven wire steel fencing. Furnishing and
installing steel frame gates at Antietam. Dated May 27, 1932. R.G.
92, Entry 1891, Box 57, File 654. Paid $1,323.26 for furnishing and
installing 41 woven wire steel frame gates at Antietam Battlefield.
R.G. 79, War Department, Antletam, Box 4. Blue Prints for entrance
ates - Antletam Battlefield center gate, [1932] hdgrs., 3rd Corps
rea, quartermaster, Baltimore, Md, Two blue prints, 4118-4 and
4118-5. For contract for bullding steel gates with Pittsburgh Steel
Co. R. G. 79-War Dept. Records-Antietam, Box 4.
70. R.G. 79, Box 2601, File 20106. Alexander to Director, National
Park Service, August 18, 1933, _
71. R.G. 79 - War Department Records - Antletam. Box 4, File 688,
On April 27, 1932, the balance amounted to $2,620.35.
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Under the National Recovery Act, Antietam National Cemetery was
alloted $12,500 for converting the old lodge into a comfort station and

72 This latter sum was

$6,000 for erecting a tool house and garage,
used to erect a new warehouse on the enclosed cemetery lot to the
west of and outside of the main wall of the National Cemetery, for the
use of Antietam National Battlefield operations.

In his annual report for the fiscal year ending June 30, 1932,
Quartermaster Colonel Baskettec reported the following progress in
work on the Antietam Battlefield:

"The Battlefield warehouse had asbestos shingle roof put on and
concrete floor" laid, Also "a water line was connected to the [new]
National Cemetery well and is being used at the Battlefield Warehouse."
Of the reconstruction of the roads and their fencing he wrote: “Five
miles of Avenues were rebuilt" and "12 miles of new Page iron farm
fence and concrete posts were erected.“?3

On June 19, 1932, The Baltimore Sun carried an article on the

improvements made at the Antietam Battlefield. It read:

Work of beautifying the Antietam Battlefield has been
completed. Approximately $160,000 was spent in the building
of new fencing, rebuilding roads, painting and renovating by
a large force under the supervision of George B. Alexander,
Supt. Five %Ies of road and 12 miles of fencing have been
repointed....

In the third biannual inspection of the battlefield, on August §,
1932, the inspector found the park to be in excellent condition except
that the "road leading out to and beyond Mansfield Monument needs

72. R.G. 79 ~- War Dept. Records -- Antietam, Box 5, File 2.

73. R.G. 79 -- War Dept. Records, Box 4 and also in R.G. 92, Entry
1891, Box 56, File 319.1. He also reported that a total of $7,680 had
been expended on the routine upkeep of the battlefield during the past
fiscal year. Baskettec was in charge of the depot, 3rd Corps Area,
Baltimore. Also see R.G, 79, War Dept. Records, Box 7, for data on
construction of connecting water pipe fine. This work done by H, R.
Wagner, cost, about $384.18. Also bids were issued for furnishing
and installing one 10,000 galion capacity steel water tank and tower on
the Antietam Battlefield, but just west of National Cemetery. Contract
for 80 foot tall tower awarded to Wm. H. Jackson for $3,150 September
12, 1931, but all bids and contracts rejected September 14, 1931, and
tower never erected. Specifications, 6 pp. dated Aug. 1, 1933,

74.  Clipping in R.G. 79, War Dept. Records, Box 4,
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rebuilding.” In commenting on this recommendation, the quartermaster
at Baltimore noted that "This is Smoketown Road and not owned by the
United States."75 :

Also completed on June 9, 1932, was a "fist of Monuments,

Markers, and Tablets on the Antietam National Battlefield,” which gave
76

I g

the jocation and text of 91 monuments and the cast iron tablets.

The War Department was aware that Antietam National Battlefield
site lacked a park office, public comfort station, and quarters for the
superintendent. On November 17, 1931, Colonel Baskettec submitted
plans totalling $63,450 to correct these defects to the quartermaster
general for inclusion in the estimates for the 1933 fiscal year. The
improvements proposed were: ' '

1. Construction of a combined Superintendent's lodge,

office, public comfort station, to be built of native

{imestone, including heating plant, well, septic

tank, and other necessary utilities $22,000

This two-story house, with full basement and three
bedrooms, was to be on the New York Monument Lot,

(The National Park Service was to erect the Park
Visitor Center on this Jot about 30 years later!)77For
plans of building and location, see footnote below.

2. Building road from the Hagerstown Pike up to and
around the New York Monument and connecting to lodge
and new office--3,000 sq. yards $7,500.00

5 R.G. 79, War Dept. Records, Box 4 - File 688. The second
inspection had been made on August 8, 1930, and the first May 3,
1928.

76. Copies of this list are to be found in R.G. 79, War Dept.
Records, Boxes No. # and 5. R.G. 92, Entry 1891, Box 57, File
619.3 has data on the monuments from 1928 to 1933. The size of the
cast iron battlefield tablets was 35" by 47".

77. Proposed Lodge and Office, Antietam Battlefield, Maryfand, Office
of Quartermaster, Headquarters 3rd Corps, Baltimore, Md.,
November 2, 1931. Blueprint. Scale 1/8" = 1'/Elevations; floor plans
of basement, first and 2nd floors. Three bedrooms on 2nd floor. Two
rooms for park office on Ist floor. “New York Plot on Antietam
Battlefield Showing Proposed Location of Lodge and New Roads.,"
Office of the Quartermaster, Headquarters 3rd Corps Area, Baltimore,
Md. Scale 1' = 40', Contour interval = 5'. October 30, 1931 Blueprint
in R.G. 92, Entry 1891, Box 57, File No. 687, National Archives,
Suitland, Md.
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3. Relocate entrance gate to new lodge and office 650.00

4. Planting of shrubs and trees along driveway and

around new lodge and office 600.00
Subtotal for construction new lodge and site
development $30,750.00
5. Rebuilt base of New Jersey Monument 600.00
6. Cleaning battlefield monuments 3,000.00
7. Repointing observation tower 600.00
8. Painting Battlefieid Tablets | | 500.00
9. Caulking floors of New York, Indiana, and Maryland
monuments 500,00
10, Planting trees and shrubs along five mites of road 7,500,00
11. Improvement of the Smoketown Road, including
grading, paving, and fencing 20,000.00
Grand Total: $63,450.00?8

Congress, however, failed to appropriate the requested funds and
thus the War Department was unable to carry out its extensive plans
for improvements.

Improvements made to the Antietam battiefield during the 1933
fiscal year were thus minor and in his annual report for that year,
Colonel Baskettec reported that they consisted of adding 240 feet of
iron picket fence and 840 yards of page wire fence with concrete posts
to the existing fencing systerﬁ. 3

With the submission of annual reports, requests w'ere made for
providing data on the number of visitors, On April 30, 1931, Super-
intendent Alexander respbnded to the first such request, writing

78, R,G, 82, Entry 1891, Box 57, File 687, Letter dated November 17, .
1931.  Another copy of same letter in R.G., 79, War Dept. Records -
Antletam, Box No, 4.

79. R.G. 92, Entry 1891, Box 56, File 319.1. He also noted that a
total of $6,057.00 has been expended on the general upkeep of the
park during the 1933 fiscal year. The following plan was also
prepared in June 1933--"Philadelphia Brigade Piot, Antietam Battlefleld,
Sharpsburg, Md.," Office-of Quartermaster, Hdgrs. 3rd Corps Area,
Baltimore. June 1933, Scale 1" = 40' In R.G. 92, Entry 1891, Box 57,
File 688. |
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to the quartermaster at Baltimore: "l beg to advise that we have no
way to tell the number of visitors that come to Antietam Battlefield.
We do not have a register and the visitors have free access on the
field. We have no guides." A figure was nevertheless provided—-
400-500 visitors during 1930. On November 3, 1931, it was estimated
by the aquartermaster during the period January 1 to October 31, 1931,
that 400,000 people had visited the Antietam battiefield while 481,000
had visited the Gettysburg Battiefield during the same pemod

[t was estimated that 200,000 people visited Antietam Battiefield
during the fiscal year ending June 30, 1932, and 250,000 during the
year ending June 30, 1933.81 These were pure guesses and had no
evidence to support them.

As a result of a governmental reorganization, Antietam National
Battlefield Site and Antietam National Cemetery were transferred by an
executive order signed by President Frankiin D. Roosevelt from the
War Department to the National Park Service of the U.S. Department of
the Interior on August 10, 1933.82 On August 12 Acting Director
A. E. Demaray wrote to Superintendent Alexander and instructed him
to take charge of the battlefield, Antietam National Cemetery, and Fort
Necessity, Pennsylvania, on behalf of the National Park S(-:r‘\arice.83

Alexander had served as a private in the First Maryland Infantry
during the Spanish-American War and as a superintendent of the
Antietam battlefield since February 3, 1928. Unlike the superintendent
of the Antietam National Cemetery, who wished to be transferred to a
War Department-~operated national cemetery, Alexander was interested
in working for the National Park Service as superintendent of the
Antietan Battlefield and on August 18, 1933, wrote a letter to the
director of the Park Service applying for a permanent appointment
effective October 1, 1933. Despite strong letters of recommendation of

80. R.G. 79, War Dept. Records, Box 7, File 688. Letters of April
30, May 5, and November 3, 1931.

81. R.G. 92, Entry 1891, Box 56, File 319.1.

82. Executive Order No. 6166, dated June 10, 1933, and QOrder No.
6226, dated July 23, 1933. War Department correspondence regarding
the transfer of Antietam is in R.G. 92, Entry 1891, Box 57, File 688,
83. R.G. 92, Entry 79, Box 2601, File 201.06.
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the quartermaster general and Colonel Mortimer, the quartermaster In
command of the Washington Depot, Director Arnoc C. Cammerer
discharged Alexander on September 23, to be effective September 30,
1933, The files contaln no evidence to indicate why Alexander was not
reappointed to his position, as was the case with the superintendent of
Antletam Natlonal Cemetery.su Political considerations may have
possibly been a factor. In any event, former soldiers who had served
in the U.S. Army had lost the position on the Antietam battlefield.

From 1890 to 1933 Congress appropriated and the War Department
spent approximately $416,061.20 on Antietam National Battlefield Site as
follows:

For research and development, 1890-1898: $ 78,031.00
For repair and preservation, 1898-1933: 135,530.20
For salary of superintendents, 1900-1933: 52,500.00
For reconstruction of roads, 1931-1932: 150,000,00
Total, Antietam National Battlefield, 1890-1933; $416,061.20

During the vyears 1865 to 1933 approximately $282,103.37 was
expended on the establishment, repair, and maintenance of Antietam
National Cemetery:

For . establishment, construction and maintenance
of cemetery, 1865-June 7, 1877, including
expenditures by Cemetery Association and United

States $133,462.38
Salaries of U.S. superintendents, 1877-1933 54,400.00
Repair and maintenance, U.S. 1877-1933 65,773.1%
Construction of approach road, 1889-1891 30,000.00
Total, Antietam National Cemetery, 1865-1933 $283,635.54

Total expenditures on the battlefield and cemetery from 1865 to
1933 amounted to $699,696.74.

84, R.G. 92, Entry 79, Box 2601, File 201.06,
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CHAPTER V

THE NATIONAL PARK SERVICE AND ANTIETAM NATIONAL
BATTLEFIELD SITE, 1933-1942

1, THE TRANSFER FROM THE WAR DEPARTMENT TO THE INTERIOR
DEPARTMENT,1924-1933

The idea of transferring historical parks and monuments then
under the administration of the War Department to the National Park
Service of the Interior Department was endorsed by Secretary of War
John W. Weeks and presented in hearings held before the Joint
Committee on the Reorganization of the Administrative Branch of the
government on January 11, 1924. Subsequent secretaries of war and

interior supported the reorganization in 1928 to 1929.1 on
January 31, 1929, a hearing was neld before the House of
Representatives' Committee on Military Affairs. Most of the members of
this committee were hostile to the proposed transfer because they were
skeptical of the capacity of the National Park Service, which had been
organized in 1916, to properly maintain these important historical
properties. One member opposed the transfer because the Park
Service would fill the military parks, where men had died, with "hot
dog star\ds.“2 Another remarked %l certainly would oppose any
proposition to turn battlefields over to the Department of the Interior,
who do not know what they are or what they rnean."3 When it was
mentioned that "The national parks are the Nation's playgrounds,? one
Congressman shot back "you do not want the Gettysburg Park to be a
playground, do you." The Assistant Secretary of . War Robbins
responded "No; | say, we would not want these battlefields made
playgrounds.” Another person asked: "Would not they be so under
the Department of Interior, if they followed their usual po[icy?“u

T "Hearings  Before the Committee Military Affairs, House of
Reprosentatives, oeventieth Congress, Second Session on S5.4173 -
Transfer of National Military Parks, January 31, 1929 {Washington,
D.C., 1929}, p. 3. :

2. 1bid., p. 5.

3. ibid., p. 10.
4. 1bid., p. 13.
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The newly appointed NPS Director, Horace M. Albright, replied to

the questions, responding in part:5 .
' Gentlemen, and Mrs. Kahn, our function is not to develop

these areas so as to impair in any way their natural qualities,

but to preserve them absolutely intact for future genera-

tions. . . .

Our main function is to preserve areas of historic, scientific,
and scenic importance for all time.

We do no developing whatever. The only improvements we
make are on our roads and trails, which are necessary to
make the parks accessible, and in some of the bigger parks,
such as the Yellowstone, the Yosemite, and the Glacier,
where it is necessary to house people, we do grant franchises
under which hotels may be built. But at no place do we
grant permits of any kind unless it is necessary to house and
take care of visitors.

One of the gentlemen mentioned hot dog stands, and things
like that, Those are the things that we are more opposed to
than anything else in the world, and we do not permit them
at all in the national parks.

We have a department known as our landscape and
architecture department, presided over by a skilled landscape
man who passes on every structure in the parks, and those
structures must harmonize with the surroundings, using the
native materials, so that there is perfect harmony between the
building and the surroundings.

We do make some historic improvements., We have, for
instance, an ancient church in Arizona, and are opening one
of the very earliest missions in the Southwest. We have
repaired it and kept it up.

Then we have the cliff dwellings., The Mesa Verde Park
contains the greatest number of the very finest of cliff
dwellings. They are very precious things, because they
could very easily be destroyed in the summer unless they are
property protected by skilled men. We take care of all those
things.

We have a great many national monuments that contain areas
of historic importance, some of them of the same kind

5. Horace M. Albright had helped Stephen T. Mather, who would be
the first.director of the National Park Service, get the law passed,
approved August 25, 1916, which authorized the establishment of the
National Park Service. He served under Mather as assistant director
and became the second director on January 12, 1929, ' .
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that are now under the War Department. The function of the
Park Service is absolutely 100 per cent conservation.

{f | may draw a parallel between the situation in the War
Department and the Interior Department, the War Depart-
ment--and 1 say it with all respect, and the Assistant
Secretary will know | have nothing in the world but respect
for the War Department--the War Depariment is in ihe sanie
situation today with reference to the protection of these
historic parks and monuments that we were in 1915.

There is no division in the War Department charged with the
care of these monuments and parks. All the officers are
detailed as they are in Washington to take care of them, and
as | understand it there is only one permanent employee in
Washington assigned to the National Park activities of the War
Department. - 1f you gentlemen were to ask for information in
regard to these parks you would find that there is nothing
out about them at ali; there is no available data.

Whereas, we have a little book on national monuments. We
have a book of information on every one of the national .
parks. There is no literature at all on the national military
parks.

Then we have gotten out this portfolio, which most of the
members are familiar with. It is sold by the Superintendent
of Documents for $1, and many thousands of copies are sold
every year.

MR. JAMES. The part | am particularly interested in is to
know if you think that the national military parks as they are
being administered today by the War Department are being
inefficiently administered, and if so, what can you do to
improve that administration?

MR. ALBRIGHT. 1 do not think it is inefficient, but 1 do
pbelieve we can improve it, because we are constantly in
contact with the public and we are interested in developing
the inspirational and educational features of those areas.

MR. JAMES. What would =~ you do, for instance, at
Gettysburg, to make it better than it is now?

MR. ALBRIGHT, we would get out official Covernment
publications In regard to Iit, In collaboration with the officers
of the War Department, We would have our men in the

T, This was Glimpses_of Qur National Parks, prepared by Robert
Sterling Yard, an [llustrated handbook Intended for mass distribution,
first published in 1915 with donated funds; and after 1923, with funds

provided hy Congress through the U.S. Government Printing Office,
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developed specialists in preservation.
statement, asking of Assistant Secretary of War Robbins: "What

uniform of the National Park Service so that persons traveling
from East to West would realize that they would get the same
service in Gettysburg as they would get out in one of the big
western areas,

We would develop the educational features. We have a publi-
cation which does nothing but seek to interpret these parks
and to develop and build up libraries in regard to these
areas.

We are getting out lectures in popular form. We would have
pictures and lectures written around these pictures, which we
could send out around the country to schools. We are doing
that in connection with the national parks now. You can get
lantern-slide collections on the national parks.

We will administer these parks not more efficiently in so far
as actual protection is concerned, because that has been
perfect, but we will administer them so as to make them mean
more to the people of the country,

In a letter to the committee signed I::y7 Secretary of the Interior
West, Albright had written that the Department of the Interior had
Chairman James challenged this

specialists?!

MR. ROBBINS. | do not know, sir. | think the Department
of the Interior would be better prepared to answer that
question.

MR. JAMES. | would be glad to have them answer it.

MR. ALBRIGHT. Speaking of specialists, Mr. Chairman, |
take it that the Secretary was merely referring to men in the
Department of the Interior, or the National Park Service,
who are trained, and have been trained over a good many
years in protecting great scenic areas of the West, such as
the historical areas that are under our administration now.
We are only specialists to the extent that has been our life
work.

MR. JAMES. Take, for instance, the Gettysburg park.

- What kind of men have you developed who would take care of

Gettysburg park in any different way from that in which the
men who are there now are taking care of it?

MR. ALBRIGHT. | am not familiar with the men who are
there now.

The point is not that the men in charge of these parks are
not all right. Perhaps they are; we do not know that they
are not,

ibid., pp, 17-19,
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The National Park Service here in Washington has a group of
men, both here and in the field, who are taking care every
day of a great many more areas and much larger areas than
these are, and we are training men for the specific purpose
of taking care of Government reservations of this kind, where
protection is the fundamental duty. :

Of course, we would expect to take over all the men engaged
in thjs work of protecting these monuments at the present
time.

Here the National Park Service was on much weaker ground. The
Service héd no historical architects or historians in its employment; its
few landscape architects, naturalists, and archeologists had no
training, experience, or interest in historical research, history, or the
preservation of historical structures or scenes. The National Park
Service did not employ its first chief historian, Verne E, Chatelain,
until September 1931 and he ran a one-man office until 1933.

Chairman James then launched what proved to be the final attack

during the 1929 hearing:

MR. JAMES. | am perfectly willing to admit that the national
parks are well administered. But 1 am still waiting to have
you tell us some reason why these parks should be
transferred to your service.

MR. ALBRIGHT. Unless you have actually come in contact
with our educational activities--I might say that through the
courtesy and assistance of the Rockefeller Foundation we are
having established in the national parks very extensive
museums. In connection with that, we have our trained
guides and lecturers, who interpret the parks and explain the
history of them,

In the Yellowstone Park there is a museum built at a cost of
around $100,000, which contains all the records in regard to
that park and the story of the pioneers, with a portrayal of
the natural features of the park. That would come along with
the passing of these areas. -

We have at the present time the cooperation of the local
people in bringing in the traditions of the country, not alone
from a military standpoint, but f the early pioneers and of
the Indians in the neighborhood. '

In his statement to the committee, Director Albright pledged that
the National Park Service would maintain the battlefields and

g, Tbid., p. 6-7.
9. lbid., p. 21.
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monuments at the excellent level that had been achieved by the War
Department and that the Service would also improve operations by
introducing and providing "education" activities and facilities, now
cailed interpretive functions, for the visitors at these sites—-services
that the War Department had made no effort to provide, except in the
form of historical markers, tablets, and monuments carrying historical
texts relating to the events that had taken place at the parks. The
National Park Service's educational or interpretive activities would
include museums, guided tours, lectures, leaflets, and booklets, which
“would interpret the parks and explain the history of them" to park
visitors,

~ Congress did not pass any bill transferring the historical areas
from the War to the Interior Department in 1929 and there the matter
rested until August 10, 1933, when President Roosevelt, by executive
order, transferred 48 historical areas from the War Department to the
National Park Service of the U.S. Department of the Interior. These
included eteven national military parks, two national parks, ten
battlefield sites, ten national monuments, four miscellaneous memorials,
and eleven national cemeteries. Antietam National Battefield Site and
Antietam National Cemetery were among the 48 areas thus transferred
in 1933.

The National Park Service, and Chief Historian Chatelain and his
hastily formed staff in particular, was thus confronted in mid~August
with the problems of quickly formulating and implementing policies for
the preservation, maintenance, and interpretation of a large number of
historical properties. Experience in these matters was in short
supply. :

2. COORDINATING SUPERINTENDENTS AND REGIONAL OFFICE
ADMINISTRATION OF ANTIETAM, 1933~1982

Under the agreement with the War Department, the two
superintendents at Antietam, George B, Alexander at the national
battlefleld, and Clarence L. Nett at the national cemetery, were to
retain their positions from August 10 to September 30, 1933. On
October 1 the National Park Service could elther reappoint the men as
superintendents or discharge them, The Service chose to reappoint
Nett as the sbperlntendent of the national cemetery and to let
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Alexander go. John K. Beckenbaugh was appointed superintendent of
Antietam National Battlefield Site on October 10, 1933, He had been
born in Hagerstown, Maryland, on January 14, 1874, mustered in as a
captain in the Maryland National Guard on July 5, 1916, and mustered
out on October 25, 1916, Although appointed on October 10, 1933,

Beckenbaugh was not able to report for duty at Antiatam until
January 10, 1934, During this interval, Superintendent Nett of the
cemetery also served as acting superintendent of the battlefield.
Beckenbaugh served as the superintendent of the Antietam battlefield
from 1934 until his death on October 5, 1940, at the age of 66.'°

As under the War Department, the battlefield and cemetery
continued to be operated from 1933 to 1942 as two separate,
independent, and equal entities in the Nationa! Park Service.

On October 5, 1933, Superintendent James R. McConaghie of
Gettysburg National Miiitary Park was made coordinating superin-
tendent of both the Antietam National Battlefield Site and the
cemetery. His larger staff included professional historians who gave
advice and clerks who did most of the administrative and payroll work
of the Antietam sites.rI This supervision by the Gettysburg staff
continued from October 5, 1933, to December 16, 1935, "when ali
administrative matters pertaining to Antietam National Battlefield and
Antietam National Cemetery will be centered in your {Beckenbaugh's]
ofﬁce.“12 During the period August 1, 1937, to October 3, 194G, the
Antietam superintendents reported to the regional director in the
regional office at Richmond, Va., and the director in Washington,
without going through a coordinating superintendent. Foliowing the

death of Beckenbaugh, the Antietam areas were once again

16, R.G. 79, Box 2601, File 201.06--data on appointment of super-
intendents, also information on Beckenbaugh. Monthly report for
October 1940 aiso has data on his birth, family, etc. On Qctober 5,
1933, Nett was made acting superintendent of the battlefield and also

Fort Necessity, Pa. File 0-31.
11. R.G. 79, Box 2601, File 201,06. McConaghee made his first

official inspection of Antietam on October 10, 1934, for report see

R.G. 79, Box 2699, File 0-31--Part i, dated October 20, 1933.
12. R.G. 79, Box 2601, File 201--Director Arno B. Cammerer to
Supt. Beckenbaugh, December 11, 1935.
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placed under the coordinating superintendence of McConaghie and Assistant
Superintendent S. G. Solleberger of Gettysburg Natlonal Military .
Park.l?' Beginning November 1940, Dr. J., Walter Coleman, who had
replaced McConaghle as superintendent of Gettysburg, also served as
the coordinating superintendent of the Antietam sites. Dr. Coleman
and his Gettysburg staff continued to oversee operations at the
Antietam battlefield and cemetery from October 1940 until July 1, 1953,
when Antietam National Battlefield Site and the national cemetery for a
second time emerged independent, with Superintendent Harry W.
Doust in charge of both the battlefield and cemetery.w
On April 6, 1942, on the death of Cemetery Superintendent Carl
M. Taute, the duties of that position were included as a part of the
duties of the battlefield superintendent, thus eliminating the cemetery
positiorl.15
Antietam's second era as an independent park extended from
July 1, 1953, until December 17, 1967, when the superintendent of the
Chesapeake and Ohio Canal Naticnal Monument became the “eoordinating

superintendent” and superintendent of Antietam battiefield and

cemetery. He and the C & O staff occupied the main offices of the
Antietam battiefield's recently completed visitor center, placed the
Antietam staff in the few basement rooms, and destroyed most of the
Antietam official park files for the years 1933 to about 1960 to make
room for the C § O Canal staff and files. This organization continued
from December 17, 1967, to July 31, 1972, when the national battlefield
and national cemetery emerged for a third time independent.
The battlefield, including the cemetery, continues to enjoy this status
to date.

From August 1, 1937, to June 30, 1955, the development and
operation of Antietam National Battlefield Site and the national cemetery
were supervised by the regional director and his professional staff

13.  R.G. 79, Box 2601. Superintendent McConaghie was actually
placed in charge on October 3, 1940, after it had been learned that
Superintendent Bechenbaugh had been incapacitated by a heart attack
on September 30, 1940. Data re: Dr., Coleman from monthly report
for Antietam, November 1940,

T4, By Memorandum FO0-62-53, effective July 1, 1953, R.G. 79, File
2823, Monthly Reports, June 1953, . -

15, R.G 79, Box 2699, Memorandum of Director, May 29, 1942,
effective from Aprit 6, 1942,
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wlith headquarters at Richmond, Virginla, This region, known as
Region One, comprised all the National Park Service areas east of the
Mississippl River, Because of the long distances of travel involved
and the very large number of parks to be visited, Region One's staff
was normally able to visit most of these parks once a year, or less.
in 1955 the regional setup In the east was reorganized by
subdividing old Region One Into two regions called reglons one and
flve. Region Five included park areas [n West Virginfa and Maryland
and all sites north of these states and east of the Mississippt River.
The regional director and the professional staff of new Region Flve
were headquartered in Phlladelphla, Antletam National Battlefield Site
and national cemetery were thus under the supervision of the Region
Five office from July 1, 1955, to June 30, 1967. Because of the
reduction in both size of the region and the number of parks
supervised, the attention received by parks in the northeast increased
by about 100 per cent following the 1955 reorg;;anization.16
From July 1, 1967, to date (1982), the battlefield and national
cemetery have been under the supervision of the regional director of
the National Capltal Region, with headquarters in Washington, D.C.
As will appear from the narrative that follows, regional directors
have played a significant role in deterring or facilitating the
development of Antietam Nationa! Battlefield Site and national cemetery.
Because the National Park Service continued the War Department
practice of considering the battlefield and cemetery to be two separate
operations during the years 1933 to 1942, separate histories of these
two areas follow,

16. The statements on the comparative amount of attention afforded
field areas by the regional staffs of regions one and five is based on
the personal experience of the author, who served in the field as park
historian at Saratoga National Historical Park, New York, and the home
of Franklin D. Roosevelt and Vanderbilt Mansion National Historic
Sites, New York, from 1948 to 1957, Saratoga was also a "coordinated
area" during part of this period.
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3. HISTORY OF ANTIETAM NATIONAL BATTLEFIELD SITE, 1933-1942

On September 30, 1933, as has been mentioned, Battlefield
Superintendent Alexander was discharged; on October 5, Cemetery
Superintendent Nett was made the acting superintendent of the
battlefield; and on October 10, Coordinating Superintendent McConaghie
made his first official inspection of the Antietam site, In his
inspection report to the director, McConaghie (a landscape architect)
found the battlefield site generally to be in excellent physical
condition. He made two major recommendations:

1. That the battlefield avenues, which had "a substantial surface of
Amesite of the coarser grade which was laid in 1931... and is
sufficiently seasoned now to receive a seal coat of fine grade Amesite"
be repaved to protect the “present- excellent surfaces of these
avenues" from the action of freezing and thawing, "that would cause
the roads to crumble."

2. "Trees are few and far between," he wrote. "One of the
important development plans for the future," McConaghie wrote,
"should be that of proper tree planting along the avenues to break the
monotony now presented and to give an individuality and greater
interest to the avenues." In other words, Antietam Battlefield did not
look enough like a "p::n'k."17

Fortunately for the battlefield, Chief Historian Chatelain asked
Acting Sﬁvperintendent Nett to review and comment on McConaghie‘é
report and recommendations. Responding on November 23, Nett agreed
with the Gettysburg superintendent's suggestion for resurfacing the
battlefield roads, writing "this can probably be taken care of by
Public Work Funds." With regard to planting of trees along the
battlefield avenues, Nett responded: ™as this [battle] field was
practically open at the time of the battle... 1 would suggest keeping it
as near the original [1862] field as possible."18

17. R.G. 79, Box 2699, File 031-Part |, October 20, 1933 letter.
18. R.G. 79, Box 2699, File 031-Part 1. Nett to Director, Attention
Chatelain, November 23, 1933.
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These remarks killed the tree planting scheme, which of course,
would have altered the 1862 historic scene on the battlefield.

John K. Beckenbaugh was appointed to the position of
superintendent of Antietam Nationa! Battlefield Site, at Grade 8, with a
salary of $1,800 per year on October 18, 1933, but because he was not
ale to report for duty untii January 10, 13934, Cemetery Superinten-
dent Nett continued to direct operations in the inter\/al.]9
a. Emergency Aliotments and Civil Works Administration Projects,
1933~1934 | |

Two projects were established: (1) "a Historical Survey
Project," planned by Chief Historian Chatelain and his History Division
Branch of Research and Education, and (2} a "Labor Project for
cleaning up the Philadelphia Brigade Park® on the battlefieid. The
latter had been suggested by Superintendent Nett. Both projects were

approved by the director on December 5, 1933, and Superintendent Nett

supervised their operations. 20

{1) The Historical Survey Project. Historian John B, Wolfe of the

Washington staff was responsible for formulating the objectives of the
project and of guiding the efforts of the temporary staff, which was
composed of one engineer and draftsman, who was to serve as director
of the team, seven Yhistorians", all young coliege men between the
ages of 20 and 27, and "two female typists," the latter being young
ladies then residing in Shar'psburg.21

Maj. John Byron of Williamsport, Maryland, a West Point
graduate and a student of the history of the Antietam Campaign of 1862,
volunteered his services without pay, to direct the work of the ten-

person research team, which was not familiar with the battle of

79. R.G. 79, Box 2699, File 201,06-1933.

20. R.G. 79, Box 2700, Memo of December 5, 1933 from Associate
Director A, E. Demaray to Nett.

21. For details on the members of the 10-person research team,
including names, titles, college associations, and salaries, see
Appendix No. IX. Dr. Wolfe mentioned the fact that the ladies lived
in Sharpsburg in an effort to justify what he conceded was the lower
wages paid to the girls,

151



Antietam. Byron introduced his "class" to the study by memo on
December 18, directing them to form themselves into two teams of five
each, one to study all the data on the Union Army and the other on

the Confederate Army, 22

This team of young people entered into their
duties on December 18, 1933, working with great energy and
enthusiasm until February 15, 1934, when five were discharged
because the funds were running out, and the remaining five were laid
off when the money was exhausted on April 19. A total of $3,046.88
-in. Civil Works Administration funds were expended on the Historical
Survey Pn::’ject.23

The contributions of this team were of great importance: they
represented the first extensive "research" or collection of data that
had been done for the battlefield since 1898 and provided Super-
intendent Beckenbaugh, the Region One regional director, and his
staff, with the information that was to serve as the basis of the
proposed development and land acquisition programs of the 1940s,
Seven more years were to pass before the National Park Service was to
undertake a greater research effort in the history of the Antietam
battiefield. As we shall see, most of the interpretive improvements
made during the 1940s were based on the work of the 1933-34 team.

In memorandums dated December 16 and 27, 1933, historian Wolfe
informed Acting Superintendent Nett that the objectives of the
Historical Survey Team were to be:

l. For the Educational Program, we conceive it to be very
important to provide the material for a folder for Antietam,
This folder should contain a map of Antietam Battlefield with
its avenues, important markers, etc., and should be marked
with arrows, which if followed will show the tourists a logical
picture of the Field. Attached to this map there should be
(a) a brief story (possibly 1,000 words) of the campaign of
Antietam, (b} A brief description of the Antietam Battlefield

22. For Byron volunteer service, see Memo of Wolfe, December 21,
1933, on visit to Antietam on December 20. Memo of Major Joseph
Byron to Supt. Nett, December 18, 1933, 4 typed pages. Also Memo,
Byron to Nett, December 20, 1533,

23. R.G. 79, Box 2602, File 201.01 - Annual Report for Antietam for
fiscal year ending June 30, 1934, Miraculously, what appears to be an
almost complete file of incoming and outgoing correspondence and
reports of the Historical Team survived the otherwise complete
destruction of official park files that took place in December 1967.
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and National Cemetery, largely statistical. ({c) Possibly two
pictures from which cuts could be made to be printed in the

folder....
Engineer and draftsman J. William Schnebley was to prepare the

2T H -
VT NS WGrians,

necessary maps utilizing data provided by the sc

~

Also to be prepared were "Maps showing the Antietam Campaign."
They included a series showing the approach of the armies and a
second series delineating the withdrawal of the armies.

Wolfe wrote Y"This folder is very important and a section of the
staff should be assigned to it." Also included in the project was a
survey of the battiefield that covered the foliowing:

A. Reconnassiance of existing remnants of the battle, all
bridges, buildings, etc., now extant that were present in
1862.

B. When this survey is completed the reconnassiance should
attempt to discover the location and if possible the nature,
(that is proportions, size and color, etc.) of other buildings,
bridges, etc. which are now destroyed but were present in
1862,

C. Lastly, the survey should discover the nature of the
terrain of Antietam Battlefield in 1863: Cultivated lands,
wood lands, swamp lands, etc.

This study is absolutely necessary for any future development
at Antietam. As we have noted before all future development

of Antietam must be based on historical research. 1 do not
know exactly how to teli you to study this probiem. Were |
doing it | would approach the problem through several

channeis. Newspaper accounts, old pictures, county records,
etc. shouid vield considerable material while accounts of
citizens now living who remember the Field, if carefully
questioned, will provide abundant information.

Your study should keep in mind the probability of writing a

more detailed account of the Battle of Antietam, possibly 100

pages or more, This probably will not be done under CWA,

but the material which is collected by the CWA staff can be of
tremendous value in writing such a story. For this story,

human interest accounts, etc., will be of great value. The

staff at Antietam should keep this in mind and carefully

compile all their data, as materials gathered fc}ﬁ the above

projects will be of great value in the later ones.

74,  Memorandum of December 27, 1933, Memo of December 16, 1933,
contains additional details on making maps. Material in park historical
fites.
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The contributions of the historians were as foliows: A series of
volumes of loose-leaf notebooks, typed, averaging 150 pages each and .
'embodying the researches, interpretive writings, and compilations of
the seven historians:

1. Vol. 11, pp. 18-45, Work of Langdon Bachus, December
18, 1933-February 15, 1934: ~ A fairly exhaustive list of
Hlustrations, wood cuts, lithographs, half-tones, slides, and
photographs pertaining to the Antietam area. Also the text
of "The Passage of Crampton Gap."

2. Work of Jordan Bean, December 18, 1933-Apri! 19, 1934,
vol. 1H, pp. 39-81. Regional and Battery Organizations of
Army of the Potomac and Army of Northern Virginia according
to States. Statistics on Battles lLosses from WAR OF THE
REBELLION.

Report on Relics. Text: "Battle of Burnside Bridge (for
radio script)." Revised list of Battliefield Repairs needed.

Brief biographical sketches of principal general officers,
Federal and Confederate at Antietam. 19 subjects. Vol. 1V,
pp.. q—loo

Historical Notes on Bridges and Churches in the Sharpsburg
s_ection, Vol. V, pp. 61-66. .

Building Survey of Sharpsburg, Md., 1862, Vol. V, pp.
66~78. Description of 185 houses standing at time of battle,
(Map-blueprint}, Scale 1" = 270', drawn by R. G. Grove,
locates houses. Authorities consulted: J. A. Miller, an old
resident, living in war-time; Uncle Bud Schackleford, Captain
J. K. Beckenbaugh. '

3. Work of Carlton Godlove, December 18, 1933 to February
15, 1938: TThe Batile of South Mountain; SUggested Tour of
Battlefield, Outline of Battle of Antietam. First draft of the
story of the battle, 1,000 words. "Bloody Lane Action®
{Script for use on radi¢ program).

4, Work of Merle Kaetzel, December 18, 1933-~February 15,
1934: Investigation of historical material available in
Hagerstown, Md. Story of Harpers Ferry Siege, September 13-16,
1862, Withdrawal of troops from Antietam.

5. Work of Calvin Mumma, December 18, 1933-February

15, 1934: "Blacksford Ford, Sepiember 20, 1862; The Escape

of the Cavalry Division from Harper's Ferry, September 14,

1862." List of people to collect historical data in 1934,

“Lee's Withdrawal" (for a radio script). A Bibliography of _

books relating to the Battie of Antietam and the Antietam

-Campaign., A report on the need for a Museum at Antietam, .
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6. Work of Thomas L. Loy, December 18, 1933-April 19,
1934: Loy (second in command, under engineer J. William
Schnebley} wrote weekly reports describing in detail the work
of the other historians. Prepared a preliminary survey of
highlights for battle, a report on photographs for the
~proposed battlefield folder, and text, "The battle of Antietam
simplified, importance of the Antietam Battlefield." Also
public relations work, including tours of organized groups
and script of proposed motion picture tour of Antietam
Battlefield. Also handled general correspondence of team,

7. Work of John C. O'Connell, Jr., December 18, 1933 to
April”19, 1934: Prépared reports on park roads, land that
"the United States should acquire for the battlefield, effects of
the Battlefield of Antietam, a list of Civil War maps of
Antietam, and the text for a guide folder.

The study of roads considers historical (1862} and existing
conditions and changes. The March 15, 1934, 1,000-word text
for the park folder was written by Thomas Loy and John C,
0'Connell, Ir.

Vol. V, pp. 145-164% contains a "History of Antietam
Battlefield" {since the battle). This undocumented study
presents actual descriptions of 18 battlefield monupents,
together with a brief historical account of the origin™” and
narrative accounts of the exercises at dedication of each of
the monuments.

It can be said that the $3,046.88 spent on this crash research
was well spent because of the wealth of information it provided for the
National Park Service,

(2) Labor Project for the Philadelphia Brigade Park. On
December 16, 1933, the city of Philadeiphia deeded the 10.9-acre
Philadelphia Brigade Park to the United States and Acting Battlefield
Superintendent Nett and the National Park Service made what proved

to be a mistaken assumption that this land was now the property of the

Federal Government.'26

25. This summary is based on two sources: assistant historical
technician Edward Steere's memorandum te superintendent, Gettysburg
National Military Park, dated October 2, 1941, a very able analysis of
the research that had been done at Antietam from 1533 to 1941, in
R.G. 79, Box 2602, File 207; and the author's personal inspection of
surviving thick C.W.A. files in the possession of Antietam National
Battlefield,

26. The U.S. Solicitor, however, ruled that Congress had never
given the secretary of the interior authority to accept donated land at
Antietam. Not until 1940 was Congress to pass a law that granted the
secretary this power.
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In the meantime, Nett suggested and recelved authority to
establish a iabor project to clean up the Phlladelphia Brigade Park,
which was In a neglected condltion. Twenty-five men were employed
on thls project, consisting of a timekeeper who was paid 65 cents an
hour, one foreman at 55 cents an hour, and 23 laborers, who each
received 45 <cents per hour, This crew began work on
December 18, 1833, and worked until funds ran out about
January 30, 1934, A total of $2,427.19 in C.W.A., funds was expended
on thils pro]ect.27

As a part of the labor project, the men removed an old and
broken wire and iron fence, dug out by the roots a badly broken
privet hedge, trimmed the trees, and gave the area a general cleanup.
They aiso cut trees along Mansfleld Avenue and did considerable work
on the private lane (Dorsey's Lane) rlght—éf-way into the 16th
Connecticut Plot. Trees were trimmed, weeds grubbed out, and the
~area around the Burnside Bridge section was generally cleaned up.28

A total of $5,474.07 in Civil Works Administration funds was thus
spent on the Antietam Nationai Battlefield Site in 1933-34; expenditures
from regular appropriations for the park amounted to $4,973.71,
making a total of $10,447.78 spent during the fiscal year ending
June 30, 1934.%°
Nationai Cemetery during the same period,

This money was exclusive of that spent on the

b. Federal Emergency Relief Act Projects, 1934
By 1933, battlefield superintendent Beckenbaugh had served as

the secretary of the Washington County Welfare Board, which also
handled FERA programs for the state of Maryland for Washington
County. After resigning that position, Beckenbaugh applied to that
board in the spring of 1934 to fund relief projects for work on the
battlefield. Successful work on the first projects began on May 7 and

77. List of 25 men, payrolls and accounting sheets In 1933-34 park
files of the C.W.A. Projects. Also, superintendent's annual report for
fiscal year ending June 30, 1934,

28. Superintendent's annual report, June 3¢, 1934,

25. Ibid. Of the regular appropriations $1,287 went for
administration; $2,720 for maintenance, repair, and operation, and
$966.71 for purposes that are not spelled out,
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continued into the fall, with the number of men ranging from five to
twenty-nine.30 State and county funds were spent on the following
projects:

(1) Project No, 22-B15-37; '"Building of Fencing Around

Various Field Locations."” Work began on May 7 and five laborers,

er the supervision ol a reguiar park empioyee, constructed
the standard type of battlefield fence on the north and south sides of
the Philadelphia Brigade Park.

It required 903 rods of wire fencing and 88 small and eight large
concrete fence posts. The material was provided from the stock stored
in the battlefield warehouse and the 400 hours of labor utilized in this
project were paid with $120 from F.E.R.A,. funds.31

(2) Project No. 22-B15-35: Cleaning Areas in East & West

Woods and Burnside Bridge Areas. Work on this project got underway

with T4 men on May 9. This force was later increased to 19. Signed
permits were obtained from the owners to clean up the areas listed
above, The west and east woods were cleaned of briars, poison vines,
wild grape vines, and dead timber, but otherwise left in a natural
state. Rubbish that had been dumped there was hauled away or
buried. An island was removed that had formed in Antietam Creek
above Burnside Bridge, which had been deflecting the waters and
cutting out the east bank in a way dangerous to the future safety of
the bridge. The removed material was used to build a breakwater to
prevent further encroachment on the east bank. Total number of
hours worked was 2,343 and E.R.A. funds expended came to $728.>2

(3) Project: No. 22-B15-62: Removal of Dead Trees, Limbs,
and Treating of Tree Wounds. Work began on July 2. Several dead

30. R.G. 79, Box 2605, File 613, Report of F.E.R.A. or S.,E.R.A.
Accomplishments by Superintendent John K. Beckenbaugh, Antietam
Battlefield Site, received by National Park Service, Washington, D.C.,
January 28, 1935.

31. Annual Report, June 30, 1934, and Report of January 29, 1935,
32, |Ibid. :
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trees were removed from the battlefield, dead limbs were removed, and
limb cuts were painted. Six men worked on this project for 286 hours
and were paid $85 from E.R.A. 1"unds.33

(4) Project No., 22-B19-63: Eradication of Weeds and Poison Vines.

Work on this project began on August 2 with 16 men and a

foreman, later increased to 23 men, and continued until December 11,
Signed permits were obtained from every property owner, who had
property abutting on the battlefield area, allowing them to enter their
fand and clean the fence rows along all the battlefield avenues and
around the monument plots, Larger weeds were dug out. Hours
worked totaled 2,396 and E.R.A. funds expended came to $2,41!I.25.3q

These four projects cost $3,347.23 and provided the battlefield
with 5,425 man-hours of work during the fiscal year ending
June 30, 1935. Regular National Park Service appropriations for the
battlefield during this same period amounted to only $5,290, of which
$5,276.03 was spent as follows: administration: $1,968,36;
maintenance, repair § alteration: $2,522.83; and $784.84 for
35 With E.R.A. funds included, a total of $8,623.26 was
expended on the park.

equipment,

In addition to these allotments, Superintendent Beckenbaugh
received a Public Works Administration grant in the amount of $4,500
for Project F.P. 420 for the "Repairs to Monuments" on the battlefield,
Work on this project began on June 6, 1934, and continued until
October 29, 1934. The biggest job involved repairs to the granite
base of the New Jersey Monument at the corner of Hagerstown Road
and Cornfield Avenue., Cracked pieces of granite were replaced. The
second largest task was the repair and repointing of the War
Correspondents Memorial Arch at Crampton's Gap. It was scaffolded,
its top relaid and waterproofed, and the entire structure repointed.

33. Ibid.
34. ibid.

35. Superintendent's annual report for fiscal year ending June 30,
1935. '
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The stone observation tower on Bioody Lane was also repointed
and the joints of other monuments on the battiefield were packed and
repointed where necessary. Remaining funds were used from October
30 to December 6, 1934, when the project was closed down because of
freezing weather without a start on repairs on the old stone wall that
enclosad the naticnal cemeﬁer‘;.% Egtimating that the entire a

of $4,500 was expended, the total of funds from all scurces speni on

the battlefield during the fiscal year ending June 30, 1935 was

$12,123.26.57

¢. A Description of the Battlefield, 1934
In his first annual report, Superintendent Beckenbaugh provided

an excellent description of the physical development of the Antietam
Battlefield as of June 30, 1934, which follows in part:

This site comprises approximately 50 acres [40 acres not
including the 10.9-acre Philadelphia Brigade Park] made of
monument and marker locations of various sizes ranging from
40 square feet by 13 miles wide, and there are also cast iron
tabiets at Burkittesville, Turner's Gap, Blackford's Ford and
Harpers Ferry. At Fox's Gap and Crampton's Gap small plots
are owned, but the tablets at the other locations are placed
along the roadsides, except at Harpers Ferry where they are
on the lands of the Baltimore and Ohic Railroad Company and
kept in condition by that Company. In addition to this there
are 10 [11.356] acres in the National Cemetery grounds. Five
and one-quarter miles of Government built avenues and about
8+ miles of State and County Roads, traverse the Site.

The battlefield avenues are fenced on each side with a concrete
post and [No. 9] wovén wire fence, while the state and county roads
have various "types of fencing--wire, rail and stone. No fencing
remains of the period of 1862, except the stonewalls, although the rail
fences are of the same type as then used.”

Beckenbaugh described the four types of fences used on the
battlefield as follows:

36. Superintendents' annual reports for the fiscal years ending on
June 30, 1934 and June 30, 1935.

37. R.G. 79, Box 2605--File 618--Public Works File. Account sheet
dated December 24, 1936, indicates: FPN-420--Repair to Monuments;
Allotment--$4,500; Obligated $4,375.08; Balance on hand: $124.92,
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1. Concrete Post and Woven Wire--There are approxi-
mately 13% miles; it is all of recent new construction [1931]
only a few years old and requires no upkeep, except several
places damaged by motor accidents....

2. lron Post Woven Wire Panel-—This surrounds some of
the monument locations on the field and also around the War
Correspondents Memorial Arch at Crampton's Gap, requires
more or less upkeep and must be painted often to keep
looking well and the painting of same is a slow and tedious
job. The parts facing the avenues of this fencing has been
removed [during fiscal year ending June 30, 1934] from most
monument plots making a more open and attractive
appearance.

In his report for the vyear ending June 30, 1935, Beckenbaugh
noted:

Most all of the old iron post and woven wire fencing has
been removed from the small monument plots and the regular
concrete posts and wire fence run on the rear and sides of
these plots, leaving the fronts open to the roads which
presents a greatly improved appearance.

3. Concrete Post and Iron Piping--This surrounds  the
New York and Maryland plot, needs practically nc repairs
except painting which must be done thoroughly to keep the
piping from rusting. In his report for the fiscal year
ending June 30, 1935, Beckenbaugh commented: "The
concrete and iron pipe fencing on the Hagerstown and
Smoketown Road sides of the New York-Maryland plot were
removed and this open appearance is a decided change for
the better, . . "

4. Stone Walls~--These are relics of 1862, stand along
various sections of the avenues but are not now answering
the purpose of fencing, as the standard field fence runs in
the rear of same. They are jeft standing as relics of the
battie; they require no upkeep except replacing of a loose
stone now and then.

Of the buildings, Superintendent Beckenbaugh wrote:

The buildings at the Site consist of {1} an old [1867] stone
Lodge House at the National Cemetery entrance and used
formerly as the Cemetery Superintendent's residence [until
1928]; the lower floor of this is now used as a Comfort
Station, the upper floor is unused and is in rather bad
condition, this is heated on lower floor by hot water system,
(2) A modern [1927-28} six room and bath residence for the
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Cemetery Superintendent, with an 11 ft. 4 in. by 12 ft. 4
in. office; the construction is stucco and shingle with
shingle roof, heated by a hot water heating system. (3) A
brick garage and tool house, [erected in 1901] size 18 ft. by
29 ft., with slate roof. These buildings are all within the
National Cemetery enclosure. (4) Battlefield warehouse, a
modern [1931-32] red tile and brick building [20 by 70 ft.]

with heavy ashestns shingle roof, concrete floors, one end

used as garage for {two] trucks, one end as a workshop

heated by a stove, and center portion as a warehouse and

storage place. This is modern in every way, is well
equipped, has running water and electric lights. (5) Two

deep well electric automatic pumping plants. There is aiso a

water softening plant [1933] and septic tanks [1927-28].

Also standing in the national cemetery, but not mentioned by
Beckenbaugh, was the rostrum, a brick, stone, iron, and wood
structure, 22 by 34 feet in size, that had been erected in 1879. The
two deep wells had been drilled in 1927 and 1931, respectively.>®

The stone observation tower on Biloody lLane, erected in 1896-97,
was approximately 15 feet square and 60 feet tall. In 1937 there were
eight mounted cannons on the battlefield. Four of these were 3-inch
rifled iron guns and four of them were bronze Napoleons,
manufactured by the Revere Copper Company in 1862. There were
also six Napoleon guns without mountings, placed muzzle down in

concrete as memorials, marking the sites where six generals were

“killed, There were itwo more unmounted cannons in the national
cemetery--a 12-pounder rifled piece and a 32- p0under Columbiad,
39

placed muzzle up on a stone base.
d. Battlefield Staff, 1934-1942
The staff of Antietam National Battlefield site comprised

approximately eight people from 1933 to 1942 and included:
(1) Administrative Staff. The administrative staff was made up
of a superintendent and a clerk. John K. Beckenbaugh served as

38. Superintendent Beckenbaugh's annual reports for the fiscal years
ending June 30, 1934, and June 30, 1935.

39, Supt. John K. Beckenbaugh to Herbert Evison, Acting Regional
Director, Region One, October 22, 1937, R.G. 79, Box 2606. File
740 - 02.2. The general officers killed included Mansfield Rodman,
and Richardson of U.S.A., and Starke, Branch and Anderson of

C.S.A.
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superintendent from January 10, 1934, to his death on October 5,
1940, He was followed by Superintendent Carlt M. Taute, who held the
position from October 5, 1944, to April 5, 1942,

During 1934 and unti! June 38, 1935, Public Works Administration
funds paid for the hiring of an "under clerk-typist.” From Jume 15,
1935, to October 1, 1935, when money ceased, Antietam was without a
clerk-typist and it was "necessary to have our vouchers, long reports,
etc., forwarded to the Supervising [Coordinating] Office at Gettysburg
for typing.” On October 1 reguard funds made possible "a temporary
appointment of a part-time clerk-typist ... which has enabled this
office to function in very good shape.” On December 16, 1935, as has
been mentioned, "all administrative matters of the Antietam Battlefield
Site and the Antietam National Cemetery heretofore performed at
Gettysburg Site,” and this was followed on December 19 by the
transfer of %all records, files, reports and other related materials®
from Gettysburg to Antietam.a0

On November 19, 1937, a Civil Service position of clerk-typist
was established at Antietam battiefield, but this had to be filled on a
W.A.E. basis as park funds were not sufficient to fill it on the

# On October 17, 1938, the clerk, Miss Ida F.
42

fuli-time basis.
Mongan, was entered on full time. Miss Mongan had been a typist
on the 1933-34 Historical Survey Project Team and correspondence
indicates that she served as acting superintendent during the ili-health
of Superintendent Beckanbaugh in 1940 as well as from 1941-42,
Another part-time member of the superintendent's staff was the
ranger-historian, who was engaged for two or three months, if funds
permitted, during the heavy travel season from June to September to
provide information and interpretive servies for park visitors, This
first ranger-historian to be employed at Antietam Battiefield was

Thomas L. Loy, who had been a "historian on the 1933 Historical

40, Superintendent's annual report, June 30, 1936,
41. Annual report, June 30, 1936,
42, Annual report, June 30, 1939,
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Survey project. He entered on duty on May 25, 1936. A ranger-
historian was employed at the battlefield during the summers of 1936,
1937, 1940 and 1941, The first full-time historian, then called an
nassistant historian technician," professionaily trained in research
methods, was Edward Steere. He served at the battlefield from
September 1, 1941, to April 1, 1943. The superintendents of the
battlefield and cemetery, the ranger-historian, and the park historian,
or historical technician, made up the uniformed National Park Service
staff from 1933 to 1942. Additional data on the ranger-historians and
the park historian will be found in the sections on interpretation and
research that follow.

(2) Maintenance Force. The maintenance force from 1933 to
August 1939 comprised six laborers. Four of these were usually
employed on the battiefield and two in the national cemetery. All were
employed the greater part of the year in grass mowing, fence and road
repairs, grading and repairing lawns, painting of the cast iron tablets

and markers, cleaning headstones, and other maintenance work,
During the winter months roads and paths were cleared of snow and
indoor painting and repairs of benches and equipment was done.

In August 1939 a change was made in the labor force. Unskilled
laborers were separated and Civil Service classified laborers were
empioyed. The number of workers was reduced from six to four, The
classified workers included one truck driver, two classified laborers,
and one unskilled laborer. These four men did the same work as
listed above,

The regular work force was sometimes increased during the
growing season by hiring two or three temporary laborers for six
weeks. During World War i, 1942-46, the maintenance force was
reduced to two classified full-time positions and two temporary laborer
pos;itions.u3

(3) Maintenance Equipment. The maintenance equipment of
Antietam battlefield in 1935 had been inherited from the War
Department and was composed of the following items:

73, Al data on staff drawing from annual report of the Superin-
tendents, June 30, 1934, to June 30, 1945, '
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One World War | (1917) G.M.C. 1i-ton dump truck one i-ton pick-up
Ford Model A Truck with 41,772 miles, three power lawn mowers--two
for the battlefield and one for the cemetery, and one horse-drawn
mower,

On June 26, 1935, a new Ford V8 pick-up }-ton truck was added
to the fleet. A new Chevrolet sedan was acquired in November 1936,
which was used by the superintendent to inspect the outlying areas.nq
e. Norma! Maintenance Routine, 1933-1942

(1} Lawn Area: During the spring and summer months the major
portion of the labor time was expended in keeping the grass in the
national cemetery, that surrounded the monuments, and grew along the
roadsides and in the large plots, in perfect condition. This was
accomplished by use of three power mowers, and by hand mowers and
hand clippers, except the 10-acre Philadelphia Brigade Plot which was
mowed by a horse-drawn mower, the horses being hired to pull the
gavernment-owned mower when mowing was necessary,

{2} Cast-lron Historical Tablets. In 1896-97, the War
Department, at a cost of about $6,400, set out 258 cast-iron tablets,

each carrying an historical text relating to the Antietam Campaign of
1862. Painted in this manner in 1897, the tablets were still painted in
the same colors in October 1933, when the National Park Service took

-85 These cast iron tablets had

over the maintenance of the tablets
survived the 46 years since 1898 almost intact, as at least 251 of them
was extant in good condition in 1933.

The greatest threat to the tablets was automobiles. Three were
reported as broken in motor accidents during the fiscal year ending
June 30, 1937, and "several tablets on the field were badly broken by
automobile accidents” in 1938, The Antietam battlefield staff annually
painted most of these markers, using the original colors. At Harpers
Ferry the five markers were removed and stored in a warehouse

during the year ending June 30, 1937, when a bridge was run through

44, Ibid.

5. R.G. 79, Box 2699, File 031-Part |-Letter of Coordinating Supt.
McConaghie to Director, October 20, 1933 - re tablets and giving paint
colors then in use.
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their original location. During the following year, the five tablets
were relocated on the land of the Baltimore and Ohio Railroad, with
the cooperation of the railroad and the West Virginia State Road
Commission.%

(3) Battlefield Roads. Public Works Program Project No.
FP-285-~Construction of roads and paths-provided the sum of $19,800

in 1934 to resurface the 5% miles of battlefield avenues with a seal coat
of fine grade amesite, as recommended by Coordinating Superintendent
McConaghie. This work was accomplished by contract and under the
direction of the Washington office.” Ten thousand three hundred
dollars of this appropriation was expended during 1934 and $8,700 in
early 1935, leaving a balance of $800 on February 15, 1935.“8

work by the battlefield maintenance staff, 1933 to 1942, was thus
generally limited to making minor repairs to the roads, removing the
grass and making repairs to the walks leading to the monuments and in
front of the national cemetery. The following construction work was
accomplished by the staff during this period. During the fiscal year
ending June 30, 1937, the driveway into the battlefield utility area was
given a resurfacing of cold patch asphalt and stone chips. This
treatment was also used on the walkway into the 9th New York piot
just off the Harpers Ferry Road. A parking area was also constructed
at the New York-Maryland Plot in the northern section of the field and
Superintendent Beckenbaugh reported that it Yadds greatly to the
safety of the visitors, as it is no longer necessary to park along the
sides of the state r‘oad."ug

During the year ending June 30, 1940, under the WPA project for
the national cemetery, the driveway into the utility area had the steep
hill reduced about 3 feet. Superintendent Beckenbaugh reported "This

46, Superintendent's annual report, June 30, 1937, and June 30,
1938. The five Harpers Ferry tablets were re-erected along the
railroad embankment in the lower town of Harpers Ferry.

47. Superintendent's annual report, June 1934 -- Appropriation made
March 12, 1934,

8. R.G. 79, Box 2605, File 631-1--Aritietam Road and Trail -
4-03/5640-8 National industrial Recovery, 1933-35, FP 386-Construction
and Improvement of Roads and Paths. March 12, 1934-February 15,
1935. :

49, Superintendent's report, June 30, 1937.
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necessitated making a new utility entrance to the cemetery and the
closing of the old entrance. The reduction of this grade made it
necessary to build walls on both sides of the roadway to retain the
banks. The driveway and entrance to the national cemetery was
graded and roadway laid >0
f. A Flagstaff on the Battlefield

in his first inspection of October 1933 Coordinating Superin-
tendent McConaghie remarked: "In view of that fact this is a National
Military shrine it seems highly important that there should be a flag

pole erected from which a flag would continually fly. It is proposed

that a valuable addition to the park would be the erection of a 100 foot
steel flag pole. The suggestion would be to erect this pole in the New
York monument plot along the Hagerstown Road.”" in his letter of
review, Cemetery Superintendent Nett pointed out "we have a steel
pole in the cemetery 75 feet high in excellent condition and the flag is
flown from it every day and can be seen from any part of the
battlefield. " |

The newly arrived Battlefield Superintendent Beckenbaugh,
however, also thought there should be a flagstaff on park land. In
his first annual report, June 30, 1934, he commented:

When Philadelphia Brigade Park was taken over there was in
this area a wood ship-mast style flag pole upon which a flag
had formerly been flown, but the pulley at the top of pole
had been broken out and the halyard was gone and the pole
needed paint very badly; there being no funds available in
the appropriation for the Fiscal Year, nothing has been done
to remedy this situation. Many ungazvorable comments are
had about no flag flying on the Field.

A year later, Beckenbaugh still had not been able to repaint and
repair the wooden flag pole in the Philadelphia Brigade Park!53 A
decision was finally reached to locate the battlefield headquarters in

the old (1867} stone cemetery lodge, adjacent to the cemetery steel
flagstaff, which ended the need to erect a second staff on the

50. Superintendent's report, June 30, 1940.

51. R.G 79, Box 2699, File 0-31-Part I, Inspection report, October
21, 1933, Nett's review, November 23, 1933,

°2. Superintendent's annual report, June 30, 1934.

53. Superintendent's annual report, June 30, 1935.
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battiefield, and the subject disappeared from reports and
correspondence,
g. Office for the Battiefield Superintendent

A more serious problem than the lack of a second flagstaff was
the absence of a park office for the battiefield superintendent. Mr.

Beckenbaugh explained the situation:

Up to the present... no Field [Park] Office had ever been
maintained, and none was ever provided for. Under the War
Department, when the Field and Cemetery were entirely
divorced, the Field Superintendent kept his records at his
own home and the small office 11 ft. 4 in, by 12 ft. 4 in. in
the Cemetery Superintendent's lLodge House was used as the
National Cemetery Office.

Then came [in early 1934] the attempt to crowd the Field
Office and Cemetery Office in this small 11 ft. by 12 ft.
room. P.W.A. and F.E.R.A. and their increased activities
necessitated the employment of an Under-clerk Typist, and
crowded that into the same room with the added necessary
equipment. This makes such cramped and inadequate
quarters that it is impossible to efficiently conduct the office
business and it is most urgently recommended that the front
room in the old stone lodge at the Cemetery entrance be
reconstructed into a Field Office by cutting an outside
entrance in this building into the Ladies Rest Room so they
will not have to pass through the front room as at present,

In the present crowded small room there is absolutely no way
to seat or care for any persons who come on business or for
information, and if more than a couple arrive at once some
have to stand outside no matter what the weather; this does
not make a good impression on the traveling public.

The frent room in the old lLodge is 15 ft. by 17 ft., is well

lighted and would make a very desirable Field Office until

such time as some regular Field Headquarters is established

at this Site.

Beckenbaugh further noted that tno office furniture or equipment
is supplied, except 3 filling cases and one typewriter."su

On December 3, 1934, however, he received "a complete equip-
ment of office furniture from ‘«“fashint_:jton,"55 to which were added in
December 1935 an 18-inch carriage Underwood Typewriter and a
Remingtor-Rand Electric Adding Machine for accounting purpn’:se'.-;.56

55, Superintendent's annual report, June 30, 1934,
55, Annual report, June 30, 1935,
56. Annual report, June 30, 1936,
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In  his October 1933 inspection Coordinating Superintendent
McCongahie had described the old cemetery lodge as

A two bowl Comfort Station for ladies and a one bow! and
wash basin for men are in one of the buildings which is
heated with hot water heating system and water for the
toilets is furnished from a well pumped by electricity. This
building is in good condition but the exterior woodwork is
painted a combination yellow and green which is considered
inappropriate. When painting is again done, a color scheme
more in k%%ping with the purpose of the reservation will be
furnished,

In his report entitled "Repairs Required at Antietam National
Cemetery and Estimated Cost," dated March 1934, cemetery

superintehdent Nett wrote in regard to the old lodge:

The Comfort Station at the entrance of the cemetery needs

new Stairway in the Tower, New Floors throughout entire

building, New Window Frames throughout the old ones are all

dry rotted. Walls all need replastering, roof needs repairing

as it is leaking in places. The estimagﬁd cost of all this

work including labor and material $5,000.

Superintendent Beckenbaugh relocated the battlefield office from
the cemetery office to the front room of the old cemetery lodge in July
1934, thereb__y gaining elbow room for both custodians. In the spring
of 1935 the Public Works Administration provided $8,500 in Federal
Project No. 605, for "Building Alteration & Repairs" to the old lodge for
use as the battlefield office and comfort station.

Bids were advertised, opened and the contract for the improve-
ments was awarded to J. B. Ferguson on October 7, 1935 for
$7.100.°

winter weather, was not finished and turned over to the government

Construction began on October 28, but owing to the severe

until March 5, 1936. The contract was extended due to the weather

57. R.G. 79, Box 2699, File 0-31-Part 1, Report of October 20,
1933,

58. R.G. 79, Box 2699, File 0-31-Part 1. ,
3. R.G. 79, Box 2699, File 0-31-National Cemetery, Deputy Chief
Engineer Oliver G. Tayior to J. B. Ferguson &€ Co., October 5 and
October 7, 1935. Also copy of contract, October 7, 1935, with
Ferguson & Co. to remode! lodge. Public Works Administration
Federal Project No. 05-Contract No. 1-1, p. 3950, 7 pp. Plus
Specifications for Altering Lodge," August 21, 1935, 82 pp.
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and also change orders that increased the amount of work to be done,
The contractors received $7,400 for their wor‘k.60

During the remodeling, Superintendent Beckenbaugh removed his
office to the battlefield warehouse "until the very severe weather made
it necessary to move to the residence of the Superintendent, owing to
the inability to properly heat the '.-varehous.e.“61

The extensive improvements included: all new copper spouting,
gutters, and flashing; slate roof repaired; a new chimney from the
cellar up; 80 percent new plaster on interior walls; reinforced floors;
terrazzo finish in hall and rest rooms; inlaid linoleum in office; new
hardware: insect screens; weather stripping; interior and exterior
painting; new electric wiring; new heating equipment except the
boiler; 90 percent new plumbing; and ramoval of old low porch and
reinforced concrete landings in tower. Beckenbaugh reported: "The
building is now practically fire proof, two rooms were finished on the
second floor to house the new museum and one small rogom as a stock
room for siationery and supplies."62

A sum of $1,000 was left in the Project 605 account and in the
report for the fiscal year ending June 30, 1937, Beckenbaugh noted:

we have made some further improvements with same
consisting of: ventilator in office building, replacement of
wooden covers over cellar window well holes with metal
covers and wire glass. This makes the cellar sufficiently
light that electricity does not have to be used in the day
time. Outside cellar door of steel and reinforced concrete
steps were placed at the cellar entrance. With the small
amount of funds yet on hand we aresgaterproofing two large
cisterns for fire protection purposes.

The reader will note that following the usual practices of the day,
the National Park Service displayed no interest or concern in pre-

T R.G. 79, Box 2699-File 0-31-Part Il, C.D. Mcintieth, Acting
Deputy Chief Engineer, to Chief Construction Section, NPS, March 11,
1936. Final Construction Report for FP 605, March 23, 1938 from
Acting Chief Engineer.

61. Superintendent's annual report, June 30, 1936.

62, lbid.

63. Annual Report, June 30, 1937. R.G. 79, Box 2605. File
618-Public Work Administration account sheet, December 24, 1936-FPN
Project No. 605-Repairs and Alterations to Buildings--Antietam--
Allotted $8,955--Obligated: $8,631.11; Balance = $323.89. The
original allotment of $8,500 had been increased by $455.
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serving the historic exterior appearance of the 1867 cemetery [odge.
This concept had not yet been adopted.
h. The Stone Observation Tower Problem, 1933-1935

In his first annual report, Superintendent Beckenbaugh reported;

There is no Field Comfort Station except the one located at
the National Cemetery. In this one the only favatory is
located in the lLadies Room and no provisions are made for
any gentlemen who may desire to wash his [sic] hands..,,
The erection of some Comfort Station out of the Field is a
most pressing necessity, this should be done at once if only
of a temporary character could be put up for the remainder
of this tourist season.

Traffic here is increasing and with it our needs for toilet
facilities, lack of same is causing a condition of affairs that
is intolerable, ...

The interior of the [Observation] Tower and the rear of the
Tower are almost daily left in a disgusting condition and we
have no means of correcting the difficulty. We placed a sign
several months ago at the Tower worded "Public Comfort
Station 9/10 of a mile at National Cemetery” but it is not
helped to any great extent to relieve our problem. The
Comfort  Station at National Cemetery is in need of
considerable 6g\!epairs which have been submitted in detail
heretofore, .. '

This complaint was repeated in the annual report for the year
ending June 30, 1935, but ceased in 1936 when the comfort station in
the old cemetery lodge was remodeled, thus suggesting that this
problem had been successfully solved.

i. Law Enforcement Probiems, 1933-1942

There were no rangers stationed at Antietam National Battlefield
Site and National Cemetery from 1933 to 1942. Judging from the
superintendents' annual and monthly reports, there were no serious
law enforcement problems at the battlefield during these years,

In light of modern developments, it is interesting to note that

64,  Superintendent's annual report, June 30, 1934. The battlefield
asked for $5,000 to repair the old cemetery lodge in the spring of
1934,
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Superintendent Beckenbaugh reported that on May 19, 1939, two
officers of the Narcotic Division, Treasury Department

were here in reference to the "Marijuana" infestation. With
the Superintendent they thoroughly covered the infested
area and left it in the hands of the Superintendent to
destroy and hold in check with his Field Force. All the
infestation is on or near Government property in the
Burnside Bridge Section. We keep inclose touch with the
situation and cut out all plants as seen.
Officials visited again on May 11, 1940, and Beckenbaugh reported that
a number of marijuana plants 2 to 5 inches high were found “but so
far the quantity is much smaller than the last two years ..... At
present heaviest infestation seems to be along the O0.W. Burton and J.

W. Dorsey fence rows .... We will do everything possible to clear out
the early growth. .."66
i Land Acquisition Program, 1933-1942

John C. O'Connell, Jr., and J}. Carlton Godlove, historians of the
C.W.A. Historical Project, made a study of historical properties on the
battlefield and on January 17 and 18, 1934, presented their findings
and recommendations in a report entitled "Land We Should Take
Over.“w Superintendent Beckenbaugh at once accepted these
suggestions and included them as a part of his first annual report,
filed on June 30, 1934:

LAND PURCHASES AND IMPROVEMENTS

It seems the greatest drawback to any accomplishments at
this Site is the lack of proper land areas being owned by
the Government and it is most earnestly recommended that
some action to acquire certain lands here be taken as soon
as funds can be made available. Small areas can be
purchased at the road intersections for widening the
approaches and at various sharp and dangerous turns on the
avenues to remove these traffic hazards for a very small
amount of money.

The 8 dangerous curves could be eliminated by land pur-
chase of approximately $400 and the several avenue entrances
at Hagerstown Road and Boonsboro Road widened for
approximately $600 more, this seems to be a very small outlay

§5.  Superintendent's annual report, June 30, 1939.

66. R.G. 79, Box 2601, Beckenbaugh to B.M. Martin, District
Supervisor, Treasury Depariment, Bureau of Narcotics, May 11, 1940,
67. Copies of two reports, dated January 17 and 18, 1934, in park
historicat files. _
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horse-drawn carriages, to travel by speedy automobiles of the 1930s,

for the very vast improvement it would make in both the
looks and safety of the Field.

These acquisitions would, of course, help transform the War
Department roads that had been built in 1894-95 for the use of

Beckenbaugh had a second suggestion:

Seventy-five percent of the visitors to the Field ask where
is the Dunkard Church? Why is it not rebuilt? When this
old landmark was destroyed by a storm in 1924 [1921], the
Site was sold for $300 and most of the old material was
available for reconstruction, later the Site was re-sold for
$400, it is now held at $1,700 and aimost all the old material
has disappeared. The purchase and reconstruction of this
historic building and the use in same of what original
material is still available, is most urgently recommended.

His third suggestion was:

The purchase of the Colonial brick residence in the Public
Square in Sharpsburg, used by Gen. Lee on the night of
September 17, 1862, for a Council of War with his
Officers... This house at present bears a "For Sale" sign
and when it passes into other hands...it may be so changed
as not to again be of historical interest or to be advanced in
price as to make purchase prohibitive. |f impossible to buy
but possible to rent it is recommended that this house be
now rented for Field Headquarters, Museum  and
Superintendent's Lodge and the Field Flag be flown here
instead of at Philadelphia Brigade. The house is large
encugh for all the purposes mentioned.

His fourth and final recommendation was:

o stress the purchase, if same can in any way be
accomplished, of the West Woods, the only fine piece of old
timber left on the Field, alsoc the East and North Woo § area
and the other lands as set forth in our six year plan.

The Six~Year Land Program for Antietam National Battlefield Site,
dated May 27, 1935, estimated that $83,100 would be required to

purchase land as follows:

1938 fiscal year $18,800
1939 fiscal year 17,300
1940 fiscal year 18,000
1941 fiscal year 29,000

Total: i $83,700°°

68.
69.

Superintendent's annual report, June 30, 1934,

R.G. 79, Box 2604, File 600.02--Prepared by Oliver G. Taylor

and dated May 27, 1935,
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By June 30, 1935, the Natlonal Park Service had discovered that
the secretary of the interior lacked authority to accept even gifts of
land at the Antietam battlefield. Superintendent Beckenbaugh
explained the situation on June 30, 1935: '

Another need here is the ability to accept land by donation .
or purchase. Little or no improvements can be made at
Antietam except through land acquisition. The Burnside
Bridge and a section of the Smoketown Road have both been
offered by the County and the land owners, but no
authority to accept same is yet to be had. We feel that it
would be a great loss to let the Burnside Bridge disappear
as did the famous old Dunkard Church; also there is a
beautiful section of the famous old West Woods yet standing
and a picturesque old log farm house, fast going to ruin,
which quartered many of the Confederate officers the night
before the battle. These will all gradually follow the fate of
the Dunkard Church unless soon Government owned. There
is also need for a relocation of many of the cast iron
descriptive tablets from their present sites on the tops of
hills and at dangerous curves to some location with pa%ing
spaces where visitors may stop and read them in safety.

Using data provided by the C.W.A. Historical Survey "Brain
Trust," Superintendent Beckenbaugh suggested in 1934 an improvement
program for the battlefield which had an estimated price tag of
$90,000. He recommended:

1. "The taking over by the Federal Government and reconstruction of
Smoketown Road, now a county dirt road.... Approximate cost
$20,000."

2. "Acquisition of the site of the Dunkard Church and restoration of
the Church, Approximate cost $15,000."

3. WAdequate Headquarters and Office Building. Approximate Cost
$35,000..." to "be located as near as reasonably possible to the
punkard Church.,"

4. “Construction of Automobile Road from Burnside Bridge over to

McKinley monument, then to Sth N.Y. Zouaves half acre,... thence to
Rodman Avenue, approximately three quarters of a mile. Approximate
Cost: $20,000."""

75.  Superintendent's annual report, June 30, 1935.

71. "Program of Desired Improvements at Antietam Battlefield," 1934,
Other items without estimated costs, included 5. Repair of abandoned
lodge in cemetery and conversion into a museum. 6. Acquisition of
bits of land to make the avenues safer. 7. Erecting of comfort
station and parking space on Philadelphia Brigade Lot. 8. Increasing
the number of cannon for the field. Copy in historical park files.
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On February 25 and 26, 1937, a special team from the Washington
Office, composed of Tell W. Nicolet, resident landscape architect,
Branch of Plans and Design; Harper L. Garrett, assistant historian,
Branch of Historic Sites and Buildings; and Alfred D. Curradi,
assistant engineer, Branch of Engineering, met with Superintendent
Beckenbaugh "to wundertake a survey of the field and to make
recommendations concerning the acquisition of land deemed essential to
the proper development and interpretation of the s.ite."?2

This team of professionals recommended that these 15 tracts or
sites be acquired: '

A. Land Now Available Without Expense to the Government:
12,927 acres.

1. Philadelphia Brigade Park, 10.0 acres. City of
Philadelphia.

2. The 59th New York Monument, 0.27 acres. Qwner,
desires to transfer monument to Government. Smoketown and
Hagerstown Roads intersection.

3. The Lee Memorial Plot, Slightly more than one acre.
Owned by the West Virginia Division of the United Daughters of
Confederacy, who wish to give site to U.S. Sharpsburg-
Sheperdstown Road.

4, Maryland State Plot, one acre at intersection of the
Smoketown Road and Hagerstown Pike. Owned by Maryland, but
believe steps should be taken to transfer title to U.S.

B. Land to be Acquired by Purchase or Donation: About
66 acres,

1. Burnside Bridge and Adjacent Lands., The County

Commissioners of Washington County, Md. willing to deed bridge

to U.S. Sufficient land should be acquired on both sides of

Antietam Creek, both above and below bridge, to protect

abutments of bridge.

72. R.G. 79, Box 2602, File 207. Memorandum by the team to
Spalding, Taylor and Vint, February 27, 1937, together with "Special
Report--Antietamn National Battiefield, February 27, 1937," S pp.,
including one map, also 11 photos. Also blueprint--—Antietam National
Battlefield Site. February 1937--Showing land now owned by gift, 11
tracts of land to be acquired by purchase.”

174

¥ ' .1




2. Bloody Lane Section. 16 acres, including the Lowman
Farm, extending from Roulette Lane southeast o a point beyeond
the observation tower, thence southwest along Richardson
Avenue, .

3. West Woods, about 25 acres.

L. Fast Woods, about U4 acres.

5. Smoketown Road, from its junction with the Hagerstown
Pike to its intersection with Mansfield Avenue. This road is a-
part of the tour and at the present time is in a deplorable
condition.

6. North Woods, about 1 acre at the junction of
Confederate Avenue and Hagerstown Pike.

7. oth New York and 8th Connecticut Monuments. Land to
pr‘ovide for a roadway and a turn-around at the monuments.
These are located about 1,500 feet from the Harpers Ferry Road
and are only accessible by a walkway.

8. Vermont Monument, on plot 20' by 20!, 572 feet north of
Bloody Lane. Recommended that a plot of equal size be acquired
adjacent to Bloody lane, monument be relocated, and original site
deeded 1o owner in exchange for new plot.

9. Site of Sedgwick's Defeat. About 20 acres on the
Koogle Farm between the Philadeiphia Brigade Park and
Confederate Avenue.

10. Dunkard Church, about one-half acre, including
foundations of histori¢ landmark. "Negotiations are now underway
between the Washington County Historical Society-and the owner
for the purchase of the immediate site.?

11. 16th Connecticut plot. A narrow right-of-way from
Branch Avenue to the site. "Present access is a right-of-way
over a long farm lane that is almost impassible.”

Under "C. General Recommendations,” the team suggested:

1. All rights-of-way of present Government avenues should
be widened to a minimum of 50 feet,

2. The intersection of Richardson Avenue with the
Boonsboro Road should be changed te a point opposite Rodman
Avenue to eliminate the present steep grade. |
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3. The intersection of all park avenues with state and
county roads should be widened and all obstructions to a clear
vision removed. _

4, Eliminate the War Department's system of concrete post
and wire mesh fence and substitute fences of the type that
existed at the time of the battle! {Some 13 miles of fencing would
be changed!)

5. It is believed that certain cast iron tablets and granite
markers located along state and county roads and erected
by the War Department should be eliminated. Others, the text of

which are general in nature, should be grouped where possible,
and a turn-out provided to eliminate traffic hazard. However,
a more detailed study should be made of this problem.

6. It is recommended that consideration be given to the
acquisition of the Jacob H, Grove House in Sharpsburg for the
park headguarters, museum, and superintendent's quarters.

7. The present utility area and buildings appear to be
suitably located and adequate for all future park needs. It is
recommended, however, that provision be made for widening the
entrance to the area.

8. The acquisition of General McClellan's headquarters is
not recommended under existing conditions. The building is 2
miles east of present park headquarters and off the park tour.
Furthermore, the house is situated near the center of the large
and highly cultivated farm and in all probability could not be
acquired except through the purchase of the entire 1:r‘ac'£.73

ft is apparent that the basic ideas proposed by Superintendent
Beckenbaugh in 1934 were included in the 1937 report. On March 6,
1937, a Roads and Trails Program for fiscal years 1938 to 1943 in the
amount of $57,700 was submitted to the director. This included
$10,000 for rebuilding one~half mile of the Smoketown Road, $15,000
for repairing Burnside Bridge, $10,000 for rebuilding headwalls,
$2,500 for a road to Philadelphia Brigade Park and New York State
Plot, $5,000 for improving entrances, and $15,000 for resurfacing park

73. Special Report, February 27, 1937, 9 pp.

176




Latles Cross /tls

4

T

BE%wr
ooV

Shrte Aoad

Drerress e esaisiaris: ]
a/'p._‘a‘le.{e Stare Aoad in
- Gridge Bathletiel] Area

" -
ey L
i)
- -

ey \ Awnetare
s BATTLEFIELD
i ! —
__ g e Vil S lE
\) ‘Dinches =/ /e
177
y




roads.-“I Before much of this work could be done, however, the
United States had to acquire title to this property.

Years had passed and the secretary of the interior still had not
obtained from Congress the authority to either purchase land or accept
donations of land at Antietam National Battlefield Site,

Superintendent Beckenbaugh, however, worked to obtain key
historical lands by donation. In his annual report for the fiscal year
ending June 30, 1939, he was able to report:

The Superintendent had a number of meetings with members
of the Washington County Historical Society and with their
more influential directors and attended several of their
meetings and urged that they expend some of their funds
from the National Antietam Commemoration of 1937, for the
benefit of the Battlefield. The outcome was their purchase
at public sale of the Burnside Bridge [or Spong] Farm of
125 acres for $2,350.00, and their option on a strip of land
on the opposite side of the Antietam Creek, containing 3%
acres. This gave them control of all the approach land to
the Burnside Bridge, the land on which the bridge is
erected, a long stretch of old stone walls which were used
as Union breastworks in the attack oL the bridge and a
lovely area on both banks of the Creek,

The Washington County Historical Society hoped to donate this
property to the battlefield.76 _ _

In September 1939, the historical society closed its option on the
3.5060~acre J. Wesley Dorsey Farm and acquired title to that property
which was at the Burnside Bridge on the opposite side of the creek to
the Spong Farm.n '

On January 19, 1940, Superintendent Beckenbaugh sadly informed
the director of changes in the historical scene that were then
cccurring, writing: "Nine enormous oak trees in West Woods cut and
hauled away for lumber....The largest of these near 66 inches in

diameter and rings indicate it about 300 years old."78

74. R.G. 79, Box 2605, File 630. March 6, 1937,

75. Superintendent's annual report, June 30, 1939. Also--R.G. 79,
Box 2601, Memo to Dr, Francis S. Ronalds, Chief, Historic Sites
Division, Branch of History, March 13, 1939, remeeting with
Washington County Historlcal Society set by Beckenbaugh and attended
by Ronalds, Harry Thompson and Historian Maj, Joseph Hanson.

76. tbid., Memo of Director Arno B. Cammerer to Edward M. Tenny,
President of Washington County Historical Society, March 16, 1939,
thanking the Society for the offer.

77. Superintendent's annual report, June 30, 1940,
78. R.G. 79, Box 2605. File 660-0,4.1, :
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Finally, in an act approved May 14, 1920, Congress enacted a iaw
directing:

That the Secretary of the Interior is hereby authorized, in

his discretion, to acquire in behalf of the United States,

through donations or by purchase at prices deemed by him

reasonable or by condemnation in accordance with the Act of

August 1, 1888 (25 Stat. 357}, lands, buildings, structures,

and other property, or interest therein, which he may

determine to be of historical interest in connection with the

Antietam Battlefield site, the title to such property or

interests to be satisfactory to the Secretary of the Interior.

Provided that payment for such property and interests shall

be a part of the Antietam Battlefield Site and 593]1 be

subject to all laws and regulations applicable thereto.

The way was now clear to add gifts of land to the Antietam
battlefield. On July 6, 1940, the West Virginia Division of the United
Daughters of the Confederacy presented the deed to the one-acre
Robert E. Lee Memorial plot to Superintendent Beckenbaugh in a
ceremony held at the battlefield.80

On September 2, 1940, the 10.9-acre Philadelphia Brigade Park
was donated to the park in a similar ceremony.81

On October 22, 1940, 17 days after the death of Superintendent
Beckenbaugh, the Washington County Historical Society presented the
Nationa! Park Service with the deeds for the Spong and Dorsey Farms
at the Burnside Bridge, totaling 128.588 acres.82

As of September 3, 1943, Antietam National Battlefield Site
measured 193.4 acres of government owned land.

1t will be noted that during the period 1933 to 1942, Congress
refused to grant the secretary of the interior the authority to purchase
tand for Antietam Battlefield with federal funds. Accordingly,

Congress voted no funds for the acquisition of lands.

79. U.S. Statutes at Large, Vol. 54, p. 212,

80. R.G. 79, Box 2601, File 601. Also Superintendent's Monthly
Report for July 1940.

81. Superintendent's monthly report for September 1940,

82. Superintendent's monthly report for October 1940-prepared by lda
F. Mongan, Acting Supt. The Spong Farm contained 125.082 acres
and the Dorsey Farm, 3.5060 acres,
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.. National Park Service Expenditures
From August 10, 1933, to June 30, 1938, the National Park Service
expended $31,360.62 from regular park appropriations for the

administration, maintenance, repair, and operation of Antietam National
Battlefield Site (see chart on following page for annual outlay), In
addition, during the same period, the National Park Service alsc spent
approximately $42,076.32 from Federal Civil Relief Funds on the
following nine projects:

Civil Works Administration Historical Survey $3,046,88
Civit Works Administration Labor Project--Philadelphia
Brigade 2,4827.19
Total 1933-34 C,W.A. Funds: $5,474.,07
1934 F.E,R.A. Project 22-B19-37-Building Fences 120,00
1934 F.E,R.A. Project 22-B19-35-Clearing East and West
Woods 728.00
1934 F.E.R.A. Project 22-B19-62~-Removal of Dead Trees 85.00
1934 F.E.R.A. Project 22-B19-Removal of weeds and vines 2,814,25
Total 1934 F.E.R.A. Funds 3,347.25
1933-35 Public Works Project 385-Administration-Resurfacing
Roads 19,800.00

1934-36 P,W, Administration Project 420-Repairs to Monuments 4,500,080
1835-36 P.W. Project No. 605-Repairs and Alterations to

Old Cemetery Lodge 8,955.00
Total 1934-1936 Public Works Administration funds expended $33,255.00
Total of Relief Funds $42,076.32
Total of Reguiar Park Expenditures 31,360.62
Total of Expenditures, 1933-June 30, 1938: $73,436.94

This total does not include any of the monies that were spent on
Antietam National Cemetery during the same period, 1933-1938.

l, Interpretive Services, 1933-1842
In his statement to Congress in January 1929, Director Albright

informed the Committee on Military Affairs that the National Park
Service, if given charge of the National Military Parks, would improve
operations at those historic sites by introducing "educational" (now
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catled interpretive) activities and facilities that would include guided
tours, lectures, leaflets, booklets, and museums, to “interpret the
parks and explain the history of them" to park visitors. We shall see
how the National Park Service carried out this promise during the
period 1933 to 1942,

(1} Guided Tours. On his first inspection of Antietam
Battlefield Site, October 10, 1933, Coordinating Superintendent
McConaghie reported:

It has been learned that two persons living in the town of
Sharpsburg conduct visitors over the Battlefield Site and
explain the movements of troops during the battie. They
have not been required to pass an examination to determine
their fitness nor have they been licensed by the Government
[as was the practice at Gettysburgl. It is understood that
they do not as a general rule solicit on the highways but
conduct visitors who request them to do so. A further
study of this phase of Elge situation will be made and
reported on at a later date,

In his first annual report for the battlefield, dated June 30,
1934, Superintendent Beckenbaugh wrote:

A supervised guide service seems to be needed here, as at
present any person so desiring can set themselves up as
guides with no supervision over the historical correctness of
their stories. Tourists know this area is under the National
Park Service and they naturally think there is some
supervision over guides and they employ them in good faith,
taking for granted that their version of the battle is the
correct one in every detail. It is recommended that the
Historical Division set a guide's examination ggre and only
such as pass same be allowed to act as guides.

In his report for the fiscal year ending June 30, 1935,
Beckenbaugh wrote: "Every effort has been made to discourage the
use of the self-appointed guides at this site," and a mimeographed
self-guiding pamphlet was handed out to visitors as a substitute for
both the self-appointed guides and the missing National Park Service

guides or ranger historians.ﬂ5

The self-appointed guide system at
Antietam, never a large-scale and serious problem as at Gettysburg,
was apparently resolved and the system ended in 1935, as there is no

further mention of the subject.

83. R.G. 79, Box 2699, File 013 - Part [, to Director, October 20,
1933.

84. Annual report for fiscal year ending June 30, 1934.
85. Annual report, June 30, 1936,
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Of the nine summer travel seasons between 1933 and 1342 when
the National Park Service could have provided a guide because of the
funding situations, a ranger-historian was employed during only four
of those seasons, from two to three months each year. There were no
guides during the summers of 1933, 1934, and 1935.

in his annuai repori for the fiscal year ending June 30, 1339,
Superintendent Beckenbaugh reported "In our regular appropriation
for 1936, we were given a smail amount for a Ranger-Historian for the
months of the heaviest tourist travel, and Mr. Thomas L. Loy who
had been a Ranger-Historian at Fort Necessity and Fort McHenry
during the summer of 1935, was appointed to duty here and entered on
same May 25 [1936]."86 Loy had also served as second Iin
command on the C.W.A. Historical Survey Project at Antietam in
1933-34., The secretary of the interior appointed Loy on May 19 to the
position of ranger-historian, Grade 8 at a salary of $1,800 per
::nfmum,87 There was no ranger-historian employed at Antietam during
the summers of 1937, 1938, and 1939.%%

George K. Gelbau entered on duty on July 1, 1940, and served as

39 Harry Russ Sheely

ranger-historian for two months in 1940.
90

served as ranger-historian from June 8 to September '12, 1941,
From September 1, 1941, to January 15, 1943, Edward Steere,
assistant  historical technician, served as the first full-time
professionally trained historian at Antietam National Battlefield Si'ce.91

The men employed as ranger-historians at Antietam were usually
young college men who did the best they could. They were not
trained historians and the National Park Service did not provide
training or even models of what they considered to be adequate
orientation talks, or guided tours. There was also no professional

86. Annual Report, June 30, 1936.

87. R.G. 79, Box 2606--File 833.05--Museums.

88. There is no mention of their employment in the annual reports
for those years. '

8. Annual Report for Fiscal Year ending June 30, 1840,

g0. Monthly Reports of Superintendent, June and September 1941,
91, Monthly Reports of Superintendent and also of Mr. Steere,

1941-43.
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- Conducted Visitors to No. Actually  Total of Total of
1940 Auto Lectures on Battlefield Visiting Contacted Visitors of
Month Caravans Field QOffice Museum Visitors Battlefield
April o1 - 32 1 - 32 137 137 838
May 2 - 47 3~ 65 149 149 4,689
June 1 - 184 2 - 165 1,170 ) 1,170 2,156
July 1,369 1,369 4,107
August 1,223 1,101 3,057
September 1 - #5 1 - 50 2,220 2,220 6,660
(—):':_tober 545 545 1,635
November 248 248 734
December 82 82 246
o ®
January 33 33 99
February 45 45 135
March 158 158 474
April 1 - 22 571 _ 571 2,225
May 3 - &7 3 - 67 760 760 5,834
June 3 - 383 355 761 761 3,147
I;y 549 1,098 1,098 3,348
August 766 1,532 1,532 7,255
September 1 - 40 579 1,158 508" 1,158 3,306
Octcber 475 351 475 1,966
November. 344 274 o 34y 1,637
December 136 76 136 564

32



Conducted Visitors to No. Actually Total of Total of
1940 Auto Lectures on Battlefield Visiting Contacted Visitors of
Month Caravans Tield Gffice Museum Visitors Battiefieid
January 157 34 157 313
February 48 42 48 236
March 128 74 128 307
April 1 - 22 571 571 2,225
TOTAL 14802 2,628 14,995 1,359 19,995 57,163

Method of counting visitors for interpretive purposes, 1940-42:

(1)
(2)

. £3)

Actua! Number of visitors counted at the Battlefield Office.

Number of persons who actually visited the Museum.

Cemetery.

1st Floor, Old Lodge.

2nd Floor, Old Lodge,

Weekday total arrived at by multiplying 3 times the actual contacts at Office.
On Sunday multiply 5 times the actual contacts at the (ffice to get the approx-
imate number of visitors over the entire battlefield.
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supervision, other than that of the superintendent, tc ensure that the

ranger-historian fully understood the story of the battle of the
;ﬂmtietam.92

With the battlefield open from 8 a.m. to 5 p.m. daily, seven days
a week, and only two uniformed men on duty-—-the battlefield
superintendent and the ranger-historian available to contact visitors—-it
was not possible to give conducted or guided tours during the heavy
travel season, except in the cases of organized groups that had made
special ‘arrangements in advance. Thus detailed figures for a 24-month
period, April 1940 to March 1942, for which data are available, indicate
that out of the estimated 54,938 persons to visit the battlefield, only
13 conducted auto or bus tours with 780 people were made and only |
2,628 visitors were contacted by lectures given on the battlefield.
{See chart on preceding pages.} The greatest number, 14,424, were
contacted when they visited the park administrative office, located on
the first floor of the old (1867) cemetery ljodge adjacent to the public
comfort station, and the park museum, situated in two rooms on the

second floor of the old Iodge.g3

Regardless of the presumed merits of guided tours and lectures,
it is clear that with the Antietam small interpretive staff, these were
not effective ways to reach the largest possible number of interested
visitors. For this a self-guiding leaflet had to be developed.

{2) Educational or Interpretive Literature, 1933-1942, Three mem-

bers of the C.W.A. Historical Survey Team of 1933-34-namely J. Cariton

92. This situation prevailed at all parks with small staffs that lacked
professional trained historians during the 1930s and 1940s. Fulil-time
park historians were also given no training in interpretation and
museum care., It was a case of sink or swim, Remarks based on the
experience of the author as park historian at Saratoga National
Historical Park, 1948-51,

- 93, "Inspection of Interpretation Program, Antietam National
Battlefield Site," April 11, 1981, by associate historical technician
Ralston B. Lattimore: "Guide Service." There is no regular guide

service at Antietam, Special parties or school groups, by making
arrangements in advance, are conducted over the area by the

' . custodian., Orientation: Antietam has neither the personnel nor the

facilities for properly orienting visitors. The small staff, to the best
of its ability and in most courteocus manner provides visitors with

- . directions for touring the parks, but no attempt is made to give an

introductory interpretive lecture or a general narrative. R.G. 79,
Box 2606, File 840,
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Godlove, Thomas L. Loy, and John O'Connell, Jr.--worked up a
seif-guiding plan and map for the use of visitors that also included a
1,000 word account of the battle.gq Employing these data,
Superintendent Beckenbaugh prepared the text and cemetery
superintendent Taute drafted two maps for a self-guiding leaflet of
seven pages that was issued to interested visitors in 1935.9‘
Superintendent Beckenbaugh described this publication:

a mimeographed pamphlet containing a map of the field, a list
of important happenings along the various roads and avenues
and a short story on the battle, is available to all visitors as
a self-guiding system and has worked very satisfactorily,
Eight signs have been placed along the road directing the
visitors to the Park Office [in the Cemetery 1867 ngge]
where these pamphiets and information may be obtained.

Several thousand were distributed in 1936.

This seven-page booklet continued to be issued to visitors during
the 1930s and was still in use as late as 1945,%7 |

A three-page version of the mimeographed self-guiding leaflet was

also issued ca. 1940 as a supplement to the informational folder.

94. Reports in Antietam Park Files for C.W.A. Projects.

95, R.G. 79, Box 2602. File 207. Memorandum to Superintendent,
Gettysburg NMP, from assistant historical technician Edward Steere,
October 2, 1941, summarizing historical work done at Antietam,
1933-1941. "Item B-1 ANTIETAM BATTLEFIELD SITE MAP &
DESCRIPTION OF THE BATTLE OF ANTIETAM. Text by the Late
Supt. Jno. Kyd Beckenbaough. Maps and design by National Cemetery
Superintendent Carl M. Taute, Mimeographed, 7 pp." Leaflet issued
in July 1935, see Monthiy Report of Supt., Antietam, for July 1935.
g6. Annual Report for fiscal year ending June 30, 1935, and June
30, 1936.

97. 1945 edition found in R.G. 79, Box 2602, File 632. However in
*Inspection of Interpretive Program, Antietam National Battlefield Site,
April 11, 1941, by associate historical technician Ralston 8.
Lattimore: "An effective sketch map, attached to several mimeo-
graphed sheets containing pertinent information and directions for
touring the battlefield, was formerly distributed at Antietam, and,
inasmuch as no regular guide service is offered at the park, | suggest
that the old (1935} map be revised and multilithed for distribution with
the (new 1940 2-feld) leaflet. The multilithing can be done in the
Richmond Office, if the park will defray the costs of materials and
tabor." R.G. 79, Box 2606, File 840.
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In 1950 the National Park Service issued a printed six-page
informational folder entitled Antietam National Battlefield Site,

Sharpsburg, Maryland, for visitor use. Six by eight inches in size,

the leaflet featured a brief historical and descriptive statement on the
site and national cemetery; a brief narrative of the 1862 Antietam
campaign and significance of the battle; statements concerning
accessibility of site, acreage, and interpretive services offered; and a
map indicating park roads, principal histeric points, and five photo
‘reproductions. Data for this free folder were apparently supplied by
assistant historical technician Frederick Tilberg of Gettysburg National
Military Park.’®

The first version lacked self-guiding features, which resulted in
the continued use at the park of the seven-page mimeographed
pamphtet, Revised editions of the free six-page printed folder were
still in use in the 1960s. About 25,000 copies of the 1940 edition were
received at the park on November 12, 1940, and a second shipment of
25,000 copies of the six-page folder was delivered on May 1, 191&2.gg

Perhaps spurred by Director Albright's remarks about booklets
prepared and sold about National Park Service areas in January 1929,
the office of the quartermaster general had completed a draft (74
typéd pages} for a pamphlet on "Antietam Battlefield" by
September 25, 1930, which it proposed to publish and make available
for distribution to the general public through the superintendent of
documents. This text included the final (March 18, 1898}
Repo'rt of the War Department's Antietam Board, a 13-page

single~-spaced detailed account of the battle, and a 56-page list

98. Description of Assistant Historical Technician Edward Steere!
memo of October 2, 1941 to Superintendent, Gettysburg NMP, Item
B-3.

99. Monthly reports of the Supt., November 1840 and May 1942,

' R.G., 79, Box 2606--File 840--"Inspection of interpretive Program,
Antietam..., April 11, 1941," by Ralston B. Lattimore: Map of the
Park. There is a very good map of Antietam National Battlefield Site
- on the back of the [new 13%40] 2-fold leaflet which is distributed free
at headquarters. This map, however, does not suggest a route to
follow on a tour of the battlefield.
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describing and glving the location and history of some 91 monuments
on the battlefield. The booklet was never published and the
document, which might have proved useful to the Natlonal Park Service
during the 1930s, remained unknown and forgotten in the War
Department ﬁles.mo

In 1939 or earfy 1940 assistant historical technician Tiiberg of
Cettysburg NMP was assigned the task of writing the draft of a
16~page booklet on Antletam battlefield that was to be printed and sold
by the Superintendent of Documents. Dr, Tilberg submitted hls
manuscript to the reglonal director, Region One, Richmond, Virginia,
on Novefnber 4, 1940, This consisted of a four-thousand word
narrative of the campaign, battle, and estimate of the historical
significance of the battle; a blbllographical statement; a list of 16
photographs with their captions, a description of the Michler Map of
the battlefleld, drawn in 1867, and showing war-time culture, with
trace of original Confederate defensive line; description of map in
process of preparation by associate landscape architect Walter H,
Sheffield, and a dummy and suggested cover for the bookiet. The
16-page booklet, Antietam National Battlefield Site, Maryland, was
published by the superintendent of documents in 1941 and was sold by
his office and also at the battlefield for 10 cents a copy. The booklet
remalned in print during the 1940s and 1550s, finally being replaced
hy a u48~-page historical handbook also written by Dr. Tilberg and
published in 1960.101

Both the 6~page folder and 16-page booklet were based on
competent research In published secondary sources. No orlginal
research, however was done as background to wrlting these
publicatlons, The seven years' work of the Antletam Board, Including
their findings regarding the errors of the 1867 Michler map and the
erroneous marking of the Confederate llne, remalned lost In the War
Department files and unknown to Natlonal Park Service historlans from

1933 to clate.w2

100. R.G. 79-Box 2601, File 0-31-Historical Data.

101. R.G. 79, Fille 207. Memo of Steere to Supt, GCettysburg,
QOctober 2, 1941, Item B-6. Manuscript consisted of 24 pages. Also
Superintendent's Monthly Report, Antietam, October 6, 1940, Tllberg at
Antletam gathering data for booklet on Antletam,

102. See Chapter |Il, page 7%, Board's report of January 8, 1894, for

findings on 1867 map. 189



Because of the initiative shown by Battlefield Superintendent
Beckenbaugh and Cemetery Superintendent Taute, Antietam National
Battlefield Site had a useful mimeographed self-guiding leaflet available
for interested visitors from July 1935 onwards. Five years later, in
November 1940 a respectable six-page printed general informationat
free folder became available, followed in 1941 by a good 16~page
baooklet priced at 10 cents for the use of persons interested in the
battle.

(3) The Museum and Library. The C.W.A. Historical Survey

Project personnel, namely S. Calvin Mumma, in a paper dated January
17, 1934, had urged the establishment of a museum for the battlefield,
investigated the possibility of obtaining relics for the museum, and in
a separate report also prepared an extensive bibliography of books
relating to the struggle. Superintendent Beckenbaugh accepted these
suggestions and in his first annual report, for fiscal year ended June
30, 1934, he commented:

During the progress of our C.W.A. Historical Project
considerable interest was gotten up in the community for the
establishment of a Museum and quite a few relics were
donated or loaned and many others promised as soon as a
suitable place could be secured for. Enough were promised
or in sight for a most creditable display but, unfortunately,
it has not yet been possible to make any provisions to take
care of same.... :

Superintendent Beckenbaugh suggested:

The fitting up the second story of the old [1867] stone lodge

at the Cemetery entrance as a temporary Museum couid be

done at a very little extra expense over what will be

necessary for the actual repairs to the building, which is in
such bad condition that some repﬂﬁs will have to be made to
same if used as a Museum or not.

As has been mentioned, the old cemetery lodge was repaired
under contract between October 7, 1935, and March 5, 1936, at a cost
of $8,500. The first floor contained the battlefield superintendent's
office in the front room, and the public comfort station in the rooms to
the rear. "Two rooms were finished on the second floor to house the

new museum and one small room as a stock room for stationery and

103. Supt.'s annual report, June 30, 1934,
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supplies," Beckenbaugh reported in his annual report for the fiscal

year ending June 30, 1936. He also commented proudly:

When the area was taken over by the National Park Service
in August 1933, there was not a single museum exhibit at
this Site. We have now collected by gifts and loans, quite a
good collection of uniforms, guns, swords, pistols, dirks,
spurs, cannon balls, musket balls, pictures, Confederate
currency, etc., as well as having buiit up a smaii Library of
twenty some volumes, with the promise of more books and
more relics from several reliable sources,

There has been set up for Antietam for Museum purposes a
sum sufficient to equip our two rooms with plate glass wall
cases, 2 table cases and a floor case and a seven page
Multiplex [self guiding leaflet], some of which equipment
has already been delivered and placed in position. [For
funds, see Chart on page 177.]

In July 1936 Beckenbaugh noted, "Dr. Morris Titiev, Museum
Curator, and Col. Thomas L. Hefferman, Historical Technician [both of
the Washington Office], spent some days here working on our
Historical and Museum Projects."wq

By June 30, 1937, Beckenbaugh reported "we now have on
display 230 articles, exclusive of pictures, and a number of our
exhibits are of very great value.

"Not having sufficient personnel to give proper supervision, it is
impossible to have the museum open at all times, but we' do take care
of as many visitors as possible." |

He also wrote:

Our library has grown from a nucleus of 12 or 15 books
turned over from the War Department to 121 volumes. Many
are very valuable and include the library of 68 volumes of
the late Gen., Henry Kyd Douglas, C.5.A., recently
- presented to lbkge Service by his nephew, Supt. John Kyd
Beckenbaugh,

104. Supt.’s Annual Report, June 30, 1936. The equipment, June 30,
1937, is listed as one large floor case, one wall case, two table cases,
and a seven-page Multiplex.

105. Supt.'s Annual Report, June 30, 1837. Also R.G. 79, Box
2606-File 740.02.2-Relics. On April 27, 1937, Supt. John Kyd
Beckenbaugh presented the historical Library of Antietam National
Battlefield Site with 68 volumes on "the War Between the States" from
the library of his uncle, the Late General Henry Kyd Douglas of
Maryland. Douglas served with the Confederate Army, 1861-65. The
National Park Service formally accepted the gift on June 4, 1937,
Data on relics given in 1938 can be found in R.G. 79, Box 2602, File
833-Exhibits-General,
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On May 20, 1942, the Park Library was enlarged by 128 volumes
when one complete set of the Official Records of the War of the

Rebellion was transferred from Morristown National Historical Park,
N.J., to ad!\ntie'cam.106

Other National Park Service officials who had not been involved in
the birth pains of the small improvised Antietam museum were not so
impressed with the results of Superintendent Beckenbaugh's extensive
efforts.

In a report evaluating the interpretive facilities and program at
Antietam, associate historical technician Ralston B. Lattimore of the
Washingtoh QOffice wrote in regard to the park museum on April 11,
1941;

Museum., Two small rooms on the second floor of the head-
quarters building are used for museum purposes. These
rooms are reached by an outside entrance and a narrow,
steep flight of stairs. The exhibits include relics picked up
on the battlefield, miscelianeous objects, more or less related
to the battle or the War Between the States [the Civil War],
assembled by gift or loan, manuscripts, photograph displays,
and maps. The arrangement of the exhibits is poor and not
in keeping with National Park Service standards, nor are the
exhibit rooms suitable for museum purpgses.

Some thought should be given to the possibility of
remodeling the headquarters building by the addition of a
wing at the rear to provide space for a lecture halt and
museunt, ...

The present headquarters building is probably adequate for
administrative purposes but is inadequate to the needs of the
interpretive program. The cemetery site, however, is an
ideal Iocq’g?n for a combination administration and museum
building.

The reader must not be mislead by historian Lattimore's remarks
regarding Antietam's little museum failing to meet "National Park
Service standards." '

106, Supt.'s monthly report for May 1942,
107. R.G. 79, Box 2606, File 846, Inspection of Interpretation
Program, Antietam National Battlefield Site, April 11, 1941,
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Many of the historical areas east of the Mississippi River, with

but few exceptions, had similar improvised amateur museums
functioning well into the 1950s. %8 |

The National Park Service, however, had plans for constructing a
permanent museum on the Antietam battlefield. On May 9, 1941
associate landscape architect Sheffield submitted a project construction
program to erect such a structure--a stone building 25 feet by 50
feet, to be in the national cemetery between the office (old lodge)

and the cemetery superintendent's residence, The cost of the
proposed museum was estimated at $40,000.10g

On November 4, 1941, in a remarkable memorandum, Regional
Director Thomas J. Allen, Region One, Richmond, commented on this
plan: '

The approved master plan calls for a museum for Antietam,
but | seriously doubt that we are justified in putting in a
$40,000 building for this purpose at this location. An
extensive structure such as this seems to me to be
completely out of place in the development of a small
historical area such as Antietam National Battlefield Site. It
is no doubt true that sufficient exhibits could probably be
found with which to stock the museum but it is my feeling
that our purpose at Antietam is to interpret the field action
that took place there and that an elaborate museum display
is not necessary in doing this, A modest display of certain
interesting relics would not be objectionable but | believe
this could be adequately taken care of by providing space in
the office or administration building and without the
necessity of constructing a separate building for this
purpose.

it is recommended tl'ﬁb the attached project construction form

be not approved....

Coordinating Superintendent Coleman, who had approved the
proposal on July 23, 1941, was asked to comment. He responded on

November 17, writing:

108. Improvised museum at Saratega National Historical Park,
established by the State of New York in 1927, and inherited by the
National Park Service in 1940, in 1948 still featured of cannon
balls, musket balls, buttons picked up on the battlefield, numerous
civil war muskets and swords, no revolutionary weapons, a bolt off the
battleship Maine and "Col. Daniel Morgan's Candlestick, left by a
passing motorist." Similar collections were found when the author
visited Colonial National Historical Park in Virginia, in 1951.

109, R.G. 79, Box 2606, File 833.05.

110. Ibid., Alien to Director, November 4, 1941, copy to Supt.
Coleman.
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....ln my opinion, two basic factors should be considered in
deciding whether or not the museum is desirable, First,
what is the importance of the event memorialized in American
History? Second, to what extent is a museum needed in
teiling the story of this event to the public?

The first factor, namely the importance of the Battle of
Antietam, is a matter of general agreement...it is generally
agreed that no other Civil War battle was more important
than Antietam with the exception of Gettysburg. The
Federal holding at Antietam is small because of the fact that
the local economy was not of a nature to jeopardize proper
preservation of the field. In other words, it was not
necessary to buy very much land on which the battle was
fought in order to restrict private developments as the latter
would not constitute a problem at Antietam.

With regard to the second point as to whether or not the
museum is needed to tell this particular story, it is realized
that there is room for considerable difference of opinion. It
would appear, on the surface, that a museum at Antietam is
as well justified as at Manassas, Chickamauga, or Fredericks-
burg. | do not believe, however, that precedent should be
a determining factor because museums may possibly be
overdeveloped in the areas mentioned. The addition of
another building is objectionable in itself and if the story
can be told properly without it, then it should, of course,
be eliminated from our plans.

Coleman then suggested the possiblity of moving the administra-
tive office to the second floor of the old cemetery lodge and placing
the museum in one or two rooms on the first floor of the structure.
In conclusion he wrote:

My reaction to your memorandum, therefore, is that while we
should not underestimate the importance of a museum, we
should give every consideration to altering this present
building to”s'uit our needs rather than building a new
structure. ..

On January 8, 1942, Director Newton B. Drury informed Regional
Director Allen that a new $40,000 administrative-museum structure
would be required at Antietam but that some site other than in the
national cemetery must be found. He explained:

...l am not convinced that museum needs there will always
be adequately met by the limited existing facilities of the
renovated cemetery lodge supplemented with interpretive
devices in the open. 1 am of the opinion that faciiities for

111, R.G. 79, Box 2602, File 833.05.
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administration and interpretation serve most efficiently when
combined in one building and | therefore suggest that a
future administration-museum structure to cost not more than
$40,000 be given consideration.

With regard to the need for a new site for the structure, he

wrote:
To locate such a building in the cemetery tract presents
definite disadvantages. In that location, area for parking

will always be insufficient. The obligation to contrive an

attractive building in harmony with the Victorian Gothic

lodge and the nondescript [1927-28] stuccoed residence of

the custodian, both so close at hand, will be a problem

difficult to solve. | propose that other locations for a

future administration-museum building be studied and

weighed. The vicinity of the observation tower,, for
instance, may offer a convenient and receptive site...

The Region One Office proposed a new site for the administra-
tive-interpretive building on February 1%, which Associate Director
Arthur E. Demaray accepted on behaif of the director, writing on
February 28, 1942: "The New York and Maryland plot would seem to
be a desirable location for a museum building and we understand that
this location will be indicated in the 1942 Master Plan edition" for
Antietam National Battlefield Site.“3

By early 1942 then, it had been decided that a new administra-
tion-museum structure with a price tag of about $40,000 would be
constructed on the New York-Maryland plot on the Hagerstown Road;
the purpose being to replace the inadequate facilities that had been
located in the old stone cemetery lodge since 1936. |t was on the same
New York and Maryland plot that the War Department had proposed
erecting a limestone combined battlefield superintendent's lodge, office
and public comfort station for $22,000 in 1931,

(4) Plans for Trailside Exhibits, 1938-1942. In May 1938
associate historian T. Sutton Jett visited Antietam battlefield and
submitted "Recommendations for Additional Interpretive Facilities on the

Antietam Battlefield.” He pointed out:

112, lbid.
113. lbid.
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There appears to be little possibility that the personnel of
this area will be increased sufficiently in the near future to
support more than the self-guide method now employed. For
this reason every effort should be made to make the battle
as easlly understood by the self-guided tourist as possible,
The existing numerous [about 250] and technical War
Department markers, and the confusing road system make it
almost impossible for the layman to understand the major
military movements, and their outcome, This is caused
primarily by the lack of facilities on the ground to show the
visitor where the opposing lines were located when the battle
began with the result that there can be little conception of
the Federal battle-plan or the result of its execution....

Jett than recommended preparation of four outdoor maps to give
the desired background, and to trace step-by-step the successive
stages of the conflict.

He warned:

In the construction of these maps it should be remembered
that simplicity Is a major objective, They are designed to
give information on the more significant battle events, not

the operations of regiments or brigades. For this reason it

is suggested that where possible only the names of army

commanders and corps commanders be shown.... The maps at

Stones River are especially good in this respect., The

greatest care should be exercised to make cilear where the

map Is located on the ground. A large star, or "You Are

Here" (with arrow) can be used....

Map no. 1, lJett suggested, should be placed In the national
cemetery and Cope map no. 1--daybreak, September 17, could be used
as Its basis; map no. 2 would be on Mansfleld Avenue, utllizing Cope
map no, 7, 8:30 to B:40 a.m, as the basis; map no. 3 should be on
Bloody Lane and based on Cope map no. 11, 1 p.m. September 17; and
map no. 4 would use Cope map no. 14, 8:30 p.m., September 17, to
show the final positions of the two armies.

After the outdoor maps had been erected, then the seif-guiding
leaflets should be revised, both text and maps, to Include the
trail-side exhlbits. Historlan Jett noted that Fredericksburg and
Spotsylvania Natlonal Military Park, the Stones River National Military
Park, and the Richmond National Battlefield Park were all using this

type of exhlb!t.”q

114, R.G. 79, Box 2602, File 207, Jett to Mr. Lee, May 28, 1938,
Washington Office.
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Hanson's detailed study entitied "A Report on the Preliminary
. Survey for the Location of Four Battlefield Maps at Antletam National
Battlefleid Site, Maryland," nine pages and two maps, was submitted to
the regional director on October 18, 1938, He pointed out that "the
limited amount of land owned by the United States on the Antietam
fleld areatly restricts the number of desirable locations avatlable,
unless it should become practicable, at some particularly favorable
points, to acquire additional small tracts by donation or purchase, or
to accomplish easements." positions for four maps, with some
alternative locations, were outlined. Map No. 1 would go on Cornfield
Avenue: No. 2 in the New York-Maryland park, opposite the site of
the Dunkard Church; No. 3 would go on Bloody Lane near the
observation tower; and map No. 4 would go on Branch Avenue to explain
the Burnside Bridge operations.“5
By the end of 1938 Superintendent Beckenbaugh was well
supplied with ideas for battle maps to be placed on the field as
trailside exhibits; he was not, however, glven the assistance of the
technicians who were necessary to design and construct the maps. In
. his inspection of the interpretive program, Antietam National Battiefield
Site, dated April 1941, associate historical technician Lattimore thus
described existing conditions with regard to historical markers and
exhibits:

The battlefield is generously supplied with cast iron
narrative markers erected by the War Department, but the
texts of these markers are in too much detail and do not
tend to give the visitor a simple, concise narrative of the
pattle. Avenues and roads are well marked with small iron
signs, which, however, would be more effective if painted
regulation National Park Service colors, green lettering on a
white background. Needed along the battlefield tour route
are a half dozen or more simple narrative markers, numbered
1, 2, 3, 4, etc., to tell why the battle was fought, to
describe the battle in chronological order, and to explain the
significance of the battie in American history. These special
narratives should be written in simple language in as few
words as possible. They should be executed in lettering
large enough to be read with ease; the lines should be short
and well spaced. No narrative marker should be erected
without a pullout to enabie the motorist to drive completely
off the highway.

. 195, R.G. 79, Box 2602, File 207. Jett to Mr. Lee, May 28, 1938,
washington Office,
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Of the "Qutdoor Interpretive Exhibits" he wrote, "Two good maps

of the battlefield and vicinity have been prepared for use out-of-doors

116

at the National Cemetery and at Crampton's Gap. These two maps

may have been prepared by J. William Schnebly, the engineer and
draftsman of the C.W.A. Historical Project team, in 1934,
As to the "Contact Personnel," Lattimore wrote:

At present the public is contacted only by the cemetery
custodian, the clerk, or during the summer by a
ranger-historian. There is a great need for trained
historical aides, of which there should be at least one on a
permanent basis and one seasonal.

With regard to the possible use of women at the park, he

commented "1 do not recommend the use of women for contact work in

117

this area.," Perhaps Antietam was more dangerous in the 1940s,

(3) The Failure to Develop an Adeqguate Interpretive Program,
1933-1942, EvaIUating the interpretive program at Antietam in April
1941, historian Lattimore was surprised to find the park in such an
underdeveloped state. He wrote:

The Battle of Antietam [or Sharpsburg], September 17,
1862, was one of the major engagements of the War Between
the States, the results of which were of great significance in
the history of the nation. Nevertheless, from an interpre-
tive standpoint the park has been neglected. Relatively
small in area with few developed features, Antietam has been
overshadowed by the much larger and more spectacular
Gettysburg, which is less than 50 miles distant from it. The
real importance of the area and its potential interest seems
to have been overiooked by both the visiting public and the
National Park Service. The lack of interest in this park and
the consequent failure of government agencies to develop and
promote it have been a blessing, however, for the absence
of modern improvements Antietam battlefield has retained an
atmosphere of authenticity, which is rarely found in other
battlefield parks under our administration.

The scene has no doubt been altered to some extent in the
past 75 years. Wooded areas, which figured in the battle

116. R.G. 79, Box 2602, File 207,

117. R.G. 79, Box 2602, File 840. Superintendent's Monthly Report
for June 1941: “An interpretive map has been erected at the
administration office for orientation lectures by the staff, The map
was constructed under the direction of Resident Landscape Architect
Walter H. Sheffield."
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have grown smaller or have disappeared, a few new homes
have been constructed, and a number of monuments and
memorials have been erected. But the mutations have in no
case been violent, The town of Sharpsburg is little
changed. Farms which occupy the battlefield area are
cultivated in much the same manner as in 1862; the same
crops are grown, Modern roadside devclopments are few.

Antietam National Battlefield Site and the Natiomal Cemetery

are being maintained in a dignified and excellent manner and

the custodian should be complimented. . . .

The deficiencies lay in interpretive matters such as a very small
and untrained contact staff, an inadequate museum, and the fack of
trailside exhibits and maps on the batttefield.118 These items were the
responsibility of the region one office in Richmond.

m. Master Planning for Antietam, 1939~1942
The master plan for Antietam Nationa! Battlefield Site was

produced in the Washington office and was not based on any historical
research. The first two sheets were sent to the park on June 30,
1839, and the director approved the 1939 {and first) edition of the
master plan for Antietam on April 16, 1%0.”9

The 19481 edition of the Antietam plan was approved by the
director on August 19, 19431, The early editions included a land
acquisition program and map. There was also an interpretive
statement, but no interpretive sheet or tour map. Also lacking was
a sheet and map with data on and showing the location of all
monuments, memorials, and markers on the battlefield and in the
vicinity of the park.-’20 In October 1941, resident landscape architect
Sheffield was at work "developing the Antietam Historical Base sheet
and Interpretive Plan® and, in December 1941, Coordinating
Superintendent Waiter J. Coleman was at work "revising the historical

base map for the 1942 edition of the Antietam Master Plan."121

778, Tbid. Lattimore, April 11, 1941, report,

119. R.G. 79, Box 2603, File 500,~01 Master Plan., letters of
june 30, 1939 - April 24, 1940.

120. R.G. 79. Box 2606. File g840. Inspection of Interpretative
program, Antietam...April 11, 1941, by Ralston B. Lattimore.

121. Superintendent's monthly reports, October and December 1941,
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The National Park Service had developed the master planning idea
as a useful tool in showing the values to be protected in each park
and to illustrate proposed future development and interpretation of
each area. The incomplete state of the Antietam master plan suggests
that many problems at the battlefield had not yet received careful
study.

n. Research, Architectural and Historical, 1933-1942

{1} Architectural Research for Buildings, 1940, On October 22,

1940, the Washington County Historical Society presented the National

Park Service with deeds for the Dorsey and Spong farms, 128.588
acres. Also included were old farm houses, barns, and other
structures. Antietam had a new problem--what to do about old
structures that might be historic. Anticipating this donation,
Gettysburg's assistant research technician Tilberg made a trip to
Antietam on March 12, 1940 to study the Spong farm buildings--a
house, barn, and corn crib-- located on the hill west of the entrance
to the Burnside Bridge, as well as the fences that the Park Service
proposed to restore to their 1862 appearance,

Tilberg noted that the Brady and Tipton photographs, made in
1862 at the time of the battle, "show clearly the Burnside Bridge."
He recommended that the bridge be restored in accordance with these
photos. Of the post and rail fences, he wrote:

It is suggested, in connection with the restoration of fences,
that the indication of type and location of fences in the Cope
Survey Map of the Battiefield of Antietam of 1898, be
followed. In support of fence indications on the Cope map,
an undated Tipton photograph of the Burnside Bridge,
obviously an early view, shows two panels of the
post-and~rail fence beginning at the east end of the north
wall, and apparently following the county road southwardly
atlong the creek.... As the Spong farm buldings... are
known to have been construct‘eﬂ in 1864, it is proposed that
these buildings...be removed.

This report was for "Proposed Work for WPA Project on Spong
and Dorsey Plots and the Burnside Bridge Area" that had been

122, R.G. 79, Box 2602, File 207, March 15, 1940, Tilberg,
Frederick, "Report on an Investigation of A Work Program to be
Accomplished on the Spong and Dorsey Farms, Antietam National
Battlefield Site" (Gettysburg, National Military Park, Pa., March 13,
1940}, 3 pp.
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suggested by Superintendent of Antietam Battiefield Beckenbaugh.
The "Cope Map of 1898" mentioned here was one of the historical study
maps prepared by the War Department's Antietam Board in 1896-3S.
Dr. Tilberg thus used the extensive research of that team to restore
the wartime scene at the Burnside Bridge.

On April 19, 1941, associate architect Fairweath also submitted a
report entitled, YArchitectural Investigation of the Spong House,
Antietam National Battiefield Site, Maryland," five pages, plus photo,
and six maps and plans, which concluded that the farm house had
been constructed subsequent to the battle of Antietam.123

On March 28, 19480, associate architect Waterman of the
Washington Office and the Historic American Building Survey arrived
at Antietam and guided by Superintendent Beckenbaugh, visited the
vearly houses” on the Dbattlefield. These included a log dwelling
known as the "Poffenberger house,™ which Waterman reported was
"Architecturally...of little value; a barn on a neighboring farm owned
by a family of the same name," which he described as "a fine and
large structure...a characteristic Pennsylvania type of barn...."
They then visited the Routette farmhouse. The northerly section,
Wwaterman estimated, was the oldest and dated from the 17706s. The
southern end was added about 1825. He also inspected the
smokehouse, meathouse, and springhouse, all of which "are
contemporary and in good repair." Near this group also stood "a very
fine early barn.' %The Roulette group”, he found to be "unusual as a
type and preserving its original features almost intact." Waterman
recommended that the Historic American Building Survey make
measured drawings of the Roulette buildings, but only prepare 3a

photographic record of the Poffenberger log house and barn.nn

173 R.G. 79, Box 2605, File 626, April 19, 1941.

128, R.G. 79, Box 2606, File 620, Part 1, Waterman to Acting Chief
of Planning, March 30, 1940. Waterman did not recommend recording
in drawing the fine Poffenberger barn because it "so closely parallels
the Lee barn at Leetown, West Virginia, recorded by the Survey in
1937." Waterman also visited the site of the Dunkard Church, but
failed to visit the Antietam Ironworks. Thomas T. Waterman was o
become the author of The Mansions of Virginia (Chapel Hill, N.C.,
1946) and a noted architectural historian.
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(2} Historical Research and Interpretive Planning by Historian

Edward Steere, 1941-1943. Except for the four months of activity by

the C.W.A. 10-member historical survey team collecting information in
1933-34, the National Park Service conducted little historical research
on the history of the battle of Antietam during the years 1934 to 1941,
Perhaps spurred by the suggestion that Antietam had been neglected
from an interpretive point of view, supervisor of historic sites Ronald
F. Lee had the first full-time professional historian assigned to the
Antietam staff. Assistant Historical Technician Steere was transferred
from Fredericksburg and Spotsylvania National Military Park to
Antietam for research and interpretive developmental work on
September 1, ‘1941.125

On September 5 a conference was held at Antietam battlefield and
in attendance were: Supervisor of Historic Sites Lee, Coordinating
Superintendent Coleman, assistant historical technician Tilberg, Acting
Battlefield Superintendent Taute, and his new employee, assistant
historical technician Steere. The group worked o¢ut a four-point
program which was to guide the activities of historian Steere for the
next 16 months., His tasks and priorities were to be as follows:
1. "Preparation of a brief memorandum summarizing the status of
historical and developmental studies for the park." To be completed in
about ten days.
2. Compilation of a manual of information and interpretation of the
battlefield with accompanying troop position maps for the guidance of
persons interpreting the field to visitors, and to form a basis for a
tour sheet in the master plan; ". . . to open up the research
problems involved in a definitive study but not to attempt to solve
them. This should not duplicate the 16-page booklet, and should be
worked out in close collaboration with Assistant Historical Technician
Tilberg." This project was not to take more than two months,
3. "Preparation of a tour map and interpretive plan for the
battlefield, including recommendations on markers, existing and
proposed, trailside exhibits, artillery emplacements, literature and

125. R.G. 79, Box 2602, File 207,
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related matters with particular emphasis on plans for a self-guiding
tour."

4. "Preparation of historical data for development plans for Spong
Farm, Bloody Lane and other areas to be developed." Today this

would involve the writing of necessary nHistoric Structure Reports" for

monthly to discuss with historian Steere the progress of this work and
the problems involived. In an unusual order for the National Park
Service during the 1340s and 1950s, it was specified: "The duties
outliined are to take precedence over guide and _contact work with

Park visitcz:r's.“126

Steere completed step one on October 2 when he submitted to the
Gettysburg coordinating superintendent an 11-page summary of the
historical and developmental studies that had been completed relating
‘o Antistam National Battlefield Site from 1898 to 1981."%" The limited
core of knowledge transferred from the War Department to the National
Park Service included the Antietam Board's fina! report of March 18,
1898, the 1898 report containing the legends and locations of the 258
cast-iron markers on the battlefield, the 1898 map, the 1899 map, and
the series of 14 troop movement maps published in 1904 and 1908,
Because so little was known of the work of the Antietam Board, the 16
maps were credited to Colonel Cope, engineer, Gettysburg National
park, who, with assistants, worked on the project one month in May
1897. (Extracts from Steere's report will be found in Appendix X.)

The immense amount of information that the board collected
through interviewing participanis of both armies was unknown and had
never been studied by National Park Service historians to this date.
Gteere also summarized and described the materials gathered and
studies written for the National Park Service by the C.W.A. historical
project team in 1933-34, by Clerk Mongan on the cast-iron markers and

126. R.G. 79, 2601. Memorandum on Conference, September 1, 1941,
Under normal operating conditions, park historians were required to
devote their time primarily to visitor conduct. Research could be done
only after the travel season ended.
127. R.G. 79, Box 2602, File 207.
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the stone memorials In 1940, and by assistant historical techniclans
Hanson (1938) (1940} and Tilberg. Park self-gulding leaflets and free
Informatlonal folders were similarly described and evaluated.

On October 29, 1941, Steere wrote to the Library of Congress
Manuscript Division, "Mr. Allen B. Boyd informs me that the MSS
papers of Ceneral A. E. Carman on the Maryland Campaign, together
with letters from participants in the campaign, etc. are in the
Library,!

Steere was Informed

There is ,..a complete account of the Maryland Campaign in
careful and full detail, well written and interesting,
important and very enlightening. Accompanying this
account, are letters from participants in the campaign with
whom General Carman corresponded as to the position of
different commands, sketches and maps...newspaper
clippings, etc.

In addition to the Carman papers In the Library of
Congress, there Is a large collection of Carman
correspondence in the Ne\qzaYork Public Library, but not
sorted or arranged in 1939,

Historian Steere was never able to follow up these leads.

Steere began work on the second project, compilation of a
manual of information and interpretation of the battlefield with
accompanying troop position maps for the use of historical aides and
ranger-historians in October 1941,

It was discovered that a considerably greater period of time than
the estimated two months would be required to conduct the research
necessary to write "a concise narrative interpretation of the Antietam
operation that would relate troop movements to the terrain and thus
facilitate the problem of telling the story on the ground." These
preblems were discussed with Supervisor of Historic Sites Lee on
December 8, with assistant historical technician Tilberg on December
9, and Coordinating Superintendent Coleman on December 19, 1940.129

128.  R.G.779, Box 2601, October 29, 1847, to Roy F. Rogers,
Library of Congress.

129, R.G. 79, Box 2602, File 207 - Part 1, Report of assistant
historical technician Edward Steere, Antietam National Battlefield Site,
for December 1941.
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The first draft of the manual was completed during January 1942
and Steere began working on a study of tour routes and interpretive

130 Steere's "Manual of Information and Interpretation,

problems.
Antietam National Battlefield Site," 218 typed pages, was completed in
March 1942 and submitted to Coordinating Superintendent Coleman for
revision and approval. Historian Steere then began working on point
no. 3 of the September 6, 1940, plan:

Preparation of a tour map and interpretive plan for the
battiefield including recommendations on markers, existing
and proposed, trailside exhibits, artillery emplacement,
literature and related matters, with particular emphasis on
plans for a self-guided tour,

During April 1942 he.selected eight sites for "semi-horizontal
map-marker trailside exhibits along the tour route, developing the
battie operations in chronoclogical sequence.® He also began work on a
base map for use in the eight horizontal map-markers. This was a
relief map with graduated colors indicating the contour lines. In
addition, four combat maps, scale 1 inch equals 1,000 feet, were
started and intended for use in the first four of the trailside exhibits.
These eight completed combat maps will constitute a map folio
supplementing the battle narrative in the "Manual of Information and

131

Interpretation. Marginal notes accompanying each sheet of the

folic will contain an abstract of the text of the battle narrative. The
eight combat maps will furnish data for the corresponding eight
semi-horizontal trailside exhibits.

Steere further commented:

In adapting this data, it is recognized that the great
majority of visitors will, through lack of knowiedge of the
operation, fail to grasp in a series of combat maps
interspersed at points on a four mile tour the intended
purpose of such a device., That is they will be unable to
realize the scheme of motion by the change of troop
locations, as indicated on the combat maps. This problem, it
is thought, may be solved by the employment of the so~
called "blitz-krieg" method, which has been recently
developed with considerable success by popular periodicals
such as Life for the nonprofessional military reader.

130. Ibid., Report for January 1942,

131.  Ibid., Monthly Report for April 1942, also superintendent's
monthly report for March 1942,
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Dispositions reduced to this utmost simplification, arrows

indicating the direction of attack and penetration, and label

captions giving the gi-st of th'e story, constitute the principal
elements of this graphic technique.

In May historical technician Steere completed the folio of eight
situation maps. Three trailside exhibits were prepared, corresponding
to the first three of the eight situation maps, and set in pilace as an
experiment. Coordinating Superintendent Coleman, assistant historical
technician Tilberg, and resident landscape architect Sheffield, Region
One, took part in this trial.

On May 28 Supervisor of Historic Sites Appleman, Region One, and
Tilberg reviewed the completed exhibits. "Appleman expressed doubts
that the method employed had as yet attained the degr'ee of simplicity
that is required to form in the mind of the 'average' visitor an
immediate impression." Dr. Tilberg and Steere, on the other hand
were of the opinion that the visitor, vafter receiving a generalized
impression of the battle as a whole at the museum site, and thereafter
decides to tour the field represents a special selection of intelligence
from the general run of visiiors and, presumably, desires some more
than a series of fragmentary impressions, relating to various stages in
the development of the battle." This debate ended with a decision to
refer the question to the Washington 0ff_ice.133

In May historian Steere also provided assistant historical
technician Tilberg with the draft of an interpretive statement of
significance for Antietam National Battlefield Site. This draft
nembodies a consideration of the Confederate war aims, as prepared by
President Davis, Sept. 7, 1862, for proclamation by Lee in the field,"
in the event of a vic'ccﬁr'y,134

On May 29, 1942, historian Steere delivered what he considered to
be "the first visitor [orientation] talk given at this site." This "brief
presentation of operations, Sept. 14-17, 1862" was addressed to
Genator Rufus Holman, Oregon, a member of the Appropriations

Committee, and his party.135

137 Steere's monthly report for April 1942.
133. 1bid. Report for May 1942.

134, Monthly Report for May 1942,

135. Ibid,
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Three days before, on May 26, Tilberg instructed Steere to set
aside the work on the trailside exhibits and to complete the

documentation of the battle study, with a view to submitting the

typescript as soon as possible.ws

June.137

The documentation was completed in

As the proposed WPA program for Antietan was never funded,
historian Steere did no research for the suggested restoration
projects. In July five more full scale sketches of the combat maps
were completed and he also suggested making revisions to the text and
map of the six-page park folder. The final drafts of his two manuals
entitied "Antietam, A Study of the Maryland Campaign and the Battle
of Antietam, with an interpretation of its Political and Military
Significance and its Topographical Aspects" {typescript, 261 pages and
8 maps) and "A Historical Interpretive Program, Antietam National
Battlefield Site," 124 pp., were both submitted on December 28, 1942
to Coordinating Superintendent J. Walter Coleman for final review and

approval. 138

The second report included ™a self-guide booklet
designed to enable the visitor to proceed from the Museum, where he
has received general information, to the various trailside exhibits
located at important points on the tour." The booklet contains
information concerning "the landmarks and areas covered while enroute
to the trailside exhibits," 3’

In a detailed six-page letter of review to Superintenent Coleman,
historian  Tilberg commended Steere's work on both studies.
Superintendent Coleman submitted copies of the two reports and Dr,
Tilberg's review to the director, with copies to the regional director,

region one, on September 14, 1943.“‘0

136, ibid.

137. Superintendent's monthly report for June 1942.

138. Supt.'s Annual Report for November 1942,

139. R.G. 79, Box 2602. File 207-Memo of Asst, Historical Technician
Frederick Tilberg to Supt. Coleman, September 14, 1943,

140. Ibid. Coleman to Director, September 14, 1943, The reason for
the delay in reviewing the studies received in November 1942 was
because the set of eight battle maps was not sent with the studies.
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At least partly as a result of historian Steere's work, a great
improvement had been made in the historical base map used at
Antietam. Dr. Tilberg noted in his letter of review:

...concerning the study of the Cope Survey Map of the

Battlefield of Antietam, 1899, it is to be pointed out that

this map, combined with the war time cuiture from the Cope

map of 1898, nhas been adopted as the Historical Base Map of

the Master Plan. It is believed that the New Historical Base

Map contains much of the information needed for the

restor%i?n of the Bloody Lane and Burnside Bridge

areas,

Meanwhile, assistant historical technician Edward Steere went on
teave from Antietam National Battlefield Site on January 15, 1943, and
was separated from the National Park Service on April 1, 19483, He
had prepared two important documents that could greatly improve the
factual contents of interpretation of Antietam National battlefield site,
provided the battlefield superintendents and their seasonal ranger-
historians were willing to read the studies.

Some 14 more years were to pass before the National Park Service
assigned another professionaliy-trained, full-time historian for duty at
Antietam,

o. Travel to Antietam National Battlefield Site, 1934-1942

Superintendent Beckenbaugh could not find any records for

visitation at Antietam National Battlefield Site for the years 1300 to
142

December 31, 1933, Travel to the battlefield from January 1, 1934,

to June 30, 19482, by fiscal year (July 1 to June 30), was:

Fiscal year ending Estimated Total Number

June 30 of Visitors

1934 19,229 {for six months)

1935 19,488

1936 23,228 (1)

1937 15,771 (2)

1938 77,078 {3} (Regular about
17,078)

1939 18,320

1940 23,847 (4)

181, Tbid.

182. Superintendent's Annual Report for the fiscal year ending
June 30, 1934,
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1941 28,353
1942 22,860

Total: ' 248,134

(1) Great flood on Potomac River in March 1936 destroyed the
bridges over the river at Harpers Ferry, Point of Rocks, and
Shepherdstown. Tourists from Virginia and West Virginia were thus
cut off from Antietam.

{2) New bridge at Harpers Ferry opened and a ferry established
over river at Shepherdstown.

(3} This total includes 50,000 people who visited Antietam on
September 17, 1937, the 75th anniversary commemoration of the battle.

(4) New "James Rumsey Bridge" over the Potomac River at
Shepardstown opened on July 15, 1939.

The seasonal nature of visitation is shown on the chart on the
following page:
p. Important Public Events, 1933-1942

The most important event of this period was the commemoration of
the 75th anniversary of the Battle of Antietam, which took place at the
battlefield on September 17, 1937. The state of Maryland and the
Washington County Historical Society began preparations for this event
in 1935. One of the proposed plans of the county historical society,

which they were unable to implement, was to acquire the site of and to
reconstruct the Dunkard Church.mg

Superintendent Beckenbaugh described the September 17, 1937,
observation of the battle:

The largest peace-time crowd ever gathered in this section
came to greet and cheer the President of the United States
[Franklin D. Roosevelt], and to witness a thrilling
re-enactment of the battle in the Bloody Lane Sec., by
troops of the 29th Division (Virginia-Maryland National
Guard) under the command of Maj. Cen. Milton A. Reckord,

The National Antietam Commemoration held in Washington
County from Sept. 4 to Sept. 17, inclusive, was a
celebration of the 200th Anniversary of the settlement of the
County, the 175th Anniversary of the settling of
Hagerstown, the County seat, the 150th Anniversary of the

T43. R.G. 79, Box 2601. Park W. T. Loy, Chairman of Board of
Directors, Washington Historical Society, Hagerstown, Md. to Chief
Historian Verne E. Chatelain, May 3, 1935.
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Invention of the Steamboat and its trial trip on the Potomac
River a few miles from Antietam in 1787, and the 75th
Anniversary of the bloody Battle of Antietam, September 17,
1862,

The sponsoring agency of the celebration was the Washington
County Historical Society who made the plans, leased the
lands and assumed the expenses incident to same,

The National Park Service cooperated in making govern~
ment-owned lands available for the battle re-enactment and
camping of troops and state police. The Department of
Agriculture CCC Camp #360 at Boonsboro, Maryland, very
kindly furnished 32 enrollees to assist in the protection of
government property and to help out the battiefield office
personnel [2 or 3 men].

Troops taking part were units of the 29th Division from
Marytand, District of Columbia and Pennsylvania.

The 12th Regiment of Engineers, U.S5.A.,, with their

excellent band from Fort Belvoir, Virginia, were present as

special escort 10 the President.

After describing the events that took place September 4 to 17,
which included a "Memorial Service to the Blue and Gray who fell at
Antietam,” held in the Antietam National Cemetery on September 12, .
Superintendent Beckenbaugh continued:

Sept. 17--The climactic day of the entire celebration, and it
is estimated that 50,000 people were here to welcome the
President and hear his address and to witness the battle
re-enactment.

The Service was represented on this occasion by Assistant
Director Conrad L. Wirth, Acting Assistant Director Branch
l.. Spaulding and the editor-in chief, Miss |sabelle Story,
Supt. and Mrs. Geo. A. Palmer of Ft. McHenry and
Associate Laqqﬁcape Architect and Mrs., Tell W, Nicolet were
also present.

As fate would have it, two of the National Park Service people
present, Conrad L. Wirth as director, and George A. Palmer as
assistant regional director of the new region five, would play major

roles in transforming Antietam from a neglected into a first class
historical area some 20 years later,

144, Superintendent's Annual Report for the fiscal year ending June 30, .
1638.
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CHAPTER VI

THE NATIONAL PARK SERVICE AND ANTIETAM NATIONAL
CEMETERY 1933~-1942

As under the War Deparunenti, the Nationali Park Service con-
tinued to administer Antietam National Cemetery and Antietam National
Battlefield Site as two separate areas from August 10, 1933, to Aprii 6,
1942, when the two units were consolidated under the supervision of
the battlefield superintendent and the position of cemetery superinten-
dent abolished.

1. ADMINISTRATION OF THE CEMETERY

Under the agreement with the War Department, Clarence L. Nett,
superintendent of the Antietam Natlonal Cemetery, was to retain his
position from August 10 to September 30, 1933, On October 16, the
National Park Service could either reappoint Nett or discharge him and
replace him with a new person. The Park Service chose to reappoint
Nett, who also served from October 5, 1933, to January 10, 1934, as
acting superintendent of the battlefleld. On the latter date, the new
battlefield superintendent, John K, Beckenbaugh, reported for duty,
Like Antietam battlefleld, the operations of the national cemetery were
also supervised by the coordinating superintendent, who was statloned
at Gettysburg National Military Park, and after 1937 by the regional
director of Region One, headquartered at Richmond.

Nett served as the Natlonal Park Service superintendent of
Antletam Natlonal Cemetery from August 10, 1933, to July 11, 1934,
when he transferred to the position of superintendent of Gettysburg
National Cemetery, Effective August 16, 19834, Car! M., Taute was
appointed superintendent of the Antietam National Cemetery, reporting
for duty on August 16, 1934, The quartermaster corps had given
Taute four months tralning at the school it ran at Arllngton Natlonal
Cemetery for new superlntendents.‘

T R.G. 79, Box 2699. July 1934. Also superintendent's annual
report for August, 1935. '
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There was some friction between the two superintendents--
Beckenbaugh and Taute--over the relative importance of their
positions. Reports of a heated quarrel that arose from the placing of
the mail in the Sharpsburg post office box for the two units reached
Washington and on June 16, 1936, Chief Historian Chatelain made a
special trip 1o Antietam to tell the two men that their jobs were
separate but equal. This apparently settled the problem as no further
mentions of the problem was raised.2 Relations between the two
superintendents thereafter were probably correct but cool, In July
1939, Cemetery Superintendent Taute received a salary of $3,286.44
per annum. This included $1,680 from his National Park Service
salary as custodian and $1,606.44 from his War Department pension.3

Taute served as superintendent of the Antietam National Cemetery
until April 5, 1942, when he was transferred and appointed as
superintendent of the GCettysburg National Cr—:meter‘y.ll With the
death of Battlefield Superfntendent Beckenbaugh on October 5, 1940,
Taute was made acting superintendent of Antietam National Battlefield
Site and served in that position from October 5, 1940 to April 4,
19#2.5 '

Ouring the period 1940-1942, battlefield clerk Mongin wrote many
of the reports for Captain Taute and functioned in many ways as the
acting superintendent. The battlefield and cemetery, which had been

2. R.G. 79, Box 2601, File 201,06,

3. R.G. 79, Box 269%, File 031-Part |I--Supt. Beckenbaugh to
Director, July 10, 1939, regarding possibie raise for Taute: "I believe
from conversations | have had, that many in the Service consider the
Cemetery Superintendent Positions as rather superfluous....! know of
no duties they have except raising and lowering the flag and locking
and unlocking the gates. All administrative work is done in the
Battlefield Office. All  financial, maintenance and equipment
responsibility s that of the Battlefield. Before Supt. Taute's heart
attack, he did use the power mower, but is now physically unfit for
any such duties, During the 40 days he spent in the Walter Reed
Hospital the cemetery operations were carried on as usual with a
maximum of 15 minutes per day of my attention to the Cemetery
maintenance labor."

k. R.G. 79, Box 2699. Memo Acting Chief of Operations to Director,
May 29, 1942. Taute died while serving as superintendent of the
Gettysburg National Cemetery and was buried in Antietam National
Cemetery on February 9, 1944,

5. Superintendent's monthly report for October 1%40.
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detached from the supervision of the Gettysburg superintendent on
December 16, 1935, were again returned to the care of Gettysburg on
October 3, 1940, as the death of Captain Beckenbaugh seemed

imminent.
As has been mentioned, two of the six-person maintenance force
employed by the National Park Service during the pericd 1933 to 1942

were usually employed to keep the national cemetery in first class
condition.
2. INTERMENTS

Antietam was an active cemetery during the years 1933 to 1942,

Some 27 veterans, chiefly of World War [, were buried. One Union
veteran, however, was interred in 1937; he was buried in the
Maryland section. The National Park Service, like most American
institutions of the time, unfortunately discriminated against blacks,
even in death. Thus in 1937 Superintendent Beckenbaugh reported on
the burial of five World War | "colored veterans" "it was necessary to
set aside a section in the Southwest corner of the Cemetery as a
colored veterans section." He also noted "This increasing number of
burials [14 during that fiscal year] has been quite a strain on the
Cemetery funds and has necessitated the request for a siightly larger
appropriation for 1939."6 One black Worlid War | veteran was also
buried in 1938.

On March 31, 1935, the number of dead reported was 4,833,
which included 2,981 known and 1,852 unknown soldiers.7
3. POLICY ON THE SALE OF ITEMS IN THE NATIONAL CEMETERY,
1942

Publication of the 1941 edition of the 16-page booklet on the
battle of Antietam to be sold to visitors at ten cents per copy raised
questions  because the battlefield headquarters and museum
were situated in the old (1867} cemetery -lodge. On April 22,

. Superintendent's annual report for the fiscal year ending
June 30, 1937. Internments reports were as follows, 1934 and 1935-0;
1936-5; 1937-14; 1938-3, 1939-3; and 1940-2, .

2. R.G. 79. Box 2699, File 031-Part 1. Antietam National Cemetery
Report, March 31, 1935, by Supt. Carl M. Taute.
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1942, Acting Director Demaray informed the battlefield superintendent:
"You are authorized to make the sales of Park Service literature within
the Headquarters building at Antietam National Battlefield but not
sbuvenirs and refreshments within the Cemeter'y.“7
4, FIRST TELEPHONE, 1933

Although the War Department had granted permission on

November 4, 1926, to have a telephone installed in the office of the
cemetery superintendent's lodge, this order was never carried out. In
November 1933 Superintendent Nett reported: "there is no telephone
at the cemetery and one is needed very badly as every time any one
wants to talk to me they have to call one of the neighbors and they
have to come after me and you know that is very annoying to them
and myself as weli.“8 Assistant Director Hillary Tolson granted
permission to have a telephone installed in the office later that month.
Cost of installation was $3.75 and the fee per month was $2.?5.9

5. THE CEMETERY FRONT (NORTH} WALL AND {RON FENCE,
-1934-1935

After his first inspection of Antietam National Cemetery on

October 10, 1933, Coordinating Superintendent McConaghie, reported,
"The iron fence on top of the [stone] wall along the main highway and
in front of the Cemetery is in need of paint. The iron fence is
approximately 500 [600] feet long . . ."10

An emergency allotment of Civil Works Administration {CWA)
funds was secured to start this Project No. 22-B15-80--"Removing Old
Paint and Repainting National Cemetery Iron Fence." Work began on
November 13, 1934, and continued untit December 31. Six men worked
756 hours and were paid $229.50 before cold weather stopped the
project. The paint was blistered by using a large blow-torch and then

removing it by hard rubbing with wire brushes.ﬂ

7. R.G. 79, Box 2601,

8. R.G. 79, Box 2699, File 031-Part I. Nett to Director, November
23, 1933; also Coordinating Superintendent James R. McConaghie's
memo 1o Director, October 20, 1933, "The nearest telephone is a
considerable distance away."

9, Ibid.

10. R.G. 7%, Box 2699, File 0-31, Part |, McConaghie to Director,
October 20, 1933.

11. Report of Superintendent John K. Beckenbaugh, January 28,
1935.  $27.54 in national cemetery funds was used 1o purchase
kerosene, wire brushes, and burner repairs.
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On January 19, 1935, Assistant Director Tolson reported that
$1,100 in PWA Funds was available in Project No. 615--"Repairs to
National Cemetery Wall and 1ron Fence".‘I2

Work under Project 22-B15-80 resumed in the spring of 1935 with
four to six men working. The iron fence was given one coat of red
lead and two coats of black paint at a cost of $180 for labor, which
brought the total expenditure for the project to $u09.50.13

The purpose of Project 615 was to repoint the cemetery enclosure
wall, which was reported to be in very bad condition with "some
stones falling out" in 1934.'% Work began on March 25, 1935, and
continued until June 13 when funds were exhausted. The paint for
the iron fence was purchased from this account, but $409.50 spent for
scraping and painting was done by relief labor furnished by the
Washington County Emergency Relief Boards, As to the repointing,
Superintendent Beckenbaugh reported, "Every effort was made to
repair the worst places but all were not done when the money was
expended."15 A total of $1,509.50 was spent on repainting the iron
fence and repointing the walls in 1933-35,

6. RECONSTRUCTION OF THE CEMETERY STONE ENCLOSING WALL,
1939-1940

The massive stone wall enclosing the 10-acre national cemetery
was 2,674 feet long and varied in height from 5 to 16 feet, being both
an enclosing and retaining wall, as the cemetery itself was mostly filled
ground. The wall, constructed in 1865-66, had been repointed by the
War Department in 1880, but had received few repairs since that date
until 1935 when the National Park Service had patched up some of the
‘worst sections. In May 1937, however, battlefield Superintendent

Beckenbaugh launched a strong and persistent drive to have the

72. R.G. 79, Box 2700, File 618 - Pubiic Works - Tolson to Taylor,
~ January 19, 1935,

13. Supt.'s annual report for the fiscal year ending June 30, 1935,
14, Supt.'s annual report June 30, 1934,

15. Supt.'s annual report for fiscal year ending June 30, 1935; also
R.G. 79, Box 2605, File 618 - Public Works. Account sheet
' December 24, 1936 - FPN Project 615 - Repairs to National Cemetery
wall and Fence - Alloted - $1,100.00; Obligated: $1,095.97; Balance -

$4.03.
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cemetery wall reconstructed, utilizing WPA funds. His suggestions
were supported in the Wasﬁington Office by Assistant Director
'I‘c:)ls.on.16

Success crowned their efforts in February 1939 when the
 Maryland State WPA approved a $39,937 project to repair the stone
" cemetery wall, to change the grade of the roadway leading to the
adjacent utility area, and to remove 19 large trees in the cemetery.
The project began on March 10, 1938, with a force of 35 men. The
first work was the removal of 19 trees, "the size of which can be more
readily estimated when it is stated that 12 of them made 2,683 feet of
- sawed lumber which is being used for scaffolding and shoring, and the
limbs and small trees made 18 cords of fire wood.“”

The roadway to the utility building west of the cemetery stone
. enclosing wall had its grade reduced 2} feet at the highest point.
" The service entrance to the cemetery along this road was changed to
conform to the new grade and the old entrance was closed by a stone
wall that matched the original stonework of the wall, Surfacing of the
. entrance road was held up until the cemetery wall could be rebuilt
along this section,

Beckenbaugh reported:

Work is being done on both the South [rear] and East wall
and owing to the heights of many sections, scaffolding has
to be erected and the high sections braced, as parts are
torn out at a time and rebuilt, then the bracing is moved to
the new construction and the other torn out and rebuilt.

This has made it necessary to occupy a strip of land about
15 to 18 feet in width in the fields adjoining the South and
East walls.” Arrangements were made with the owner for a
monthly rental while these lands were in use and it is also
necessary to haul the wall materials over these lands.

16. R.G. 79, Box 2699. File 0-31, Park 1{l. Beckenbaugh to
Director, May 26, 1937; Tolson to Beckenbaugh, June 11, 1937-an
excellent idea--board of engineers raise the estimate from $10,000 to
$15,000. January 22, 1938--Beckenbaugh takes matter up with
Maryland W.P.A. administration but they have no stone masons
- available to assign to the projects. February 8, 1938 -- Tolson
suggests the requests for funds be included in the 1940 preliminary
_estimates. April 3, 1938--Tolson writes to Chief Engineer Taylor
urging W.P.A. funds for project. Beckenbaugh to Director,
May 14, 1838--W.P.A. Office at Hagerstown has several stone masons
ayailable ‘at 85 cents per hour--55 cents for semi-skilled workers,
and 45 cents for laborers. '

17. Superintendent Beckenbaugh's annual report for fiscal vyear
ending June 30, 1939, ) -
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A concrete backing or reinforcement has been laid against
the base of the wall on the outside extending from the
ground surface to a depth of 18 to 24 inches and being 12
inches in thickness.

The axtra stone necessary for the wall construction has been
obtained from the century-old piers of the Potomac River
Bridge of the Maryland and Virginia Bridge Company and is
such a rfect match to the wall stone as to defy
detection. '

The land leased from Charles C. and Ann M. Dorsey from May 1
to October 1, 1939, at the rate of $15 per month “for use as a
roadway and work area in connection with the construction of the
cemetery wall" included these two pieces of land: a strip 10 feet by

780 feet adjoining stone wall on east side of the cemetery and a strip

of fand 11 feet wide and 347 feet long on the south Side.19

Work on the walls continued during the summer of 193% and into
the spring of 1940, Superintendent Beckenbaugh described this

reconstruction:

The wall was practically all torn down and rebuilt, being laid
in strong cement mortar. This work has been so carefully
done that the wal! has the appearance of the same old wall,
The interior face which is composed of very large stones was
replaced as originally set, each stone being numbered as
taken out and put back in its original position. The
exterior face required many new stones but these were
obtained from t% old piers of the Virginia-Maryland Bridge
Company . . . .

Although Beckenbaugh did not mention it in his annual reports,
he alsc donated stone from an old quarry on his farm, about 3 miles

from the battiefield, to maich the original stone in the cemetery Walll.21

18. Supt. Beckenbaugh's annual report for the fiscal year ending
June 30, 1939,

19, R.G. 79, Box 2700, File 618. E.R.A. Contract No. I-1p-16352,
May 1, 1939, lease of ground to rebuild cemetery wall.

20, Supt. Beckenbaugh's Annual Report for the fiscal year ending
June 30, 1940,

21. R.G. 79, Box 2601, File 201.96. Alsc see "Report on W.P.A.
Project No, 765-25-2-19-Rebuilding and rehabilitating mason wall and
rebuilding driveway, Antietam National Cemetery, project began March
10, 193% - to date: November 1, 1933, by Superintendent
Beckenbaugh. To Director, November 13, 1933, five pages, plus 10
pages with 26 photographs, in R.G. 79, Box 2700, File 618.
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In April 1939 workmen had discovered what was probably the
cornerstone of the wall that had been laid in 1866,

director, Beckenbaugh described these findings as follows:

There was no evidence in the wall that it contained a
cornerstone and we do not believe that one was ever
officially laid, as we find no records. The workmen in
tearing down the southwest corner, came upon a crude
opening In which was a stone jar with a large but badly
disintegrated cork which had been covered with red sealing
wax. The jar contained 7 coins which we list as follows:

Half Dime --- 1862 Three cent plece --- 1865
Three cent piece ~-- 1865 Two cent piece --- 1865
One cent plece --~ 1858 One cent piece --- 1864

One cent plece -~~ 1866
Total value - 16¢

There was a newspaper badly disintegrated and so wet that
it could scarcely be handied and after drying same to the
best of our abllity it has been Impossible to find the date or
title of the paper, but from some printing which [t was
possible to read we belleve that it was a Baltimore Paper.

We have placed the coins In the office safe and have the jar
and paper fragments in the Administration Building stock
room, and await Instructions as to,any disposition that the
Service may desire to make of same.

On April 25, 1940, as the northwest corner of the cemetery stone
wall was finished, Superintendent Beckenbaugh held a corner-stone
laylng ceremony attended "by the entire battlefleld staff and the WPA

force:"

The Superintendent made a brief talk complimenting the men
on the excellent work accomplished, on the splendld safety
record they had made with the dangerous work performed
and expressed his deap appreciation for their excellent spirit
of loyalty and cooperatlon. A glass Jar, the top capped and
sealed In cement, was placed In the wall, containing a
battiefleld pamphlet, Maryland state road map, 1939 copper
pennies, 1938 Jefferson nlckel, a Buffale nickel and a typed
record of the project, with the names of the Presldent,
Secretary of interior, Director, Reglonal Director, Regional
Engineer. Resident Landscape Architect, the entire Antletam
National Battlefield Site personnel, and all the NYA and WPA
who have 2tieaen employed here since the project has been In
operation,

22,
23,

R.C. 79, Box 2699, File 0~-31 - Part II.

Supt. Beckenbaugh's annual report for fiscal yeér endling

June 30, 1940,
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The massive cemetery stone walls were thus reconstructed at a
cost of $39,997 in 1939-40 and the entrance to the battlefleld utility
area was also regraded. (Also see page 162 for description of further
work on driveway.)

7. TREES IN THE NATIONAL CEMETERY, 1933-1942

in his October 10, 1933 inspection of the Antietam National
Cemetery, Coordinating Superintendent McConaghie reported: "Trees.
It was noted that a number of the larger trees were In need of top
trimming and some In considerable need of tree surgery for their
proper preservation..."zu A Public Works Administration grant for
Project No. FPN 421--Tree Surgery and Protection, Antietam National
Cemetery, in the amount of $2,250 was received. A contract was
entered into with David C. Boles of Milldale, Virginia, who worked
from April 5 to May 29, 1934. Some extra work was added to the
contract to expend the entire allotment. Superintendent Beckenbaugh

reported, "The work was very well done and added greatly both to the
appearance and doubtless to the life of the beautiful trees with which
this Nafional Cemetery is graced.“25

In August 1934 the Branch of Forestry completed a report on
Antietam National Cemetery entitled "Tree Census Data Sheets and
Tree Key Sketch of Antietam National Cemetery, Sharpsburg,
Maryland" (August 27, 1934, 11 pages plus tree location map of
cemeter'y.)26 This report is of considerable interest in preserving
the historical scene of the last half of the 19th century in the
cemetery as the study provided detailed data on 262 trees that the War
Department had planted between 1878 and 1933.

On February 14, 1936, a severe ice storm did considerable damage
to the cemetery 'crees.27 Superintendent Beckenbaugh described the
work of the Region One tree crew in the national cemetery during

the summers of 1935 and 1936:

¥%. R.G. 79, Box 2699, File 0-31, Part |I. McConaghie to Director,
October 20, 1933,

25, Supt.'s annual report for fiscal year ending June 30, 1934,

26. R.G. 79, Box 2699, Fille 0-31 and Forestry in File 701-01.4, The
drawing, a blueprint, was made by J. J. Black and dated May 1934,
27. R.G. 79, Box 2607, File 801.04, Memo to Director, February 17,

1936, 3 pp.
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The Tree Preservation Crew in charge of Foreman B. J,
Baker was here from August 1 to August 10 [1935],
trimming and removing trees in the National Cemetery
affected by the "maple wilt" and also from May 20 to June 5
[1936], trimming trees which were badly broken in a
February sleet storm, and cabling to help prevent further
storm damage. They also trimmed the t{rees on the
battlefield. Colored enrollees from the CCC Camps at
Gettysbyrg were sent here to remove the debris and the tree
trunks,

In March 1939 as has been mentioned, 19 large and old trees

were removed from the cemetery to reconstruct the enclosing stone
wall, In May 13542 $100 was spent trimming trees in the c«ameter'y.29

On November 4, 1938, Superintendent Beckenbaugh submitted for
technical review a Job Planting Plan for Antietam National Cemetery--
Plan #NBS-ANT-2007. He explained:

This plan has been prepared for the purpose of providing
young replacements and substitutions for trees that have
been removed in the past by natural causes and to provide a
continuity of tree growth in the cemetery as more of the
existing trees are removed by maturity.

Every effort will be made to maintain the old specimen
plantation character that is common to the National
Cemeteries. However, the material suggested varies
considerably from the original, In this cemetery there was a
predominance of maple and norway spruce. It is considered
that all these species bring about difficult problems as they
mature and hence it is proposed that the maples and shallow
rooted trees in general, be replaced by the deeper roocted
and longer lived species indicated on the lists {3 pp with 264
trees].

The trees that are suggested for removal are in a deformed
and decrepit condition, a hazard te the neighboring trees
during storms and are ugly specimens in the landscape....

Upon approval of this planting plan same will be accom-
plished by our regular maintenance force as funds are
available, from materials collected locally so far as possible
and from 3Bur‘chaseci materials when funds are sufficient for
such use,

28. Superintendent's annual report for fiscal year ending June 30,
1936,

29. Superintendent’s monthly report for May 1942.
30. R.G. 79, Box 2699, File 031 - Part I!.
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Region One sent the superintendent approved copies of drawing

. no. NBS~-ANT-2009-1-1, December 30, 1938, commenting:

The reviewing forester notes that fact that a farge portion of
the existing trees are excotic and recommends that in all
future plangi.lng programs native material be used insofar as
practicable,

Under this plan it would appear that the historic scene in
Antietam National Cemetery would be greatly altered over a period of
years.,

On March 16, 1940, Director Cammerer inspected Antietam National
Cemetery., He noted that "Superintendent Taute recommends that a
planting program be prepared so that a stand of fine trees will be
maintained throughout the years." The Director instructed the Chief
of Forestry "to have one of your foresters study the trees at the
Antietam National Cemetery and prepare a report on existing
conditions, repairs necessary, and recommend a future planting
program.“32

Acting Chief of Forestry Cook replied on March 29, reporting that
Forester Thompson had been sent to study the problem. Continuing,
he wrote:

Despite considerable work accomplished under PWA contract
in 1934, by the ECW itinerant tree preservation crew in 1935
and 1936, and occasional minor pruning by local labor, many
of the trees are in poor condition. This is to be expected
since a majority of the trees are mature or overmature and
many are of species that are relatively short-lived -- Norway
spruce, silver maple, horse chestnut, and the like. With
few exceptions, all the trees in the area were planted when
the cemetery was established, about 65 to 70 years ago.

It is our understanding that the Regional Landscape
Architect, Region |, has already prepared a plan to carry
out such a program when funds are available.

Forester Cook then pointed out that the tree situation at Antietam

is typical of several of the national cemeteries under the
jurisdiction of the National Park Service., The trees at
Fredericksburg, Chattancoga, Poplar Grove, Stones River,
and Shiloh [national cemeteries] are perhaps in the poorest
general condition. All' (11 national cemeteries) areas contain

31. 1bid., Assistant Regional Director E.M. Lisle to Beckenbaugh,

Dec. 30, 1938.
32, Ibid., Director to Chief of Forestry, March 21, 1940.
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old, single-aged treas for the most part since little or no
replanting has been done since the original layout some 60 to
70 years ago. There is a limit to the life of any tree,
particularly the species that make up the majority of our
cemetery stands. Since repair and preservation work
necessarily has been intermittent, owing to the source of
funds, the trees, in many instances, have gone beyond the
possibility of saving. A regular program of maintenance and
replacement is badly peeded if the areas are to present an
attractive appearance.

As a result of the Antietam study, Acting Chief of Planning W.G,
Carnes wrote to the regional landscape architect, Region One, on
April 4, 1940, and instructed him to prepare planting plans similar to
Drawing No. 2009 for Antietam for these following ten national

cemeteries:
1. Chattanocoga 6. Fort Donelson
2. Poplar Grove 7. Shiloh
3. Antietam 8, Gettysburg
4, Stones River 9. Vicksburg
5. Fredericksburg = 10. Yorktown

Such planting plans should be prepared on the basis of
gradual replacement of older trees in order not to denude
them at one time and in order not to replace them with a
stand of trees of the same age so that the present
predicament would arise again in 60 to 70 years. It is
considered desirable to approach this problem from the
standpoint of purchasing trees 10 to 15 feet irgll'\eight rather
than to attempt the establishment of nurseries. :

8. CEMETERY HEADSTONES, 1936
in the annual report for the fiscal year ending June 30, 1936, it

was noted that

Under the direction of Cemetery Superintendent Taute, all
the old irregular private tombstones, forty-three in number,
erected in the early days of the Cemetery and most of which
were in a very bad state of preservation have been removed
and the standard government headstone erected in their
place,3sgiving the Cemetery a decidedly better appear-
ance."

33. R.G. 79, Box 2699, File 031-Part 11, Acting Chief to Director,
March 29, 1940.

34. lbid, Carnes to Regional Landscape Architect, April 4, 1540.
35. Supt. Beckenbaugh's Annual Report, 1936 fiscal year.
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9. CEMETERY SUPERINTENDENT'S QUARTERS
In his report for the quarter ending March 31, 1934, Cemetery
Superintendent Nett noted that "The Superintendent's Lodge

[quarters] needs painting very badly; the roof needs restaining as

part of it has never been stained.". He estimated the cost at $2253,
which included labor and material.36

Nothing happened, for on March 31, 1935, Superintendent Carl M.
Taute reported:

Lodge. {quarters] The second story and roof, shingled,
needs painting. The interior walls and ceilings have never
been painted. A coat of sizing and wall paint would lighten
the rooms and protect the walls. One cellar wall leaks in a
light rain while in heavy rains water runs throygh the celiar
door from the rear of the lodge into the cellar,

Again there was no action. In June 1941, however, the cemetery
superintendent's quarters were painted both on the exterior and the
inter‘ior'.38 '

In June 1939 the quarters electrical wiring was altered and
extended under contract at a cost of $197.39
10. ANNUAL EXPENDITURES ON THE CEMETERY, 1933-1938

From August 10, 1933, to June 30, 1938, the National Park

Service spent $11,465.74 from its regular appropriations for the

administration, maintenance, repair, and operation of Antietam National
Cemetery as follows:
1934 fiscal year: $ 1,494,67

1935 fiscal year: 2,831.41
1936 fiscal year: 2,505,88
1937 fiscal year: 2,697.86
1938 fiscal year: 2,335.92
Total: $11,865.74

36. R.G. 79, Box 2699, File 031-Part I--Repairs Required at
Antietam National Cemetery and Estimated Cost." March 1934,

37. lbid. Quarterly report, March 31, 1935.

38. Supt. Taute's monthiy report, June 1841,

39. R.G., 78, Box 2700, File 620 - Buildings, National Cemetery.
Contract [-1 - 15205, June 29, 1939, with M.O. Holt, alteration and
addition to the wiring in the lodge (superintendent's residence)
Antietam National Cemetery. Also specifications for work, dated
May 22, 1939, 16 pages. '
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Using funds from Emergency Public Works, the National Park
Service spent an additional $3,753.50 between 1933 and 1938 on these .

three projects:

1. Public Works Administration Project No. FPM 421-
Tree Surgery and Protection, April 5 - May 29,
1934--By Contract $ 2,250.00

2, F,E.R.A. Project 22-B15-80. Removing 0ld Paint
and Repainting National Cemetery Iron Fence,
1934-35 409.50

3.  Public Works Administration Project No. FPN-615,
Repairs to National Cemetery Wall and Fence,
March 15-June 13, 1935 1,100.00

Total: Work relief funds, 1933-1938: $3,759.50

With regular and special appropriations inciuded, $15,225.24 was

spent on the national cemetery from 1933 to June 30, 1938. With the

funds for the 1939-40 WPA project for reconstructing the cemetery

stone enclosing wall in the amount of $39,997 inciuded, the total

amounted to more than $55,222.

11. NATIONAL PARK SERVICE EXPENDITURES ON ANTIETAM NATIONAL

BATTLEFIELD SITE AND NATIONAL CEMETERY, 1933-1938 .
Summary of expenditures, August 10, 1833, to June 30, 1938:

Area Regular Funds Emergency Funds Total Spent
Battlefield: $31,360,62 $ 42,076.32 $73,436.94
Cemetery: 11,865.74 3,759.50 15,225,24
TOTAL: $42,826.36 $ 45,835,82 $88,662.18

Region One also spent the following sums at Antietam, which are
not included in the above listed figures:

Battiefield Accounts Allotment Spent
Roads and Trails, 1937 $ 300.00 $ 300.00
Fire Protection, 1936 15,00 2.94_
Fire Protection, 1937 15.00 6.46
Fire Protection, 1938 15.00 12.00
Total: $ 345,00 $321.40

Total, about $88,983.58.
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CHAPTER VII

ANTIETAM NATIONAL BATTLEFIELD SITE AND NATIONAL
CEMETERY DURING WORLD WAR 1T AND IN THE POST~
WAR YEARS, 1942-1950

On December 7, 1941, the Japanese attacked Pearl Harbor and
propelied the United States into World War 11, 1941-1945,. National
Park Service appropriations and manpower were pared to the bone
during this national emergency. Operations were reduced to
caretaking activities. With the end of the war, however,
appropriations for national parks did not rapidly or greatly increase.
tn June 1950, just as there seemed to be some progress in funding,
the United States entered the Korean conflict and once again federal
money was devoted to the war effort.

1. PERSONNEL

Oon April 5, 1942 Carl M. Taute, superintendent of Antietam
National Cemetery and acting superintendent of Antietam National
Battlefield Site, was transferred to the position of superintendent of
Gettysburg National Cemetery. On April 6, 1942, Ciarence L. Nett,
superintendent of Gettysburg National Cemetery since July 11, 1934,
returned to Sharpsburg as superintendent of Antietam National
Battlefield Site and National Cemetery. The position of Antietam
Cemetery superintendent was abolished and the uniformed staff of
Antietam, previously composed of the two superintendents, was
henceforth reduced to one.

Antietam from 1942 to 1950 remained under the supervision of
Coordinating Superintendent Coleman of Gettysburg and of Region One
Director Thomas Allen, headquartered in Richmond, Virginia.

Nett served as superintendent of the Antietam battlefield and
cemetery from April 6, 1942, until his death on June 1, 13945, Paul H.
Younger was appointed custodian of Antietam battlefieid and cemetery
on November 7, 1945, and held that office until his death on
June 10, 1950. Younger was transferred to Antietam from the position
of historical technician at the Statue of Liberty National Il«hanument.1

7. Younger's annual salary as custodian of Antietam in 1946 was
$3,397.20. :
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Pearl M. Benner (later Mrs., Pearl B. Thomas) held the position
of clerk-typist during the period 1942 to 1950. She served as acting
superintendent from the death of Nett until Younger arrived. Younger
suffered a series of heart attacks in 1948 and again in 1950, which
resulted In his death on June 10 in the latter year. During these
intervals of absence Mrs. Thomas served as' acting custodian and also
. acted in this role from June 10 to August 23, 1950, when Younger's
replacement finally reported for du’cy.2

From April 2, 1342, to January 15, 1943, Assistant Historical
Technician Steere worked as a full time historian on Antietam research
and interpretive problems {as have been detailed in
Chapter V. Section {n} 2}. Approximately 14 vyears were to pass
befoere the National Park Service was to assign another professionally-
trained, full-time historian for duty at Antietam. Dr. Titberg of
Gettysburg National Military Park provided historical advice to the
Antietam staff from 1942 to 1950,

Because of the decline of travel during the war, no ranger-
historians were employed during the summers of 1643, 1944, and 1945,
The following men worked as ranger-historians in later years:
Hugh W. Chapman, 1846; none, 1947; William L. Fournier, 1948
and May 7~June 17, 1949; Page T. Otto, the balance of 1949
to October 26; and Louis E. Tuckerman, May 8 to September 30, 1950,

No rangers were employed at Antietam from 1342 to 1950. From
April 6, 1942, to June 30, 1350, the maintenance staff was composed of
two permanent classified positions and two seasonal temporary laborers,
except during the summers of 1947 and 1948, when three temporary
laborers were em;:ﬁoyecl.3

The normal work of the maintenance force '"consisted of mowing
grass, repalring fences, removing dead trees, painting [cast-iron]
tablets, and general maintenance work."u When there were Inter-
ments at the national cemetery, the men also opened and <c¢losed

2. Superintendent's monthly reports 1942-1350.
3. Superintendent's annual and monthly reports 1942-1950,

4. Annual report for the fiscal year ending June 30, 1946, Supt.
Paul H. Younger,
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graves.5
2. LAND ACQUISITION PROGRAM, 1942-1950

On September 21, 1943, Director Newton B. Drury, from the
National Park Service's wartime headquarters in Chicago, Iltinols,
transmitted to the secretary of the interior for examination by. the
solicitor, a deed dated November 7, 1933, conveying from the county
commissioners of Washington County, Maryland, to the United States all
right and title to the historic (1836) Burnside Bridge, as a
donation for addition to the Antietam National Battlefield Site. This
bridge carried the county road over Antietam Creek. Drury wrote,
"Authority for acceptance of this donation is contained in the Act of
May 14, 1940 (54 Stat. 212)."°

The deed executed in 1933, however, was not formally accepted
by the United States until the enactment of Maryland state legislation
authorizing the conveyance., By an act approved April 5, 1945, the
General Assembly of Maryland ratified and approved the conveyances
made by the county commissioners of Washington County. This
deed to the bridge was accepted by the secretary of the interior on
November 20, 1945.8

On July 1, 1947, by warranty deed, Arthur H. Dorsey and Elta
Maria Graves donated 0.014 acres of land to the United States. This
gift was accepted by the secretary of the interior on July 16, 19!&8
This land, Superintendent Younger explained, "permits widening of the
entrance road to the [battiefield] utility area. ui0

5. Younger's annual report for the fiscal year ending June 30,
1948, Eight veterans were buried in the national cemetery in 1945, 6
in 1946, and 36 in 1948.
6. R.G. 79, Box 2606, File 650-04, Park 1. The deed was recorded
Nov. 29, 1933 in Liber No. 194, folio 386. Land Records of
Washington County, Md.

7. Acting Director J. D. Coffman, Chicago, IlIl,, to Secretary of
Interior, November 7, 1945, rec:ommendlng acceptance of deed. File
650.04,

8. Herbert Evison, Chief of Lands, to Regional Director, Region
One, November 30, 1945. File 650.04. This was designated as
Antietam National Battiefield Site, Deed No. 54.

9. R.G. 79, Box 2605, File 604~ -Donations. On October 3, 1947,
Coordinating Supt. J. Walter Coleman also made a special trip from
Gettysburg to Hagerstown, Md., to record the deed to the Dorsey

strip.
10. Superintendent's annual report for fiscal year ending June 30,

1948,
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On November 4, 1947, Region One historian Appleman visited Site
One, Antietam National Battlefield Site, and in a memorandum to

Regional Director Allen, urged that a land acquisition program be
instituted at Antietam to preserve this important battlefield. Never
one to beat about the bushes, Appleman wrote:

The park should acquire that section of the Smoketown road
from Mansfield Avenue to Cornfield Avenue., This road is
only a few hundred yards in length and is unimproved. A
tour of the park necessitates using this smail strip of
unimproved county road. It is muddy in wet weather, and
dusty in dry weather., . . .

Three new houses are under construction immediately east of
Sharpshurg on the Harper's Ferry Road and adjacent to the
park boundary. This new construction is fair warning of
what may be expected to take place in the vicinity of
Sharpsburg at an increasing tempo, as the years pass,
Sharpsburg is situated in very picturesque country, and the
surrounding land offers excellent building sites for
residences, It is my belief that within a relatively few years
the Sharpsburg area will be built up, either for permanent
residences or for summer homes. This speading~out building
tendency has gone on at an accelerated rate of speed,
drawing from the Washington area during and since the war,
Circumstances have left Sharpsburg and the adjoining
countryside relatively unchanged from the Civil War period
up to the present, but we cannot expect that this condition
will continue very much longer. Time is running short for
the Federal government to act in acquiring (while there is
still time) sufficient lands at Antietam to make a battlefield
park of this historic ground. At the present time, the site
is very little more than a ribbon of road. The War
Department made a mistake in planning its land acquisition
program at Antietam. The Park Service will have to
recognize this fact and act guickly to correct it.

My own personal opinion is that if the Federal government
were to maintain and preserve only three areas as national
battlefield parks of the Civil War period, Antietam should be
one of them. Not only was the first invasion of the north
by Lee stopped at this point and turned back, but Antietam
was also a large factor in preventing the recognition of the
Confederacy by England in 1862, and it offered the chance
for Lincoln to issue his Emancipation Proclamation. In the
larger field of the conduct of the war, Antietam is unique
among the battles of that great conflict. It is the duty of
the National Park Service to take the steps necessary to
round out a reasonable battlefield area here in order to
preserve this ground and commemorate the significance of
the event that took piace here. The Sharpsburg countryside
is very much now what it was in 1862. There are literally .
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scores of Civil War period farm houses, barns and
out-buildings in this area., Some of them are exceedingly
picturesque, and in themselves constitute something of an
architectural record of the times. This is a farming area.
Whatever land the Federal govenment might acquire here
should be kept in cultivation under agriculture permits, with
the families living in and using the farm buildinas. | know
of no historical area in Region One which is as greatly in
need of an active land acquisition program as Antietam.

Regional Historian Appleman returned to the attack in 1949, In a
memorandum to the regional director, Region |, he wrote:

The Regional Land acquisition program should place Antietam
high on its list for the acquisition of certain tracts. Among
these is the section of Smoketown Road, which is county
owned and serves as the connecting link with the Park Tour
Road. This stretch of road, needed to complete Federal
ownership of the tour road, is very short.

Another tract of land that is urgently needed for acquisition
is the hill crest and eastern slope of the hill just east of the
New York Monument. This is the site that has been selected
for location of the museum-administration building. This site
commands, better than any other, a panoramic view of the
battiefield and of the mountains beyond.

There are other bits of land that should be acquired to
straighten out and eliminate bad road instersections. I[n a
larger sense, the land acquisition at Antietam is a major one
in view of the fact that the Park consists principally of a
very narrow road, the shoulders of which in many places are
not more than three or four feet wide until the boundary

fences are reached. | recommend that Antietam be placed on
a high ﬁriority for land acquisition in the next year's
program.

Eleven more years, however, were to pass before the secretary of
the interior was to receive authority from Congress in 1860 to
purchase land for Antietam National Battlefield Site. '

T R.G. 79, Box 2603, File 207.03. Appleman to Regional Director,
Region One, November 12, 1947, Assistant Director Hillory A. Tolson
read the report and requested photographs of the new houses east of
Sharpsburg if available and noted that "the legisiation enacted in 1940
|imits the authority of the Secretary of the Interior to acquire
additional lands at Antietam Battlefield to those which can be secured
through donations.”

12. R.G. 79, Box 2601, Appleman to Regional Director February 3,
1949,
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3. MAINTENANCE PROGRAM, 1942-1950
a. Buildings and Structures

{1) Administration-Museum Building (1867 Cemetery Lodge). The

exterior of the administration-museum building was painted in July
194413
repaired; and in June these rooms and the exterior of the edifice were

In March 1948 the office, museum, and public restrooms were

given a coat of paint.“l The cost of these improvements was

:15503.05.15 On July 9, 1949, a contract was awarded to C. V.,

Harbaugh of Hagerstown to install radiators in the museum on the
16

second floor of the lodge, _
(2) Park Superintendent's Quarters. The exterior of the park

superintendent's quarters was painted in July 1944, In February
1945 the floors in three rooms were sanded and varnished.‘l-Jr In 1948
the quarters were given one coat of paint, inside and out, except for
the shingle roof, which had never been painted. This work was done
under r:t:)r‘ntract.'IB |

(3) War Correspondents Monument,Crampton's Gap. On July 29,

1942, lightning struck the weathervane on the south end of the War
Correspondents Memorial Arch. Three large cap stones, each weighing
about 300 pounds, were knocked off the top of the monument. A
contract to repair this damage was awarded to Hammker Brothers of
Thurmont, Maryland. Work started on November 5 and was completed
in December 19112.19

13. Monthly report for July 1944,

14.  Monthly report for March 1948; monthly report for June 1948 and
annual report for fiscal year ending June 30, 1948,

15. R.G. 79, Box 2605. November 24, 1948, Project Completion
Report - 410 - Major Repair or Rehabilitation 1ix 018001 Physical
improvements - Appropriated $1,010.00, $1,004.68 of the total had
been expended,

16.  Monthly reports for June and July 1949.

17.  Monthly report for July 1944, _

18.  Monthly reports, March and June 1948, Annual report for fiscal
year, June 30, 1948,

19.  Monthly reports for July, October, November and December
1942.  Also-R.G. 79, Box 2606. File 801-04: Storms.
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(4} Burnside Bridge. The United States accepted title to the
Burnside Bridge on November 20, 1945, and on June 24, 1947, a
contract was signed with B. L. Smith of Boonsbore in the amount of
$834 for repair of the bridge's arches, which included t'epo»irl'cin(_.‘;.20

Regional Historian Appleman, who inspected Antietam on

November 4. 1947, reported of this work:

The Burnside Bridge has been repointed and the road over
it resurfaced. Re-pointing of the underpart of the arch was
done by contract. The park staff pointed the sides and
edges. | noticed that water was still leaking through the
bridge. Engineer [Tom} Ruffin examined the bridge,
together  with  Custodian  Younger  and Coordinating
superintendent Coleman, and | ieve corrective action 10
stop the leaking is being planned.

Additional repairs were made to the bridge by the park staff at

an additional cost of $28£&.22

(5 National Cemetery Iron Fence. The iron fence along the north or

front wall of the National Cemetery was painted in July 1944.23

In 1947 new barbed wire was strung along the top of the woven
wire fences at the Maryland and Vermont State Monument plots.zu
b. Trees in the National Cemetery

Following World War I[1, the region one tree crew returned to

Antietam to trim the trees in the national cemetery, October 12 - 19,
19u48.%2%

Prior to this, in April 1947, Superintendent Younger had
reported, "12 flowering dogwoods, 5 tulips, 4 white oak, and 16
Kentucky coffee trees have been placed in the National Cemetery.
This is a part of the tree planting pregram set up in 1938. The

remainder of the program will be carried out in 19&8.“26

35, R.G. 79, Box 2605, File 650-04: Bridges.

21. R.G. 79, Box 2603, File 207.03. Appleman to Regional Director,
November 12, 1947.

22. R.G. 79 - annual report of superintendent for fiscal year ending
June 30, 1949; Box 2605 - November 24, 1948 - Project Completion
Report - 410 - Major Repair and Rehabilitation 14x018001.

23. Monthly report for July 1944,

24, Annual report for fiscal year ending June 30, 1947,

25. Monthly report for October 1948.

26. Monthly report for April 1947,
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c.  Water Supply, National Cemetery

On December 19, 1943, a leak developed in the 1,000-gallon water
tank.” In February 1934 the 1,200-gallon water tank in the pump
house was replaced and in March of the same year, a new roof was

28
placed on the pump house,
d. Roads and Trails

No work, other than patching, was done on the roads and trails

from 1942 to 1945. On October 15, 1946, a contract in the amount of

$1,464.24 was awarded to the Bester-Long Company of Hagerstown for

resurfacing Mansfield Avenue.29 This work was completed on
November 2, 19116.30

Contracts were aiso let June 24, 1947 to resurface Cornfield and
Starke Avenues.>' Confederate Avenue was similarly resurfaced in
1948.32
e. Preservation of Historic Fields, Spong Farm

On October 22, 1940, the Washington County Historical Society
donated 128,588 acres comprising the Spong and Dorsey farms that
were located at the Burnside Bridge and formed a large part of an
important historic scene, The National Park Service was now
confronted with the problem of maintaining the cleared fields that had
survived in that state since 1862,

A series of annual special use permits were issued by the National
Park Service to Howard C. Knode from June 11, 1943, to October 30,
1946, "for purpose of maintaining the Rattlefield Site in a condition as
nearly as possible like that in 1862." The historical base map of
Antietam, 1899, which consisted of ®“the Cope Survey map of the
Battlefield of Antietam, 1899, combined with the wartime culture of the

27. Monthly report for December 1943,

28. Monthiy reports for February and March 1944,

29. R.G. 79, Box 2606. File includes contract and specifications for
the work; an area 3,432 feet by 16 feet = 6,101 square yards was o
be surfaced.

30. Monthly report for November 194§,

31. Monthly report for June 1947,

32. Monthly report for September 1948, "Resurfacing job on the
southern section of Confederate Avenue inspected on September 14,
19481 . '
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Antietam area as indicated on the Cope map of 1898, prepared by the
War Department," served as the basic guide in issuing leases and for
restoring or preserving the 1862 historic scene.33 These leases ran
from May 1 to April 30 annually and granted permission for the use of
15 acres of the Spong farm at a monthly rent of $6.25.°"

Architectural and historical investigations, completed in 1940 and
1941, had concluded that the Spong farmhouse, barns and sheds had
been erected after the battle. These structures were removed under
contract in November 1946.35

in a conference held at Antietam on January 18, 1949, and
attended by Coordinating Superintendent Coleman and historian Tilberg
of Gettysburg, Superintendent Younger of Antietam, regional historian
Appleman, and regional landscape architect Abbott, Region One, the
problem of maintaining the 1862 historic scene on the battlefield was
considered. Regional Historian Appleman reported:

The Park is in its usual good maintained condition with the
exception of the recently acquired 125 acres of the Spong
Farm. This new acquisition presents a new problem and a
difficuit one. During the past several years, under private
ownership, it has been allowed to grow up with wvarious
types of shrubs, hawthorne and young trees. Some of these
are already of considerable size. Unless this growth s
removed immediately it will present an ever increasing
problem for the Park. The Park does not now h%%e either
the money or the labor necessary to clear the area.

The meeting, as they say, had identified a problem, but the
means of solving it were not to be provided before 1950,

f. Park Maintenance Equipment, 1948
Custodian Younger reported in 1948 that the equipment of the

park was composed of these items:

33 R.G. 79, Box 2607, File 900-Part 1, Acting Director Hillory A.
Tolson to Regional Director, Region One, Aprit 21, 1944,

34, R.G. 79, Box 2607. File 901. Special Use Permit No.
|-53p-186, May 1, 1943, to April 30, 1944; No. [-53p-240, for May 1,
1945, to April 30, 1946, and May 1, 1946 to October 30, 1946--all
issued to Howard C. Knode. Last one--13NP-23.

35. Monthly report for November 194§, and annual report for the
fiscal year ending June 30, 1947, The contractor apparently compileted
his work in April 1947; see monthly report for April 1947.

36, R.G. 79, Box 2601. Appleman to Regional Director, Region One,

February 3, 1949.
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The motor equipment consists of 1 dual wheel 13 to
International Truck in good condition; 1 Ford V8 % ton
pickup body truck in poor condition; 1 G,.M.C., dump truck,
1% tons, in good condition; 1 Chevrolet Sedan, 1937 model in
poor condition. The ground equipment consists of 1 Gravely
power mower which can be used with sickle cutters or
revolving blades in good condition; 1 Milbradt power mower
in fair condition; 1 Locke three unit reel type in good
condition, A grass trimmer for headstone in the cemetery
has been purchased with a generator. The Utility Building
is equipped with an up-to-date blacksmith forge and anvg? a
power driven grinding wheel, boring machine and jigsaw.

4, LAW ENFORCEMENT PROBLEMS, 1942-195¢0
As has been mentioned, no ranger was stationed at Antietam

during this period. In a report on [aw enforcement problems, dated
November 27, 1947, Superintendent Pauf H. Younger wrote that
"Wandalism is not a serious problem" at this park.38
5. RESEARCH, 1942-1950

As has been mentioned, assistant historical technician Steere was

engaged from July 1, 1942, to January 15, 1943, in completing extensive
historical research and interpretive studies that he had been working
on since October 1941. His position was not filled after Steere's
departure, with the result that Antietam National Battlefield Site had
no capacity for research from 1943 to 1950. Historical matters were
referred to Historian Tilberg at Gettysburg National Military Park for
answers. No historical or architectural research of any importance was
accomplished by National Park Service employees for Antietam during
the years 1943 to 1950.39
6. MASTER PLANNING

A master plan edition of 1943 was issued for Antietam, drawing
no. 3008, Other sheets issued 1942 to 1950 inciuded:

Vicinity Map, January 1, 1942 -- drawing no. 2002A

Ceneral Development Plan, January 1945 -~ drawing no. 2003A
Historical Base Map Showing Battle Action of September 17,

1862-January 1, 1942 -- drawing no. 2014A,
\

37. Superintendent's annual report for fiscal year ending June 30,
1648,

38. R.G. 79, Box 2603, Vandatlism.
3%3. Monthly and annual reports, 13483 to June 30, 1950, contain no
mention of historical or architectural research.
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Road System Plan, May 5, 1949. Drawing No. 217A.
Road and Trail System, October &, 1950. Drawing No.
20178.4
This work was done in the Washington and Regional Offices.
7. TRAVEL, 1842-1850
Travel decreased sharply during the war years, 1943 to 1945, and
then climbed abruptly. An estimated total of 194,926 people visited
Antletam National Battlefield Site and National Cemetery between
July 1, 1942, and June 30, 1950, as follows:
Travel July 1, 1942-June 30, 1950

By Fiscal Year Estimated Number

To June 30: of Visitors No., of Cars
1643: 7.687 2,260
1944: 12,951 2,887
1945; 16,728 3,602
Subtotal: 37,366 8,749
1846 26,056 5,280
1847 31,942 8,831

By Fiscal Year Estimated Number

To June 30: of Visitors No. of Cars
1948: 30,785 7,918
1949: 32,635

1856: 36,142

Total: 194,926 30,788 11

—_——

The seasonal nature of this visitation is shown on the chart on

the following page.

T0,  Copies of these plans are to be found in Record Group 79 of the
Cartographic Division, National Archives, Washington, D.C., under
Antietam National Battlefield Site.

41. Data extracted from monthly and annuat reports of superinten=-
dents, July 1, 1942, to June 30, 1950.
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8. SPECIAL EVENTS AND VISITORS, 1942-1950

There was no special event during this period to rival the 75th
anniversary commemoration of the Battle of Antietam in 1937. On May
28, 1944, however, Superintendent Nett reported, "Président Franklin
D. Roosevelt and party visited the Observation Tower on Bloody

Lang," in an uncfficial, off-the-racord visit to the Rattlafield.

Memorial Day continued to be a big day as large numbers of
groups continued to gather at the National Cemetery to hold services,
The monthly reports of the superintendents indicate that visitation on
that day was as follows:

Memorial Day Visitation at_the National Cemetery

1944: 3,226 1948:
1o45: 4,106 1949; 6,000
1946: 5,000 1950: 43
1947 . }

9. INTERPRETIVE SERVICES, 1942-1950
a. Guided Tours and Lectures

Of the eight summer travel seasons involved between July 1, 1942,
and June 30, 1950, the National Park Service provided the services of
a seasonal ranger-historian during only four of those years, 1946,
1948, 1949, and 1950 {See page 229 for the names of the interpretive
personnel} .

The regular uniformed staff of the park during these years was
one man, the superintendent. With the battlefield oben from 8 a.m. to
5 p.m. daily, seven days a week and only two uniformed men on duty
during the heavy travel season, it was not possibie to give guided
tours and lectures, except in the case of organized groups that had
made arrangements in advance. These same restrictions applied during
the spring and fall seasons, when only the superintendent was
available for interpretive work. The Washington and reglonal offices
during this period, as during the 1930s, had still not y'et developed
models of guided tours and talks that could be of assistance to the

7. Monthly report for May 1944,
43. Data extracted from monthly reports for May, 1942-1950, also
annual reports. Sometimes no figure was mentioned. :
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new and usually inexperienced seasonal ranger historians when they
entered on duty.
b. Interpretive Literature, 1942-1950

(1} Self-Guiding Leaflet, The seven-page mimeographed

self-guiding leaflet, with two maps, developed by superintendents
Beckenbaugh and Taute in 1935 and 1936, was issued to visitors
during this period to supplement the printed material. The
self-guiding booklet suggested the best way to tour the battlefield and
made up for. the lack of guided tours and lectures to some extent.

(2) Printed Informational Leaflet (1940}, The 1940 edition of the
six-page printed informational folder on Antietam was used at the park

during these years. A second shipment of 25,000 copies of the leaflet
was received at the park on May 1, 1942, On December 4, 1946,
Superintendent Younger reported that he had about 14,400 copies of
the folder on hand.uq

It was the duty of the park historian during these years to write
-drafts for the text and to revise the texts of park free folders. In
July 1942, assistant Thistorical technician Steere made several
suggestions for the possible revision of the Antietam 1"0Ider.;"5
‘Lacking copies of the folder issued during the 1940s, it is impossible
to tell if these changes were made. With World War |l in progress,
the printing of National Park Service publications and the revision
thereof probably ceased. Any revisions made to the leaflet from 1946
to 1950 would have been the responsibility of Coordinating Historian
Tilberqg.

(3) Sixteen-page Sales Bookiet. The excellent 16-page history

of Antietam, based on a text written by Dr. Tilberg and published in
1941, was sold to visitors for 10 cents. On April 22, 1942, as has
been mentioned, Acting Director Arthur E. Demaray had authorized the
sale of the booklet in the park headquarters building in the national
cemetery, The original stock of the 16-page booklet was sold out at
the park by December 4, 1946, when no copies were reported as

54.  Monthly reports of superintendent, May 1942, and December 1946.
45. Monthly superintendent's report for July 1942,
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46 The history was reprinted by the U.S. Super-

being on hand.
intendent of Documents after World War Il and was available to the
public until about 1360.
¢. Park Library

The small park library, some 240 books, grew slightly during this
period. In June 1948 Usix books, five on the Civil War, were

purchased for the Library." In November 1948 Chickamauga -and

Chattanooga National Military Park donated one book, A. J. Bennett's
Story of the First Massachusetts Battery, to the Antietam park

Iibrary.w
d. Park Museums, Temporary and Permanent
The small park "temporary® museum established by Superintendent

Beckenbaugh in two rooms on the second floor of the cemetery lodge in
1936-37, with some 230 articles on display, exclusive of pictures,
vegetated from 1942 to 1947. Regional Historian Appleman inspected
Antietam battlefield on November &, 1947. After conferring at the site
with Coordinating Superintendent Coleman, park historian Tilberg, and
custodian  Younger regarding interpretive programs, Appleman
described the temporary museum in these words:

Antietam National Battlefield Site needs an interpretive
program. At the present time, there is a very poor
temporary museum exhibit in two upstairs rooms at
headquarters in the national cemetery. These exhibits are
poorly displayed and wmost of them are in need of
rehabilitation and cleaning. It is a question whether these
exhibits, in their present condition, are not worse than none
at all. The condition of the Antietam museum exhibits
underlines once again that one of the most urgent needs in
Region One is for a fuil-time, competent museum technician
who can be detailed for periods of days, weeks, or months
(as circumstances may require} to various parts of the
Region which will never have sufficient need for a full-time
museum curator, but do need the services of such a
technician for short periods of time each vyear. A park
custodian cannct be expected to give museum exhibits the
attention they need and deserve.

Since my return, | have sent Custodian Younger a copy of
Ned Burns' Field Manual for Museums,

T5. Montihly report of supt. for December 1346.
47. Superintendent's manthly reports for June and November 1348,
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Dr. Tilberg has enlarged and mounted a number of Civil War

period photographs relating to the battie of Antietam. When

thiese are installed in the temporary museyy, there will be
some improvement over the present exhibits,

The meeting apparently started wheels turning. In his monthly
report for January 1948, Superintendent Younger wrote, "A start has
been made in rearranging the museum exhibits as suggested by
Regional Historian Appleman." In February he noted that the two
museum rooms were being painted and in March Younger commented:

A good start has been made on a complete rearrangement of
the museum exhibits, Guns on exhibit cleaned. The two
panels of Civil War pictures, 12 in each panel, which
Gettysburg National Md‘ld‘tary Park prepared...have been
installed in the museum, '

In his annual report for the fiscal year ending June 30, 1948,

Custodian Younger proudly reported:

All articles which are placed on exhibit have been cleaned
and treated and placed in cases. A set of twenty-four Civil
War photographs were made and installed in the museum, an
exhibit which has been the cause of much favorable comment
by visitors,

This area has purchased a slide projector and have at the
present time about fifty sg'ges of interesting and important
positions on the battiefield.

On January 18, 1949, Coleman, Tilberg, Younger, Appleman, and
regional landscape architect Abbott held another meeting at Antietam
to consider its problems., Regional historian Appleman wrote under the
heading of "Temporary Museum¥:

Historian Tilberg has during the past year, undertaken to
help Superintendent Younger revise and improve the
temporary museum that prevailed a year ago at the time of
my visit.... Both are to be complimented on this
achievement .... Still more can be done....

Appleman suggested that the newly appointed Region One Museum
Curator J. Paul Hudson, if possible, be permitted to work at

48, R.G. 79. Box 2603, File 207.03. Appleman to Regional Director,
Region One, November 12, 1947.

49. Superintendent's monthily reports, January, February, and March
1948,

50. Superintendent's annual report, fiscal year ending June 30, 1948,
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Antietam. Hudson could produce better and larger labels and special
exhibits for handwritten Ie’cters.ls'1

On April 4, 1949, Hudson visited Antietam and made suggestions
regarding the temporary rnuseum.52 In July 1949, as had been
mentioned, radiators were installed in the two museum rooms on the
second floor thus nraviding heat for that area.

Superintendent Younger's ill health in 1949 and 1950 apparently
prevented further improvements being made to the exhibits during this
period.

On January 8 and February 28, 1942, the director had decided
that a permanent museum, to cost about $40,000, would be erected on
the New York and Maryland plot.

Then on September 14, 1942, Coordinating  Superintendent

Coleman, historian Tilberg, Superintendent Nett of Antietam, assistant

historian Steere, Chief of Planning Tom Vint, Regional Chief of Planning

Emerson, landscape architect Sheffield, and Regionat Supervisor of
Historic Sites Appleman assembled at Antietam "for the purpose of
going over the proposed tour route and examining the proposed sites
for an administration-museum buildings and 6 or 7 pullouts for
interpretive exhibits at key points on the tour." Appleman reported,
with regards to the permanent museum site:

There was general agreement that the area around the New
York Monument plot offered the -best location for an
administration museum building. A few acres of tand will
have to be acquired at this point. The vantage point is
excellent, giving panoramic view of the entire general area
of the battle and of important points on the horizon
associated with tglf maneuvering of the armies in reaching
the battlefield....

All seemed satisfied with this decision. But with World War I in
progress and no funds for construction available, nothing was done
toward erecting a permanent museum from 1942 to 1950. During the

57, R.G. 79, Box 2601. Appleman to Regional Director, Region One,
February 3, 1949,

52. Superintendent's monthly report for April 1949,

53. R.G. 79, Box 2602, file 833.05. Appleman to Regional Director,
Region One, September 28, 1942.
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1950s, when construction money did become available, the battie over
the location site for the permanent museum or "visitor center", as it
was then called, was to break out anew,

e. Trailside Exhibits and Entrance Signs

In July 1942, asslstant historical technician Steere reported that
five actual size sketches for use in the trailside exhibits he was
developing had been completed.su In August 1942 he completed work
on the self guiding tour and his "Blitz-Krieg" style combat maps were

submitted to Coleman and Tilberg of Gettysburg National Military Park
for approval.>® '

At the important September 14, 1942, conference held at Antietam
Regional Supervisor of Historic Sites Appleman described the
results with regards to trailside exhibits. He wrote:

Mr. Steere guided us around the battlefield and at certain
points proposed for tour/exhibits and the museum building
gave the group an interesting and informative discussion of
the battle....

It was agreed that the several points on the tour selected
for tour exhibits would serve their purpose well. There was
some question about eliminating one of these. Mr. Vint
suggested the substitution of a higher site for the last of
the tour stops along the Harpers Ferry Road. There was an
agreement that his suggestion offered a superior location. It
will be necessary to acquire an acre or two of land at each
of the 6 or 7 stops. The present land status consists of a
narrow avenue or road, for the most part, thus giving no
opportunity for roadside development. The land acquisition
problem at Antietam should be easily solved. The acquisition
of 20 acres in all, judiciously selected, should angwer
Service needs for an indefinite period into the future,..

Historian Steere completed his work on the self-guiding trailside
exhibits in October 1942,%7
were submitted to Gettysburg for approval on December 28, 1942, and

January 3, 19!43.58 The matter of trailside exhibits thus rested, with
nothing being done, from 1943 to 1947,

His research and interpretive reports

54.  Superintendent's monthly report, July 1942,

55. Superintendent's monthly report, August 1942,

56. R.G. 79, Box 2602, file 833.05. Appleman to Regional Director,
Region One, September 28, 1942,

57. Superintendent's monthly report for October 1942,

38. Superintendent's monthly reports, December 1942, January 1943.
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On November 4, 1947, regional historian Appleman, in company
with Coordinating Superintendent Coleman, Historian Tilberg, and
custodian Younger, again considered the problem. Appleman reported

his findings:

As another aspect of the interpretive program that is so
much needed at Antietam Nationai Battiefieid 3Site, there
should be a series of roadside exhibits at key points, similar
to those which are now being erected at Gettysburg National
Military Park and at Yorktown battiefield.

The park also needs good entrance markers and a suitable
neadquarters sign. The two entrance markers now placed on
the highway on either side of Sharpsburg at the park
boundaries are placed obliquely to the road and so situated
that they are seen only about the time the traveller passes
them, and, accordingly, cannot read them. The headquarters
sign is entirely too small, with small lettering. This sign
should be at least three times its present size, with large
lettering and a suitable color scheme.

There should be identifying markers along the highway
indicating what features may be seen from the numerous
park entrance roads. (An exampie of this would be at the
road leading into Bloody Lane.)} At the present time there
are no markers at all at these points.

Suitable study should be given to former Historian Steere's
report, and specific action ir]jigiated to provide interpretive
facilities based on this report,

On February 20, 1948, Appleman informed Regional Director

Alien:

1 am interested In having the cast-aluminum park entrance
markers at Antietam National Battlefield Site (discussed in
Superintendent Coleman's memorandum of February 7]
manufactured and given experimental use. If they prove
satisfactory at Antbg.am, we may wish to use similar entrance
markers elsewhere,

On May 14, 1948, Acting Regional Director Elbert Cox, Region One,
approved the proposal for a serles of outdoor exhibits for Antletam
that Coordinating Superintendent Coleman had submitted on May 3.61

In his annual report for the fiscal year ending June 38, 1948,
Superintendent Younger had written:

55, R.G. 79, Box 2603, File 207,03, Appleman to Regional Director,
Reglon One, November 12, 1947. .

0. WASO file.

61. Ibid.
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A new entrance sign has been purchased for the battlefield,
a new type of sign ... which, if it proves successful, will
be purchased for all the main entrance roads to the
battlefield,

Five trail-side exhibits are now wunder preparation for
Antietam, The trail-side exhibits will be an outstanding
development for this area as nothing of this Efture has been
done before to assist the visitor on the field,

In September Younger reported the "Trailside exhibit located at
the Observation Tower in Bloody Lane is attracting attention and

seems to be a real help."[i3

In December 1949 Younger commented
that he was still working on plans for the proposed field exhibits. He
noted that while many plans had been drawn up, little had been done
to erect the exhibits.ﬁu

On April 13, 1956, Superintendent Younger and historian Tilberg
visited the Washington Office and the Museum Laboratory, relative to
the outdoor exhibits for Antietam.ﬁ5

was dead.

But within one month Younger

During the years July 1, 1942, to June 30, 1950, as in the period
August 10, 1933 to June 30, 1942, the National Park Service was able
to maintain Antietam National Battlefield Site and National Cemetery in

excellent condition, but the Service was unable to implement an
effective interpretive program or develop the park.

62. Superintendent's annual report for fiscal year ending June 30,

1948,

63. Superintendent's monthly report for September 1948,

64. Superintendent's monthly report for December 1949, .
65. Superintendent's monthly report for April 1950,
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CHAPTER V|

ANTIETAM FINDS A PLACE IN THE SUN,
JULY 1850-JULY 1960

in this siudy we now reach a point in the narrative where the
lack of evidence because of record destruction in 1967 and unavailable
documents in the National Archives (January 1, 1954-1974) becomes a
serious problem. For this reason Chapter VIII has been divided into
two sections. The first covers the period July 1, 1950, to December
31, 1953, and is based on ample documentation covering all phases of
park operations. The superintendent's annual and monthly reports,
together with correspondence, were not available to write the history
for the period January 1, 1954, to July 1960, Section two thus
includes only subjects on which correspondence, chiefly from the
Washington Office, was available. A number of park operations are
not considered because there were no data available.
General, 1950-1560

'On June 15, 19'50, at a time when the National Park Service

appeared to be making progress in inducing Congress to appropriate
larger amounts of funds, the Korean conflict broke out. Once again,
money for the National Park Service was reduced and this situation
prevailed until after the armistice was signed on July 27, 1933.

Two events occurred during the summer of 1955 that were to
dramaticaily affect and improve the operation and development of
Antietam National Battlefield Site and National Cemetery and alsc that
of every other park in the National Park System. The first of these
was Director Wirth's successful inauguration of Mission 66
Program, a 10-year effort intended to provide enough money to
properly rehabilitate, develop, interpret, and maintain every park in
the system. Director Wirth's memorandum directing the superintendent
of every area to submit detailed studies and proposals for carrying out
this program in their own areas was issued on June 27, 1955, When
Congress accepted this plan, the National Park Service undertook a
nationwide program of construction, restoration, reconstruction, and
historical, architectural, and archeological research that previously
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would have been considered impossible. The plan for each park was

to incorporate the best of the master planning, developmental, and

interpretive studies that had been carried out from 1933 to date while
new ideas and suggestions were also welcomed,

The second event that was to greatly affect Antietam and all
parks east of the Mississippi River was the regional reorganization that
took piace in 1955. On July 1 old Region One was subdivided into a
new Region One, which administered parks in the southeastern United
States, and new Region Five, headquartered at Philadelphia, to
supervise the parks, which included Antietam, that were in the
northeastern and Ohio Valley portion of the nation. The new regional
director, Daniel J. Tobin, and his assistant regional director, George
A. Palmer, entered on their new duties on July 1, 1855. This
reorganization permitted the staffs of the two regional offices to devote
a great deal more of their time and effort to considerably fewer parks
than had previously been the case. Moreover, Regional Director Tobin
and Assistant Regional Director Palmer were sincerely interested in
Antietam and this facilitated the planning and development of the park
that got underway in the 1950s. ]

PART I, 1950-1953

1. PERSONNEL _

On August 23, 1950, former Chief Ranger Harry W. Doust of
Colonial National Historical Park, Virginia, arrived at Sharpsburg to
assume his duties as the new superintendent of Antietam National
Battlefield Site and National Cemeter‘y.2 As a matter of fact, following
the death of Superintendent Clarence Nett, on June 1, 1945, Regional
Director Allen had written to the director recommending Chief Ranger

Doust as custodian at Antietam at $2,600 per year. "This [transfer] solves

1. These remarks are based on the personal observations of the
writer, who served in the field as a historian at Saratoga, Hyde Park,
and Harpers Ferry from 1948 to 1960 under both old Region One and
new Region Five. He also prepared the initial Mission 66 Prospectuses
for the homes of Franklin D. Roosevelt and Vanderbilt Mansion National
Historic Sites, Hyde Park, New York, in July and August 1955,

2. Monthly report of superintendent, August 1950,
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Colonial's problem," Allen commented. The acting director disagreed,
writing he did not see how transferring Colonial's problem to Antietam
would help the latter park. He further remarked:

Mr. Doust has evinced little interest in the historical aspects

of the area [Yorktown -Jamestown] to which he is now

assianed. and as. apparently. vou reqgard his performance as

deficient under immediate supervision...
placing him under the distant supervision of the coordinating
superintendent of Gettysburg did not seem to be a good idea.
Younger's name was then suggested.3

Both executives had underestimated the talents of Harry W.
Doust, as events were to demonstrate, for he was to play a key role
in winning a place in the sun for Antietam National Battlefield site.

The "problem" that Doust had created at Colonial National
Historical Park during World War |l is not elaborated upon in the 1945
correspondence, but based upon the stories that Superintendent Doust
told the writer in 1957, must have been related to his operation of a
laundry business during the war. Assisted by park ranger Joe
Prentice, Chief Ranger Doust purchased a large number of beach
towels, which they rented at a reasonable rate to the thousands of
sailors and marines stationed in the Norfolk ‘area for use on the
beaches on weekends. They also did other laundry for the
servicemen, with the result that the clotheslines they erected in the
rear of their government quar‘fers were ladened 24 hours a day, seven
days a week with drying clothes and beach towels. The profits of this
business, which was conducted with great energy, they invested in
U.S. War Bonds, thereby not only helping keep up the morale of the
sailors, but also supporting the war effort. Doust reported that he
had purchased so many war bonds that he had been forced to acquire

a steamer trunk in which to store them.u The park superintendent

3. R.G. 79, Box 2601, Letters, June 23, 1945 of Acting Director,
with Regional Director Allen, June 1945 attached.

4, During the writer's work at Harpers Ferry National Monument,
1957-60, Superintendent Harry W. Doust visited the Monument and had
junch at the writer's residence. The colonial laundry story is one that
Mr. Doust used to tell with great gusto.
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and the regional director, Region One, probably regarded the two
rangers' laundry operations as a nuisance and "problem," but neither
of thé executives apparently dared to order them to halt because of
possible public relations ramifications. _

Wwith the end of World War I, the taundry operations ceased and
in 1950 a forgiven Chief Ranger Doust was made superintendent of the
battlefield, Doust was interested in 19th century England, in Scotland
Yard, crime, and the detective Sherlock Holmes. He normally reported
to work dressed in the style of an English gentleman and on the very
special occasions when he reported for work at the office in the
standard National Park Service uniform, he adorned it with his World
War | service ribbons and medals. During his service at Antietam,
Doust was engaged in his off-duty hours in writing a great Gothic
English novel, of which there will be some mention later, |

Mrs. Pearl B. Thomas (nee Pear! M. Benner} continued to serve
as clerk-typist during the period 1950-60. There was no park ranger
or park historian. Ranger-historian Tuckerman served during the
summers of 1950, 1951, 1952, and 1853, In 1953 he had to be
discharged on August 24 because of the tack of funcis.6

During the summer of 1950, when Doust arrived, his maintenance
force was made up of two Ipermanent classified laborers and two
temporary laborers. In 1951 he had three laborers during the
summer, but only one in December.7 The number employed in 1952
and 1953 are not listed in the monthly reports, but probably did not
exceed four. '

The director and staff of the Washington office were favorably
impressed with Superintendent Doust's administration of the Antietam
battlefield. In his monthly report for June 1953, Doust

5.  Ibid.

6. Data for personnel from monthly reports of Superintendents, June,

July, and August, 1950-1953. Ranger-Historian Louis E. Tuckerman
served May 6-September 30, 1950; June to September 3, 1951;
June-August 1952, and June 22-August 24, 1954,

;.' On his vacation Mr. Doust enjoyed visiting London and Scotland
ard.
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reported, "By memorandum F0-62-53, signed by the Director, as of
July 1, 1953, this area will be removed from Coordinating
Superintendent Coleman." Doust thanked Superintendent Coleman and
his staff for the help they had afforded Antietam since coordinating the
park on October 3, 1940. Doust was moving Antietam out of the shade
of a larger park to a place directly in the sun.
2. CLOSING THE NATIONAL CEMETERY TO FURTHER BURIALS
Superintendent Doust was an administrator who gave his superiors

timely hints and when they failed to grasp the implications, proceeded
to solve the problem on his own initiative. In his monthly report for
July 1952 he suggested that Antietam National Cemetery be closed to
further burials as there are "no suitable places for new graves left."
In August of the same year he reported that he was burying veterans
in "the last row of graves." Neither the Regional Director, Region
One, nor the director apparently got the message. On November 29,
1952, a Hagerstown newspaper carried a long article, based on an
interview with Doust, saying that Antietam National Cemetery was to be
closed. The number of burials was given as 5,135.8

[n his May 1953 report, Superintendent Doust wrote, "We were
notified by the War Department [sic} in Janﬁary 1953 that they had
informed the undertakers and veteran hospitals in this vicinity that the

Antietam National Cemetery was closed. However, we have received no

closing order from the Park Service.“g
In his June report, he noted the problem had been solved,

commenting, "The National Cemetery was officially closed by
Memorandum of June 17, 1953, issued by Assistant Director Lee."
During the same month Doust conferred with Commander Grayson of the
local American Legion Post regarding -the establishment of a new
National Cemetery at Antietam. "I informed him...," wrote Doust, "any
new project of this kind came under the control of the War Department
{sic]. If one is established that it be placed in some adjacent area
- rather than on the Battlefield ... so as not to confuse it

8. Supt.'s monthly report for November 1952, including copy of

articles.
g, Monthly report for May 1953, underlining added.
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with the present National Cemetery. He was heartily in accord with
this suggrestlon."10 Trouble was headed off at the pass.

In 1955 a bill, H,R. 7213, was introduced in Congress to provide
for the enlargement of the Antietam National Cemetery. Acting
Director Jackson Price wrote to the Legislative Counsel, Office of the
Solicitor, on July 25, recommending that the bill not be enacted,
Price explained:

The Service is opposed to the enlargement of this relatively
inactive cemetery because (1) any enlargement would result

in destroying, by a modern cemetery, terrain that is a part

of Antietam Battlefield, (2) the long=-continued burial of
veterans of wars other than the Civil War would soon
destroy the integrity of the Antietam National Cemetery as a
Civil War cemetery; and (3) the Service is not especially
staffed and equipped to operate active national cemeteries,

the burial of the soidier dead of recent wars being the
responsibility of the Memorial Division of the Quartermaster
Corps of the Department of the Army,

Consequently, the bill was pigeon-holed and Antietam "National
Cemetery was not enlarged.11 '
3. LAND ACQUISITION

Superintendent Doust seized the initiative when an opportunity

presented itself in 1950 to acquire the site of the Dunkard Church for
Antietam National Battlefield Site, thus carrying out a proposal that
had been suggested in 1913, On October 1, 1950, Doust attended a
meeting of the Washington County Historical Society and discussed with
its president, Dr. W. H. Shealy, the possibility of acquiring the old
Dunkard Church site, which was being threatened by the right-of-way
for the new Hagerstown state road. The highway would come within
20 feet of the foundations. Doust suggested that the society put
pressure on the state to acquire the church site with the idea of
preserving it and donating it to the battlefield, In December, Doust
reported that he was pushing the idea of the Washington County
Historical Society acquiring the church site and that he had managed
to also get the local American Legion interested in the pr'c‘ject.12

10. Supt.'s monthly report for June 1953.
11. File 1415~H,
12. Superintendent's monthly reports for October and December 1950,
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By early 1951 Doust had raised the interest of the Washington
office in the project and, on February 16, Chief Historian Lee wrote to
Frederick L. Rath, Jr., director of the National Council of Historic
Sites and Buildings, Washington, D.C., to gain the support of that
preservation organization, Lee noted:

The National Park Service has long been conscious of the
historic importance of the Dunkard Church site.... It has
jong been the hope of the National Park Service that the site
of the Dunkard Church could be added to the National Park
Service Site. Funds for the acquisition of this property
have not, however, been made available,...

Lee then explained that the site was being threatened by
Maryland highway construction.13

In March 1951 Doust reported that the Washington County
Historical Society was then in the process of purchasing the church
site, 0.3 acres.w

On May 1 the Hagerstown Evening Star reported that the
Washington County Historical Society had "announced yesterday that it
had purchased the tract containing the remains of the Dunkard
Church." On May 9 the Society's president, Dr. Shealy, wrote

Director Demaray and offered to transfer the site of the church to

the National Park Service on May 30, 1951, in fee simple.15
Responding on May 21 Director Demaray informed Dr. Shealy
that "The National Park Service was authorized under Act of Congress
approved May 14, 1940 (54 Stat. 212} to accept this property." He
was willing to accept the gift but noted that a title search must be
the deed by the United States became final. The director also stated
that Assistant Director Lee would attend and represent the National

Park Service at the May 30 ceremony.”3

13. R.G. 79, Federa! Record Center, Suitland, Md. - File 30~15, Box
128, Accession No. 62A362.

14. Superintendent's monthly report for March 1951 - These 1950-53,
in R.G. 79-Washington Federal Record Center, Suitland, Md. File 2823,
15. R.G. 79, File H30-15, copy of May 1, 1951, newspaper article.
Shealy to Demrary, May 9, 1951, Also Coordinating Superintendent J,
walter Coleman to Reglonal Director, Region One: "A dwelling now
rests on the foundation of the original church but this will be removed

before sale takes place."
16. R.G, 79-File H30-15, Director to Shealy, May 21, 1951, Also

National Park Service Press release, May 28, 1951, on Dunkard
Church.
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lee attended the event and on June 13 informed the regional
director, Region One, that during this event he had made no
commitment to the Washington County Historical Society as to the
reconstruction of the Dunkard Church. He also noted that the
Historical Society had spent $4,000 to purchase the church tract.”

The title search continued and in August 1951, Superintendent
Doust reported that Ranger Historian Tuckerman was assisting in the

18

title search, The search was completed and the deed to the 0.30

acre tract was officaly accepted by the United States on April 15,
1953.19

Total U.S.-owned land in Antietam National Battlefield Site and
National Cemetery from April 15, 1953, to June 30, 1960, was 193.76704
acres, of which 182.41104 acres were in the battlefield and 11.35600
acres in the national cemetery.20

The successful drive to obtain authority for the Secretary of the
Interior to purchase land for the Antietam Battlefield, which cumulated
in the Act of Congress approved April 22, 1960, will be considered in
some detail in Part !l of this chapter.
4., RESEARCH

The major research project of 1950-54 concerned historical
research on the Dunkard Church, occurring after Antietam's staff
acquired the site on May 30, 1950. This research is discussed later in
this chapter under j. The Dunkard Church Site.

As a part of his research on the Dunkard Church, ranger—-'his-

torian Tuckerman discovered that President Lincoln visited Antietam

T7. Ibid., Lee to Regional Director, June 13, 1351,

18. Monthly report for August 1951.

19, File 1423 - Antietam National Battiefield Site, Land Building,
Roads & Trails, Value of Lands, 1895 - April 15, 1953, in Park Files.
It took a long time however, R.G. 79, H 30 - April 18, 1952, Region
One sent deed and abstract of title, provided by Superintendent
Coleman of GCettysburg, to Director. July 2, 1952 Hillory A. Toison
sends data to attorney general, August 12, 1952 - Attorney General
asked Director for additional information on deed.

20. ibid., File 1432, Park Files.
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in October 1862. He submitted a report on his findings in August
1951.%1

Superintendent Doust tried his hand at research, submitting to
the Regional Director, Region One, on December 9, 1954, "A Short
History of Antietam National Battlefield Site and National Cemetery,” 18
pp. The report is undocumented. Most of the information used for
writing the cemetery section was drawn from cemetery Superintendent
Hess's history of the cemetery, published in 1890, which in turn was
largely based on the Board of Trustees of Antietam National Cemetery
history, 1865-67, published in 1869. Superintendent Doust also
included a useful description of the battlefield and cementery, with
buildings, structures, roads, and markers as of 1954,

5. MAINTENANCE
a. Buildings and Structures

(1} Administration-Museum Building (1867 Cemetery Lodge]. On
November 25, 1950, a violent windstorm, part of & hurricane, tore
slate off the roof of this structure, This was replaced. Also in
November the museum rooms in the edifice were being remodelled {more
on this under "!wh_zs:»eums“}.22 _

In November 1951 Superintendent Doust reported that the old coal
furnace in the building would not burn all night, hence it "was very
cold in the office to noon.“23 Doust and his clerk~typist apparently
suffered from the cold conditions during the winter of 1951 and 1952,
but on January 19, 1953, the superintendent noted, "An oil space

heater has been placed in our office. This has greatly improved the
24
1

heating condition of the old building.’

{2) Superintendent's Quarters (1927-28 Cemetery Lodge]. On
November 25, 1950, the same violent hurricane that damaged the
administration-museum building also knocked wooden shingles off the

21. Superintendent's monthly report for August 1951, This
"discovery® had also been made in 1936. See T. L. Heffernan, "The
Emancipation Proclamation and Lincoln's visit to the Antietam
Battiefield," 13 pp. typescript, February 11, 1936.

22, Superintendent’'s monthly report for November 1950.

23, Superintendent's report for November 1851,

24. Superintendent's report for January 1953.
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superintendent's quarters. These were also replaced.25 No further
work was apparently done to the residence until Christmas 1953, when

Doust reported, "The boiler in the Superintendent's residence sprang
a leak over the holiday. It is 3 good thing we have received
rehabilitation funds to replace this unit, as the old equipment is about
worn out. Bids have been called for from heating companies," he
noted, "these to be open January 15, 19511.“26

{3} Rostrum (1879) in the National Cemetery. in Aprii 1952 the

brick columns of the rostrum were repointed and in May the structure
' 27

was painted. The cost of the repointing was $150.

In May 1953 Superintendent Doust reported, "the wood pergbla
top of the rostrum has deteriorated to the extent that it has to be
replaced if the rostrum is retained. The cost will be approximately
$1,500," He recommended, "lnasmuch as the rostrum is used only
once a year, we think it would be more economical to remove it and

use a small portable speaker's stand in its place."28

Fortunately,
Doust's suggestion was overruled and the historic structure was

saved. Plans for the new top of the rostrum were prepared in

August, and in November 1953 Doust noted that work on the roof was
underway. He commented, "These have to be cut by hand a&as no
power saw in the vicinity was capable of cutting the fancy scrolls used
in this pergola." The project had been completed, he noted, only
painting remained to be dt:me.29

(4) Cemetery Garage. In October 1950 a door in the cemetery

garage was widened and the door rehung.30

25. Supt.'s monthly report for November 1950,

26. Supt.'s monthiy report for December 1953,

27. Monthly reports for April and May 1952.

28. - Monthly report for May 1953.

29. Monthly report for November 1953. Plans and estimates for
rostrum work prepared by Engineer Ruffin, Region One, August 3-7, -
1953-Supt.'s monthly report for August, T

30. Supt.'s monthly report for October 1950,
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{5} Battlefield Utility Building. In October 1950 the door in
31

the utility building was "made fire-proof" and rehung.
{6} Stone Observation Tower {1896-1897]. In April 1952 the
stone tower was repaired at a cost of $300. Loose plaster was removed

and stonework repcinted. All metal work in the tower was also given
32

two coats of paint at a cost of $263,
(7} The Burnside Bridge. In March 1951 the superintendent
reported that the Burnside Bridge "needs some work done on it."33

There is, however, no mention of repairs being made,

On January 13, 1953, Superintendent Doust wrote, "A portion of
the Burnside Bridge collapsed." This was reported at once to the
coordinating superintendent at Gettysburg. Highway engineer Glen of
Region One and Coordinating Superintendent Coleman, inspected the
bridge. Repairs were in progress, but the top slab had
not been put down due to cold weather. The bridge was closed
temporarily while the problem was being studied. The natural sclution
to the problem would be to close the bridge, however, this would
cause problems. It would be difficult to prevent heavy trucks from
crossing. In the meantime some sort of weight limit should be placed
upon the bridge when it was reopened.3£1

In a traffic count compieted in April by the State of Maryland
Roads Commission at the Burnside Bridge, it was found that
approximately 300 vehicles used the bridge a day, or about 109,500
per year,

Highway engineer Ruffin of the Region One office spent August 3
to 7, 1953, making estimates and plans for stabilizing the Burnside

Bridge.36 This work was carried out in 1958.37

3t. lbid.

32. Supt.!s monthly report for April 1952.

33, Supt.'s report for March 1951,

34, Supt.'s monthiy report for January 1953,

35. Supt.'s monthly report for April 1953,

36. Supt.s monthiy report for August 1953.

37. Regional Historian James W. Holland, Region One, memo March 31,
1955 - reported the Burnside Bridge had been erected in 1936 and that
the bridge had not yet been stabilized in March 1855,
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b. Cemetery Flagstaff

During June 1953 the national cemetery flagstaff was given a

"heavy coat of good aluminum paint which it very badly neef:ied."38

c. Wooden Benches in the Cemetery

in May 1953 Superintendent Doust reported that "Through the
years the wooden benches have become unfit for use and we are going
w39
to salvage them.

d. Trees in the Cemetery

The Region One tree crew worked in the national cemetery from
October 16 to 20, 1950. On November 25, 1950, a hurricane damaged
trees in the cemetery.uo

The regional tree crew were again trimming limbs in Antietam
National Cemetery from May 20 to 29, 1953. Regional Forester Wilbur
L. Savage was at Antietam inspecting their work on May 20 and 21.41

e, Cemetery Water System

In May 1953 the electrical line leading to the main pump went out
of commission after being damaged by lightning. The line was
promptly repair‘ed.u2

f. Cast-lron Historical Markers

In December 1952 Superintendent Doust reported that there were
215 cast-iron War Department historical tablets on the battlefield. He
remarked that these markers were painted every two years, explaining
the process as follows: VYEntire marker given a coat of black paint and
then gone over the top of the raised letters with aluminum paint. We
have tried several ways of doing this but find the old fashioned
method of tapping on the face of the letters with a block pad does the
best job.“113 : '

Before this, in November 1950, Superintendent Doust reported
that all of the cast-iron tablets along the Hagerstown Pike had been

38. Superintendent's monthly report for June 1953.

39, Supt.'s monthly report for May 1953.

40. Supt.'s monthly reports for October and November 1950.

41. Supt.'s monthiy report for May, 1953. Tree Crew Foreman was
Bernhard A. Kolb.

42. Supt.'s monthly report for May 1953.
43. Supt.'s monthly report for December 1953,
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removed and stored in the battlefield utility building. This removal
was necessary because of the widening of the road from Sharpsburg to
Lappan Cross Road by the Maryland State Road Commission. He noted
that most of the tablets would have to be relocated because of the
widening of the road. The markers were to be painted while in
storage.uu in September 1953 he noted that the markers had been
repositioned along the widened Hagerstown Pike and that "ail were

back where they should be."u‘r’

g. Fencing

In August 1951 Superintendent Doust reported that new barbed
wire was put on some of the fences along the avenue because the
cattle, leaning over the fences to get at grass, had caused some of the
fences to sag.u(5

In July 1952 he recorded that the old wire fence and concrete
posts which fenced off the foot path leading from the Burnside Bridge
via the Spong Farm to the McKinley Monument had been removed. In
September fences along the avenues were repaired and new barbed
wire placed on top.w In October 1953 he noted that 9.68 miles, with
4.84 miles for one side, of fence rows had been cleared along the
battiefield avenues.n8

h, Tractor Mowing

tn June 1953 Superintendent Doust wrote:

In the past the grass in Bloody Lane was cut by hand mowing
and was Kkept in the same condition as a tawn. Last year due
to the lack of labor and funds and at the suggestion of
various Park officials visiting, the practice of using hand
mower was discontinued. All the avenues but Cornfield and
Starke are cut with a tractor mower which leaves the grass
much higher than cutting by hand. [This change has
resulted in much criticism by townspeople and retired National
park Service maintenance men]. As soon as possible we are

5, Superintendent's monthly report for November 1950.

45, Superintendent's monthly report for September 1953. In January
1953, Doust also toyed with the idea of regrouping the historical
markers in certain spots so that auto travelers could read a number at
one time, monthiy report for January 1953,

46, Supt.'s monthly report for August 1952,

47. Supt.'s monthly reports for July and September 1952.

48, Supt.'s monthly report for June 1353.
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going to go back to the former way of ch@ting grass along
Bloody Lane to try to eliminate this critism.

i. Preserving Historic Fields, the Spong Farm

In September 1951 one field on the Spong Farm was cleared of
brush and trees.sn During July, August, and September 1952 the
maintenance crew worked at clearing heavy brush out from the trail
leading from the McKinley Monument to Burnside Bridge and in the
adjacent area of the Spong Farm.51
jo The Dunkard Church Site

On May 30, 1951, the Washington County Historical Society

presented the deed for the 0.30-acre Dunkard Church site, which
included the foundations of the church, to the National Park Service,
Title search by the United States took about two years, so that the
federal government did not formally accept this donation until April 15,
1953, Meantime, however, the National Park Service took care of and
made plans for the site. :

(1} Plans to Reconstruct the Church. In his letter of

June 30, 1951, to the regional director, Region One, Assistant
Director Lee reported that he had not made any commitment to the
Washington Historical Society regarding the reconstruction of the
church. He also commented that both Superintendent Doust and he
would like to see the structure reconstructed. Iin fact, both Doust and
ranger-historian Louis E. Tuckerman started a preliminary study to
assist in the possible rebuilding, which Lee believed would be simple,
Lee obtained an estimate that the structure could be built for about
$25,000 and ranger-historian Tuckerman completed his research report

on the history of the church in August '1951.52

49. Supt.'s monthly report for June 1953,

50. Supt.'s monthly report for September 1951,

51. Supt.'s monthly reports for July, August, and September 1952,
52. For details see section 4, Research, this chapter.
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On July 12, 1951, Chief Architect F. D. Nichols, Design Branch,
advised Assistant Director Lee that the estimated cost of
reconstructing Dunkard Church would be about $25,000.

On August 8, Superintendent Doust wrote to Lee, reporting that
Tuckerman had finished the report on the Dunkard Church, that
the owner of the extant pieces of the original edifice would sell these
parts for $7,500, and that the remaining 15 acres of the original
church lot would cost about $18,000. Finally, he noted that the
cottage on the original church foundations had been removed.

On September 10, Assistant Regional Director Elbert Cox, Region
One, forwarded a copy of ranger-historian Tuckerman's report on the
church, together with a letter of review by Coordinating
Superintendent J. Walter Coleman, to the Director. Assistant Director
ee responded on September 24 to the regional director, Region One,
remarking that he had received a copy of the Tuckerman report and
found it to be a vaulable contribution.

On March 3, 1952, a major meeting was held at Antietam of
representatives of the director's and regional director's offices, and
the field officials to consider the problems relating to the reconstruc-
tion and preservation of the Dunkard Church property.

From the Washington Office were Chief Historian Herbert E.
Kahier, messrs. Sutton and Kammer, and regional architect Higgins,
who represented the Region One office. Coordinating superintendents
Coleman of Gettysburg and Doust completed the committee. The group
inspected the church site and discussed its problems. In a
memorandum to Assistant Director Lee, Chief Historian Kahier, on
March 7, 1952, described the findings and recommendations as follows:

The original foundations and steps of the buildings were found to
pe intact. The group recommended:

1.  The area be fenced.

2. Foundation stones be bonded together to prevent the loose stone
from being carried away.

3. Shoulders along the road be sloped, and seeded or sodded.

4. That a historical marker be erected at the site.

5. That the deed to. the lot be accepted before further improvements
could be made to the property.
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Of the historical data and photographs collected thus far, Kahler
reporied, "Exterior photos appear to make restoration of building
possible.” These showed three sides of the church. None had vyet
been found of the fourth side and no photographs had been found of
the interior. Further research, however, might supply the missing
evidence.53

Chief Historian Kahler informed Assistant Director Lee on March
7, with regards to the meeting: "It was a pleasure to see Doust in
action and it was my impression that he is doing a good job."

The group also met with Dr. Shealy and Mary V. Mish of the
Washington County Historical Society., Mish volunteered her aid and
by April 1952 had found additional historical photos and a plan of the
interior as remembered in 1908-10. She at once set about collecting
data on the history of the church. On March 12, in a newspaper
article, Mish requested all people in Washington County who had old
photographs of the church to bring them to the Washington County
Historical Society for copying. On March 14, she provided Chief
Historian Kahler with a report on the search and collection of old
photos, noting that the one taken 13%00-1905, showed the brick work in
great detail. On March 24 she enclosed F. M. Miller's plan of the
interior of the Dunkard Church as he remembered it in 1908-1910.
Mish had encouraged Miller to prepare this sketch. S$She sent in a final
report on her findings on Aprii 10, 1952,

Mish was also very helpful with other National Park Service
projects underway at this time. In March 1952 she was able to have
the Maryland legislature appropriate an additional $40,000 to purchase
land on Maryland Heights for addition to the proposed Harpers Ferry
National Monument.

53. R.G. 59, File H30-~Kahler to Lee, March 7, 1952. Doust also
raised at this meeting the problem of closing Antietam National
Cemetery in the future. He also stated that funds for management and
protection were "so limited that it is questionable if Doust will have
enough fuel to see him through the winter." Regional architect A. J.
Higgins also submitted a report on the meeting. (1) a cement top was
to be placed on the existing foundation; ({2} concrete post and wire
mesh fence to be used to enclose the area.
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The Tuckerman report and the photos and pilan contributed by
Mish completed the research work that was done on the Dunkard
Church prior to July 1, 1960. No architectural study of the building
was made. -

The United States accepted the deed to the church ot on

April 15, 1933, and Superintendent Doust pushed boldly ahead. On
May 4, 1953, Coordinating Superintendent Coleman wrote to the
regional director, Region One, regarding the possible reconstruction of
the Dunkard Church, "Superintendent Doust informed the Washington
County Historical Society of his discussion of the possible
reconstruction of Dunkard Church with [U.S.] Senator Beall [of
Maryland]." The Tuckerman report would be used and Coleman hoped
that the Region would provide architectural assistance and study for
the project.sn Regional Director Cox, Region One, on July 3, 1953,
informed Coordinating Superintendent J. Walter Coleman of Gettysburg
that the Tuckerman report was valuable "but additional architectural
study must be made before plans and a complete estimate are
prepared. We estimate a complete reconstruction would cost in excess
of $50,000."
_ Cox's response killed the project because: (1} the funds were
not available with the Korean conflict in progress, and (2) he doubted
that the church structure was historically important enough to justify
expenditure of the large sum of money estimated as necessary 1o
reconstruct the building. Cox wrote in part:

We estimated a complete reconstruction would cost in excess
of $50,000. Although we have indicated interest in the
possible reconstruction of this historic building, the question
immediately arises as to how valuable such a. program would
be, and whether, in the face of the high cost of recon-
struction, we could give it any priority in our construction
program. In discussing it here, we are of the opinion that
this project wouid have to fall below many others in priority
in the Region. In fact, it would be so low in priority that
it would be unrealistic to the point of deception to state that
it is on our priority list.

I am aware of the interest which the community and town
organizations have in this project and we would not want to

54, R.G. 79, File H30.
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discourage them in their efforts to assist us in the develop-
ment of the Antietam Battlefield. However, unless they are
willing and able to undertake the project, ! believe that we
should tell them frankly of our situation. In other words, it
is not fair to let them go on betieving and hoping that we will
do something about the project when really the prospects of
getting money to do the job are almost hopeless. Certainly,
that is the picture as | see it at this time, '

Regional Director Cox requested that either Coleman or
Superintendent Doust convey this message to Dr. Shealy of the
Washington County Historical Sot:iety.55

On August 6 Regional Director Cox wrote directly to Dr. Shealy,
president of the Washington County Historical Society, explaining the
situation:

Although the matter of reconstructing the Dunkard Church
has been given earnest and long consideration by this
Service, we have been forced to be realistic about the
situation in the light of the financial probiems which hag
faced us for many years past and which has an appearance of
becoming even greater in the immediate future. We do,
however, propose to mark the church site ... in an attractive
manner and to undertake the protection of the church
foundation. On the marking, we will, of course full recognize
the role of the Washington County Historical Society in
acquiring this important site.

Superintendent Doust has discussed this matter with your

already, but | wanted to write you directly because of my

own concern and to express again appreciation of the interest

whicrgs the Society made in the Antietam National Battlefield

Site.

Thus the effort to reconstruct the Dunkard Church, strongly
supported by Superintendent Doust, ended in defeat. Nine years later,
the church was to be rebuilt in 1961-62 with $35,000 in funds provided
by the Washington County Historical Society. _

(2} Stabilization of the Church Foundations. - Assistant Director
Lee suggested that regional archeologist Harrington visit Antiteam and
give Superintendent Doust advice on how the foundations of the
Dunkard Church might be stabilized. On September 3§ Harrington
informed the regional director, Region One:

55. Ibid., Cox to Coieman, July 3, 1953.
36. R.G. 79, File H30, Cox to Shealy, August 6, 1953.
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| visited on August 31 and discussed this matter with Super-
intendent Doust,

The idea!l treatment of these foundation walls would be the
sort of thing that they do at many of the southwest ruins....

The area does not have the funds at present to engage in a
project of this type, and it is imperative that temporary
stabiiization be done immediateiy. Cunsequeniiy some soit of
emergency stabilization measures must be resorted to. Mr,
Doust has already given emergency treatment to some of the
wall by single spreading a thin course of mortar over a part
of the top surface of the wall....

This should be sufficient to hold the stones in place and
should give protection to the walls for possibly two or three
years,.. In the meantime it would seem that what he has
done is about the only feasible method and it would seem
advisable to complete the other walls in the same manner.

Harrington also suggested dumping a few loads of earth into the

foundation "after the cross walls have been temporarily stabilized to

serve as a guard."57

The region provided Superintendent Doust with a copy of this
report on September 14, 1953,
In his monthly report for October 1953, Superintendent Doust

reported that

three days had been spent fixing the foundation stones of
the old church. The old cement foundation of the garage,
adjacent to the church, removed, also walk that lead to
privy. Fresh fine ground was hauled to fill in on the inside
of the foundation and the top of the foundation stonework
was secured by a thin layer of co,%:rete topping, as
recommended by archeologist Harrington,
6. INTERPRETIVE SERVICES, 1950-1953
a. Guided Tours and Lectures
Antietam National Battiefield Site remained a one-man area, with
only the superintendent in uniform, from 1950 to the spring of 1958,
when a full time GS-7 historian position was added to the staff.

During the summer months, 1950 to 1358, Mr. Louis E. Tuckerman

55 R.G. 79, File H30, Also monthly report for Supt. for August

1953.
58. Superintendent's monthly report for October 1953. I!n his report

for September, Doust acknowledged receipt of the Harrington report,
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returned each year to work as the seasonal ranger-historian. With
only two uniformed men on duty during the heavy summer travel
season, it was not possible to give guided tours except in the cases of
organized groups that made arrangements in advance. Despite his
reputed lack of interest in things historical while serving as chief
ranger at Colonial National Historical Park during World War |1, Doust
at once undertook a study of the Maryland Campaign and the Battle of
Antietam when he became superintendent of Antietam in 1956, He did
this to meet on equal footing with groups of Civil War buffs who had
formed numerous groups known as "Civil War Round Tables." These,
in increasing numbers during the 1950s and 60s, visited Civil War
battlefields. Doust gave these groups guided tours over Antietam and
its related- battlefields. Tuckérman, by now an experienced hand, had
also studied the campaign and both the superintendent and the
ranger-historian were able to give lectures and orientation on the
history of the park.>®

No private guide services were available at Antietam during these
years. Visitors thus took a self-guided tour and the complete tour
covered 10.8 miles and required from about one to one and one-half
hours to finish it.60 Two hundred and fifteen cast-iron historical
tablets, erected by the War Department in 1897-98, and. about ten field
or trailside exhibits, erected by the National Park Service in 1850-51,
provided visitors with additional information during their tour's.{iI
b. Interpretive Publications

(1) Self-Guiding Leaflet. This seven-page mimecgraphed leaflet,
developed in 1935-36 and used as late as 1945, probably went out of
use about November 1948, when a self-guide tour route was added to
the map of the battlefield that was published on the back of the six-
page free folder. No seif-guiding leaflet was in use from 1950 to 1960,

59. "Interpretation Section, Master Plan Development Outline,
Antietam National Battlefield Site, Maryland," May 1952, 21 pp.,
prepared by Historian Frederick Tilberg, Gettysburg NMP, June 6,
1952, and approved by Acting Director Ronald F. Lee, February 25,
1953. Sections on guided tours and lectures, p. 19.

60. Ibid., p., 18, The complete tour is described on pages 16-18,
61. Ibid., pp. 18-19.
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(2} Free Six-Page Informational Folder. First issued in 1940,

the two-fold leaflet was revised in 1948 by adding a suggested

self-guiding tour route to the battle map. The leaflet revised perhaps

once or twice more was still in use in 1960.62

(3) Sales Literature. The 16-page booklet, authorized by

Dr. Tilhera and sold for ten cents beginning in 1941, was not sold at

the park during the period 1950-1960, but could be purchased from
the U.S. Superintendent of Documents, Washington, D.C., during
much of this period.ﬁ3

In 1949 the National Park Service undertook a program of
replacing the 16-page booklets with more elaborate 48-page publications
known as the "National Park Service Historical Handbook Series." The
goal was to publish about four a year. Actual rate of . publication,
however, was based on the availability of suitable texts and adequate
funds. Thus while park historians generally began work on a text for
a new booklet on their parks in 1949, many years passed before some
of these histories were published by the U.5. Government Printing
Office. Dr. Tilberg first wrote a handbook for Gettysburg National
Military Park (Handbook No. 9) and then during the 1950s prepared
the text for the u#8-page Antietam National Battlefield Site booklet
(Handbook No. 31).

The files relating to historian Tilberg's work on the Antietam
study are not available so it is unknown why so long a time passed
pefore the Antietam handbook was finally published in 1960, One
factor that may have contributed to the delay, however, was the fact
that the Nationai Park Service's Office of Information lost the
manuscript in 1958.6u By 1960, when the Antietam history appeared in
print, a total of 32 such handbooks had been issued. These sold
generaily for 25 cents, with one or two costing 20 or 30 cents

respectively. The Antietam nandbook, revised in 1961, was sold by

62. lbid., p. 19.
3. lbid., p. 19.
64. File K3823-IBl, Chief of Information James J. Cullinane to regional
director, Region Five, May 4, 1959:"The manuscript for Antietam
handbook was used last autumn in the course of hearings at the
Bureau of the Budget. . . . A follow-up on the manuscript has

revealed that it is lost."
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the U.S. Superintendent of Documents and the park headquarters
during the 1960 and 1970s, Many are still available, but now cost $3.00
and $4.00 each.

(4} Antietam Joins the Eastern National Park & Monument

Association. [In 1948, 31 park historians and supérintendents in Region
One, regional historian Appleman, and Chief Historian Herbert E.
Kahler contributed 4% each to charter the Eastern National Park &
Monument Association a nonprofit cooperating association authorized by
Congress, Before this all profits (about 25 percent) from the U.S.
Government Printing Office's 16-page booklets sold as a visitor service
by park personnel at the parks went to the U.S. Superintendent of
Documents and in now way benefited the parks. With the organization
of the cooperating association, this same 25 percent margin of profit
could be turned over tot the EMPEMA which was chartered to make
interpretive material available to park visitors by sale or free
distribtuion and to employ its profits to support. through donated
funds, the research, interpretation, and conservation programs of the
National Park Service. Profits from the 16-page booklets were, of
couse, small, but postcards and other items were soon added to the
sales inventory. Volunteers, park superintendents, and historians sold
the material, ordered it, and kept accounts. In 1951 the association
was able to make its first grant: $500; in 1960 it gave $22,805, and in
1981, the National Park Service received $785,182.65

The publication of the u#8-page Antietam historical handbook
apparently induced the Antietam National Battlefield Site to join the
Eastern National Park & Monument Association during the 1960 fiscal
year. The park withdrew from that non-profit organization during the

1969 fiscal year‘.66

65. Data drawn from Eastern National Park § Monument Association
Annual Report 1981 (from New York City, 1982), p. 3, 2§, The author
was also one of the charter members and $5 was a lot of money when
one's annual salary was $2,500.

66. Richard D. Jamgochain, accounting manager, to Mrs. Betty J.
Otto, Park Technican, Antietam NB, May 21, 1982, Eastern National
Park & Monument Association. Letter courtesy of Mrs. Otto.
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c. Trailside Exhibits

During the period 1941-42, assistant historical technician Steere
studied and worked out in detail a plan for eight trailside or
outdoor exhibits to help guide the visitors over the battlefield, but
these were not erected. In 1848-49 Superintendent Younger worked
on the comstruction of five trailside exhibits and by September 1948

had one in place at the stone observation tower; others were
apparently not completed before his death in June 1950.

Superintendent Doust, employing the talents of ranger-historian
Tuckerman, resumed work on this trailside exhibit project. In October
1950 Doust noted that "Mr. Tuckerman, aided by the Superintendent
worked on field exhibits to be done next Spr‘ing.“w in December the
Superintendent commented n"New outside exhibit map prepared by
Tuckerman, being ccans.tr*uctec::l.“68 In January 1951 he reported "Due
to lack of funds to buy the necessary material, work on the exhibits
has to be done on a touch and go basis."69

Some money was found, because in April he reported that three
new field exhibit maps had been put in place and in May proudly
submitted photographs of the new devices.m in August Doust noted
that ranger historian Tuckerman was working on the series of outdoor
maps and had two more to go to complete the series.

In October 1951 Doust commented on the first summer operations
with the maps, writing:

The slanting map exhibits which were placed on the
Battliefield during the summer months have not proven
satisfactory inasmuch as the glass is broken too easily-Only
one of five left on fieid, the others damaged by rain getting
through the cracks.

The Superintendent reported that he hoped to solve this problem
by adopting the "upright type now in use at the New York Piot.“n
Ranger-historian Tuckerman resumed work on the exhibits during

the summer of 1952. These consisted of ten troop movement exhibit

§7. Supt.'s monthly report for October 1950.

68. Supt.'s monthly report for December 1950,

69. Supt.'s monthly report for January 1950.

70. Supt.'s monthly reports for April and May 1951,
71. Supt.'s monthly report for August 1951.

72. Supt'.s monthly report for October 1951.
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maps.?sl In September Doust wrote: "Last two outdoor exhibits are
completed and are to be put in the field soon.” The superintendent

himself was studying the Battle of South Mountain preparatory for
visits of Civil War Round Tables. /"

Museum Specialist Hudson of Region One visited Antietam on March
17-18, 1953, and reported to the regional director regarding the
outdoor exhibits and interpretive program at that park:

In my opinion Superintendent Doust has made remarkable
progress in the field of interpretation at Antietam. During
my visit to the area & years ago the park tour route was not
marked and there were no trailside exhibits to aid the visitor,
Today the park tour route is well marked, and at ten
strategic points along the route are exceptionally fine trailside
exhibits. Four vyears ago the visitor got little or no
interpretation by driving around the battiefieid; today he
gets a complete story of the battle, provided he stops and
studies the colorful trailside exhibit maps. The next step in
aiding the visitor is to improve the museum exhibits, and
Superintendent Doust has shown that he is keenly interested
in this project by his very act in calling a meeting to discuss
ways and means of improving the museum.

Not many officials visit Antietam, and few who visit it today
were there four years ago. Wonderful progress has been
made, and in my opinion the ten trailside exhibits are
superior to any others | have seen in Civil War areas. - |
belie\r?5 Mr. Doust should be commended for his excellent
work.

d. The Temporary Museum

Superintendent Doust also undertook to improve the "temporary
museum" on the second floor of the cemetery lodge. The two-room
museum was expanded to include the three second floor rooms. In
November 1950 Doust reported:

Museum is being renovated and maps (14 in number, which
were prepared by the Antietam Battlefield Board (in 1604),
have been placed in a more advantageous position so that the
visitor will be able to use them to better advantage.

He also noted that "Many original documents (had been) found in

the attic of the Administration hauildinc_:j.“?6

73. Supt.'s monthly reports for July and August 1952.

74. Supt.'s monthly report for September, 1952,

75. Hudson to Regional Director, Region One, March 20, 1953,
76. Superintendent's monthly report for November 1950.
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In December several rifle-muskets found stored in the garage were
placed "in the gun room of the museum” and labels made.ﬁ In March
1951 "Captions of 13 battlefield maps, courtesy of Gettysburg Historian
Tilberg," were being retyped for use on the exhibits.

On March 17-19, 1953, Superintendent Doust held a meeting at
Antietam for the purpose of planning ways and means of improving the
temporary museum exhibits at that park. Present were Coordinating
Superintendent Coleman, park historian Tilberg, Superintendent Doust,
museum specialist Hudson of the Region One Office, Ralph H. Lewis of

the museum branch, and Harold L. Peterson of the history division; the
last two from the Washington Ofﬁce.79
The existing state of the temporary museum was described:

Three rooms on second floor of Park Headquarters Buitding
are used to house museum exhibits. '

Room ] -- Contains a series of 14 maps which describe in
detail the action at Antietam on September 17, 1862....

Room 2 -- Contains 3 museum cases, 3 gun racks, 1 sword
rack, a cast iron camp stove, and a Civil War drum. The
drum rests on a small tabte, One of the cases {upright wall
case, Remington-Rand type) houses uniform coats, sash,
cap, sword and scabbard. A second case {table case,
Remington-Rand type) houses pistols, and the third case
(table case, Remington-Rand type) houses medical equipment
used by a Union surgeon (William B. Wheeler)., Small arms
on one of the gun racks have been cleaned and preserved,
those on two of the racks have not' been preserved. The
swords have been cleaned.

Room 3 -- Contains a panel of photographs and a Remington-
Rand type aisle case. The aisle case houses Civil War
objects, of which many have a direct bearing on the
Antietam campaign. The objects include shells, shrapnel,
canteens, buttons, belt buckles, a fife, cartridge cases,

knives, powder flask, dirks, bit, etc.

With the exception of the map room (Room 1) no ttempt is
made to tell the story of the battle in the museum.

on March 30, 1953, Chief of Museum Branch Ned J. Burns
submitted a six page memorandum entitled "Suggestions for Temporary

77. Supt.'s report for December 1950.
78. Supt.'s report for March 1951.
79. Hudson's memo of March 20, 1953, to the Regional Director, Region

One.
g0. Hudson to Region One Director, March 20, 1953.
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Changes in Antietam Museum," to the regional director, Region One.
This embodied the suggestions of historian Peterson and Ralph lLewis of
the museum branch.81 Region One museum specialist Hudson
concurred in them and on April 7, Assistant Regional Director Dan
Tobin, Region One, sent the March 30 memorandum to Superintendent
Doust, together with a set of plans for making temporary cases, and

authorized Doust to proceed with the suggested plan.82

Hudson described the proposed changes:83

Recommendations for improving the museum:

1. A series of 8 panels will be installed in Room
1. By using maps, photographs, prints, and labels the
battle of Antietam will be explained in sequence on the
panels. Messrs, Doust and Tilberg will prepare layouts and
label text for the panels and these, in turn, will be reviewed
by the Regional Office and Washington staffs,

2, By raising the aisle case in Room 1 and
inserting a plywood panel across the middle of the case (in a
vertical position), two upright display backgrounds will be
available, Objects will be attached to both sides of the
panel, and stories will be built around them. As an example,
the story of martial music can be "built" around the drum and
fife owned by the Antietam museum. Dr. Douglas Freeman,
in describing the invasion of the North by Lee's tattered
army, mentions the Confederate bands, "The first dusty
troops to reach the Potomac halted, stripped, or pulled -
frayed trouser legs high over aching knees, and plunged into
the shallow water of the boundary river. As they clambered
up the northern bank they cheered in the proud knowledge
that they had carried the war into the enemy's country. The
few and battered bands played 'Maryland, My Maryiand,' and
the soldiers cheered the more."

3. The results of the battle will be given in Room
1, probably on Panel No. 8. One important result was that
Lincoln was given the opportunity to issue his [preliminary]
Emancipation Proclamation. A copy of the Proclamation and an
old print--showing Lincoln reading the Proclamation to his
cabinet-~-will be displayed.

4. Two cases will be built by the park staff and
placed in Room 2, making a total of 5 cases in the room.
These two additional cases will make it possible to house all
objects under glass. At present the shoulder arms and

81. File D6215 ANT-N, March 30, 1953, '
82, Tobin to Doust, April 7, 1953, File D 6215-ANTI-N.
83. Hudson to Regional Director, Region One, March 20, 1953,
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swords are on racks and are handled frequently by the
pubtic. Probable use of the 5 cases in Room 2:

Case 1 -- Swords used at Antietam
Case 2 -— Shoulder arms used at Antietam
Case 3 -- Uniforms
Case & -- Pistols used at Antietam
Case 5 =-— Medical practices
5. New labels will be made for all objects

displayed in the museum.

6. Minor improvements will be made in Room 3 --
the map room.

7. Guns, swords, uniforms, cartridge boxes,
buttons, buckles, and other objects in need of preservative
treatment were packed and sent to the Museum Laboratory.
These objects will be cleaned and preserved at no expense to
the park.

Doust made a progress report in June 1953, writing:

Eight wall panels and two cases for museum, which were.
built here, have been compieted.

Various items which were taken to Washington for treatment
by the Museum Division have been returned. . Ranger
Historian Tuckerman, who entered on duty June 22, as well
as the Superintendent, busy working on maps and other data
to be used in telling the story of the battle. 't willi take to
mid-August to finish. Through the Eastern National Park
and Monument Association we were able to purchase the plate
glass and mateﬁa] for the construction of the wall panels and
museum cases.

in Jjuly Superintendent Doust reported that all the maps had been
completed and that Tuckerman and he were working on short texts for

the maps. He hoped to reactivate the museum in August.85

84. Superintendent's monthly report for June 1953. On June 24,
Doust and Tuckerman also made a visit to Manassas National Battlefield
park "to get a first-hand glimpse of other historic areas such as
Antietam.” Manassas had a fine new "permanent museum.” They heard
Superintendent James B. Myers give a lecture on the Second Battle of
Manassas.

85. Supt.'s report for July 1953.
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In the April 7 memorandum, the regional office had promised that
after the wall panels and cases had been constructed by the park, "we
shall do everything possible to aid with the installation of the revised
exhibits, 158
July 31, 1953 requesting the promised help and was given the run-

Doust accordingly wrote to the Region One office on

around by both the regional and Washington offices. Assistant
Director Tobin wrote to the director on August 6 suggesting that
because Washington was closer to Antietam than Richmond, that perhaps
Peterson and lLewis could install the e><hibits.87 Museum Branch Chief
Burns responded in kind on August 12, suggesting that museum
specialist Hudson do the work and the Washington Museum Branch
would be happy to inspect the final resul_ts.88 On August 17 Tobin
finally informed Superintendent Doust: '

If you have not begun work on an exhibit plan, we will
assign Museum Specialist Hudson to visit Antietam for a day
or two to discuss the matter with you. Because of a heavy
work schedule, however, he will not Bg, able to make the trip
until late September or early October,

To add to Doust's difficulties, he was forced to discharge ranger
historian Tuckerman on August 24 because of "lack of \"urxcls."90

Superintendent Doust proudly reported in August 1953 that the
eight panels in room one were completed and described the room;:

Starting with panel one at the door, each panel depicts with
map, short texts, and pictures Lee's first invasion of the
North for the Confederacy.

The first seven panels are 36" x 48" faced with 1/4" glass,
the background is dark or federal blue; Map brown and gray.
All picture are labeled; all texts are short. Troop movements
are simple arrows in red and blue; outside panel frames are
in flat white; and the whole effect is rather pleasing.

Panel Eight contain pictures in sepia of the important State
monuments on the field; it is 36" x 38" faced with glass.

These eight panels are arranged on two sides of the Room,
four on each side, and stand on their own upright from the

86. Tobin to Doust, April 7, 1953.

87. Tobin to Director, August 6, 1953, File 6215,

88. Burns to Regional Director, Region One, August 12, 1953.
88. Tobin to Doust, August 17, 1953, File D6215-N.

90. Supt.'s monthly report for August 1953.
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floor and out from the wall to get away from the low eaves
and to overcome the difficulty of trying to attach these
frames to the stone walls,

The center glass case in this room is approximately 36" x
72", 4" high, rising from a base 30" high, It contains an
old Civil War drum, weapons, and articles. All of this

o 111 watd ey

standing on a ifow piatform i7% x 427, & high, allowing the

grouping gf artifacts atong this base. Colors done in blue

and gray.

In September Doust reported that he had given a private showing
of the eight panels in Museum Room No. 1 and "We are now stér‘ting to
arrange the exhibits in Room 2.“92

In December it was noted: %Work in the museum is progressing
nicely and will be completed in a very short time. Several displays of
historical papers and documents were put in Room 2, The floors were
given two coats of paint, ready for the opening of the museum to the
p»ublic.“93

The museum, closed for renovation and improvement since
November 1952, was reopened to the public in January or February
1954, %"

e. The Park Library
The park library during this period was on the first floor

of the park administration-museum building. Doust described it as “a
small Civil War Library, containing approximately 450 volumes, for use
of the staff and 1:;1ublic.“95
f.  Artillery Exhibits

in June 1953 Superintendent Doust noted that "A 12 poundier]
Napoleon Civil War cannon has been placed in the National Cemetery

91. 1bid., the report includes a two-page detailed description of the
contents of each of the eight paneis.

92. Supt.'s monthly report for September 1953,

93. Supt.'s monthly report for December 1953,

94, Superintendent's monthiy report after December 31, 1953 now
found at Washington National Record Center, Suitiand, Md.

95, Harry W. Doust, "Short History of Antietam National Battlefield
Site,* p. 8. This report was submitted to the Regionat Director,
Region One, on December 9, 1954, For some strange reason, however,
the description given on pages 8-9 of the three~rcom park museum and
its contents, describes conditions as of 1950-52, rather than as it was
renovated in 1953-54.
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near the rostrum and flag pole and has been of much interest to
visitors. We placed this piece of artillery at this point to mark the .
battery site of the Confederate artiliery . ...%

In his "Short History of Antietam National Battiefield Site," Doust
wrote:

Ten cannons, used during the Battle, have been mounted on
carriages {o depict some of the artillery positions of both
sides during the engagement, Four cannon have been
mounted on Cornfield Avenue, two at the end of Branch
Avenue and Harper's Ferry Road, and two at the National
Cemetery. Two more cannons have been recently provided
with carriages to mark the site of Lee's batteries at the New
York plot opposite the Dunkard Church site. Wew have
fourteen unmounted cannons to be placed on the field."

g. Contact with Visitors

During this period all visitor contact was made when the public
visited the administrative-museum building. Figures for public contact
have been found covering the period July 1, 1949, to December 31,
1953. These indicate that of the estimated total of 104,000 visitors,
approximately 25,988 were contacted by the park staff. (See chart on

pages 276-77}. .
7. LAW ENFORCEMENT PROBLEMS: VANDALISM IN 1953

Superintendent Doust did not mention any law enforcement

problems in his monthly report until March 1953, when vandals began
attacking his new trailside exhibits, particularly at the Observation
Tower on Bloody Lane. On March 24 the heavy glass in the exhibit at
the tower was shattered and scattered on the ground. The case was
also pushed off its foundation and the troop movement map stolen.
Doust wrote:

The Observation Tower is our worst spot for considerable
travel by rioting parties who use the road as a short cut
from the Hagerstown Pike to the road going to Keedysville
and Boonsboro,

On March 30, he recorded, the glass on the traiiside exhibit on Branch

Avenue was broken after having been hit by a bottle, but the map and
frame were not clamaged.98 '

96. Supt.'s monthly report for June 1953.
97. Short History {1954}, p. 7.

98. Supt.'s monthly report for March 1953.
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. Superintendent Doust returned to the problem of vandalism in
June, 1953, writing:

The Observation Tower has been a source of trouble for a
good many vyears due to acts of vandalism and other
depredation. We had policed this area effectively as we can
with our limited personnel. Most of the vandalism is traceable
to local persens. Signs were piaced against parking after
dark in the area but were quickly destroyed. After our
large map exhibit had been broken up and carried away, we
came to the conclusion that it was impossible to keep any
such work in the locality. A new map was placed further

down Bloody Lane next to a residence.

The American Legion has agreed to help patrol the area at
night and work to keep the rowdyism to a minimum.

Each week our maintenance force visits that area and
eradicates as quickly as possible the weekend depredations as
soon as possible and beer bottles strewn about and smutty
writings in lipstick on the walls of the tower. Lately we have
even gone to the length of locking the heavy ironggate of the
tower after dark but each time the lock is broken,

Doust reported new problems in October:

. Five large cannon balls stolen from the National Cemetery.
These iron cannon balls have been groups around two upright
cannon, They have stood here for at least 75 years and

weigh approximately 46 pounds each.

The superintendent added that he was now locking the front gates
to the cemetery at night to try to keep persons from entering after
dark. '

On October 29, 1953, "A large stone siab at entrance to the
Observation Tower was damaged by dynamite.' Tower itself not

damaged.” The cost of repair was about $50.100

The monthly reports for January 1, 1954, to June 30, 1960, are not
available so that the outcome of Superintendent Doust's struggle against
vandalism during those years is unknown,

8. MASTER PLANNING, 1950-1955

During this period the regional and Washington offices continued

preparing sheets for the Antietam master plan. Drawing  No.

99, Supt.’s monthly report for June 1953.
. 100. Supt.'s monthly report for October 1953,
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NBS-ANT-2017-3, Road and Trail System, dated October 6, 1950, was
approved by the director on January 15, 1‘351.101

_ The Interpretive Section for Antietam National Battlefield Site,
_ dated May 1952, 21 pages, and prepared by Historian Tilberg of
Gettysburg National Military Park, was approved by Acting Director Lee
on February 25, 1353.102

The Land Status Section of the Antietam Master Plan was approved
by Acting Director Allen on June 5, 1953.103

A topographical base rﬁap, Drawing No. 3003, dated 1953, was also
added to the Antietam Master Plan.

Plans for construction, for which files are not presently available,
include the following:

a. Plan and Profile of Burnside Bridge at Antietam Creek,

Drawing No., 2019-1953,

b. Grading, Drainage, Surfacing Smoketown Road, Mansfield
Ave., to Battlefield Ave., April 26, 1955, Drawing No. 3000-1

& 2.

c. Plan, Elevations, Details, Repairs to the Burnside Bridge
at Antietam Creek, August 1, 1955, Drawing No. 3002, Sheets
1 to 4.

9. TRAVEL TO ANTIETAM, 1950-1%60
From January 1, 1934, to August 1, 1953, travel to Antietam

National Battlefield site had been estimated by counting the number of
visitors to the administration-museum building in the national cemetery.
During the week, this number was multiplied by three and on Sundays
by five, to obtain an estimate for the total number visitors to the park.
In August 1953 én electric traffic counter was installed at Bloody Lane
in the center of the park; the actual number of vehicles counted was
then multiplied by set figures for the estimated average number of

passengers on weekdays and Weekends.104 Travel jumped from about

101. Record Group 79, File 18 {61A362, Box 65), Washington Record
Center, Suitland, Md. Acting Chief, Landscape Branch Paul C. Thomas
to Regional ' Director, Region One, Acting Director A. E. Demrary
signed January 15, 1951,

102. Ibid., File D-18, Chief, Landscape Design Branch to Regional
Director, Region One, February 27, 1953,

103, Ibid., Chief, Landscape Branch to Regional Director, Region One,
June 9, 1953, File D-18,

104. Supt.'s monthly report for August 1953,
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60,000 to 100,000 visitors per annum, based on the use of the electric
. ' counter,
An estimated total of 975,857 people visited Antietam National
Battlefield Site and National Cemetery between July 1, 1950, and
June 30, 1960, as follows:

Dae N 106N
T [ i

Travei: July 1, .
By Fiscal Year, Estimated Number
to June 30 of Visitors
1951 | 44 585
1952 : 44,206
1953 59,600
1954 71 ,727}32
1935 115,000
1956 105,000
1957 125,000
1958 118,739
1959 151,000
1960 141,000
Total: 975,857
From January 1, 1934, to June 30, 1960, the period that the
. Nationa! Park Service had administered Antietam National Battlefield Site
and National Cemetery, an estimated total of 1,418,917 persons had

visited the park as follows:
Period No. of Visitors

January 1, 1934 -

June 30, 1942 248,134
July 1, 1942 -

June 30, 1550 154,526
July 1, 1950 -June 30, 1960 975,857
Total: 1,"15,917

- J05. Includes 45,099 counted to December 31, 1953, plus estimated 16,628
'~ for January to June 30, 1954; figure may be low, but records not

. available, _ _
106. Figures for 1955 to 1960 drawn from Master Plan of Antietam
. National Battlefield Site, Chapter |, Basic Information, July 7, 1964,
. "The Visitor", p. 10.
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PART 11--1954-1960: SELECTED PROBLEMS

This section of Chapter VIll is based largely on records of the
Washington Office, plus a few scattered park files that escaped
destruction in 19687 Maost of the regional office correspondence and the
park files are not available for study.

1. HISTORICAL RESEARCH AND A FULL TIME HISTORIAN'S

POSITION

Despite many statements to the contrary, the National Park
Service, with but a few exceptions engaged in little historical or
architectural research between 1934 and 1955. There were two reasons
for this: (1) Many ranking officials in the regional and Washington
offices believed that research had no practical use and hence was a
waste of the taxpayer's money; and (2) most congressmen had a similar
view, Between 1934 and 1955 Congress probably did not vote one
nickel for any project that was labeled "Research."

The National Park Service, however, was not against all research,
but favored studies that did not cost much money. Thus park
historians were expected to devote their time and effort to interpretive
and visitor contact work, but if there were slack time when no visitors
showed up, historians were not prohibited from engaging in historical
research, provided that it did not cost extra money for frills such as
travel. From 1933 to 1955, historians stationed in areas with a seasonal
visitation had an opportunity, if the individual felt so inclined, to

PI
1

£ -l -
] ™a

conduct research in original sources on the history of the pa
Results were uneven and there was no. central guidance. At some
seasonal parks, where the historians were interested in research, much
usable work was accomplished, but at similar parks with seasonal
visitation, where the historian was not interested in research, little or
nothing was accomplished. At Thistorical parks with year-round
visitation, the park historians had little opportunity to carry out
extended research on their areas.

The National Park Service functioned well under this hit-or-miss
type of research activity until 1956-57, when suddenly the Service
began to receive millions of dollars in construction funds, appropriated

for Mission 66, for the purpose of restoring or reconstructing
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historic structures in park areas, At this point the National Park
Service became aware of the fact that while it had been talking about,
- or interpreting, its historical areas for many vyears, it had little or no
| idea of how the parks and their structures looked at their time of
greatest historical significance. Under the law and regulations,
construction funds could not be legally expended uniess the buildings,
etc., were restored accurately. This crisis forced a revolution in the
field of research., It was decided that the historical, documentary, and
architectural research necessary to provide the evidence so that a
structure could be accurately restored or reconstructed could be
charged to construction accounts, as a normal part of the planning
process.

Congress would not vote a penny for "research," but was willing
to provide millions for "construction.® After 1956 construction monies
provided considerable funds for research. To solve the crisis of lack
of historical . and architectural data at two parks where large amounts of
construction money were available but could not be utilized, the new
Region Five central office established two "crash research programs."
.The first of these, headed by historian S. Sydney Bradford, was based
at Fort McHenry in the spring of 1957 and functioned until about 1960;
the second crash research project, headed by historian Charles W.
Snell, was assigned to a new park, Harpers Ferry National Monument,
in August 1957 and functioned until 1962, For perhaps the first time in
National Park Service history, teams of historians and architects worked
eight hours a day, five days a week, conducting documentary and
structural research and writing up their findings in "historic
structures reports."” As the teams collected and analyzed their data,
archeologists, usually working under contract, were employed to
investigate the foundations and grounds of historic structures and
sites.

With evidence that historical and architectural research need not
necessarily be "useless,” with construction money becoming available to
be used in all the parks, the National Park Service, by 1957, began to
change Its position on research in the parks and to encourage park
historians t0 engage in this type of activity, The Washington and
regional offices also undertook to provide guidance in the final selection
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of proposed projects to ensure that study was undertaken on priority
projects first,

Antietam was to be affected by this change in attitude,

In October 1956 staff historian Appleman, having returned to the
National Park Service after serving with the U.S. Army during the
Korean Conflict, visited Antietam. On October 23 Chief, Division of
Interpretation, lLee informed Regional Director Tobin, Region Five:

Mr. Appleman has commented to me on the excellent graphic
battlefield markers that Superintendent Doust and Seasonal
Historian Tuckerman jointly have caused to be prepared and
erected on the battlefield during the past few years. These
are the large painted map wmarkers on flexboard which |
understand Mr, Tuckerman himself has drawn and painted,
That being the case it seems that Mr. Tuckerman is due for
compliments on his artistic ability as well as his recognized
ability as an historian for his knowledge of the Antietam
campaign. | would like Mr, Doust and Mr. Tuckerman to
know that we appreciate the form of self-help they have
exhibited in getting these markers up on the battlefield
through their own efforts,

Superintendent Doust is rightly concerned over his need for
an historian on the Park staff. A seasonal ranger~historian
is inadequate. The park, one of the most important of the

Civil War group, has never had a permanent histarian. [t
needs one badly. This is particularly a pressing matter right
now in view of Mission 66 pians for Antietam. if the

Service is able to carry through with the current general
planning to complete, or approximately to complete, the
development of the Civil War battlefield parks prior to the
100th Anniversary of the events commemorated in each of
them it will mean that Antietam will come in for a high
priority of development. The Battle of Antietam, as we all
know, was fought in the fall of 1882 and the development
accordingly should be well underway by 1961. Since so much
of this will depend upon adequate historical research and
information, particularly the planning for a suitable Visitor
Center, it seems to us it is mandatory that the Antietam Park
staff include a competent historian as soon as possible,

In this connection, Mr. Appleman discussed with
Superintendent Doust the possibility of having the historian
position Grade GS-7, carried for Antietam in the 1958 fiscal
year estimates, raised to GCrade GS-9. Mr, Doust seemed
agreeable to this and even suggested that Mr. Tuckerman be
considered for the position. So far as we know, Mr,
Tuckerman would be an admirable selection if he is eligibie
for appointment and if he can be persuaded to give up his
teaching job at Hagerstown to take the park historian job.
Superintendent Doust thought that Mr. Tuckerman might be
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interested if a position can be established in Grade 9. Mr.
Ramsdell points out that such action may be difficult if the
Superintendent's position is also Grade 9.

We have no doubt that Superintendent Doust and your Office
have this important need in mind and will give consideration
to it as soon as you can, in an appropriate grade. in our
judgment, the problems are mor.]emdifﬁcult than a G5-7 would
normally be equipped to handle.

The full-time historian position, GS-7, was estabiished at Antietam
and Robert L. lLagemann reported for duty in 195?.ma

Park superintendents could facilitate or hinder the research efforts
of their park historians. Some did not understand the process. There
were parks where the historians were not allowed to read a book on
government time as the superintendents believed this to be a waste of
the taxpayer's money. At another park the GS-7 historian was
required to clean the public rest rooms daily even though there was an
ample maintenance staff and the historian was not permitted to use a
government typewriter, with the resuit that he compiled his research

notes in Iom_.;hand.m9

There were, on the other hand, of course, a
number of Superintendents who rendered their historians every possible
assistance to facilitate research efforts. The range, however, was
great.

Superintendent Doust, however, was among that group of
custodians who did not facjlitate the research efforts of their
historians. Historian Lagemann's chief duty during his first year on
the job, after taking care of the interpretive or public contact duties,
was to type the manuscript of the great Gothic novel that Doust
had written. The manuscript was submitted and rejected by a

publisher. The shredding of the novel by the would-be author that

107. WASO File P72-H,

108. Park Research File. Supt. Doust to Supt., Fort McHenry,
September 13, 1957 - H2215~ ",,.we do not have a historian here at the
moment...." On March 16, 1958, Robert L. Lagemann, Historian (Park}
provides the data that the Supt. of Fort McHenry had requested in
September 1957. On April 18, 1958, Historian Lagemann visited Harpers
Ferry National Monuments, W.Va., and spent about 23 hours with the
author discussing park research probiems.

109. The author personally observed superintendents using their
historians in this manner during the years 1351-57,
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took place in the park office undoubtedly caused pains of anguish in
some quarters, but it also resulted in the liberation of historian
Lagemann. The second obstacle to progress in research matters was
Superintendent Doust's belief that the 128 volumes of the Official
Records of the War of the Rebellion, the prime source of information on

the Civil War, were too valuable to permit historian lLagemann to use
them. This rather narrowed the research that Lagemann could do at
the park administrative~-museum building.

On September 8, 1958, Lagemann attended the meeting held at
Gettysburg National Park, at which regional historian Frank Barnes
discussed the research projects necessary for an adequate preparation
for the battlefield centennials that would be upcoming in 1962-1963 at
Region Five's three Civil War areas. On September 10 historian
Lagemann submitted through the superintendent to the regional director
a four-page memorandum outline of the "Historical Research in
Preparation for the Battle Centennial at Antietam” that he thought
would be necessary. He wrote in part:

Because our most immediate needs here will require the
acquisition of additional lands in order to provide the visitor
with the physical facilities he expects in travelling to a
National Battlefield area, | believe research into the physical
aspects of the Battlefield itself are of first priority.
Therefore, | believe additional information on the battle
conditions should be secured first on those properties for
which title exchange to the NPS is proposed by Mission 66,

This would include study of the farm buildings on the
Poffenberger, D. R. Miller, Mumma, Roulette, and Piper farms, the
1862 farm drives and road system, their fences, the dimensions of and
the crops growing in the fields in 1862, the extent and type of
forestation In east, north, and west woods, and the stream drainage
and water supply of the battlefield area. He commented:

The above are necessary in the event any restoration of the
batttefield properties included in Mission 66 improvements are
to be contemplated,

In addition, 1 would suggest that the same type of research
be done on other properties involved in the Battle of
Antietam, in order to answer inquiries on nearby properties
which visitors may be expected to be interested in, even
though not technically a part of Antietam National Battlefield
Site.
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These would include farm buildings, roads, fences, crops, fields,
etc. on the Otto, Sherrick, Rohrback, Snavely, Nicodemus, Hauser,

and Pry farms, the Line buildings, and the Grove House in
Sharpsburg. The upper, middle, and Burnside bridges should be
studied.

With regard to research on military units involved in the Battie of
Antietam, Lagemann wrote:

1t would be desirable to have detailed information about each
military unit participating in the battle, down to and
including the individual regiments. However, I do not believe
it would be practical to plan on such a comprehensive
research in preparation for the centennial because:

a) The average visitor does not request such a
detailed interpretation of the combatants;

b) Under current conditions much of such
information is available, as a special small scale research
project, when requested by an individual about a particular
uhnit;

¢} Data on all the regiments are not available
here;

d} Such a complete project would require too
large a portion of the time available for research on all
subjects prior to the centennial; and

e) The general public visiting this NPS
installation wouid not sufficiently benefit proportionately from
the investment in time and effort this subject would require
as compared to other areas of interest which  would
necessarily be neglected in the process.

f} Therefore, I believe research into the
individual units engaged here should be fairly complete down
to and including the Divisional level, instead of the
Regimental. Twenty-nine divisions were on the Antietam Fietd
on September 17th, 1862, so it will be difficult to complete
this project as it is without some assistance in research
personnel,

He also suggested that the studies made on artillery at Antietam be
reviewed for accuracy, adding information discovered since they were
prepared, and reorganizing them into a new summary.”o

Lagemann recommended that a survey be made of the effect of the

battie on Sharpsburg. This would include damage and destruction of

710. This was J. M. Hanson, "A Report on the Employment of the
Artillery at the Battle of Antietam, Maryland, with a View to Marking
Battery Positions at the Antietam National Battlefield Site,® 72 pp.
typescript, February 14, 1540,
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property, what the inhabitants did during the battle, what changes
occurred as a result of the engagement and whether the citizens
favored the north or the south,

Time should also be allotted from the scheduled research to fill in
such "gaps" in the Antietam story that might appear as the work
progressed.

Funds and additional staffing would be necessary to execute the
suggested research program, Lagemann wrote in this regard:

In order to make some of this research possible,
additional funds wiil have to be made available to:
a} Purchase materials needed, especially

i Recent and current bocks,

ii. Reports published by the states represented
here on their units and state records of
personnel in the Civil War.

b} - To provide for travel by the Historian to libraries

and archives where the data is available,
1t is my opinion that in order to accomplish this
research preparatory to the centennial year and at
the same time to adequately provide interpretive
services to the visiting public the services of an
assisting historian will be required. Especially
during the period of heavy visitation, May 15
through September 15, will it be desireable to have
an additional man to either maintain the research
program or to assist in interpreting the battle story
to the visitors thereby allowing me some additional
time to continue the research in preparation for the
centennial. Otherwise this research program which
the Regiona! Historian outlined this week wiil be
interrupted for several months each year.

Later in the week historian lLagemann departed to attend the
12-week course given for new employees at the National Park Service
Training School in Yosemite National Park.111

On March 31, 1959, Regional Director Tobin approved the research
program for Antietam (the Forms 10-20 and 10-21, however, are not
inciluded in the H2215 file). He added

We think also that a project involving documentation of the
existing Troop Movement Map should be added to the list, and
a supplemental form should be submitted on this. Though it

111. Lagemann to Supt, Doust, September 10, 1958; Doust,
transmitting memo to Regional Director, Region Five, September 12,
1958, File H2215, Park File. Murray H. Nelligan, Regional Chief of
Interpretation, acknowledged receipt of these letters on September 25,

1958, calling this "a very good summation."
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cannot be shown as part of this research program, we trust .
Mr. Lagemann is keeping in mind the need for an lnterpliq&ive
Plan for the area as park land proposals come along...."

On April 2 regional historian Barnes wrote a memorandum to
Superintendent Doust noting:

You may not be happy with me for this, but | fixed up your
1961 Preliminary Estimate to include an additional Historian
position. This may not materialize, of course, but there is
no harm in trying., An additional Historian Position was
recommended by the Area Management Team a year ago and
that gives ample szsiification for including it in the
preliminary estimates.

Responding to Tobin's letter, Doust wrote with regards to the
troop movement maps and historian Lagemann's time during the summer
of 1959:

To aid us in the study of what took place here in 1862 we are
fortunate in having the excellent maps made by Colonel Cope
under the orders of the War Department in 1899. Some
fourteen in number these maps outline the battle positions and
movements from dawn to the battle's end at dusk, These
maps are considered to be equal, if not superior, to any
battle maps of the great Civil War. They are used at the
Army War College and West Point. | do not think we could
improve on them.

We afso have the fine work of a man named Steere who
conducted quite a research program under the NPS back in
the Thirties and his work is used by many historians and is
considered an authority on the events that happened
here back in those hectic days of '62,

There are, of course, a great many other historians who have
contributed much, so that today about everything has been
said or written on this seemingly inexhaustable subject. Not
that we should close our minds on it, but it is a question of
doing over again and again work which has already been done
well. There is plenty of research in new fields to exploit, in
the line of interpretation in order to tell the story best so
the visitor knows what took place here. This is one of our
most important tasks as | see it, with a limited staff.

Most of Mr. Lagemann's work through the heavy travel season
will be taken up with direct interpretation to the visitor. He
will continue with the research as outlined.

112, Tobin to Doust, March 31, 1959, Park File H2215.
113. Park File H2215,

’
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As far as future land aquisition is concerned, it has very
littie to do in telling the story. They are a vital part of the
hattlefield, and ownership of them plays a great part in our
present Mission 66 program. But, we include thesqﬂ@nds in
the story of the battle whether we own them or not.

Historian Lagemann completed one research study,
"Historic Structure Report, Part 1, Dunkard Church," 71 pp.
typescript, May 25, 1960, during the period 1958 to July 1, 1960.

On Apri) 25, 1966, Regional Chief of Interpretation Murray H.
Nelligan wrote to Superintendent Doust and suggested that historian
Lagemann be permitted to visit and examine two collections of
manuscript material relating to the battle of Antietam. Superintendent

Doust responded:

in answer to Regional Chief of Interpretation Nelligan's
memorandum of Aprit 25 on the above subject, 1 wish to call
your attention to the fact that the Historian has several
things of high priority already on the agenda, namely the
punkard Church Report, due May 30, Master Plan Narrative,
Chapter 1, due July 1, as well as several other reportis now
pending. '

| may be wrong but it is becoming apparent to me since the
President has signed the Antietam Bill and this area is
becoming more important, we will have to consider, even on a
temporary basis, the loan of one or two Historians, to furnish
the necessary material required from a historical standpoint in
our Mission 66 program.

While | agree with what Mr. Nelligen says regarding the visit
to Baltimore as well as Washington to track down certain
materials, | do noi see how we can meel the deadliness as
required in following down all these leads as well as the
interpretive demands which are becoming greater and greater
as the season progresses. As things look now, this will
probably be our greatest travel season so far. Unless we
receive the financial assistance to the amount of $50,
Historian Lagemann cannot lrpgke the two trips suggested in
Mr. Nelligan's memorandum,

115, Doust to Tobin, April 6, 1959, Park File H2215. In Aprit 1959,
Superintendent Doust also apparently considered employing historian
Edward Steere, who produced two fine studies in 1942-43. Doust to
Gettysburg; Supt. James B. Myers, Gettysburg to Doust April 8, 1959.
The whereabouts of Mr. Steere In 1959 was unknown. He had
worked with the Bureau of Geographic Names in the Department of the
Interior after his service at Antietam.

115. Lagemann to Doust, June 3, 1960: Doust to Regional Chief of

Interpretation, June 3, 19560,
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Historian Lagemann was permitted to visit the Maryland Historical

Society on June 1. He reported his findings:

Among the papers in the Steiner collection are the original
map and accompanying notes on the location and operation of
the battlefield hospitals. Although this has proved to be
negative research insofar as the Clara Barton story s
concerned (Miss Barton was not mentioned in the materials),
the data available in these original documents will prove very
valuable whenever any of the battlefield hospital sites are
studied.

I took the [iberty of requesting photostatic copies of the map
and three pages of the notes which describe the "hospital"
locations, the surgeon in charge of each, the number of
patients served, the operating conditions, etc. The cost will
total $5.95.

The map, prepared by Dr. Harris and submitted as part of

. the official report to the Surgeon General, was the original

map from which data were obtained for the drawing of Plate
XXVIl, No. 2, in the Official Atlas . . . . [t was also
studied by E. A. Carman who was in charge of the
prepaqq'&ion of the troop positions for the "Cope" series of
maps.

On June 8 Lagemann was allowed to visit the Library of Congress.

He reported of this trip:

While in the Library of Congress yesterday, ! consulted the
six wvolumes of the Medical and Surgical History of the War
of the Rebellion, and five other works pertaining, in part, to
the medical activities on Antietam Battlefield in
September-October, 1862. In none of them did ! find any
reference to Clara Barton.

However, in one of these other sources, The Medical Depart-
ment of the Civil War, by Capt. Louis c. Duncan,

Medical Corps, U.S. Army, | encountered an extraordinarily
informative chapter on the medical services and facilities at
Antietam, The forty-five pages of this chapter contain a
veritable wealth of detailed information on this subject. In
my opinion, based on my experience to date in this field, this
book is possibly the most comprehensive account of the
surgeon’s work at Antietam that we will find,

It contains a thorough section on the field hospitals, which
has several additions to and clarifications of the material

contained in the Official Records . . . . and the Medical and
Surgical History . . . . A map shows clearly the Tocations of

116.

Cageman to Doust, June 3, 1960; Doust to Regional Chief of

Interpretation, June 3, 1960,
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the thirteen Union divisional field hospitals; and is accom-
panied by a text clearly describing them, In the future,
when more extensive work is in order on the general field
hospital situation as a main subject for research, in contrast
to its localized application to the "Clara Barton Story," 1
would r?(ﬁmmend the Duncan reports as the prime source to
consult.

These two one-day trips opened vistas on a phase of the Battle of
Antietam that had never been considered by either the War Department
or the National Park Service in interpreting the Battle of Antietam.

Historian Lagemann spent the summer of 1960 meeting visitors,
Pending was his study on the location of the farmhouse in which Clara
Barton established her hospital during the Battle of Antietam.

2. MISSION 66 AND THE NEW VISITOR CENTER,1956-1960

In 1942 in meetings and actions taken on January 8, February 28,
and September 14, and after much discussion, the director of the
National Park Service had decided that the permanent museum for the
Antietam National Battlefield Site would be erected on the New York and
Maryland plot. Impiementation of this decision remained in limbo for 1%

years. As the case with "research,”" Congress refused to provide
money to construct "rmauseums" in the National Parks.

The issue was reopened in 1955. On June 27 Director Wirth
called upon the superintendent of every park to submit a Mission 66
prospectus for his area that would provide for the development,
preservation, and staffing of his park. Superintendents submitted
their proposals in July and August 1955 (Superintendent Doust's plan is
not available for study).

in the development of the Mission 66 planning, Ronald Lee
substituted the term "park visitor center" for "park museum." Events
were to prove that Congress, which was unwilling to vote any money
for a “museum," was eager to appropriate hundreds of thousands of
dollars to erect large and modern "visitor centers.” With construction
money becoming available for this purpose, the gquestion of the best

location for the permanent "visitor center’ again became important.

717. Lagemann to Doust, June 9, 1960; Doust to Neiligan, June 10,
1960, Park File H2215.,
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In 1956 there was a different park superintendent and a different
regional director and staff, as well as another director, to consider this
problem. The debate, which could well be called "the Second Battle of
Antietam," was joined in August 1956 and ended on March 1, 1957.
Regional and park correspondence is not available, so full credit cannot
be allotted to the authors of the various proposals. The outlines of this
contest were brought to a head, however, when the general development
plan for Antietam National Battlefield Site, drawing NBS-ANT, 3007, was
reviewed. Washington staff historian Appleman, in a letter to the
chief, division of interpretation, on August 31 fired the opening salvo
in an engagement that was intended to stop Superintendent Doust and
the Region Five staff from changing the 1942 proposed site for the
visitor center. Appleman wrote:

I have written a comment on the review cover sheet of this
plan recommending against approval. This action is based
primarily on the proposed location of the Visitor Center,

The Visitor Center is proposed at a point immediately adjacent
to the National Cemetery in Sharpsburg. In an early
Mission 66 submittal the Superintendent wanted it retained in
the National Cemetery in the old outmoded building now being
used for park headquarters and temporary museum exhibits,
This was turned down, Now, the next closest thing to that
is a location just outside the cemetery grounds wall. This
should be firmly rejected.

For many years in the 1930s and the 1940s the then Region
One staff, the Park Superintendent and Coordinating Super-
intendent (Superintendent Coleman, Gettysburg) studied this
matter and reached the conclusion that the best site for a
visitor center was on a high ridge giving a good -- an
excellent--overlook of the major part of the battlefield. This
site is adjacent to the New York Monument tract on the
Hagerstown Road. It is also opposite the site of the Dunkard
Church. Its advantages are, that better than any other
place it would give the best general view of the field of
operations, and accordingly permit the best visitor
comprehension from any one spot of what happened at
Antietam. This site is near the center of the most important
field of action. Located just off the Hagerstown Road, the
most important and most heavily travelled one passing through
the battlefield, it would be ideally situated for visitor
convenience,

The site proposed adjacent to the national cemetery has
nothing in its favor as an interpretive point for telling the
story of the Antietam battle. The ground of action cannot be
seen, and it is distant from the scene of that action,
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The plan should show the Piper Farm land between Bloody
Lane and the Town of Sharpsburg for acquisition. This is
needed for historical reasons and to protect one of1 11:§|e most
important landmarks of the battle--the Sunken Road.

In October staff historian Appleman brought forward reinforce-
ments, presenting Chief, Division of Interpretation, Lee with a summary
and hictorical review of the different viewpoints that the National Park
Service had taken on the location of the visitor center at Antietam from
May 17, 1939, to February 27, 1'.'~}53.119

In December 1956 two possible plans were being considered on a
General Development Plan, Schemes A & B, NBS-ANT-3007-A. Scheme
A proposed placing the visitor center on the New York-Maryland Plot,
Scheme B had apparently been developed by the region five office. In
a report dated December 28, 1956, staff historian Appleman reviewed
the situation:

| favor Scheme A, This whole subject, you may remember,
was considered in a field meeting a2 few weeks ago in which
the Washington Office, Regional Office, and the Eastern Office
of Design and Construction were represented. At that time
all members of the group in a vote favored Scheme A, with
the exception that Mr. Palmer of the Region Five Office
favored Scheme B.

This field conference has been reported in writing by Mr,

Palmer. A copy of his memorandum has circulated in the

office here, and | believe you have seen it. I will not here

go into a detailed explanation of why Scheme A is preferable

to Scheme B, but if you should desire, | shall be very glad

to diSCuTSfO the subject or if you want, put the reasoning in

writing.

On January 16 _A_pp!emén had his heavy artillery zeroed in on the
proposals advanced by the Antietam superintendent and the Region Five
staff and he opened a deadly fire of logic that devastated the other
plans. As Appleman explained the situation:

Antietam General Development (3 sheets) NBS-ANT-3007-A

| have placed a comment on the review sheet for the above
listed plan, recommending in favor of scheme A,

178, Appleman to chief, August 31, 1956, WASO File.

119. Ibid., memo dated October 15, 1956, 2 pp.

120. Appleman to chief, December 28, 1956. Mr. Palmer was George
A. Palmer, Assistant Regional Director, Region Five.
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| have reviewed Superintendent Doust's memorandum of
December 27, 1956, proposing that the wvisitor center be
located on the west edge of the park several hundred yards
west of the Dunkard Church site. | have also reviewed
Regional Director Tobin's memorandum of January 11, 1957,
recommending that the visitor center be at the present
national cemetery headquarters site or nearby. | disagree
with both of the proposals recommended by the
Superintendent and the Region Five Office.

I can see no advantage at all in the superintendent's
recommendation, [t does not get the visitor to any place
within the park where he can have the view of the fieid of
action nor does it place him at the beginning of the tour.
Furthermore, it is located on a proposed new by-pass road
which involves many difficult problems that must be solved
before that road can be built. This may be years off. A
visitor center should not be so located in view of the
Centennial period only a few years away.

Much of the reasoning stated briefly in the Region Five
memorandum placing so much emphasis on the alleged fact that
it was at Sharpsburg that Lee decided to stand and fight is,
as 1 see it, irrelevant and somewhat specious with respect to
the problems involved in locating the wvisitor center. The
course of the battle was not determined by the fact that Lee
may or may not have decided at Sharpsburg that he would
stand and fight. He was wholly on the defensive. His true
problem was to concentrate his army, which had been divided
into three or more parts, before any of them could be
brought to battle and overwhelmed by McCiellan's
pursuing army. In choosing to stand at Sharpsburg, Lee was
selecting a very good defensive position that was in reach of
the other parts of his separated army. He had the Potomac
River at his back; he had the sizeable Antietam Creek at his
front. He bhad taken position on the ridge between Antietam
Creek and the Potomac River near the point of the V formed
by the juncture by these two streams. McClellan's army was
approaching from the east--that is, from across Antietam
Creek. Lee's guns and infantry commanded the bridges
across Antietam Creek in his front., No sensible commander
ever attempts a stream crossing in the face of an enemy who
holds the opposite height with his army in position and
commands the crossing sites with his artillery.

The question of whether the Union Army would attack Lee in
this position at all, or if so, how it would do it, rested
entirely with the Union Commander--the initiative was his.

‘1t was his action that decided whether the battle would be

fought at all and if so how it would be fought. He decided
to attack Lee. His plan of battle was to move his army
around the Confederate left flank, cross Antietam Creek up
stream from where the crossings were defended by Lee and
move down the Sharpsburg Ridge in a southerly direction
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into the Confederate position. For all intent and purposes,
this was along the axis of the Hagerstown Road. At the same
. time, he had demonstration forces in front of the bridges the
Confederates were defending. The Union attack from the
north down the ridge was the only practicable point of
attack. On the other three sides, Lee was protected by a
water barrier. The main battle, therefore, at Antietam was
fought at the north end of the Confederate position beginning
at what was known as Poffenberger Farm. The initial attack
was launched from the North Woods. Lee fed reinforcements
into his army's left as the Union army brought up more and
more reinforcements to push its attack. It was here that the
main and critical battle was fought, and here also it began to
pick up again at the end of the fighting of the first day.
The northern half is the important part of the Antietam
Battlefield and the visitor center should be located there,

| have gone to this length to refute what | consider an
irrelevant argument for locating the visitor center at
Sharpsburg because it has been said that it was there Lee
decided to stand and fight. There are many other arguments
i should make as to why the visitor center should be located
at the north and because of terrain factors and visibility over
that important part of the battlefield. But not wishing to
make this comment over long, | will stop here. ] am
prepared, however, to go to any lengths qs?ired to put these
views in writing or express them verbally.

. Director Wirth made his decision on the Antietam Master Plan on
March 1, 1957. He wrote in part and with regard to the location of the

Visitor Center:

Drawing NBS-ANT-3007-A, General Development Plan,
Scheme A, and Scheme B, transmitted with Mr. Cornell's
memorandum of December 21, 1956, Superintendent Doust's
overlay sketch, transmitted with his memorandum of
December 27, 1956, and Mr. Tobin's memorandum of January
11, have been reviewed....

After the review of the possible locations for the visitor
center, a site at or near the New York Monument was
selected. This location is well adapted to a building
designed somewhat along the lines of the Yorktown Visitor
Center in which visitors wili go to the roof of the building
to obtain a view of the battlefield and surrounding country,
Visitors would receive initial orientation at this point, and
then proceed northward via the, West Woods to the

Poffenberger Farm and swing south.%‘1

171, Appleman to chief, Division of Interpretation, January 16, 1957,

WASO file.
122. Director to chief, Eastern Office of Design and Construction,

WASO file. File D18. For the Visitor Center Development Ptan, dated
. October 3, 1958, see drawing no. 3012.
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After savage in-fighting, the 1942 decision to locate the permanent
museum or visitors center at the New York-Maryland Plot was sustained
in 1957. Available evidence suggests, however, that without the
intervention of Chief, Division of Interpretation, Lee and staff historian
Appleman, the location of the existing park visitor center might well
have been at some other site,

3. MISSION 66 AND THE PROPOSED EXHIBIT PROSPECTUS
Again, many of the files are unavailable for study. In his

comments on the review of the exhibits prospectus for the new Antietam
visitor center, staff historian Peterson wrote:

Generally the facts set forth seem to be accurate and '
acceptable. The writing and the use made of the facts,
nowever, are susceptible to considerable improvement,

The portion of the propectus with which | find the most fault
is that relating to the exhibits. Important aspects of the
story are overiooked, and both the selection of topics and the
methods and. materials suggested for treating them are weak.

Specifically we fail to see how a museum at Antietam can avoid
devoting one exhibit to the significance of the battle in terms
of the war as a whole. This significance is indicated in the
discussion of the battle but completely overloocked in the list
of exhibits. ~Antietam was a crucial battle, and this needs to
be pointed out.

We also fail to see how the story of the [preliminary]
Emancipation Proclamation can be ignored entirely. [t was the
battle of Antietam that gave Lincoln the opportunity he had
been seeking to release tl?bsg document, and at least one exhibit

on it should be included.

On December 3, 1957,‘ at the request of Ronald F, Lee, chief,
Division of Interpretation, staff historian Peterson submitted a
"suggested alternate list of exhibits for the Antietam Visitor Center.®
The detailed memorandum proposed 15 exhibits;

1. Leaders of the Two Armies 4. Hooker's Attack

2, Confederate Plans 5, Diorama--Fighting in Corn-
field or near Dunkard Church

3. The Union Follows 6. Artillery

123,  Peterson to Ralph H. Lewis, Chief, Museum Branch, October 23,
1957.
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. 7. Mansfield and Sumner Attack 11. The Retreat

8. The Infantry Soldier and
His Arms 12. Care of the Wounded

9, Burnside in the Afternoon 13. The Significance of the Battle

- Do
(]

10. Diorama of Charge i4. The Emancipation
15. The Lossesnu

Chief of Museum Branch Lewis, reviewed the proposal on
December 17 commenting, "The list of exhibit subjects seems fine...,"
but he added that perhaps more than 15 exhibits would be needed to
present all of the suggested informatirm.125

The problem of exhibits lay dormant for another six years until
the new visitor center was constructed in 1961-62.

4. MISSION 66 AND LAND ACQUISITION
a. Plans to Expand the Park
On April 23, 1956, Chief of the Division of Interpretation Lee,

informed the Chief of Lands:

. i recommend that land acquisition in the Mission 66 program
for Antietam National Battlefield Site be placed in high
priority in the Service program. | suggest that it be

scheduled for the 1957-1958 fiscal years. We have no reliable
and recent estimate for cost. This will have 1o be obtained.
Conditions have changed rapidly in the scale of land values in
the vicinity of the park in the past few vyears, and this
accelerating change is one of the reasons we recommend high
priority in this case.

3 1%

superintendent January 23, 1955, and specifically concurred
in the prospectus land acquisition recommendations., The
prospectus names several tracts for acquisition:

The Director approved the park prospectus by letter to the

Miller Cornfield 40 acres
Turner Tract near Dunkard

Church Site 17 acres
North Woods 10 acres
East Woods 20 acres
West Woods 30 acres

12%. Peterson to Burns, December 3, 1957, File D6215-H, WASO.
125. Lewis to Chief, Division of Interpretation, December 17, 1957,

. WASO File, 153.
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The prospectus also mentions lands along the Hagerstown
Road and in the battlefield area generally that would bring
the total to approximately 640 acres recommended for
acquisition. These tracts are not identified.

The latest approved Boundary Status Report was signed by
Acting Director Hillory A, Tolson on July 28, 1945, It
mentions many of the tracts enumerated in the 1955 Mission
66 prospectus and several others including a tract near the
New York monument for administration and visitor center
building purposes, a small tract east of the National Cemetery
to permit improvement of the road to the utility area, and
other tracts for improvement of the park road system and to
preserve and protect the historic area.

The Boundary Status Report refers to the 1941 Edition of the
Antietam Master Plan for details of the land acquisition
program, mentioning 26 parcels of land totaling 548 acres. It
will be noted that this is approximately 100 acres less than
the recommendations of the Superintendent in his Mission 66
prospectus approved by the Director,

Legisiation is not needed to change or expand the boundaries
of the park, nor is there any present limitation in acreage to
which the park may expand. There is a limitation, however,
in that additional lands have to be acquired by donated
funds, and only when it is shown that the tracts in
question have historical interest relating to the battle. At
the present time, therefore, appropriated funds cannot be
used for land acquisition at Antietam.

A bill has been drafted and submitted by the Service to the
Department with the recommendation that it be introduced in
Congress which would permit the Service to use appropriated
funds as well as matching funds for land acquisition in all
National Park Service areas already established. If this bill
is enacted its provisions would permit land acquisition of
Antietam with appropriated funds, and a special bill for that
purpose would not be required.

To emphasize the need for action, Lee continued:

The February 1956 report of the superintendent points to the
danger of much longer delay in acquiring the lands needed
for the battlefield. The following passage is quoted from that
report:

"The farm property of Mr. Patterson Roulette consisting of 180
acres, in the center of the battlefield and adjacent to Sunken
Road or Bloody Lane, was sold. It is rather a shame that we
were unable to acquire this property due to its historical
significance. On its fields perhaps was fought some of the
most savage battles of the Civil War., Most of the farm
buildings including the old spring house, which was used by
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soldiers on both sides during the engagement, are still
standing. Just what the new tenant intends to do with the
property is not yet clear.

There has also been considerable land buying action along the
Hagerstown Pike just out of the village of Sharpsburg,
Several new houses already have been erected and more are
contemplated. There are several tracts along this road as far
out as the Miller Farm which will makec geood building sites.
In the near future, unless the Park Service does something to
prevent it, the entire battlefield along this road will be
hidden from view by these buildings.

If there is any way in which [ can assist you in scheduling
for early acquisition the tand needed at the Antietam
Battlefield andn'p carrying out the acquisition subsequently,
please tell me,

On July 24, 1956, Superintendent Doust informed Regional Director
Tobin in a "confidential" memorandum:

| have just learned that the Piper Farm of approximately 225
acres, bounded by the Sunken Road or Bloody Lane on the
north and running along the Hagerstown Pike to the outskirts
of Sharpsburg, is to be taken over by a real estate group in
Hagerstown for the purpose of breaking the farm into smail
tracts for rural housing development. Work is progressing on
the plan at the present fime, but | do not know when it will
be placed on the market.

Tobin informed the director of the situation at the Piper Farm
property on July 26 and expressed hope that the law could be changed
so that tand could be purchased at Antie’tam.128

Staff Historian Appleman, apprised of the situation, expressed

concern to Lee that without a new law or a donation of approximately

129

¢10,000, nothing could be done. After visiting Antietam, Appleman

reported:

1. . . . that all of Piper Farm (194 acres) should be In
park land acquisition progran. This farm is a critical one for
the battlefield. It fronts on the north side of the Boonsboro
Road for a distance of approximately 1,936 feet immediately
north of Sharpsburg and opposite the Nationa! Cemetery. It

776. Lewis 1o Chief of Lands, April 23, 1956, File 1417-L.

127. Doust to Regional Director, Region Five, July 24, 1956, File
2223-Park.

128. Regional Director Tobin to Director, July 31, 1956. File L1425,
129. Acting Chief Historian Appleman to Chief, Division of Interpreta-
tion, August 22, 1956; Also Acting Director E.T. Scoyen to Regional
Director, Region Five, August 30, 1956, responding to July 31 report -

nothing can be done under existing law. File 1425,
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fronts on the east side of the Hagerstown Road for a distance

of approximately 2200 feet immediately north of Sharpsburg to
the Bloody Lane. All of it was involved in the battle and its
acquisition is important, in fact mandatory, to rounding out
the park boundary.

2. Conferred with Mr. Samuel W. Piper of 133 East Antietam
Street, Hagerstown, Maryland (Tel. No. 132-M} on his plans
for the Piper Farm. Mr. Piper came to the Superintendent's
Office from his home in Hagerstown for the meeting. Title is
in his mother's name. She is now 80-some years old and
virtually blind., He acts as her agent in all property matters,
~Mr. Piper professes a desire to keep the farm intact and have
it added to the battlefield park. Already he has turned down
several requests for the sale of tracts of land fronting on the
Boonsboro and Hagerstown roads. He bhas considered
subdividing the farm for real estate purposes. He at first
placed an evaluation of $100,000 on the farm. Later he
indicated he would consider $75,000. He might reduce this
amount after he has checked to determine the tax rate on sale
of real estate. He will then submit a proposal in the form of
an option to the Superintendent for sale of his farm to the
NPS. In my opinion Mr. Piper was reasonable and genuinely
concerned with saving the historic farm for the park but also
desirous of obtaining a good price for the land. Mr. Piper
said the farm now grosses about $12,000 a year, principally
from dairy use. The farm has several historic structures on
it dating from the battle and earlier.

3. Agreement that Antietam Mission 66 Prospectus should
be revised with regard to land Acquisition, The Super-
intendent will submit a2 request on this, Mr. Thompson has
already partially competed a new land acquisition proposal,
The principal land needs consist of the following farms north
of Sharpsburg:

Miller
Poffenberger
Roulette
Mumma

Piper

4. A special word should be said about the Poffenberger
Farm. It, like the Piper and Mumma farms, has historic
structures on it that are of great value in recreating the
atmosphere of the Civil War period and earlier. One of the
buildings here is the one room stone and board siding
structure where Clara Barton carried on her work of mercy
among the Union wounded. The old and picturesque wood
pump still exists just outside the building. Both the Piper
and Poffenberger farms have blacksmith shops on them. The
Piper farm has also an old Dutch cider press. But the point
to be made here is that the Clara Barton building has a
special significance because in a sense it may be said that the
work of the American Red Cross began there.
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5. It is not too late to acquire the historic land needed to

. guarantee the Antietam battlefield. But that time is running
out. The 100th Anniversary of the battle is 1962. Before
that time all the land needed should be acquired and related
development completed for the Centennial Celebration we know
will take place. Land acquisition at Antietam should have the
very highest priority among the Civil War Battlefield parks.
It needs land more than any other, and, too, there is
scarcely a single hattle of that war that had more profound
significangg, on the final outcome of the struggle than did
Antietam.

Some 20 months later, on February 24, 1958, . Director Wirth
reviewed with Regional Director Tobin the proposed boundaries for
Antietam and his meetings with Congress’ in an effort to obtain

authority to purchase additional fand:

We have reviewed your memorandum of December 19, 1957,
and attached map recommending proposed boundaries for
Antietam. {t is the consensus that the proposed boundaries
exceed the needs of the Park for preservation and
development purposes as shown on Master Plan Drawing
NBS-ANT-3007-C, approved May 6, 1957. The tentative
boundaries and general scheme of development shown on this
plan were based on conclusions reached at the Master Plan
Conference held at Antietam on November 26-27, 1956, with

. Superintendent Doust and representatives of this Office,
EODC and your office in attendance, The approved plan
reflects modifications decided upon during the plan review
here at which your office and EODC were represented.

The approved plan of May 6, 1957, formed the basis of our

testimony on H.R. 9581 at a hearing of the Public Lands

Subcommittee on February 11, 1958, At this hearing we

advised the subcommittee that a total of approximately 1,800

acres, including presently owned lands, is needed for

Antietam. Further, we estimated that $300,000 would cover
the cost of acquisition. The Committee imade it clear that

these figures should not be exceeded without clearing with it.

In other words, the Committee does not wish to give an open

ended authorization to acquire jands at Antietam,

Recommended boundaries should now be detailed to conform as
closely as possible to the schematic ‘line shown on the
approved Master Plan Drawing and keeping within the
limitations recited above. The Master Plan line includes the

730.  Appleman to lLee, September 6, 1956, with copy to Regional
Director, Region Five. _ :
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lands of prime historical importance and, subject to
adjustment to insure workability, appears to be adequate for
protection and development purposes. We agree that it may
be desirable for the proposed boundaries to follow existing
property lines, but only to the extent that minimum
adjustment of the Master Plan line is required, Service
agreement on a justifable boundary now does not preclude its
later modification, if necessary, to avoid excessive severance
costs during the acquisition stage. Now, however, we are
concerned primarily with recommending a workable boundary
which can reasonably be expected to meet Park needs,
provide for unavoidable disruptions it may cause in the
community, and be suitable for public discussion. As you
know, we are committed to furnishing Senator [John Marshall]
Butler information as to our land needs for Antietam, and he
has again asked the Department when it will be available,

Using Master Plan Drawing NBS-ANT-3007-C as a base, please
let us have a firm boundary recommendation agreeable to your
office, Superintendent Doust and EODC. The plan must be
suitable for Senator Butler's use, as well as our own, and
should appropriately identify existing Park lands and those
proposed for acquisition. The proposed by-pass roads should
be indicated as well as the proposed Park tour route and
interpretive points. Please indicate also, in relation to the
proposed boundary, how means of ingress and egress will be
- provided for private land owners, particularly on the east
side between the Park and Antietam Creek. To be
acceptable, the plan must provide these people, or others
similarly affected, means of access other than by the Park
road system.

Director Wirth went before the House Public Land Subcommittee of
the Committee on Interior and Insular Affairs as the Interior
Department's witness in favor of H.R. 1805, bill "To Amend the Act
entitled 'An Act i authorize the Secretary of the Interior to acquire
property for the Antietam Battlefield site in the State of Maryland'."”
As a result of his statements the amount of land to be authorized was
changed from 1,300 to 1,800 acres and an American Legion proposal to
enlarge the national cemetery was fended off.131 '

On April 10, 1958, Acting Director Evind Scoyen approved the
latest  proposed boundaries for Antietam, informing Regional
Director Tobin:

With the following minor modifications, we concur in the
proposed boundaries for Antietam recommended in your
memorandum of March 6:

LEAR WASO File 1415, Acting Director E, T. Scoyen to Assistant
Secretary, Land Management, March 4, 1959,
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On the north side in the Elmer Poffenberger farm area, we
prefer to have leeway to locate the boundary more nearly in
conformity with the schematic line shown on approved Master
Plan Drawing NBS-ANT-3007-C. It s preferable that the
boundary here be clear of the proposed by-pass road.
However, since the actual location of the road is not known,
it would seem desirable not to limit ourselves too closely in
this area at the present stage. There is the possibility, too,
that the Federal Government may have 1o acquire and turn
over to the State the righi-of-way for s road as well os
the proposed Hagerstown by-pass road. This probably will
require additional legislation since much of the road will be
outside the boundary.

The other change involves the exclusion of lots 25-34 on the
west side. This possibility was discussed in your memorandum,
At the hearings of the Public Lands Subcommittee on H.R.
9581 the members expressed the thought that if the bill
passed, the Service should not exceed the $300,000 land
acquisition cost figure or the 1,800-acre figure without
clearing with the committee. There was some talk of writing
a limitation in the bill. Recently, the bill, after having been
reported to the full committee, was referred to the
subcommittee for further consideration, probably on the
question of fund and acreage limitations. In view of this
history, it seems desirable to exclude these properties. We
believe this can be done without seriously affecting the
ultimate development and protection of the Park. Both of
these changes were made on the copy of the Boundary Study
Map NBS-ANT-2021 which we sent to Senator Butler and on
our copy of the map,

Now that agreement has been reached, please revise Master
Plan Drawing NBS-ANT-3007-C to show the proposed
boundaries. The schematic boundary line should be deleted.
The revised drawing should show also the means by which
property owners on the east side of the Park whose holdings

may be severed will gain ingress and egress to ir
properties ether than by the proposed Park road system.

Superintendent Doust also contributed to success of the effort to
obtain a law that would permit the purchase of tand. On January 9,
1959, Chief Historian Kahler provided the director with

a copy of the booklet which Congressman [John R.] Foley requested be
supplied to him in sufficient copies for distribution to each
Member in Congress. The booklet was originally prepared by
Superintendent Doust and Historian Lagermann for the
Wwashington Civil War Round Table. It has been reproduced

132. WASO. File L1417, Scoyen to Regional Director, Region Five,
April 10, 1958.
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by the Eastern National Park and Monument Association to
assist Co?%essman Foley in his land acquisition program at
Antietam,

The House Interior and Insular Affairs Committee visited

the

Antietam National Battlefield Site to see the land acquisition problem at

first

bl

hand. Staff Historian Peterson described their visit:

On Friday, April 16, Congressman Foley and eight members of
the Interior and Insular Affairs Committee visited Antietam to
examine the land problems first hand. In the group were
Representatives Aspinall, Pfost, Anderson, Burdick,
Collier, Langen, Rutherford, and Ullman, as well as several
members of the committee staff. Joining the delegation were
representatives of the Washington County Historical Society
and members of the Maryland House of Delegates. The press
contingent contained reporters and photographers from Life,
The New York Times, The Washington Post, and  the
Washington Evening Star.

Superintendent Doust led the tour and made an excellent
presentation. Dr, Coleman and | answered individual

questions from Congressmen and the press as we walked

along, pointing out areas where troops from various states
fought, etc. The Committee members arrived at 9:30 A.M.
and despite a very rainy day, a number remained for lunch
at 12:30, The reaction seemed most favorable, but those
attending were appari%t!y previously inclined towards the
Service point of view.

Law Permitting Expansion of the Park, 1960

Congress passed "An Act to provide for the protection and

preservation of the Antietam Battlefield in the State of Maryland,"

which was approved by President Dwight D. Eisenhower on April 22,

1960.

Under this law:

The Secretary of the Interior is authorized to acquire such
lands and interests in land and to enter into such agreements
with the owners of land on behalf of themselves, their heirs
and assigns with respect to the use thereof as the Secretary
finds necessary to preserve, protect, and improve the Antie-
tam Battlefield comprising approximately 1,800 acres in the
State of Maryland. . . to assure the public a full and
unimpeded view thereof, and to provide for the maintenance
of the site {other than those portions which are occupied by
public buildings and monuments and the Antietam Nationa)

133,

interpretation, January 9, 1959.

WASO File, Kahler to Wirth, through Chief, Division

of

This was a guide book that had been

prepared during the summer of 1958 for the visit of the District

of Columbia Civil War Round Table, Doust to Director,

134,

WASO File 5415, Peterson to the Director, April 15, 1959.
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Cemetery} in, or its restoration to substantially the condition
in which it was at the time of the battle of Antietam. Not
more than 600 acres of land, however, shall be acquired in
fee by purchase or condemnation, but neither this limitation
nor any other provision of law shall preciude such acquisition

of the fee title to other lands and its immediate reconveyance
remarn nunoere with cuich cgvenants' restrir_‘tions_. ar

ey b £
v LU= L R R ) AFEEEENT

c?ggiitions as will accomplish the purposes of this Act . . .

tand Status Map-Drawing No. NBS-ANT-7003, dated March 1560,
reproduced on the following page, shows the existing and proposed
boundaries of the park.

Superintendent Doust, who had served as superintendent of
Antietam for ten years, retired on June 10, 1960. Taking charge of a
neglected and little-appreciated area in 1950, Doust, by a display of
initiative, energy, and good sense, succeeded in interesting the
officials of the regional and Washington offices in his park. He played
an important role in the acquisition of the Dunkard Church site {1951);
the closing of the national cemetery to further burials (1953); and the
passage of the act of April 22, 1960, which granted the Secretary of
the Interior authority to purchase 600 acres of additional land, to
secure scenic easements on 1,017 more acres, establishing the total
acreage at 1,800 for Antietam. Employing the artistic talents of
Ranger-Historian Tuckerman to design and construct the outdoor
exhibits, Superintendent Doust provided Antietam with a set of ten
trailside exhibits in 1950-52. In 1952-5& the "temporary' museum

nistrative-museum building were converted from

L3 v Eirna LE138

exhibits in the old admi
amateur to professionally designed exhibits by Doust and Tuckerman,
with advice and some help from the museum staffs of the Washington
and regional offices. Perhaps only in the field of historical research,
1950-60, was the potential not fully realized, but progress had been

made.

735, U.S. Statutes at Large, Vol. 74, p. 7S.
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CHAPTER IX

ANTIETAM DEVELOPED, 1960-1967:
SELECTED SUBJECTS

O L | B, ke Y — o e +
nofiny  aind ainnuay replnyd o o Iy nasn

together with many other key documents, are not available, this chapter
will be devoted to selected subjects rather than a history of all phases
of the park's operations.

Certain events occurred during the years 1960 to 1367 that were to
affect the development of all national parks. Perhaps most important
among these was the resignation, for political reasons, of Director Wirth
on January 7, 1964, and his replacement by George B. Hartzog, Jr.,
on January 8, 1964, Director Hartzog expanded the traditional
functions of the National Park Service-~involving the preservation,
conservation, and interpretation of "“the scenery and the natural and
historic objects...therein"--to include recreation. Thus recreational
facilities for biking, boating, camping, fishing, hiking, horseback
riding, and picnicking were introduced at many historical areas and
battlefield sites in the years that followed.

Thirty-five years earlier, in January 1929, when congressmen on
the House Committee on Military Affairs had been considering the
transfer of the administration of the national battlefields from the War
Department to the Interior Department, one had warned, “the
Department of the Interior does not know what they [the battlefields]
are and what they mean." A second had remarked that the National
Park Service would soon transform these historic sites where thousands
of Americans had died into "national playgrounds.” Some who did not
agree with Director Hartzog's views feared that this ancient prophesy
was coming true and that the addition of recreational facilities would
convert nationally important historic sites into local playgrounds.

A second important event was the reorganization of the old
Division of Interpretation which had supervised the functions of
interpretation and research. On June 19, 1967, the Office of
Archeology and Historic Preservation was established to supervise and
execute all architectural, archeological, and historical research in the
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National Park ‘E;er\arice.1 Park historians who had demonstrated a
marked ability and interest in research by their work in the parks had
been assigned to Washington in the spring of 1966 to staff an expanded
Division of History. This eliminated or curtailed the capacity of the
staff of most historical parks to perform research. The Division of
interpretation was aiso established in June 1967 and its chief became an
assistant director on January 14, 1968.2 The new Division of
Interpretation also designed all exhibits for the visitor centers and
prepared all National Park Service literature (free informational folders
and handbooks) for publication. As there was little coordination
between the two new divisions, this sometimes produced interesting
results in "the facts" that were being presented to the public.

To return to Antietam, however; Ronald F. Lee, who had acted
more or less as the guardian angel of Antietam National Battlefield Site
since 1941, assumed the position of regional director, Region Five, on
January 11, 1960, and held that office until his retirement on
December 30, 1965,

1. MISSION 66 INCREASE IN STAFFING, 1962-1964 _

The two men who served as superintendents of Antietam National
Battlefield Site and National Cemetery during the years 1960 to 1967

both began their National Park Service careers as park historians.

Benjamin H. Davis arrived at Antietam, on August 7, 1960 and served

as superintendent until January 26, 1963.3 Park historian Lagemann

1. This office was headed by Dr, Ernest A. Connally, an architectural
historian. The branch of history was under former park
Historian Robert M. Utley.

2. This was former park historian William C. Everhart, who began his
career at Gettysburg. Mr., Everhart also developed the interesting
theory, perhaps based on his experience with the Gettysburg non-Park
Service guides, that a good interpreter, with extensive training, could
talk about anything--history, archeology, nature, or architecture,
without really having a professional knowledge of the subject.

3. Benjamin H, Davis began his National Park Service career at
Mammoth Cave, July 1%86-January 1947; then served as historian at
Abraham Lincoln Birthplace, January 1947-June 1951; historian at Kings
Mountain National Military Park, June 1951-March 1953; superintendent
of Andrew Johnson National Historic Site, March 1953-January 1958;
supervisory historian at Roosevelt-Vanderbilt, January 1958-August
1960, and then came to Antietam. Data from telephone conversation
with Superintendent Davis at the Car! Sandburg Home National Historic
Site, North Carolina, in July 1982,
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was the acting superintendent from January 27 to September 1%, 1963,
Harold |. Llessem was the next superintendent, serving from
September 15, 1963 to October 21, 1967.4
superintendent, established at GS$-9 during the 1950s, was boosted to
GS-11 during the 1360s.

The position of park hislorian, estabiished at G5-7, was
increased to GS-9 in the 1960s and held by Robert L. Lagemann from
1958 to 1967,

The position of Mrs, Pearl B, Thomas, which she had occupied
since 1942, was changed to secretary (typing}, GS-5, in the 1%60s.
Mrs., Thomas served in that post from 1960 to 1967,

This staff was increased in 1962~63 by the addition of the following

The  position of

three full-time positions:

1. Historian GS~5 Dwight E, Stinson, July 1966 to April 1962; to be
followed by Historian GS-5 John W. Bryce May 1962-1967.

2. Park Ranger, GS-7, Hugh Crenshaw, August 1962-July 6, 1965.
3. Clerk-Typist Position, GS=-3, 4th Quarter 1963 fiscal year‘.5

The GS-3 typing position was established in the division of
interpretation to support the activities of the two park historians,

The GS-4 seasonal ranger historian position was retained and filled
during the summer months. A new park guide position GS-4, also
seasonal, was established and filled for the first time during the fourth
quarter of the 1963 fiscal year. Breaking with thirty years of National
Park Service tradition at Antietam, a "female" was hired for the first

time to fill the guide position.s

§, Harold [. Lessem began his National Park Service career as a
WAE assistant historical technician at Fort McHenry National Monument
and Historic Shrine, February 1941 to April 1942, leaving to serve in
the U.S. Army. Returned to Fort McHenry as park histortan in
January 1946 and served in that position until 1956, Superintendent
of Salem Maritime Nationai Historic Site, Massachusetts, from 1956 to
September 1963. Arrived at Antietam September 15, 1963. Data from
telephone discussion with Mr. Harold |, Lessem, retired and living in
Cherry Hill, N.J., during July 1982,

5. Summary of staffing, Antietam National Battlefield Site-Group A,
No. of existing positions, June 2%, 1963. Prepared by Acting Super-
intendent Robert Lagemann,

6. Data on filling of three positions from Statement of Objectives,
1964, Management and Protection, June 24, 1963, by Acting Superin-
tendent Robert L., Lagemann.
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The permanent maintenance positions were increased from three to
four by the filling of a janitor position during the third quarter of the
1963 fiscal year.? Mr. Gatrell was chief of park maintenance in 1967.
Total permanent positions stood at 10 and the seasonal and temporary
positions at two on June 24, 1963, making a total of 12, By
November 27, 1964, the number was 16, which included 10 permanent
and six seasonal positions.

The staff in November 1964 comprised:

Division Permanent Seasonal Total
Administration 2 0 2
Interpretation 3 3 6
Protection 1 0 1
Maintenance g 3 7
Total 10 6 ' 1 68

The staff had thus doubled since 1958,
2. TRAVEL AND VISITOR CONTACTS, 1960-1967
Reports on travel and the number of visitor contacts during the

years July 1, 1960, to December 16, 1967, are not available. The
following data, however, have been extracted from the visitation
sections of the Antietam Master Plan narratives that were written in
1962, 1963, and 1964:

Calendar Year Travel

1961 125,000
1962 175,000
1963 103,252

7. Ibid.

8. Master plan of Antietam National Battlefield Site, Chapter 3,
Management Programs Narrative, Staff Activities, Page 3, Existing
Organization, prepared by Superintendent Harold 1. Lessem,
November 27, 1964, The maintenance force was composed of 1
maintenance man, 2 caretakers, 1 janitor, and 3 seasonal laborers.
Three ranger~historians made up the seasonal force of the interpretive
division. Master Plan of Antietam Nationa! Battlefield Site, Chapter 1,
Basic Information, the land and the visitor, prepared by Antietam staff,
July 6-and 7, 1964, Figures from chart for years 13961, 1962, 1963.
Figure for 1964 from July 7, 1965, revision of Antietam master plan
narrative, page 3. Figure for 1965 arrived at by adding 3%,160 to the
101,000 total of 1964, as stated in 1965 calender year highlights.
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1964 101,300

1965 140,160
1966 7
1967 ?
Total buy,712

Seasonal Distribution of Visitors During 1964

January 2,700 July 17,500
February 1,900 August 14,600
March 6,100 September 7,500
April 8,600 October 8,900
May 14,200 November 5,100
June -11,800 Dec;ember 2,400

Total for 1964: 101,300
Visitor contact figures for the year 1963, in which tota! visitation

was 103,252, were:

By Conducted Tours 1,581
By Attended Stations © 59,736
By Self-Guiding Auto Tour 103,252
By Walks or Hikes 67
Estimated total of contacts 167,025'°

The Mission 66 projections of future increases in travel to
Antietam estimated that the 200,000 per year mark would be reached in
1969 and that about 235,000 would be visiting the park by 1974. in
" reality, 274,115 were to visit Antietam in 1969 and 436,888 during the
1974 calendar year'.rI
3. MISSION 66 LAND ACQUISITICN PROGRAM, 1960-1967

On July 1, 1960 Antietam comprised 193.76704 acres of U.S.-

owned land. Of this total, 11.356 acres were in the national cemetery

9. From July 7, 1965 revision of Antietamn master plan narrative,
age 3.

Fo.g Master plan of Antietam National Battiefield Site, Chapter 1, Basic
information, the land, the visitor, prepared by Antietam staff, July 6
and 7, 1963, p. 13, chart compares activities in 1958 and 1963.

11. Ibid. Projections for increased travel were provided by the
washington Office.
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and 182.411 acres were in the. National Battlefield Site. The Act of
April 22, 1960, had established a total acreage of 1,800 acres for the

park and granted the Secretary of the Interior authority to purchase in
fee 600 additional -acres and to acquire scenic easements on
approximately 1,017 other acres. Congress appropriated $300,000 to

execute this plan,

‘Land Acquired in Fee Simple, by Purchase
July 1, 1960-1967

Map 4- Acres Price

Hame of Tract Tract No. Purchased Paid Acquired

1. Hugh C, Spielman Tract, 1961 7 148.50 $50,000 12/18/61

2, J. W, Dorsey Tract (Part of) 19 0.76 200

3. Albert Turner Tract (Part of) 8 0.90 11,000

4, David Krupshaw Tract (formerly

Golden B. Leatherman) (Part of) 14 22,12 15,700

5. John E. Turner Tract (Part of) 8 0.17 6,500

Subtotal to December 8, 1962: - 172.45 $83,400' 2

6. Charles Clark Tract _ 6 13.48 7,500

7. Sadie V. Piper Farm - 13 193.00 75,000 6/25/64

8. J. W, Dorsey Tract : 18 213.50 43,000 5/5/64
" Subtotal, Dec. 8, 1962-June 30, 1964 419.98 $125,5003
- Total Spent, 1960-June 30, 1964: . 592,43 $209,900

Balance Available: ' 7.57 91,100

Total Authorized by Congress: ' 600.00 $300,000

12. Stewart L. Udall, Secretary of the Interior, to Wayne N, Aspinall,
Chairman, Committee on Interior and Insular Affairs, House of
Representatives, December 8, 1962, WASO File L1425. The $300,000 for
land was appropriated in 1962 fiscal year funds. Purchase No, 6 lay
next to the Antietam National Cemetery and plans were underway to
develop the tract. Purchase No. 7 was  held by the
Antietam~Sharpsburg Museum Corporation, who planned to subdivide
for commercial and residential use. Purchase 1, site of new visitor
center, :

13. D. Otis Beasley, Secretary of the Interior to Michael J. Kirwan,
Chairman, Heuse Subcommittee on Interior and Related Agencies
Appropriation Committee, House of Representatives, October 31, 1963,
WASO L1425 - RLR. Purchase No. 8 was made because it was needed
for the construction of the road to the Burnside Bridge.
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. The plan to secure scenic easements over important historical lands
at Antietam' met with little success because the landowners were
uninterested. Secretary of the Interior Stewart L. Udall explained the
problem to Chairman Wayne N. Aspinall of the House Committee on
Interior and Inéular Affairs on December 8, 1962, as follows:

Using every means of friendly persuasion occurring to them,
representatives of the National Park Service have endeavored
to negotiate agreements with several farm owners in the
Antietam area for the placement of covenants, restrictions and
conditions on the farmland. The owners readily recognized
that they would be free to continue to farm and use their
lands substantially as they had in the past. However, the
negotiations for less~than-fee interests were disappeinting and
completely negative as far as reaching any reasonable price
basis was concerned. The owners requested from 65 to 75
percent of the appraised fee value of the land even though it
was pointed out to them that they, their heirs, successors,
and assigns could continue to farm and use the lands in
perpetuity as they had in the past.

It is evident in the several negotiations with the landowners
that the limited use plan itself was not the sole obstacle to
reaching prices that could be considered reasonable for the

. partial interest the Government desired to acquire.
Landowners and farmers in the Antietam area are becoming
increasingly aware of the desirability of their holdings -for
homesites, motels, restaurants, museums, helicopter scenic
tours, subdivisions, sales booths, and other commerciaj
activities which they feel are bound to be required as greater
visitation occurs, Several of them envisage Antietam as a
second Gettysburg with a similar commercial potential.
Therefore, the owners either refuse to subject their land to
limited use agreements or ask almost the full fee tihle of the
land if such agreements are to be entered into now,

~ Little progress had been made in acquiring scenic easements by
the end of 1963 and Assistant Secretary of the interior D. Otis Beasley
informed Chairman Michael J. Kirwan of the House Subcommittee on

Interior and Related Agencies Appropriations on October 31, 1963:

The National Park Service is continuing its efforts to
purchase less-than-fee interests, as described in the act, but
prospects of purchasing any tracts on such a basis at a
reasonable price appear remote.

184. Steward L. Udall, Secretary of the Interior, to Wayne N. Aspinall,
Chairman Committee on Interior and Insular Affairs, House of
. Representatives, December 8, 1962,
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The land acguisition program at Antietam has been advanced
substantially as far as possible within the existing statutory
framework and under appropriations made to date, The
National Park Service has purchased in fee 589.03 acres of
the maximum 600 acres authorized to be acquired in fee,

It is evident that the fogical completion of the land acquisition
program at Antietam cannot be achieved within the framework
of the Act of April 22, 1960 (74 Stat. 79) .... The steadily
mounting threats of commercial enterprise, housing and
industrial uses indicate that steps should be taken at the
earliest possible moment to acquire and consolidate in Federal
ownership the minimum battlefield area of 1,800 acres. Delay
will be bound to result in higher prices for property or, even
worse, conspicuous and incongruous developments in critical
places, so that the visitor concept of the battie will be
adversely affected. This epic battle was so important in our
history that we feel the site is deserving of adequate and
reasonable protection.

Assistant Secretary Beasley noted that

specific recommendations are being prepared separately for
submission to Congress through approved channels on (1)
supplemental legislation that will permit completion of15the
acquisition program and (2) an estimate of needed funds.

On July 7, 1964, the federally owned land within the existing park
boundaries was computed at 784.14 acres.16 A more accurate figure
{based on later computer printouts) was probably 786.19704 acres.

During the period 1963-1967 Congress refused to lift both the
limitation of 600 acres to be acquired in fee simple or appropriate
additional monies to purchase land and scenic easements.

Meanwhile the land acquisition program proceeded as best it could.
Between 1964 and 1967 three additional purchases in fee with a total of
3.27 acres were acquired at a cost of $31,500. They were:

Map No. 4 Acres Price
Name of Tract Tract No. Purchased Paid
9. Antietam-Sharpsburg Corp. 2 2.50 $30,000
10. Thomas Poffenberger 1A-B 0.34 1,000
11. Leon Charles Spielman 17 0.43 500

15. For a detailed report on the efforts of the National Park Service
to enter into contracts for scenic easements with owners of 11 tracts,
see Assistant Secretary of Interior, D. Otis Beasley to Chalrman Wayne
N. Aspinali, March 7, 1963, 3 pp., WASO L1425-RL.

16. Master Plan of Antietam National Battlefield Site, Chapter |, Basic
;nft;grgl?tlon,aThe l.and, The Visitor. Prepared by Antietam Staff, July
’ e P .

316




Subtotal: 1964-67: 3.27 $31,500

Subtotal 1960-1963 592.43 $209,900
Total, Fee Simple, 1960-67 535.70 $241,400
Balance left 4,30 $58.6001 7

That the scenic easement program was not a success is documented
by the fact that between 1960 and 1967 the National Park Service
obtained contracts covering 42.84 acres at a cost of $41,300.00. The
tracts were:

Name of Tract Tract No. Acreage Price Paid

1.  Leon Charles Spielman 17A 0.47 41,050

2. Leon Charles Spielman 178 10.00 12,000

3. Rene W. Burtner 1.67 1,000
4.  Charles Turner, et al 2,3,6,8,9 28.70 25,950

and 10

5. Samuel Lohman 1.63 1,300
Spent for Scenic Easements, 1960-67 42.47 $ 111,30(}‘Ia
Spent for purchase of land in fee, 1960-67 595,70 $241,400
-']'otal Expenditures for land, 1960-67 638.17 $282,700

This left a balance of $17,300 available from the original appro-
priation of $300,000 to purchase title in fee to 4.30 acres or to acquire
scenic easement over additional land. |

The National Park Service also obtained land for Antietam by
exchange and donation during these years. On May 31, 1962 Congress
passed "An Act to authorize the exchange of certain lands at Antietam
National Battlefield site." This directed that "to effect changes in
land ownership made necessary by the widening and relocation of
Maryland State Route 34 at Antietam National Battlefield site, the -

17. Data extracted from computer printout, National Park Service
Division of Land Acquisition Master Deed Listing, December 31, 1972;
Copy in Park File-Lands, L 1425,

18. Ibid.
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Secretary of the Interior may accept for the United States title to a
parce! of land [described in full in the law] containing 6.66 acre, more
or less...." In exchange, the secretary was authorized to convey "an
approximate 0.05-acre parce! of United States land comprising the
southerly portion of Richardson Avenue ... in Antietam National
Battiefield site, extending from the northerly right-of-way line of the
widened and relocated Maryland State Route 34 southwestward about 65
feet into the said Maryland State Route 34 right-of-way at station 20 +
1&0.“19 Under this exchange the park gained 0.61 acres of land.

On April 7, 1962, members of the Mumma Grave Yard Board wrote
to Superintendent Davis and offered "to convey the Mumma Cemetery to
the United States government free of restrictions and reservations
providing it will assume full responsibility for the upkeep of the

20

cemetery.™ This cemetery was some 200 yards northwest of the

Mumma farmstead and was surrounding by U.S.-owned land (Tract 7,
the Spielman Farm, on Map No. 4). It was “rather close to the
Mumma Lane which is part of the proposed tour route." Regional
Director Lee reported:

The cemetery consists of approximately one-half acre of land
enclosed by the stone wall with iron gates and the grounds are
in fair condition. It is our recommendation that the Service
accept the offer of donation of the Mumma Cemetery for
inclusion in the Antietam National Battlefield Site on the basis
of its historic association with the Dunkard Church {Samuel
Mumma hacil donated land for both the church and
cemetery),

Assistant Director Jackson E. Price responded on June 22, 1962,
writing:

We recongize the desirability of controlling all inholdings
within any unit of the National Park System and therefore
approve the proposal to add the cemetery. Responsibility
for upkeeﬁ, however, must be made subject to the availability
of funds.

19. U.S. Statutes at Large, Vol. 76, p. 81.

20. Ibid.

21. Regional Director, Region Five, Ronald F. lee, to director,
May &, 1962, WASO File A58.

22. Price to Lee, May 3, 1962, WASO File A58-CHA,
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The cemetery was thus apparently taken over by the park but
available records do not indicate if title was legally transferred to the
United States.

According to the Division of Lands Acquisition Master Deed Listing
as of Decemb.er 31, 1972, Antietam consisted of 870.12 acres over which
the U.S. had some degree of control, as follows:

How acquired 1865~1967 Acreages Cost, 1960-67
By Exchange ' 19.34 0.00
By Transfer (from War Dept.) 42,58 0.00
By Donation 140.79 0.00
By Purchase 595,67 $241,400,00
Total in fee simple 798.38 $241,400.00
In less than fee

By easement 42.47 $41,300.00
By R.O.W. _ 29.27 6.00
Total, Less than fee 71.74 $41,300.00
Grand Total 870.12 $282,700,00

4, RECONSTRUCTION OF THE DUNKARD CHURCH

In February 1961 the National Park Service accepted a $35,000
donation from the State of Maryland for the reconstruction of the
Dunkard Church. Built in 1852-53, the brick church was destroyed by
a wind storm in May 1921. The Washington County Historical Society,
under direction of President Dr. Walter M. Shealy, had purchased the
site and foundations with 0.30 acres for $4,000 in 1951 and had
donated the site to the Antietam Battlefield, Efforts to reconstruct the
church had failed because of the lack of money in 1953.23

With strong support from the Washington County Historical Society
and as a part of preparations for the 100th anniversary of the Battle of

Antietam, the State of Maryland had provided the aforementioned

73, Data on gift from National Park Service press release, February
3, 1961.
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funding in 1961. Groundbreaking ceremonies were held at the church
site on May 6.

Dr. Shealy represented the Washington County Historical Society
and the Maryland Civil War Centennial Commission; Russell H. McCain
represented Maryland Governor J. Millard Tawes, and Associate Director
Evind T. Scoyen acted on behalf of the National Park Service.24

Bids for the contract to reconstruct the church were opened on
July 20 and the contract was awarded to the Blake Company of
Hagerstown, the low bidder, for $12,884.25

begin work about August 1, 1961, and to finish by February 1, 1962,

The contractor was to

A change order reduced the amount due to the Blake Company to
$12,777.

The National Park Service prepared the foundations and furnished
all the bricks, windows, doors and shutters used by the contractor, as
well as all other speciality millwork., This work and the supervision of
this construction was the responsibility of Archie W. Franzen,
supervising architect of Harpers Ferry National Monument. Original
bricks had been salvaged and there were enough to build about

two-thirds of the wall fronting on the Sharpsburg Pike. These also
served as samples for Victor Cushwa §& Sons of Williamsport to
manufacture bricks that replicated the originals in appearance. Cost of
these bricks was $1,192.50 and that of the specialty lumber and
miliwork, $1,399, Total cost of construction, inciuding the contractor's
fee, supplies services, and salaries, but not including the original
planning by the Eastern Office of Design and Construction,
was $20,0u6.90.26

24, National Park Service press release, April 27, 1961,

25. Park File D52-Contract No. 14-10-0529-2501-Reconstruction of
Dunkard Church, 1961-62. Antietam National Battlefield Site press
release, July 31, 1962, Blue prints: "Reconstruction of the Dunkard
Church, Junction of Hagerstown and Smoketown Roads, Antietam
National Battiefield Site, Maryland, Drawing No. NHS-ANT-3015-three
sheets, March 24, 1961, prepared by Eastern Office, Division of Design
and Construction, Philadelphia. Specifications for Reconstruction of
Dunkard Church, Antietam National Battlefield Site, Sharpsburg, Md.,
33 pp. prepared by Eastern Office, Division of Design and Construction.®
26. Discussion with Architect Archie W. Franzen, Harpers Ferry .
National Historical Park, August 4, 1982, drawing data from a 1962

completion report.
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Supervising Architect Franzen and Antietam Superintendent Davis
inspected and accepted the church on January 16, 1962.27

As a part of the centennial activities, the reconstructed church
was rededicated in ceremonies held on the afternoon of September 2,
1962.

Present were F.,R. Saunders, chairman, Antietam Division,
" Antietam-South Mountain Centennial Association; Dr. Walter H. Shealy,
president, Antietam-South Mountain Centennial Association,
secretary-treasurer, State of Marytand Civil War Commission, and
President of Washington County Historical Society; Governor Tawes of
Maryland, and Superintendent Da\.fis.28

Rain dampened the crowd but not the spirit of the occasion as
many gathered Sunday afternoon to witness the rededication
ceremonies at the historic Dunkard Church the Hagerstown

Daily Mail reported.

The initial part of the program was held outdoors, adjacent to the
church. Governor Tawes was the principal speaker and presented the
reconstructed church to the park. Accepting on behalf of the National
Park Service was Assistant Regional Director of the Northeast (formerly
Region Five} Region George A. Palmer. Rain forced cancellation of
further ceremonies at the church so the "large crowd proceeded to the
Sharpsburg Community Hall," where the religious part of the services

was haeld.29

5, SPECIAL EVENTS: THE BATTLE CENTENNIAL, 1962
A meeting was held at Hagerstown on December 4, 1956, for the

purpose of organizing an Antictam Centennial Committee "epear-headed
by the Washington County Historical Society." Some 20 organizations

attended. Chief Historian Kahler spoke for the National Park Service
and the group passed a resolution requesting $5,000 for initial expenses
from the Maryland Assembly for use of a steering committee to make

ptans for the <:er1tennial.30

77. Park File D52-letter of acceptance, January 16, 1962. Davis was
contracting officer.

28. Leaflet, 8 pp. The Dedication of the Reconstructed Dunker Church,
September 2, 1962, 1:30 p.m. Antietam National Battlefield Site,
Sharpsburg, Maryland.

39. 1he Daily Mail, Hagerstown, Md., September 4, 1962. Copy
courtesy of Betty Otto.

30. WASO File A8215-H. Kahler to Director, December 6, 1956.
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Final planning on the part of the National Park Service was
underway in April 1962, when the draft of a proposed cooperative
agreement with the Antietam-South Mountain Centennial Association,
Inc., for conducting commemorative programs at Antietam Battiefield was
prepared. It was modeled on the cooperative agreement between the
National Park Service and the First Manassas Corporation for ceremonies
in 1961.3

The meeting to approve and sign the agreement was held at
Hagerstown on May 8. The Hagerstown Daily Mail described the

results:

The National Park S5ervice gave full approval to local plans
for the Antietam Centennial after conferring with local
Centennial officals yesterday.

Local plans for seating, sanitary facilities, traffic controf,
public relations and so on were praised by the National Park
Service officlals.

A co-operative agreement was signhed, giving the
Antietam-South Mountain Centennial Association ful! use of
right-of-ways, facilities, and grounds under National Park
Service control,

The Spong Farm [near the Burnside Bridge] will be used as a
bivouac area for skirmishers and their families. Over 2,000
people from all over the United States, some traveling
thousands of miles, are expected to camp there. Water and
sanitation will be furnished, and a well dug there,
i

The National Park Service said a new road would be built to
the McKinley Overlook near the Burnside Bridge sometime this
summer. After the Antietam Centennial, they said, it wili
become a recreational and picnic area on the Antietam
battlefield.

A 400-bed hospital and ambulance unit will be set up on the
Battlefield to handle casualties, under the supervision of the
136th Evacuation Hospital Unit, U.S, Army Reserve, An
elaborate traffic control plan is being developed by the
[Maryland] State Police.

At the meeting yesterday were Jackson E. Price, assistant
director, National Park Service; George A. Palmer, assistant

St

31. WASO File A8215 and A##4, Regional Director Ronald F. Lee, Region
Five, to Director, April 6, 1962; also - 'Acting Regional Director J.
Carlisle Crouch, Region Five, to Digector, April 20, 1962.
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regional director, Region Five, N.P.5., Benjamin H. Davis,

superintendent, Antietam National Battlefield Site, Robert M,

Brown, Washington County Health Department, J. Walter

Coleman, historian, Washington  office, N.P.S.; Paul

Henderson, U.S. Public Health Service, and Dr. Walter H,

Shealy, C. lLease Bussard, V.D. Milter, Jr., Myron L. Bloom,

J. R. Fiery, H. L. Mills, and Francis R. §§unde_rs,

Antietam-South Mountain Centennial Association, Inc.

For the purpose of this study, the centennial ceremonies will be
considered under two headings: the dedication of the Clara Barton
Monument that took place on Sunday, September $, and the
re~enactment of the Battle of Antietam on September 15 and 16, 1962.
a. Clara Barton Monument Dedication

As early as March 1960 park historian Lagemann had been
fascinated by and was wrestling with the problem of where Clara
Barton's field hospital had been located during the Battle of Antietam.
The activities of the future founder of the American Red Cross were of

considerable historical interest and lLagemann did not believe her

hospital was sited on the farm where tradition placed it.33

On December 28, 1961, historian Lagemann completed his research
and writing on this subject and submitted his report "Clara Barton at
Antietam," 89 pp., typescript, dated December 26, 1961, to the regional
director, Region Five, for review. As lLagemann wrote:

An early appraisal of this subject will be appreciated,
Because the conclusions of this report differ from those held
by local interest groups, and of previous efforts by the
Historian here, we are attempting to hold the findings of3'ﬁhis
report semi-confidential, pending receipt of your review.”

[ A

Historian Lagemann proved to his satisfaction that the Ciara Barion
hospital was not where tradition claimed but on the Middlekauf Farm,
In his review of the study, regional historian Frank Barnes wrote,
"This is a rather convincing case for the Middlekauf Farm as the
probable site of Clara Barton's nursing activities at Antietam...." Only

one aspect caused some doubt:

32. The Daily Mail, May 9, 1962,

33. — Park File H2215-Historical Research, see Lagemann to
Superintendent Harry W. Doust, "Research on Clara Barton." March
22, 1960,

3. Park File H2215. Acting Superintendent Lagemann to Regional
llairector Region Five, December 28, 1961. This was Research Project
o. = -
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"The number of structures on the farm today bothers me a little,
especially since Miss Barton speaks only of a house and barn..,n3°

Regional Director Lee accepted the report on the basis of Regional
Historian Barnes' review and commended historian Lagemann "for his
critical persistence in this matter.” The Middlekauf Farm was accepted
"as the probable site of Clara Barton's nursing activities," and in
conclusion Lee wrote: "We agree with your cautious approach on
disseminating the conclusions of this report, and we are keeping in
mind the ramifications in terms of the land [acquisition] situation."
| Historian Lagemann's "semi-confidential® findings remained a secret
for about two weeks following his submission of the report. On
January 12, 1962, Regional Director Lee notified NPS Director Wirth:

We have received word from Superintendent Davis, Antietam
National Battlefield Site, that the National Headquarters of
the American Red Cross is interested In getting a news
service to carry a feature article on the findings contained
in the subject report. The report, prepared by Park
Historian Lagemann, was sent to your Office on January 11, -
The gist of its findings is that Clara Barton's activities at
Antietam were centered on the Middlekauf Farm, not on the
traditional site, the Poffenberger Farm,

The Red Cross cooperated fully with the park in the
research for this report, and is aware of its conclusions,
Mr. Clyde E, Buckingham, Acting Director of its Research
Information Office, has favorably received the report and
believes that it has direct relation to the Red Cross project
to erect a suitable monument to Clara Barton at Antietam.

That the Nationai Headquarters of the Red Cross is
interested in publicizing the report is, in Superintendent
Davis' view, very fortunate. Because relocating Clara
Barton's hospital goes against locally cherished tradition,
Endorsement of the report by the National Red Cross would
be extremely helpful in gaining public acceptance of the
actual iocation.

Accordingly, we suggest that if your review of the report is
favorable, Superintendent Davis be authorized to contact Mr,
Buckingham and encourage him to proceed with Red
Cross-sponsored pubilic dissemination of the report's
findings.

35. park File H2215, Comments by Regiona!l Historian Frank Barnes on
the Clara Barton site, attached to Regional Director Ronald F. Lee's
memo of January 11, 1862, to Superintendent, Antietam.
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To avoid premature release of Mr. Lagemann's findingg, we

would appreciate your early consideration of this matter,

Consequentiy, on February 1, 1962, Daniel B. Beard, Assistant
Director, Public Affairs, informed Regional Director Lee:

The interested divisions in the washington Office have
reviewed Historian Lagemann's report ... with considerable
interest. It is we feel an excellent job and worthy of
publication. If you feel that its release at this time does not
jeopardize the acquisition of land or do other harm, we are
happy to authorize you to proceed with the publicity and
publication in cooperation with the American Red Cross.

On February 5 Acting Regional Director Palmer authorized
Superintendent Davis to pursue both publicity and publication of the
study.38 But on April 20 Davis reported to the regional director that
no action had been taken because the American Legion was raising
funds to acquire a portion of the Joseph Poffenberger farm, the
traditional site of Clara Barton's activities, and '"to publicize the
research findings at this time might jeopardize, or at least prejudice,
their efforts to obtain funds. It is for this reason we are holding

action on the Regort.“39

At the Washington County Chapter of the American Red Cross
meeting, held in Hagerstown on April 10, the program for a Clara
Barton Day *%c commemorate and dedicate a monument to her on
September 8, as part of the 100th anniversary, was adopted.uﬁ On
May 18 Superintendent Davis arranged an appointment for Historian
{ agemann to meet with Clyde E. Buckingham, Director, Office of
Research and Information, American Red Cross, Washington, to discuss

the research report and to help prepare the publicity release.m

36. ibid.

37, lIbid. Staff Historian Dr. J. Walter Coleman may have reviewed
the study for the Washington Office in 1962,

38. Ibid.

39. ibid.

4p. Ibid. Copy of newsletter No. 3--progress report.

51, lbid., Davis to Buckingham, May 18, 1962.
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On July 9, Assistant Director Edwin H. Powers, Red Cross Office
of Public Information, informed Superintendent Davis: .

| want to thank you for your letter of July 5 and your
assurance that Mr. Lagemann's research report and other
material will be made available to Mrs. Meyers and other
officials of the Red Cross chapter in Hagerstown,

As | explained in replying to Mr. Lagemann's letter of July 4,
copy of reply attached, it will be necessary for us to hold up
the release of our story until the chapter officials have
reviewed Mr. Lagemann's report. | feel quite certain the
report will convince them, as it has us, that Mr. Lagemann is
right in stating that Clara Barton worked at the Middlekauf
Farm, | said as much to Mrs. Meyers on the phone one day
last week--that we, Mr, Clyde Buckingham, our historian and
I, were convinced after reading the report that Mr., Lagemann
is right. '

So 1 don't think we'll have any great problem in obtaining
their consent to release the story, once they have had a
chance to study Mr. Lagemann's presentation——at least, |
hope not.

The main point now will be to get this material to them and to
have it revie\qﬁd and studied by the Hagerstown officials who
should see it.

The Antietam National Battlefield Site's press release entitled
"Battlefield Historian Locates Site where Clara Barton Nursed Antietam

Wounded" was issued on August 1, 1962. Presumably the Red Cross
issued a similar notice on the same date.l|3

The Hagerstown Daily Mail on September 6, 1962, carried a long
article on "Clara Barton Day," commenting in part:

Through its participation in "Clara Barton Day" ceremonies on
the Antietam Battlefield this coming Sunday..September 9, the
American National Red Cross will give official recognition to
the conception on a Maryland battlefield a century ago of its
humanitarian role in society.

Gen, Alifred M. Gruether, President of the American National
Red Cross, is scheduled to give the main address at the
unveiling of the monument to Clara Barton which has been
erected by our local chapter of the Red Cross. The public is

42. Powers to Davis, July 9, 1962; also Powers to Lagemann, July 9,

1962, in Park File H2215,

43. NPS release in file; also press release National Headquarters of

Red Cross, dated Hagerstown, Md., July . .
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invited to attend - the ceremony, which will start at 2:30
Sunday afternoon, on Mansfield Avenue, Antietam
Battlefield....

The commemoration was held as planned with "a throng of nearly

1,000 at the monument site.“lw

The Clara Barton story was a success both as a research and
public relations operation and so it remained for nine years, until 1971,
when the work of another park historian demonstrated beyond a doubt
that Historian Lagemann was mistaken in his belief that Clara Barton's
field hospital had been on the Middlekauf Farm. This development will
be considered under the research section of this chapter. 1t should
also be noted that if money for purchasing lands had been available,
the National Park Service during the years 1962-1971 would have
acquired the "wrong site" if it had purchased the Clara Barton hospital
jocation on the basis of the Lagemann study.

b. Re-Enactment of the Battie

Eighteen thousand parking spaces were estabiished in three
§,000-car parking lots. One was within walking distance of the
re-enactment site near Bloody Lane. Parking fees at this lot were $1.
The other lots were at Tilghmanton and Keedysville. Shuttie buses
were to take these people to the re-enactment site, The charge of $2
covered costs of parking and transporting one carload of people.

About 50,000 persons were expected to attend the two~-day affair. Some
43

150 Maryland state policemen were to control traffic,

By September 15 the Daily Mail reported that more than 1,000
troops who were taking part in the re-enactment were camped in a
130-acre bivouac area two miles from the re-enactment site. The
Maryland Department of the American Legion aiso presented a $4,500
check to the National Park Service for the purchase of additiona! land

for the park,

T, The Daily Mail, September 10, 1962.
45. The Daily Mall, Hagerstown, September 12, 1962.
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An estimated 18,000 people attended the ceremonies: 10,000 on
Saturday and 8,000 on Sunday (far below expectations). The Daily Mail
described these events:

Cannon roared, horsemen charged, and musket blazed as some
2,000 troops from 17 states re-enacted the Bloody Lane phase
of the Battle of Antietam at a cost of $140,000.

Saturday and Sunday's re-enactments may have been the last
re-enactment of a Civil War battle during the five-year Civil
War Centennial observance. The Battle of Gettysburg will be
commemorated next year, but the National Park Service has
said no more battie re-enactments wiil be held on government
property.

Spectators in general had high praise for both re-enactments
although a few commented on the reluctance of some of the
soldiers to fall dead when being fired upon at point-blank
range ....

For a second straight day spectators enjoyed near-perfect
weather ...

Monumental traffic jams that had been feared...failed to
develop....

In general the sham battles were fought with a minimum of
casualties. State Police reported that they had a fairly quiet
day yesterday. On Saturday, three participants suffered
slight injuries, there was one heart attack and one case of
heat prostration. :

The main disappointment involving the centennial program was
the absence of past or present Presidents. Franklin D,
Roosevelt had attended the 75th anniversary program in 1937,
But President Kennedy declined an invitation to be on hand,
and former President Eisenhower, after saying maybe%decided
not to make the trip down from his Gettysburg farm.

The ceremonies on the date of the battle, September 17, to consist
of memorial services to be held at Antietam National Cemetery, were
cancelled because of rain.ln

Annual visitation increased about 50,000, probably because of the
centennial year, leaping from 125,000 in 1961 to 175,000 in 1962 and
falling to 103,252 in 1963.

46. The Daily Mail, September 17, 1962,
47. lbid., September 18, 1962,
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C. Additional State Monuments

As a part of the Civil War Centennial three states erected
monuments to their troops that had fought in the battle of Antietam.
Texas put up a monument in 1963 to commemorate the activities of the
Texas Brigade and Delaware erected three monuments, one in 1962 and
two in 1964, in memory of its three regiments that took part in the
battie. Times were changing, because in 1865-77, Delaware had refused
to donate its quota of $577.48 to help establish Antietam National
Cemetery. Georgia erected a monument on Confederate Avenue in 1961.

Other states with monuments already on the battlefield generally
held rededication ceremonies at their memorials during 1962. These
states were New York, Pennsylvania, Massachusetts, Indiana, and New
Jersey. With regard to the new monuments, Park Superintendent
Davis, working with the state committees, selected sites for the
monuments along the tour route, and the park historians reviewed the
proposed texts for historical accuracy. These recommendations were
then reviewed by the staffs of the regional director and director, with
final permission being granied by the director as to site and text.'48
d. Presidential Visit

President John F. Kennedy visited Antietam National Battlefield
Site for 90 minutes at 11:45 a.m. on Sunday, April 7, 1963. He had
visited Gettysburg National Military Park the week before. The official
party included Senator Edward M. Kennedy and his wife Joan.

The president toured the battlefield in a white convertible,
stopping at four places to look at markers and monuments., He viewed

the cornfield and the Bloody Lane, walked to the New York State

Monument and crossed the Burnside Bridge.

T8, WASO File D66-DCL, correspondence, April 17, 1963-July 28, 1963,
regarding Texas monument. Several changes were made in the
proposed text at the suggestion of Park Historian Robert L., Lagemann
and Chief Historian Charles W. Porter, 1ll, with Staff Historian J.
Walter Coleman, Washington Office, handling this problem. For
Delaware  Monuments, 2 in 1964, File D66, January 27,
196h4-February 17, 1964.
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Acting Superintendent Robert L. Lagemann accompanied Kennedy
as official guide and answered the president's questions concerning
troop movements and the status of land acquisition. The tour was
originally scheduled for one hour, but ran a half hour over. The
president's party did not have time to visit Antietam National
Cemetery.ng
6. MISSION 66 DEVELOPMENT ACCOMPLISHMENTS, 1961-1963

Not all of the records for a history of Mission 66 accomplishments

at Antietam from 1961 to 1967 are presentiy available. The essay
that follows is an outline and may not be complete. Records indicate
that the National Park Service planned to spend $6,286,200 over a
five-year period to make improvements at Antietam and to preserve and
restore the historic scene and buildings on the battiefield. Of the
total, $3,609,200 was for “Buildings, Utilities, and Miscellaneous" and
$2,677,000 for "Roads and Trails." A detailed breakdown of these
proposed expenditures is given on the charts that follow.

in  practice, however, this rate of spending could not be
maintained and some proposed projects couid not be carried out because
the National Park Service could not purchase the necessary land. The
general plan was thus modified each fiscal year and some projects were
eliminated entirely.

The land (the 148.50-acre Hugh C. Speilman tract-no. 7}
necessary to build the new visitor center was acquired for $50,000 in
1961, Surveys, plans, estimates and specifications for the structure
were completed by the Eastern Office of Design and Construction.
William Cramp Scheetz, Jr., was the architect. .

Bids for the construction of the visitor center and installation of
utility lines to serve it were opened on November 14, 1961. The low
bid of $128,450 was submitted by W. Harley Miller, Inc., of Martinsburg,
West Virginia, and a contract {No. 14-10-0529-2504) was awarded to that
firm on December 30, 1961.50

43. WASO File D66-DSL, correspondence, April 17, 1963-July 28, 1963

regarding Texas monument.
508. Park File Completion D2621,
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The contractor began work on January 16, 1962. By the end of
the month the contractor had completed the rough grading for the
building and the power line trenches, By this time, too, another
contractor had drilled a 300-foot well that assured a good supply of
water for the future structure. Unfavorable weather occasioned delays
in February, but from March on work progessed at a satisfactory rate.

in April the Department of Defense made funds available for the
construction of a fallout shelter which was tied in to the south end of
the building. The installation of this facility was undertaken by the
contractor., The shelter was a welcome addition since it also served as
an auditorium for audiovisual presentations. .

During the course of the contract a total of seven change orders
were made to the construction contract, bringing the final cost to
$170,742, By far the largest increase was the addition of $39,500 for
the fallout shelter.

Project supervisors for the Nétional Park Service were David 0.
Smith from January 16 to May 7 and Erino V. Melacarne from the latter
date unti! October 12,

Without doubt the most difficult aspect of the construction was the
focation of fieldstone of the hue or cast desired by the architect, Mr.
Willlam C, Scheetz. The installation of the fallout shelter required
regrading work., The contractor claimed reimbursement for supplying
and spreading extra fill; however, he subsequently waived this claim,

On September 6 a pre-final inspection of the construction work was
held at the site, and certain minor defects were called to the
contractor's attention. By the end of the month the visitor center was
93 percent complete. The final inspection took place on October 10,
1862. Present were Superintendent Davis; architect Dow Nutt, EQDC;
architect Petrillo, Regional Office; project inspector Malacarne; and W.
Harley Miller. The building was accepted subject to the correction of
about 10 minor defects. These were subsequently remedied by the
contractor. ' |

The project completion report listed a number of problems with the
new Duilding: the stain on the exterior wood surfaces fails to hold up;
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the flat roof lets water pond and cascade down on visitors during high
winds: the water tank installation was questionable, and; the building
was deficient functionally in that it lacked storage space.s1 '

Acting Superintendent Lagemann wrote, "During the third quarter
{i.e., January 1, to March 31, _1963], park headquarters were moved
into the new visitor center, which since installation of .the exhibits in
Feburary has been open daily to the public."52

News of the new facility was carried in local papers, and the
Hagerstown Daily Mail, for November 14, 1962, reported: '

Many rare Civil War relics, acquired years ago, are being
assembled in the National Park Service [museum] laboratory in
Washington to form interpretive exhibits for the new visitor
center along the Hagerstown road about one mile and a half
north of town, '

The center buiiding, which has been completed will be opened
to the public at least by Jan. 1, 1963, according to Benjamin
H. Davis, superintendent of Antietam Battlefield. The center
was constructed for the NPS through a Congressional
appropriation . . . .

The exhibits wili be arranged so that they tell a complete
story relating to the battle which took place near Sharpsburg
on Sept. 17, 1862. The displays will be shown in a large
room on the first floor of the building . . . .

An auditorium at the new center has a capacity of 75
persons. Historians and other NPS personnel will deliver
lectures before special groups at various times. Moving
pictures and slides will be shown.

There is a large parking area adjacent to the center where
free parking for 65 cars wiil be provided . . . .

All facilities at the center will be free, according to the present

53
plans.

On January 18, 1963, Hagerstown's The Daily Mail reported:
Surprise Awaits Visitors to Antietam

A surprise is in store for people living In the local area and
for visitors to nearby Antietam Battlefield when they inspect
the new National Park Service visitors center . . . which was
opened to the public for the first time a few days ago.

51. Ibid.

52. Management and Protection - Statement of Objectives, 1964, June
24, 1965, File D22,

53. The Daily Mail, Hagerstown, Md., November 14, 1962. Copy

courtesy Betty Otto.
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Work on the center was begun early last year but some
unavoidable delays prevented its opened to the public during
the centennial observance and re-enactment of the Battle of
Antietam last September.

While the building has been completed and the NPS personnel
are occupying offices in the bhuilding, none of the exhibits
and special displays have yet been received and put in place,
said Superintendent Benjamin H. Davis.

Many of the exhibits are now being made and assembled [sic]
at the laboratory in Washington, D.C. But they are ali
expected to be In place some time next month when there will
be a "house warming." Dedication of the structure wil]
probably take place in the summer,

The beauty, unigqueness and extensiveness of the center
cannot be realized without an inspection of the interior with
its several different rooms. The building was constructed on
three levels but all are easily accessible, '

The observation rcom on the top level affords a wonderful
panoramic view of most of the battiefield and mountains to the
east - - L] L]

In the exhibits room will be seen the Antietam "diorama"
consisting of miniature figures of soldiers in the foreground
with a painted background on a concave base. This
three-dimensional scene depicts a portion of the action at
Bioody Lane,

Skilled artists and sculptors are now employed in the NPS

laboratory in Washington, D.C., constructing and assembling -

the "djorama."

There will also be several explanatory panels and historical
exhibits. All the valuable historical objects or relics will be
places [sic] in special cases.

Another feature of the center is the audio-visual room with a
seating capacity of 66 persons or over, There will be a
special screen upon which from the rear will be projected
slide pictures and movies pertaining to the battle and the
Civil War. The projection equipment is largely automatic.
There will also be a portable map upon which can be shown
movement of the troops at different times during the day.

The lectures by NPS historians will be given to groups which
make reservations in advance while during the busy summer
period schedules will be set Upg S0 the public may take
advantage of these shows . . . . "

54,

The Daily Mail, Hagerstown, Maryland, January 18, 1963.
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In his report of Mission 66 accomplishments during the 1963 fiscal
year, Acting Superintendent Lagemann reported that "Contracts [were]
tet in the third and fourth quarters of the F.Y. 1963 for Planting; for

Trails and Waysides; and for Monument Cleaning.” These were
expected to be completed in the first and second quarters of fiscal year
1964. "initiation and partial completion of the Burnside Bridge Bypass
55
n

road was expected in 1964,

The Burnside Bridge overlook parking area had been constructed
and completed In 1962.56 _

Contracts awarded in 1963 covered work on the Dunkard Church
trail (PCP R-16-1) and Burnside Bridge overlook {PCP R-6-4). These
were awarded to E.D. Plummer, Chambersburg, Pennsylvania, for
$72,971, and the contract covering the planting work in the vicinity of
the visitor center and Burnside Bridge areas was given to Treeland
Nurseries, Frederick, Maryland, for $15,On9.86.57

With funds available late in the 1963 fiscal vyear, Acting
Superintendent Lagemann reported the park had procured a large
quantity of new hand tools and heavy equipment for the maintenance
force. The new equipment included: %"a L.C.C. tractor and rotary
cutter, 13 ton dump truck, ¥ ton pick-up truck, power tubricating
equipment, cutting tools and accessories. A 3} ton pick-up was also
acquired as a patrol vehicle for the Park Ranger.“58
7. PROGRESS DURING FISCAL YEAR 1364
a. Visitor Center

Superintendent Harold . Lessem, on June 12, 1964, reported, "The

construction of the Visitor Center was finally terminated with decision

of the prime contractor to wave all claims for extra payment.” He
also noted that the visitor center water system, which had
broken down in June 1963, had been resolved by installation of

two water tanks in the center's utility room. This system was

5. (bid. File 22D.

56. File D22, Acting Superintendent Robert L. lLagemann to Regional
Director, Northeast Region, March 26, 1963.

57, Park File D22, Regional Director Ronald F. Lee to Supt., Antietam,
March 5, 1963. Contract Nos. 14-10-0529-2509 {Planting Visitor Center
and Burnside Area}. Contract No. 14-10-0529-2510 (interpretive Trail
and Wayside Construction, Burnside Bridge Area, Visitor Center and
Dunkard Church Area).

58. Park File D22, June 24, 1963,
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"Form 10-174

{ . . =
UNITED $T..__.$ DEPARTIUBNT OF THE INTERIOR Work Order No.
{June 1962} NATIONAL PARK $ERVICE ™ BeL-ANTI; CD~B~l-ANTI
’ Fund Symbol I4X1U35; CoNs,, NPS
FACE SHEET FOR COMPLETION REPQRT 1 1423910 Cons. Workine Fund,
Paik Region Year Programmaed HP‘C‘J 1982
Antietem National Batitleficld Site | Northeast 1962
Leocetion in Park State(s} PCP No. Dwmp=i, UaJed) U—h-};
- Y=5-3
Master Plan No.
Adjacent to New York Monument Plot |Maryland NBS-ANT 30Q7-B
' County or Couniies Hostor Plan Cofrectsd By
. 1 Built Drawings
E Contract ond/or D Day Lcbor Washingbon As Built O §s By
Work Ordee Title . ) Daote Storted
Visitor Center and Utilities January 16, 1962
Fallout Shelter - Visitor Certer Tate Completed
October 10, 1962
. DESCRIPTION OF FIXED ASSETS ' TOTAL COSTS
¥ {For completion by employew in chorge of project} {For completion by FFp)
100.6 Bulldhgs, Visitor Use (Visitor Center) 128,770.68
{Fallout Shelter - Visitor Center) 43,500.00
100.8 Utilitien : : 23,086.00
Sewer System $ 9,860.00

Sanitation System 17,226.00 .

100.30 Equipment, All Other 3,572.95

TOTAL $ 202'929.63

DISTRIBUTION THE FIXED ASSET DESCRIBED ABOVE HAS BEEN COMPLETED IN ACCORDANCE WITH APPROYED

No To DR#*[NGS, SPECIFICATIONS, AND AUTHORIZED CHANGES
L[ WASY, DSl fo pmived Title: Dote:
TTE0IC Br: garo3 \-L.Rup@&*-gm%’f\ Supe rintendent *Th6/8;
. a :
4'11;‘&—0'——“——- Apptoved Title: Date;
FF0 By:
1] Antietan

co@rmn‘ 6 Wm Title: Oate:
AL A .
ay p;%‘. Motter " Regional Budget Officer 7/27/64 .

11360
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e .
: L'lso STATES DEPARTMENT QF THE INTER,

Farm 10-195

el

(Red. 9760) NATIONAL PARK SERVICE
' Check Cne;
- Hational Battlefield Site Manskly
. Antietam T A Estimate -,
Final x
LUMP SUM CCNTRACT Estimate
ESTIMATE NO. FOR {Pertod) DATE ]
10 Novemver 15, 1962 throuph March 16, 196k March 25, 1964

CONTRACT NO.

[COMPLETION DATE
September 22, 1962

EXTENDED DATE
Novemper 10, 1702

11,-10-0629250h

CONTRACTOR L R
__u‘_mﬂepﬁmmcwmrb—mﬁL“-h- ConTRaCT 3 126,L50,00
PROJECT CHANGE
Construction of Visitor Center and Disposal System ORDERS”  § 12,292 7L
LOCATION TOTAL
Antietam National Battlefield Site, Sharpsburg, Maryland {CONTRACT § 174 700,70
DESCRIPTION anéiﬁgbwu égﬂgfﬁﬁ; VALUE REMARKS
Excavation 6,000,00 100 6,000,00
Concreta ?’350u00 200 ?’3500m
Masonxy 10,000,00 100 10,000,00
Stone Work 1%,200,00 100 12,200,00
Structural Steel 500,00 100 500,00
Steel Joista 2,300,00 100 25300,00
Hollow Metal Doors and Frames L00.00 100 L00.00
R2iling, Screen Supports, Fire
Extinguishers, Stainless ;
Steel Facing 650,00 100 650,00
ilet Partitions 550.00 100 550,00
etal Letters 100,00 100 100,00
Roofing and Sheet Metal 5,800,00 100 5,800.00
Lumber and Millwork 17,600,00. 100 17,600,00
Plastering 3,000,00 100 3,000.,00
Acoustic Tile 1,700.,00 100 1,700,00
Goramic Tile 2,400,00 100 2,L00,00
Finish Hardware, Weatherstrip | 1,600,00 100 1,600,00
Sliding Windows 800.00 100 800,00
Painting and Caulking 3,200,00 100 3,200,00
Resilient Floor 1,500,00 100 1,500,00
Plumbing . 14, 300,00 100 1, 300,00
Sewage Disposal System 8,500,00 100 8,500,00
Mechanical 10,100.,00 160 10,100,00
Electrical 10,400.00 100 10,400,00
SUB TOTAL CONTRACT PRICE |7~ 7 128,450.00
RECOMMENDED (Projoct Superwisor) ~ SUMMARY
o [TOTAL TO DATE .coolovmmmemcirnisnancine 9
LESS RETAIMED AMOUNT.....ieeeninss”
NE Turearrevineersssrnasserssnesssoncacsnnsrsss
KPPROVED (Connacing ffcer L £5% LOUIOATED DAMAGES. . vr

DUE THIS ESTIMATE .coveeinniiaainranrs

% COMPLETED TO DATE:

"Show Breahdown on Reverse

{Sea Reverse for Dismibution)
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rarm 101744 UNITED STA'\_ -DEPARTMENT OF THE INTERIOR [W__. Otder Number
{June 196?) MNATIOHAL PARX SERVICE CD=-A-1-ANTI
. . Fund Symbol
: COMPOSITION OF COST FOR COMPLETION REPORT ¢
1423910 fwr - .
Pack . . ] Region Year Programmed
Antietam National Battleficd Sfte NE 1962

Location in Park

Adjacent to New York Monument Plot
“Work Order Title i

: .hlim-xlt S‘hélter e VYisitor Canter

COMPOSITICN GF (OS5

T.

COSTS CHARGED T? FUNDS ALLOTTED TO FIELD FINANCE OFFICE
{1) Personal Services....coiiiiniiiiinieriinnimiic s
{2 Travel e it ieecvr e e e e s et s eaan s e enas vereenm
(3) ContraCt WOtk vecverierasesssiiseseessesesansosesaesterssssosssssssssmsssssessns
{4) Supplies and Materials..ciiiiiiiiviiiiniiiiiiinrirnere st e eere s
{S) OHher Dt EXPONS S crirrverniiscersntetntenesresnsrasesnssssessnssnsersensesss
{8} Operation of EQUIPMENt...uieciireerierianiernsevrssinrsresessostimssomssemesennes
{7} Depreciation of EQUIPMENT ccnree ittt
{8) Purchose of Construction EQUIpPMent . ccovevuuiiierervmmentiaenssiissienennnan
(9N _Purchose of Other Accounteble Equipmcnt.....;...... ..... eevereeereananen.

(10} Other Costs: Planning Coats

(11) TOTAL COST CHARGED TO FFO FUNDS cieureecerrioneseaseraas
OTHER COSTS:
(12) PS&S, AP, and/or Facilitating Services ¢ Fiverrarennneres
(13} Inventory ond Other Non-Fund Costs wremvernverrreersoreereerssseseesessssans
{14) GROSS WORK ORDER COSTS vuvrermmmininianecieeinncssesinticrensans
LESS:
{15 Residual Value of Construction Equipment on Line B..cocevurereernnnn...

{16) Other Credits coiimieeriiuriiicriiieeerieevereaeneresensesacnsasnnsesaneenes

(17) NET COST OF FIXED ASSET S rererrumrsreersronresssureosssisessnnens

39,300.00

— 4,000,000

2K KKK KX

R HK KKK KX

2O 20X XK XXX X

3 43,500.00.

[dentify othar costs end other credits by line item entry, on on ottached schedule, or explain in narrative.
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: L, .‘.ED STATES DEPARTMENT OF THE INTER:
sarey. $/40)

NATIONAL PARK SERVICE ~
T ' Check One:She_et 2 of 2
Antietam National Battlefield Site ’é"’",**'-‘v ,
. sl TBark] stimote -
LuUMP SUM CONTRACT Enimate | X
ESTIMATE NO. FOR (pertod) DATE
10
CONTRACT NO. - COMPLE TION DATE : EXTENDED DATE
1,-20-0529.2504
CONTRACTOR o oriemat
CONTRACT $
PROJECT CHANGE
ORDERS*  §
LOCATION TOTAL
CONTRACT 3
DESCRIPTION S SAN DLl VALUE REMARKS
SUB~TOTALS BROUGHT FORWARD 128,450.00 128,L50.00
LDDITION TO CONTRACT:
Change Order No, 1 - Fuel Cil
Line - Well Pump 2,034.70 | 100 2,03L.7h
Change Order No, 2 = Construct N
.2 pilasters 48,00 100 48,00
Change Order No, 3 - Fallout
Shelter 39,500,00 | 100 39, 500,00
Change Order No, L =~ Flagstong
Topping . 320,00 100 320,00
Change Order Mo, 5 ~ Waterpropf
Membrane 70400 100 70,00
Change Order No, 6 = Ventilating 220,00 | 100 220,00
Change Order No. 7 = Rail amd
Grille 100,00 160 100,00
TOTAL CONTRACT PRICE | 170,742.74 170, 7h2. 7k
RECOMMENDED (Profect Sugerviscr) o P U SUMMARY
FOTAL TO DATE . iuccrroermeroeens § £ 10y (L2a
LESS RETAINED AMOUNT ociinicovins Hore
_ T3 ORI . 170I7l N
— - LESS PREVIOUS PAYMENTS.crevenennns 169, 7202.7
APPROVED (Contosting Officer DATE LESS LIQUIDATED DAMAGES.......... None
DUE THIS ESTIMATE .covovoveceerececones 1.000.00
% COMPLETED TO DATE; :
“rold 1. lessem, Superintendent ;/31/6[; 100
* Show Breakdown on Reverse (S« Reverse for Diswibution}
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Form 101744

UNITED $TA'. . DEPARTMENT OF THE INTERIOR

Vo_a ‘Grder Numbar

(June 1962} NATIONAL PARK SERYICE Beb«ANTI
: : Fund Symbol
COMPOSITION OF COST FOR COMPLETION REPORT 14X1035 )
Park . Region Year Programmed
Antjetam National Battleflald Site NE

Location in Park

Adjacent to New York Momument Plot

Work Order Title -

Vigitor Center and Utilities

COMPOSITICN OF COST .-

COSTS CHARGED TO FUNDS ALLOTTED TO FIELD FINARCE GFFICE

{1) Personal Services...cevimmenrermnmiceereannees eeerberesarr i st aranaetaaas
(2) Trovel....oceeereensss rerevesmrasbeiibasensatEtressrranaaetarrnanants Vevseravesiiene -
(3:) Contract Wor&l. ......... CieeraserunarasemvheniieEsubinEnTE branans an el RO RAIaLY
{4) Supplies ond Moterials. i
(5} Other Direct EXPENsSes.ciimvvimernicconeiiemiaemamisisserssmssrannesssseas
(6) Operation of Equipment.......cocce. cesirassrennane deerereranrrieiereniirstetnetnns
{7} Depreciotion of Equipment....iceiririrnranas meeessaresies iepesisasansrasane
(B) Purchass of Construction EqUipment.....ccciimiiimeenniieensieisaennn
(9) Purchase of Other Accountable Equipment .o.cocimiiiiiiinieiinnniesnnseanes
(10} Other Costs:
(11} TOTAL COST CHARGED TO FFO FUNDS seeureveasnrirnanressernars
ODTHER COS5T3S:
(12) PS8S, AP, and/or Facilitating Services g 16 Feecernienirennien
(13) [nventory and Other Non-Fund Costs ..uueene.- vesteareetnranrarmacstssanienas
(14) GROSS WORK ORDER COSTS cerenennnnnmmenmauctsmmsusiinmnaeanns
LESS:.
{15} Residual Value of Construction Equipment on Line B....cocvievrnnnnnnn.
(16} Other Credits ..ccvirerrnnrmnnanannnn, R ..................................

(17} NET COST OF FIXED ASSETS criciencrnrnns

131,242.74

2,999.34

£17.13

3 .080 n13'

ARXAAXXK XXX

"$137,439,34

§ 21,990.29

L2600 062 6 6 X X

$159,429.63

200N KX WK

$ 159,429.6)

Identify other costs and other credits by line item entry, on an attached schedule, or explain in narrative.
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' BQUIPMENT

. 'Jens Risom Design, Inc.

1

Two Seater Sofa
Bage: Aluminum

Three Seater Sofa
Bage: Aluminum

ATmmiess Three Seater Sofa
Baze: gluminuw

Armless Low Chafr
Baset Aluminum

Armlasg Low Chatr
Base: Aluminum

¥noll Associates

2
1
@
1

Chairs, {n Beige/White
Bench, in Two-Tone Gold
Tables

Table

Robert LeFort & Co.

38 7rlastic Stacking Chairs/RO Shell
11 Plastic Stacking Chaira/OC Shell
17 Plastic Stacking Chetis/PR Shell

343

$268.00

268.00

Less 507

less 2%

$110.95

28.00
49.50

Plus Charge

$ 16.30
14.50
14.50

Laess 1%

Totsl Equipment

$ 4&449.00
5%0.00
494.00
536.00

804.00

2,873.00
1,436.50

1,436.50

28.73
$1,407.77

221.90
280.20
140.00
49.50
691.60
33.33
§ 724.93

551.00
159.50
246.50

957.00
9.57

$ 947,43

$3,080,13



governed by automatic controls. Lessem wrote, "The drinking"'fountain
in the corridor to the rest rooms [in the visitor center] was removed
and replaced by a wall type which was installed on the north wall of
the lobby. This substitution eliminated an acute visitor hazard."

b. Superintendent's Residence {National Cemetery)

These quarters were modernized by the renovation of the main bathroom
and the instaliation of a small toilet facility on the first fioor of the
building.

c. Battlefield Utility Building

Superintendent Lessem reported:

We improved the Utility Building by installing a drinking
fountain, hot water and wash basin, I[n addition, the room
where the maintenance staff lunches was repainted in brighter
colors 59and better illuminated with new flourescent fix-
tures.

d. Training

Historian Lagemann was sent to the Stephen Mather Training
Center at Harpers Ferry and Historian John W. Bryce to the Horace
Albright Training Center for instruction.60

e. Restoring the Historic Scene

The non-historic Albert and John E. Turner houses were razed
under cont